THE PROTEIN ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN: ITS NORMAL ROLE (IN NEURONS) AND ITS ROLE IN DISEASE

EDITED BY: Fredric P. Manfredsson, Ruth G. Perez and Ivette Martinez Sandoval PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neuroscience, Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience and Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-610-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-610-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

THE PROTEIN ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN: ITS NORMAL ROLE (IN NEURONS) AND ITS ROLE IN DISEASE

Topic Editors:

Fredric P. Manfredsson, Barrow Neurological Institute (BNI), United States **Ruth G. Perez**, Independent researcher El Paso, TX, United States **Ivette Martinez Sandoval**, Barrow Neurological Institute (BNI), United States

Citation: Manfredsson, F. P., Perez, R. G., Sandoval, I. M., eds. (2020). The Protein Alpha-Synuclein: Its Normal Role (in Neurons) and Its Role in Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-610-5

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: The Protein Alpha-Synuclein: Its Normal Role (in Neurons) and Its Role in Disease Ruth G. Perez
- 08 Synucleins and Gene Expression: Ramblers in a Crowd or Cops Regulating Traffic?

Alexei A. Surguchev and Andrei Surguchov

- Silencing Alpha Synuclein in Mature Nigral Neurons Results in Rapid Neuroinflammation and Subsequent Toxicity
 Matthew J. Benskey, Rhyomi C. Sellnow, Ivette M. Sandoval, Caryl E. Sortwell, Jack W. Lipton and Fredric P. Manfredsson
- 40 Can Interactions Between α-Synuclein, Dopamine and Calcium Explain Selective Neurodegeneration in Parkinson's Disease?
 Michael R. Post, Ori J. Lieberman and Eugene V. Mosharov
- 51 In Situ Proximity Ligation Assay Reveals Co-Localization of Alpha-Synuclein and SNARE Proteins in Murine Primary Neurons Leire Almandoz-Gil, Emma Persson, Veronica Lindström, Martin Ingelsson, Anna Erlandsson and Joakim Bergström
- 62 The Close Encounter Between Alpha-Synuclein and Mitochondria Mattia Vicario, Domenico Cieri, Marisa Brini and Tito Calì
- 75 Quality Over Quantity: Advantages of Using Alpha-Synuclein Preformed Fibril Triggered Synucleinopathy to Model Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease Megan F. Duffy, Timothy J. Collier, Joseph R. Patterson, Christopher J. Kemp, D. Luke Fischer, Anna C. Stoll and Caryl E. Sortwell
- 85 α-Synuclein and Noradrenergic Modulation of Immune Cells in Parkinson's Disease Pathogenesis

Laura M. Butkovich, Madelyn C. Houser and Malú G. Tansey

- Rationally Designed Variants of α-Synuclein Illuminate its in vivo Structural Properties in Health and Disease
 Ulf Dettmer
- 112 Overexpression of Wild-Type Human Alpha-Synuclein Causes Metabolism Abnormalities in Thy1-aSYN Transgenic Mice

Elodie Cuvelier, Mathieu Méquinion, Coline Leghay, William Sibran, Aliçia Stievenard, Alessia Sarchione, Marie-Amandine Bonte, Christel Vanbesien-Mailliot, Odile Viltart, Kevin Saitoski, Emilie Caron, Alexandra Labarthe, Thomas Comptdaer, Pierre Semaille, Hélène Carrié, Eugénie Mutez, Bernard Gressier, Alain Destée, Marie-Christine Chartier-Harlin and Karim Belarbi

127 Reduced Cytosolic Calcium as an Early Decisive Cellular State in Parkinson's Disease and Synucleinopathies

Cristine Betzer and Poul Henning Jensen

137 Could α-Synuclein Modulation of Insulin and Dopamine Identify a Novel Link Between Parkinson's Disease and Diabetes as Well as Potential Therapies?

Guadalupe Vidal-Martinez, Barbara Yang, Javier Vargas-Medrano and Ruth G. Perez

144 Analysis of α-Synuclein Pathology in PINK1 Knockout Rat Brains Rose B. Creed and Matthew S. Goldberg





Editorial: The Protein Alpha-Synuclein: Its Normal Role (in Neurons) and Its Role in Disease

Ruth G. Perez**

Department of Molecular and Translational Medicine, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Paul L. Foster School of Medicine, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center El Paso, El Paso, TX, United States

Keywords: alpha-synuclein function, alpha-synuclein aggregation, neurodegeneration, Parkinson's disease, synucleinopathies

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Protein Alpha-Synuclein: Its Normal Role (in Neurons) and Its Role in Disease

The protein alpha-Synuclein (aSyn) is highly-studied due to its role in Parkinson's disease (PD) and its accrual as the major protein component of Lewy bodies/Lewy neurites (LB/LN) (Anderson et al., 2006). Though the precise role of aSyn in disease pathogenesis is not fully elucidated, aSyn toxicity is widely thought to be associated with its aggregation in LB/LN. This has led some to consider modulating aSyn expression as a means to counteract PD pathology. Yet, a multitude of studies show that altering aSyn expression or removing it from neurons has profound effects on many intracellular processes and in some cases induces neurodegeneration. This leads some to propose that normal aSyn function is crucial for particular neuronal populations and that PD results from a toxic loss of aSyn function (Perez and Hastings, 2004; Benskey et al., 2016). Indeed, aSyn is one of the most abundant proteins of the nervous system. Its role in neurotransmistion at the synapse is well-established, and research also confirms roles for aSyn in neurotransmitter synthesis, calcium homeostasis, mitochondrial function, and gene regulation. Thus, it is essential to thoroughly define normal aSyn function in neurons before pursuing aSyn reducing therapies. In this Research Topic the contributions of many aSyn experts describe original research, timely reviews, or perspectives regarding the role of aSyn to wellness and disease.

Surguchev and Surguchov review evidence that a normal function of all three synuclein homologs is a regulatory role in gene expression that occurs by their interactions with nucleic acids, transcription factors, and translation factors. Their main focus is on aSyn, as it has been more extensively studied. Emerging roles have been identified for aSyn in epigenetics by its binding interactions that affect DNA methylation, RNA-associated-gene-silencing, and histone acetylation. Further, genes involved in DNA repair are also modulated by aSyn, suggesting how the loss of soluble aSyn could impair cellular function. More evidence for important normal aSyn function is seen in well-controlled research from Benskey et al. who demonstrate a role for aSyn in maintaining nigrostriatal dopaminergic neuron viability. Using adult wild type rats in which they downregulate endogenous aSyn in substantia nigra with adeno-associated-virus short hairpin RNA, neuronal dysfunction is induced followed by neuronally-mediated inflammation and then nigral dopaminergic neuron loss. Control experiments in glutamatergic neurons of the rats have no loss of viability, confirming the key importance of aSyn in dopaminergic neurons. Added support comes from Vidal-Martinez et al. who review findings confirming that aSyn inhibits dopamine synthesis in neuronal cells (Perez et al., 2002), and inhibits insulin secretion from pancreatic ß-cells by aSyn binding the Kir6.2 subunit of K-ATP channels on insulin granules (Geng et al., 2011). Moreover, Kir6.2 has been shown to inhibit brain dopamine secretion

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Wendy Noble, King's College London, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Ruth G. Perez rperezllc@gmail.com

[†]Present address:

Ruth G. Perez, R&R Perez LLC, El Paso, TX, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 22 January 2020 Accepted: 29 January 2020 Published: 20 February 2020

Citation:

Perez RG (2020) Editorial: The Protein Alpha-Synuclein: Its Normal Role (in Neurons) and Its Role in Disease. Front. Neurosci. 14:116. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00116

5

(Avshalumov and Rice, 2003), suggesting that therapies that sustain aSyn:Kir6.2 interactions and enhance brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression while blocking inflammation (Vargas-Medrano et al., 2014), may protect against diabetes and PD.

Mitochondrial impairment, which is common in PD, influences energy metabolism, homeostasis, the stress response, and apoptosis (Winklhofer and Haass, 2010). Vicario et al. review data showing that aSyn directly influences mitochondria by modulating their membrane potential, calcium homeostasis, cytochrome c release, ATP production, and fusion/fission. aSyn localization on mitochondria was first demonstrated in dopaminergic cells (Perez et al., 2002), and more recently using aSyn overexpressing dopaminergic cells others show that aSyn inhibits fusion and stimulates fission of mitochondria (Kamp et al., 2010). In that same study increasing wild type PINK1 or Parkin expression in dopaminergic cells reversed their mitochondrial deficits. Research from Creed and Goldberg in PINK1 knockout (-/-) rats demonstrates age-onset aSyn accumulation in synaptic vesicle pools, as well as spontaneous accumulation of insoluble aSyn in cortex, thalamus, striatum, and ventral midbrain. Curiously, aSyn pathology arises in the rats even though aSyn is not overexpressed. The authors propose that PARK1 -/- rats nicely model sporadic PD making them useful for assessing treatments aimed at slowing PD progression. Research by Cuvelier et al. reveal metabolic changes such as reduced body mass and less adiposity in aging male Thy-1 transgenic mice that express wild type human aSyn (Thy1aSYN mice) on a C57BL/6-DBA/2 background (Rockenstein et al., 2002; Fleming et al., 2004). Thy1-aSYN males also exhibit increased spontaneous activity, lower food intake, and reduced energy expenditure than control mice. As metabolism and mitochondria are strongly linked, it could be instructive to assess the activity of mitochondria in adipose tissue from male Thy1aSYN mice, especially in light of data in humans with persistent low body weights having higher mitochondrial activity in white adipose tissue (Ling et al., 2019).

Further regarding aSyn in neurons, Post et al. review interactions between aSyn, dopamine and calcium that underlie the loss of substantia nigra and locus coeruleus (LC) neurons in PD. In their multi-hit model they describe synergistic interactions between aSyn, calcium ions and dopamine that cause abnormal protein turnover that leads to nigral and LC vulnerability. The review by Betzer and Jensen reconsiders the calcium hypothesis which states that elevated intracellular neuronal calcium causes their demise. They present more recent findings showing that neurons undergoing a gradual build-up of aSyn, cytosolic calcium is actually reduced as aggregated aSyn binds to the sarcoplasmic-endoplasmic reticulum (ER) calcium ATPase (SERCA). The aggregated aSyn binding activates SERCA which reduces cytosolic calcium and overloads the ER with calcium (Betzer et al., 2018). They suggest that targeting abnormally activated SERCA or preventing the aSyn:SERCA interaction could yield therapies to slow PD. Butkovich et al. describe research on how a loss of LC norepinephrine (NE) and subsequent NE-effects reduce neurotrophic factor signaling, worsen central and peripheral inflammation, and alter innate and adaptive immune responses to accelerate PD progression. They note that in NE-producing cells and related animal models that overexpress aSyn, aSyn translocates to the nucleus where it interferes with transcription of dopamine ß-hydroxylase (DBH), the final enzyme in NE biosynthesis to reduce NE production (Kim et al., 2014). Loss of NE in noradrenergic neurons could be exacerbated by the upstream inhibition of tyrosine hydroxylase (Perez et al., 2002) and amino acid decarboxylase (Tehranian et al., 2006) by aSyn, producing lower levels of dopamine to convert to NE by DBH.

A final series of articles describes tools for elucidating aSyn structure, in vivo modeling of sporadic PD, and aSyn interactions with vesicle proteins. Dettmer reviews the use of rationallydesigned aSyn variants to define properties of aSyn that are relevant to health and disease. Describing biochemical and cell biological aSyn data from various labs, he emphasizes how intactcell approaches show how small changes in aSyn structure can contribute to PD and other synucleinopathies. In a perspectives article, Duffy et al. support the use of preformed fibrils of aSyn to model idiopathic PD to allow exploring relationships between aSyn aggregation and cellular toxicity. Preformed aSyn fibrils can be injected intrastriatally at endogenous levels after which over time they induce LB-like inclusions, neuroinflammation, and progressive nigrostriatal degeneration. Almandoz-Gil et al. show co-localization of aSyn with SNARE proteins in primary cortical neurons by in situ proximity ligation assays (PLA). PLA was previously used to corroborate aSyn interactions with other proteins or identify aSyn oligomers in PD brain. In beautiful images they show aSyn proximity with VAMP-2, SNAP-25, and syntaxin-1 in cell bodies and neurites, remarkably no differences were seen in neuronal aSyn:SNARE interactions from A30P aSyn transgenic and non-transgenic mice.

In conclusion, the papers presented in this Research Topic emphasize the importance of aSyn function that when exaggerated or disrupted may impair function and viability of neurons, pancreatic *B*-cells, and other cells that utilize normal aSyn function. The data further suggest that therapies that help sustain normal levels of soluble aSyn could be highly protective.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RP authored the editorial by making direct intellectual contributions regarding the Research Topic.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health R01-NS42094, NINDS to RP.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Topic Editor would like to acknowledge major contributions of Drs. Fredric Manfredsson and Ivette Sandoval to the success of this Research Topic. Thanks to the efforts of these Co-Editors this important topic was brought to life, allowing the scientific community to participate in an open discussion regarding aSyn roles in wellness and disease.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, J. P., Walker, D. E., Goldstein, J. M., de Laat, R., Banducci, K., Caccavello, R. J., et al. (2006). Phosphorylation of Ser-129 is the dominant pathological modification of alpha-synuclein in familial and sporadic Lewy body disease. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 29739–29752. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M6009 33200
- Avshalumov, M. V., and Rice, M. E. (2003). Activation of ATP-sensitive K+ channels (KATP channels) by H2O2 underlies glutamate-dependent inhibition of striatal dopamine release. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 11729–11734. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1834314100
- Benskey, M. J., Perez, R. G., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016). The contribution of alpha synuclein to neuronal survival and function - Implications for Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 137, 331–359. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13570
- Betzer, C., Lassen, L. B., Olsen, A., Kofoed, R. H., Reimer, L., Gregersen, E., et al. (2018). Alpha-synuclein aggregates activate calcium pump SERCA leading to calcium dysregulation. *EMBO Rep.* 19:e44617. doi: 10.15252/embr.20174 4617
- Fleming, S. M., Salcedo, J., Fernagut, P. O., Rockenstein, E., Masliah, E., Levine, M. S., et al. (2004). Early and progressive sensorimotor anomalies in mice overexpressing wild-type human alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 9434–9440. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3080-04.2004
- Geng, X., Lou, H., Wang, J., Li, L., Swanson, A. L., Sun, M., et al. (2011). alpha-Synuclein binds the K(ATP) channel at insulin-secretory granules and inhibits insulin secretion. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metabol. 300, E276–E286. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00262.2010
- Kamp, F., Exner, N., Lutz, A. K., Wender, N., Hegermann, J., Brunner, B., et al. (2010). Inhibition of mitochondrial fusion by alpha-synuclein is rescued by PINK1, Parkin and DJ-1. *EMBO J.* 29, 3571–3589. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2010.223
- Kim, S., Park, J. M., Moon, J., and Choi, H. J. (2014). Alpha-synuclein interferes with cAMP/PKA-dependent upregulation of dopamine betahydroxylase and is associated with abnormal adaptive responses to immobilization stress. *Exp. Neurol.* 252, 63–74. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013. 11.009

- Ling, Y., Carayol, J., Galusca, B., Canto, C., Montaurier, C., Matone, A., et al. (2019). Persistent low body weight in humans is associated with higher mitochondrial activity in white adipose tissue. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 110, 605–616. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ngz144
- Perez, R. G., and Hastings, T. G. (2004). Could a loss of alpha-synuclein function put dopaminergic neurons at risk? J. Neurochem. 89, 1318–1324. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02423.x
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F., and Zigmond, M. J. (2002). A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 3090–3099. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-08-03090.2002
- Rockenstein, E., Mallory, M., Hashimoto, M., Song, D., Shults, C. W., Lang, I., et al. (2002). Differential neuropathological alterations in transgenic mice expressing alpha-synuclein from the platelet-derived growth factor and Thy-1 promoters. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 68, 568–578. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10231
- Tehranian, R., Montoya, S. E., Van Laar, A. D., Hastings, T. G., and Perez, R. G. (2006). Alpha-synuclein inhibits aromatic amino acid decarboxylase activity in dopaminergic cells. J. Neurochem. 99, 1188–1196. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04146.x
- Vargas-Medrano, J., Krishnamachari, S., Villanueva, E., Godfrey, W. H., Lou, H., Chinnasamy, R., et al. (2014). Novel FTY720-based compounds stimulate neurotrophin expression and phosphatase activity in dopaminergic cells. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 5, 782–786. doi: 10.1021/ml500128g
- Winklhofer, K. F., and Haass, C. (2010). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1802, 29–44. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.08.013

Conflict of Interest: RP is now the CEO of R&R Perez, LLC and declares that this editorial and any research described was done in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Perez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Synucleins and Gene Expression: Ramblers in a Crowd or Cops Regulating Traffic?

Alexei A. Surguchev¹ and Andrei Surguchov^{2*}

¹ Department of Surgery, Section of Otolaryngology, Yale School of Medicine, Yale University, New Haven, CT, United States, ² Department of Neurology, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States

Synuclein family consists of three members, α , β , and γ -synuclein. Due to their involvement in human diseases, they have been thoroughly investigated for the last 30 years. Since the first synuclein identification and description, members of this family are found in all vertebrates. Sequencing of their genes indicates high evolutionary conservation suggesting important function(s) of these proteins. They are small naturally unfolded proteins prone to aggregate, easily change their conformation, and bind to the membranes. The genes for α , β , and γ -synuclein have different chromosomal localization and a well preserved general organization composed of five coding exons of similar size. Three genes encoding synucleins are present in the majority of vertebrates, however, a variable number of synuclein genes are described in fishes of different species. An important question concerns their normal function in cells and tissues. α -Synuclein is implicated in the regulation of synaptic vesicle release, while the physiological functions of two other members of the family is understood less clearly. Here we discuss recent results describing their role in the regulation of gene expression.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ivette Martinez Sandoval, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Ralf J. Braun, University of Bayreuth, Germany Subhrangshu Guhathakurta, University of Central Florida, United States

*Correspondence:

Andrei Surguchov asurguchov@kumc.edu

Received: 20 May 2017 **Accepted:** 29 June 2017 **Published:** 13 July 2017

Citation:

Surguchev AA and Surguchov A (2017) Synucleins and Gene Expression: Ramblers in a Crowd or Cops Regulating Traffic? Front. Mol. Neurosci. 10:224. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00224 Keywords: gene expression, synucleins, epigenetic regulation, transcription factors, translation factors, DNA methylation, histone modifications, neurodegeneration

INTRODUCTION

Since the discovery of the first synuclein by Maroteaux et al. (1988), the members of the synuclein family attract growing attention primarily as proteins implicated in neurodegenerative (α -synuclein) and neoplastic (γ -synuclein) diseases. The majority from almost 9,000 publications describe how these naturally unfolded proteins aggregate and propagate between neurons (α -synuclein), or cause misregulation of intracellular signaling pathways in oncological transformation (γ -synuclein). β -Synuclein, the third member of the family, received much less attention. It is less prone to form insoluble aggregates and presumably plays a protective role against α -synucleinopathies (Hashimoto et al., 2001). Since the discovery of synucleins, researchers investigate mostly α -synuclein for its association with synucleinopathies, i.e., PD, PD dementia, DLB and multiple system atrophy.

During the late 1990s the popular theory to explain mechanisms causing α -synuclein aggregation in cellular milieu was a concept of macromolecular crowding (Minton, 1993, 1998; Uversky et al., 2001). According to this concept, total cytoplasmic concentration of proteins and other macromolecules can either reach the high level of 400 g/l causing macromolecular

Abbreviations: Aβ, amyloid beta; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; DBH, dopamine-β-hydroxylase; DLB, dementia with Lewy Bodies; DNMT, DNA methyltransferase; eEF2, translation elongation factor 2; eIF3, translation initiation factor 3; HAT, histone acetyltransferase; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; PD, Parkinson's disease; PKCδ, protein kinase Cδ.

crowding (Uversky et al., 2001, 2002; Shtilerman et al., 2002) or be subjected to excluded volume effect (Ellis, 2001) in the neuronal cytoplasm. This induces α -synuclein and other naturally unfolded protein aggregation, which may lead to the formation of toxic aggregates, fibrils, and protofibrils.

While synuclein's role in pathology is thoroughly and systematically investigated, their normal physiological functions still remain debated despite almost 30 years of research. Some progress in unveiling α -synuclein physiological role is achieved due to the discovery of its role in synapsis. Several research teams have demonstrated that α -synuclein is implicated in the modulation of synaptic activity through modulation of vesicle release (Chandra et al., 2005; Burré et al., 2010; Bendor et al., 2013; Zaltieri et al., 2015). Numerous studies demonstrate α -synuclein's participation in vesicle trafficking, chaperoning of SNARE complex assembly (Bonini and Giasson, 2005; Chandra et al., 2005; Burré et al., 2010; Diao et al., 2013), regulation of synaptic vesicles endocytosis, presynaptic terminal topography (Vargas et al., 2014, 2017), and modulation of dopamine release (Abeliovich et al., 2000). However, the progress in understanding the physiology of β and γ -synucleins is much more limited. β -Synuclein inhibits α -synuclein aggregation caused by several types of lipids as well as α -synuclein nucleation (Brown et al., 2016). y-Synuclein possesses chaperon activity, is involved in the regulation of monoamine homeostasis and cytoskeleton structure rearrangement. Moreover, it may have similar functions as α -synuclein in the process of synaptic vesicle turnover, neurotransmitter release (Ninkina et al., 2012; Kokhan et al., 2013), and regulation of signaling pathways (Surguchov et al., 1999, 2001, 2017; Surgucheva et al., 2006, 2008; Surguchov, 2008, 2015).

Despite the information presented above, many reviews consider the normal functions of α -synuclein to be unclear and vague, creating an impression that it does not have its own function in living cells, and settles for a supporting role in several pathways. In addition to synaptic functions, a-synuclein participation in several cellular processes has been described, e.g., suppression of apoptosis, regulation of glucose level, modulation of calmodulin level, maintenance of PUFA level, antioxidation, neuronal differentiation, and regulation of dopamine biosynthesis (Emamzadeh, 2016). However, it appears that in all these processes, synucleins are not the major players, but just "ramblers in a crowd" with limited authority and jurisdictions. Still the emerging evidence suggests, that synucleins may have a very important non-canonical function unrelated to their role in synapsis. The nuclear localization of a-synuclein and several new findings point to its essential role in the nucleus related to the regulation of gene expression.

SYNUCLEINS AS MODULATORS OF SPECIFIC GENE EXPRESSION

Gradually new results accumulate, and point out that our knowledge about synuclein's functions is incomplete, their "social network" is larger than it is currently assumed, and they play a more essential dynamic role in the regulation of intracellular processes. The current understanding of their role in cellular processes is slowly shifting from "ramblers in the crowd" to "cops regulating traffic." This regulatory role is performed through their interactions with key players governing gene expression, i.e., nucleic acids, transcription and translation factors, and histones. Moreover, synucleins may play a role in epigenetic regulation of cellular processes. Epigenetics applies to external modifications to DNA that alter expression of specific genes without changes in the DNA sequence. It can involve several mechanisms, e.g., DNA methylation, histone modifications, and RNA-associated silencing.

While the researchers still keep working out the details of synuclein's functions in synapsis and a role in vesicles formation, another page of their story emerges, attracting increasing attention. Several new methods demonstrate that synucleins are "more social" that it has been assumed earlier, and find novel partners in synuclein's "social network" not only among proteins, but also nucleic acids. Below we present several examples of synuclein's regulatory role in gene expression.

The first hint suggesting that synucleins regulate gene expression came from the analysis of the effect of their upregulation in cell cultures (Seo et al., 2002; Baptista et al., 2003). Although the effect of elevated synucleins level on expression of specific genes was significant, the exact molecular mechanisms was often unknown. In several studies a direct effect of synucleins on transcription in the nucleus is demonstrated, other publications suggest hypothetic mechanisms explaining this effect. For example, α -synuclein downregulates c-Jun N-terminal kinase protecting cells against oxidative stress, upregulates caveolin-1 expression, and downregulates ERK, affecting the pathogenesis of PD (Hashimoto et al., 2003). In another publication α -synuclein's effect in regulating apoptosis is reported. It reduced Bcl-xL expression and increased BAX expression (Seo et al., 2002).

In several studies a substitution of one amino acid in α-synuclein dramatically changed its regulatory properties suggesting that this effect was mediated by conformational alterations. For example, α -synuclein altered expression of several families of genes including genes responsible for apoptosis, stress response, transcription regulation, and membrane proteins (Baptista et al., 2003). Significant changes in expression levels are also found for genes responsible for the regulation of dopamine synthesis. Reduced expression of the orphan nuclear receptor Nurr1 suggests that the synergetic regulation of dopamine synthesis occurs through this transcription factor. These alterations in mRNAs levels identified by microarray experiments occurred on transcriptional level and were validated by quantitative RT-PCR. Interestingly, the expression levels of four genes were regulated in opposite directions in cells overexpressing wild-type protein or a-synuclein with A53T substitution (Baptista et al., 2003).

Overexpression of wild-type or mutant α -synuclein interferes with DBH transcription regulation by CRE element in catecholaminergic neurons (Kim et al., 2014). In the nucleus α -synuclein interacts with the DBH promoter including the CRE element, which interferes with forskolin-induced transcription factor CREB binding to the CRE region. Thus, α -synuclein attenuates CRE-mediated transcription of DBH. This interaction is physiologically important, because CREB plays an essential role in survival of neurons by controlling the transcription of several genes implicated in cell protection, such as BDNF (Chalovich et al., 2006). Remarkably, mutant α -synuclein demonstrates higher tendency to nuclear translocation and interaction with the DBH promoter than the wild type.

Another example confirming that the effect of α -synuclein on transcription of specific gene may differ as a result of a single amino acid substitution is recently described (Segura-Ulate et al., 2017). Oligodendroglial cells OLN-93 stably expressing either a human wild type or a mutant A53E α -synuclein (multiple system atrophy associated mutant) reduced BDNF mRNA to practically unmeasurable levels. At the same time, another MSA-associated α -synuclein mutant, caused only a small reduction in BDNF mRNA. Therefore, point mutations in α -synuclein may change not only its physico-chemical properties and propensity to aggregation, but also alter its regulatory function (Segura-Ulate et al., 2017). Moreover, in dopaminergic neurons α -synuclein also reduces the expression of PKC δ to inhibit apoptosis, by decreasing enzymatic activity of p300 HAT.

This effect results in neuroprotection in a α -synuclein expressing dopaminergic cell model as a result of exposure to the Parkinsonian neurotoxicant MPP+. This mechanism involves modulation of both NF κ B and p300 signaling pathways in transgenic mice and in neuronal culture (Jin et al., 2011). The effect of α -synuclein on histone acetylation is further described in Chapter 6.

 α -Synuclein is colocalized with transcription factor Elk-1 and interacts with MAP kinase pathway (Iwata et al., 2001a,b). These findings point to the role of α -synuclein in the modulation of transcription and signaling pathways.

Another member of the synuclein family, γ -synuclein also interacts with Elk-1 (Surguchov et al., 1999). Furthermore, it plays a role as a modulator of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-9 and MMP-2) expression upregulating both MMP-9 protein level and activity (3.2 to 7.1-fold, respectively). This upregulation takes place on transcriptional level via the activation of the AP-1 *cis*-elements in MMP-9 promoter (Surgucheva et al., 2003). Further studies demonstrated direct binding of γ -synuclein to transcription factors JunB, MECP2, CREB1, PPAR-gamma, TCEA1, and ATF3 (Surgucheva and Surguchov, 2008). Recent study using yeast two-hybrid screening, identified another transcriptional regulator – polyC binding protein 1 (PCBP1) as a γ -synuclein interacting protein (Hunkele et al., 2016).

SYNUCLEIN - DNA INTERACTIONS

α -Synuclein Binding to DNA

The existence of α -synuclein in the nucleus first found by Maroteaux et al. (1988) and later confirmed by many other studies, encouraged researchers to examine synuclein–DNA interaction and to investigate its possible functions. Several research groups demonstrated that α -synuclein could bind directly to a single copy DNA; this binding is especially efficient if DNA is active in the process of transcription and is not bound to

histones (Hegde and Jagannatha Rao, 2003; Hegde et al., 2010; Vasudevaraju et al., 2012). This binding occurs preferentially to GC-box-like sequences (Vasudevaraju et al., 2012; Ma et al., 2014) and may alter properties of both protein and DNA. In particular, α -synuclein induces DNA damage by changing its stability, conformation, and by causing DNA nicking (Padmaraju et al., 2011). In turn, DNA can itself modulate α -synuclein folding (Hegde and Rao, 2007). After binding with double- or single-stranded DNA α -synuclein acquires a highly structured conformation. Circular dichroism studies show that the α -helical content of α -synuclein increases from 5 to 64% upon binding to DNA, whereas the random coil decreases from 95 to 33% (Hegde and Rao, 2007).

Interaction of α -synuclein with linear or supercoiled doublestranded DNA (dsDNA) protects DNA from digestion by restriction endonucleases. Complexes between α -synuclein and DNA as well as assembly of wild-type α -synuclein into fibrils in the presence of linear DNA are revealed by electron microscopy (Cherny et al., 2004).

The presence of synucleins in the nucleus and their binding to DNA provides a possibility that such interaction affects transcription regulation and may change neuronal function (Ma et al., 2014; Surguchov, 2014). In several studies such functional consequences of synuclein – DNA interaction have been demonstrated. For example, in neuroglioma, α -synuclein binds to DNA, and regulates the transcription of genes controlling ubiquitination and other biochemical processes linked to PD (Martins et al., 2011).

DNA Binding Is a Common Feature of Several Amyloidogenic Proteins

α-Synuclein is not a unique amyloidogenic protein possessing DNA-binding ability. Amyloid-beta (AB) peptides and prion proteins also have high DNA binding capacity, suggesting that DNA binding may be a common property of amyloidogenic proteins (Hegde et al., 2010). Binding of a-synuclein and other amyloidogenic proteins to DNA may affect normal DNA functions and cause genetic stress altering the normal pattern of gene expression (Jiménez, 2010). Results supporting this unifying hypothesis were obtained from the investigation which identified DNA aptamers that specifically bind to α -synuclein (Tsukakoshi et al., 2010, 2012). In this study eight aptamers specific for α-synuclein monomers, oligomers, and fibrils were characterized by a competitive screening method. Their nucleotide sequences are not conserved, but all possess guanine-rich sequences which form scaffolds-like G-quadruplex structures. Importantly, some of the aptamers recognizing α -synuclein, are also specific for A β oligomers. Dissociation constant for such aptamers binding is in nano- to picomolar range. The structure of these aptamers may give a clue for the search of new medications and biomarkers specific for neurodegenerative diseases. Notably, the aptamer could recognize not only the primary structure of α -synuclein, but also its conformation (Tsukakoshi et al., 2012).

Several studies demonstrate that α -synuclein is able to bind directly to promoter region of specific genes and affect their transcription. For example, α -synuclein binding to a promoter

of the mitochondrial transcriptional co-activator PGC-1 α , which reduces its expression in response to oxidative stress is described (Siddiqui et al., 2012).

Another member of the synuclein family, γ -synuclein also modulates genes expression by binding to the promoter region of specific genes. For instance, upregulation of matrix metalloproteinases-9 (MMP-9) expression and activity is mediated by γ -synuclein binding to AP-1 sites at the promoter region of the MMP-9 gene (Surgucheva et al., 2003). Under stress conditions a translocation of γ -synuclein to the nucleus decreases outgrowth of neurites more efficiently than α -synuclein overexpression. Thus, γ -synuclein may alter its intracellular localization in response to stress and make appropriate alterations in the gene expression pattern (Surgucheva et al., 2003, 2006).

BINDING OF SYNUCLEIN TO RNA

 α -Synuclein binds its own mRNA and prevents initiation of translation (Zanzoni et al., 2013). Interaction of proteins with cognate transcript is a known regulatory mechanism modulating gene expression at the translational level. Usually such mRNA contains a riboswitch – a regulatory segment that interacts with a small molecule, affecting the translation of the proteins encoded by the mRNA (Tucker and Breaker, 2005). However, no riboswitches have been described for synucleins yet. Such autoregulatory control is important for assurance of optimal protein expression levels, and abolition of this normal feedback may lead to various negative consequences (Tai et al., 2004; Hasnat et al., 2007). Autogenous interactions alter gene expression at the translational level and when protein production is elevated, binding to mRNA has a significant inhibitory effect on translation efficiency.

To calculate the propensity of proteins to bind RNA, catRAPID approach was put forward which allows to predict the incidence of autogenous associations in the human proteome (Zanzoni et al., 2013). This method demonstrates that α -synuclein easily binds with cognate mRNA, inhibiting its translation, preventing overexpression and thus supporting the optimal level of protein expression. Since aggregation is intrinsically concentration dependent, it is likely that autogenous interactions play a crucial role in controlling protein homeostasis.

Several recently developed methods are useful to investigate the role of RNA-protein interactions in the pathogenesis of human diseases. CatRAPID is a theoretical framework, which predicts the binding ability of protein and RNA molecules based on physico-chemical properties of nucleotide and amino acid chains. This includes hydrogen bonding, secondary structure, and van der Waals' forces to predict protein–RNA associations with a high confidence (Bellucci et al., 2011; Cirillo et al., 2013). This approach presents a novel tool in the development of RNA aptamers, a useful therapeutic instrument for the diagnostics and management of neurodegenerative diseases (Lee et al., 2006).

Garcia-Esparcia et al. (2015) described significant alterations in the machinery of protein synthesis at the specific regions of the brains of PD patients which are region- and stage-dependent. These alterations include 18S and 28S rRNA, expression of several mRNAs encoding ribosomal proteins, and altered level of translation factors eIF3 and eEF2. These alterations occur in substantia nigra and in the cerebral cortex and may be linked to a significant elevation of α -synuclein oligomers. However, there is no direct evidence to date proving this association.

Thus, there is growing understanding that interaction of α -synuclein with RNA and other protein-RNA interactions are involved in PD and other neurodegenerative diseases (Anthony and Gallo, 2010; Cirillo et al., 2013).

DATA FROM YEAST HELP TO EXPAND α-SYNUCLEIN'S HUMAN INTERACTOME DEMONSTRATING ITS CRITICAL ROLE IN THE REGULATION OF TRANSLATION

New methodologies are required to reveal how synucleins orchestrate the expression of other genes, to identify new binding partners, and to examine mechanisms of synuclein's toxicity. Classical methods, such as knockdown of a single member or all three members of the synuclein family, give only limited information about synuclein's function, confirming their role in synapse structure and physiology. Synuclein's deficiency causes age-dependent neuronal dysfunction, impaired survival and extensive alterations in synaptic dopamine neurotransmission in the nigrostriatal system (Greten-Harrison et al., 2010; Anwar et al., 2011). The results of these experiments also confirmed the existence of overlapping functions in synuclein family members (Anwar et al., 2011). These findings were important for understanding of synuclein pathology in PD and aging, but synuclein biology and their normal physiological functions remained poorly understood.

An important clue for better understanding of a protein's physiological function is the elucidation of its physical interactions. To recognize the normal biological functions and role of α -synuclein in neuropathology, several transgenic and viral overexpression models were developed in various organisms, including roundworms (nematode), fruit flies, rodents, and non-human primates. Amazingly, significant progress in the identification of new synuclein binding partners was made in budding yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, the organism without CNS or brain. Moreover, it does not even have α -synuclein ortholog. Yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae have repeatedly been shown to be suitable for studies of high eukaryotic cell biology, for example, programmed cell death, mitochondria biology (Ter-Avanesyan et al., 1982; Grandin and Charbonneau, 1999; Knott et al., 2008), vesicular trafficking (Littleton and Bellen, 1995), secretory pathway (Malhotra and Emr, 2002), as a model to study neuroprotection at the cellular level (Scheper and Hoozemans, 2009). The method used in the laboratory of Susan Lindquist (Khurana and Lindquist, 2010) and other labs (Braun et al., 2010; Tenreiro et al., 2017) also helped to get better understanding of the mechanisms of α -synuclein toxicity. The 'humanized' yeast models for synucleinopathies recapitulate the fundamental properties of the pathology on molecular and cellular level, identified in human diseases. This provides the rationale for engaging the powerful analytical instrument for various high throughput screening approaches in yeast. In yeast, genome-wide analyses can be performed, which enables the un-biased identification of genes and pathways critically modulating (either executing or preventing) the toxicity of α-synuclein (Lan et al., 2011; Tardiff et al., 2014; Khurana et al., 2017). In addition, comprehensive transcriptomic data may be collected from yeast cells expressing various levels of α -synuclein. Usually genetic screens identify response regulators, whereas transcriptomic profiling assays reveal components of metabolic processes. The ResponseNet computational method combines data from the genetic screens and gene expression analyses with the comprehensive knowledge on protein (and gene) interaction information in public yeast data bases (Yeger-Lotem et al., 2009). This generated a novel level of information on the functional α -synuclein gene/protein interaction network. The ResponseNet method allowed to reveal cellular pathways that responded to the toxicity of α -synuclein mapping both previously identified, and unrecognized pathways responding to a-synuclein toxicity. In the response to α -synuclein toxicity four *de novo* predictions identified by ResponseNet were validated, i.e., the nitrosative stress, the TOR pathway, the disruption of the sterol biosynthesis pathway and the mode-of-action of the genetic suppressor Gip2 (Yeger-Lotem et al., 2009).

Recently a new important method, TransposeNet, was developed allowing to combine genome-wide genetic screens in yeast with the comprehensive protein and gene interaction information available in yeast databases, using an improved computational method (Khurana et al., 2017). The method allows identification of protein-protein and protein-DNA interactions using a yeast interactome data. With this approach a functional protein/gene interaction network for a-synuclein has been described. An important step in this method is a transposition of α -synuclein interaction network into a human α -synuclein interaction network. This transposition is based on a significantly improved identification of human homologs of yeast genes, and on the information of the protein and gene interaction networks known from both the human system and from yeast. A very important result brought by the TransposeNet is that the mRNA translation subnetwork is relevant for α -synuclein toxicity in patient-derived neurons.

The pivotal role of mRNA translation for α -synuclein toxicity was further substantiated by a biochemical method enriching our knowledge about α -synuclein interactome (Chung et al., 2017). Here, the authors used APEX (from ascorbate peroxidase), a method based on the extremely short-lived radicals which covalently react and label amino acids in their immediate proximity (Martell et al., 2012). This method identifies even transient protein–protein interactions in living neurons by mass spectrometry. The method relies on fusing α -synuclein with APEX, which oxidizes phenol derivatives to phenol radicals (**Figure 1**).

Rat primary cortical neurons were transduced with α -synuclein fused to APEX2, a catalytically superior version of APEX. As a result, α -synuclein interacting proteins were identified by mass spectrometry. In initial screening the authors

detected 225 proteins in living neurons which interacted with α -synuclein. Many of these interacting proteins were present in complexes with α -synuclein. This study in addition to anticipated interacting proteins involved in synaptic transmission and endocytosis, identifies several proteins implicated in mRNA metabolism (RNA binding, processing and translation factors). Among them are ten proteins with various functions in translation: EIF3C, EIF3D, CARS, EEF1B2, DARS, EIF3L, EEF2, RPS10, EEF1D and MARS (**Figure 2**).

Polyadenylate-binding protein 1 (PABPC1) - an mRNA binding protein which facilitates mRNA transport out of the nucleus, degradation, translation, and stability is also identified as α-synuclein interacting protein. The authors assume that a-synuclein physically associates with translation factors and sequesters them. This could occur in the synapse, where α-synuclein is localized, and the local mRNA translation plays a key role in the synaptic plasticity. This approach links many Parkinsonism and neurodegenerative disease risk factors to α-synuclein toxicity through specific molecular pathways. The most important of them are mRNA metabolism, translation, and vesicle trafficking. In this network, α -synuclein is associated with genetic modifiers related to mRNA translation, including initiation factors. In particular, it binds to translation initiation factor 4 gamma 1 (EIF4G1) and the poly(A)-binding protein (PAB or PABPC1). The latter one binds to the 3' poly(A) tail of mRNA and is involved in poly(A) shortening and translation initiation. In this network a-synuclein is also associated with several ribosomal components. Overexpression of these genetic modifiers in the mRNA translation and mRNA processing pathways suppressed a-synuclein toxicity in bioscreen, while genetic experiments in various disease models revealed that their effects were specific. As a result, α -synuclein screens and network analysis identified a robust effect of a-synuclein toxicity on bulk mRNA translation in cellular models of synucleinopathy, which was not attributable to an ER stress response (Khurana et al., 2017). The link of α -synuclein with EIF4G1 presumably is involved in pathological alterations in PD and other neurodegenerative disease, since this translation initiation factor is linked to both PD (Chartier-Harlin et al., 2011) and Lewy body dementia (Fujioka et al., 2013). EIF4G1 functions as a scaffold in the eIF4F initiation complex, recruiting other components of translation machinery, i.e., ribosomes and tRNAs to the 5' cap of mRNA (Sonenberg and Dever, 2003).

α-SYNUCLEIN REGULATES CELLULAR PROCESSES BY EPIGENETIC MECHANISMS

Interaction of α -Synuclein with Histones

The first evidence of α -synuclein interaction with histones was published almost 15 years ago (Goers et al., 2003). The initial data describing this interaction were obtained from the studies of neurotoxicity. After injections of the herbicide paraquat to mice α -synuclein was colocalized with histones in the nuclei of nigral



neurons (Goers et al., 2003; Cherny et al., 2004). α -Synuclein formed a tight complex with histones with a molecular mass of 48,700 Da, with a stoichiometry of 2:1 (α -synuclein/histone), and a dissociation constant of about 1 μ M. Hypothetically, histones enriched with arginine and lysine residues act as scaffolds bringing together molecules of α -synuclein with high content of acidic amino acids at C-terminal domain. The authors assume that translocation into the nucleus and binding of histones is one of the mechanisms underlying α -synuclein toxicity (Goers et al., 2003).

Physiological Consequences of α-Synuclein-Histone Interaction

Further studies demonstrate that interaction of α -synuclein with histones has an important physiological function. Binding of

 α -synuclein to histones decreases the histone H3 acetylation and reduces acetylation in HAT assays (Kontopoulos et al., 2006). Two α -synuclein mutations, A30P and A53T, that cause familial PD, display increased probability of localization in the nucleus. These data point to an importance of further research on histone deacetylase inhibitors as a potential target for the treatment of this disease.

Several lines of evidence show that interaction of α -synuclein with histones may also alter transcription of specific genes, representing epigenetic mechanism of gene expression regulation. α -Synuclein overexpression enhances monoand dimethylation of histone H3K9, resulting in an increase in methylated form of this histone at the SNAP25 promoter, presumably disturbing SNARE complex assembly and fusion of synaptic vesicles (Sugeno et al., 2016). Histone modification



with α -synuclein. Adapted from Chung et al. (2017) with permission from the copyright holder.

is an epigenetic mechanism which has a unique role in the cell, modulating the transactivation or repression of particular genes. Such mechanism may contribute to synaptic dysfunction occurring in PD (Sugeno et al., 2016).

Another group examined the role of histones in α -synuclein aggregation in cells experiencing apoptosis and in neuronal cells with nuclear membrane defects causing leakiness. The authors found that histones H1 and H3 released into the cytoplasm during apoptosis interact with α -synuclein to form cytoplasmic aggregates and play a role as a proaggregant factor. Importantly, their results demonstrate that histone-induced α -synuclein aggregates are transmissible to neurons both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Histone-induced α -synuclein aggregates could spread to neurons and seed α -synuclein aggregation. Histone H1 less tightly associated with DNA is more important in the formation of pathological forms of α -synuclein. Histone-induced aggregates contain α -synuclein oligomers of variable size, including protofibrils and mature fibrils. The authors hypothesize that endogenous histones might facilitate internalization of α -synuclein aggregates and favor cell-to-cell propagation similar to the widely used transfection reagent lipofectamine (Jiang et al., 2017).

Importantly, binding of α -synuclein to histones not only affects histone modifications (**Figure 3**), but also it accelerates α -synuclein fibrillation.

Synuclein binding with histone H1 or the other core histones, causes the enhancement of α -synuclein fibrillation. α -Synuclein is able to reduce H3 acetylation, affecting the expression of several genes responsible for cell survival (Pavlou et al., 2017).



Effect of α -Synuclein on DNA Methylation

Another mechanism of α -synuclein participation in epigenetic regulation is realized via DNA methylation. α-Synuclein associates with Dnmt1 causing mislocalization and retention of Dnmt1 in the cytoplasm of neuronal cells (Desplats et al., 2011). As a result methylation in the regulatory regions of specific genes in PD and DLB brains is significantly reduced. The effect is observed both in post-mortem human brain samples and in brains of animal models of PD/DLB. Importantly, overexpression of another member of the synuclein family, β-synuclein does not cause cytoplasmic retention and Dnmt1 is not immunoprecipitated by anti-β-synuclein antibody, confirming the specificity of association between α -synuclein with Dnmt1. However, this effect could be reversed by lentivirus-mediated overexpression of Dnmt1. The finding of the inverse relation between α-synuclein oligomerization and Dnmt1 content in the nucleus suggests that the sequestration of Dnmt1 is increased by α-synuclein aggregation (Desplats et al., 2011). The loss of Dnmt1 protein from the cell nuclei is described in brains of patients with PD, DLB, and brains from transgenic mice that overexpress α -synuclein. In turn, these changes lead to the alterations in methylation pattern at the promoters of α -synuclein and several

other genes, associated with neurodegenerative diseases (Desplats et al., 2011). A reduction in Dnmt1 causing mislocalization has been described in PD patient's brains. Another team (Jowaed et al., 2010) found that methylation in intron 1 decreases α -synuclein expression, whereas inhibition of DNA methylation upregulates expression. Furthermore, methylation of intron 1 in α -synuclein gene is reduced in DNA from sporadic PD patients' brain, including substantia nigra, putamen, and cortex. These results confirm epigenetic regulation of α -synuclein expression in PD (Jowaed et al., 2010). This data suggest another possible mechanism of α -synuclein interference with pathogenic processes of PD.

Epigenetic Mechanisms Regulating α-Synuclein Expression May Affect Its Regulatory Functions

As discussed in chapter 2, α -synuclein role in gene expression regulation depends on its intracellular concentration which in turn is regulated by epigenetic mechanisms controlling its levels. These mechanisms include methylation of α -synuclein promoter, post-translational modifications of histones, and epigenetic mechanisms based on non-coding RNAs (Pavlou et al., 2017). Epigenetic mechanisms that control α -synuclein expression level may affect both its aggregation state and regulatory properties. Importantly, methylation level of CpG sites in α -synuclein gene in leukocytes correlates with the level in brain cells and therefore this analysis may be used as informative biomarker for prognosis of neurodegenerative diseases (Tan et al., 2014; Schmitt et al., 2015).

α-Synuclein and Chromatin Remodeling

The molecular interactions described above in Chapter 6, including binding of α -synuclein with histones, effect on DNA methylation, and epigenetic mechanisms could all induce chromatin remodeling.

Association of α -synuclein with histones may disturb nucleosome structure by reducing the availability of free histones for binding with DNA, or by affecting histone PTMs and leading to alterations in the pattern of gene transcription. In post-mortem PD brains the association of α -synuclein and chromatin is higher than in control samples. Furthermore, α -synuclein binds to the promoter of the master mitochondrial transcription activator, PGC1 alpha (PGC-1 α), which is downregulated in PD brains (Siddiqui et al., 2012; Pavlou et al., 2017). The role of α -synuclein in chromatin remodeling is discussed in a recent review (Pavlou et al., 2017).

CONCLUSION

Here we discuss recent findings showing that in addition to their role in synapses, synucleins have non-canonical functions, and are involved in the regulation of essential cellular processes. In particular, the results presented here are consistent with a significant, although not completely understood role of synucleins in the regulation of gene expression. These

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, A., Schmitz, Y., Fariñas, I., Choi-Lundberg, D., Ho, W. H., Castillo, P. E., et al. (2000). Mice lacking alpha-synuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80886-7
- Anthony, K., and Gallo, J.-M. (2010). Aberrant RNA processing events in neurological disorders. *Brain Res.* 1338, 67–77. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2010.03.008
- Anwar, S., Peters, O., Millership, S., Ninkina, N., Doig, N., Connor-Robson, N., et al. (2011). Functional alterations to the nigrostriatal system in mice lacking all three members of the synuclein family. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 7264–7274. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6194-10.2011
- Baptista, M. J., O'Farrell, C., Daya, S., Ahmad, R., Miller, D. W., Hardy, J., et al. (2003). Co-ordinate transcriptional regulation of dopamine synthesis genes by alpha-synuclein in human neuroblastoma cell lines. *J. Neurochem.* 85, 957–968. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01742.x
- Bellucci, A., Navarria, L., Falarti, E., Zaltieri, M., Bono, F., Collo, G., et al. (2011). Redistribution of DAT/α-synuclein complexes visualized by "in situ" proximity ligation assay in transgenic mice modelling early Parkinson's disease. *PLoS ONE* 6:e27959. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027959
- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P., and Edwards, R. H. (2013). The function of α -synuclein. *Neuron* 79, 1044–1066. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Bonini, N. M., and Giasson, B. I. (2005). Snaring the function of alpha-synuclein. *Cell* 123, 359–361. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.10.017

mechanisms include both direct interaction of synucleins with DNA, transcription and translation factors, and less direct intervention, for example, via their effect on histone acetylation. Thus, synucleins may play a passive role of "ramblers in the crowd," but in response to stress or changing environmental conditions they become involved in the modulation of specific protein expression via mechanisms described in Chapters 2–4 and 6. Further research is required to unveil the details of these intimate mechanisms.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AAS wrote, and edited the manuscript; made substantial contributions to the conception of the work; made a final approval; and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work. AS wrote a part of the manuscript; made analysis and interpretation of data; made a final approval of the version to be published; and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

Some of the work by AS was conducted at the Kansas City VA Medical Center, Kansas City, MO, United States, with support from VA Merit Review grants 1I01BX000361 and the Glaucoma Foundation grant QB42308.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We acknowledge VA Central Office for Merit Review grants and the Glaucoma Foundation for support.

- Braun, R. J., Büttner, S., Ring, J., Kroemer, G., and Madeo, F. (2010). Nervous yeast: modeling neurotoxic cell death. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 35, 135–144. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2009.10.005
- Brown, J. W., Buell, A. K., Michaels, T. C., Meisl, G., Carozza, J., Flagmeier, P., et al. (2016). β-Synuclein suppresses both the initiation and amplification steps of α-synuclein aggregation via competitive binding to surfaces. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36010. doi: 10.1038/srep36010
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Südhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227
- Chalovich, E. M., Zhu, J. H., Caltagarone, J., Bowser, R., and Chu, C. T. (2006). Functional repression of cAMP response element in 6-hydroxydopaminetreated neuronal cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 17870–17881. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M602632200
- Chandra, S., Gallardo, G., Fernández-Chacón, R., Schlüter, O. M., and Südhof, T. C. (2005). Alpha-synuclein cooperates with CSPalpha in preventing neurodegeneration. *Cell* 123, 383–396. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.028
- Chartier-Harlin, M. C., Dachsel, J. C., Vilariño-Güell, C., Lincoln, S. J., Leprêtre, F., Hulihan, M. M., et al. (2011). Translation initiator EIF4G1 mutations in familial Parkinson disease. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 89, 398–406. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.08.009
- Cherny, D., Hoyer, W., Subramaniam, V., and Jovin, T. M. (2004). Doublestranded DNA stimulates the fibrillation of alpha-synuclein in vitro and is associated with the mature fibrils: an electron microscopy study. *J. Mol. Biol.* 344, 929–938. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.09.096

- Chung, C. Y., Khurana, V., Yi, S., Sahni, N., Loh, K. H., Auluck, P. K., et al. (2017). In situ peroxidase labeling and mass-spectrometry connects alpha-synuclein directly to endocytic trafficking and mRNA metabolism in neurons. *Cell Syst.* 4, 242. e4–250. e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2017.01.002
- Cirillo, D., Agostini, F., Klus, P., Marchese, D., Rodriguez, S., Bolognesi, B., et al. (2013). Neurodegenerative diseases: quantitative predictions of protein-RNA interactions. RNA 19, 129–140. doi: 10.1261/rna.034777.112
- Desplats, P., Spencer, B., Coffee, E., Patel, P., Michael, S., Patrick, C., et al. (2011). Alpha-synuclein sequesters Dnmt1 from the nucleus: a novel mechanism for epigenetic alterations in Lewy body diseases. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 9031–9037. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C110.212589
- Diao, J., Burré, J., Vivona, S., Cipriano, D. J., Sharma, M., Kyoung, M., et al. (2013). Native α-synuclein induces clustering of synaptic-vesicle mimics via binding to phospholipids and synaptobrevin-2/VAMP2. *eLife* 2:e00592. doi: 10.7554/eLife. 00592
- Ellis, R. J. (2001). Macromolecular crowding: obvious but underappreciated. Trends Biochem. Sci. 26, 597-604. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(01)01938-7
- Emamzadeh, F. N. (2016). Alpha-synuclein structure, functions, and interactions. J. Res. Med. Sci. 21:29. doi: 10.4103/1735-1995.181989
- Fujioka, S., Sundal, C., Strongosky, A. J., Castanedes, M. C., Rademakers, R., Ross, O. A., et al. (2013). Sequence variants in eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4-gamma (eIF4G1) are associated with Lewy body dementia. *Acta Neuropathol.* 125, 425–438. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-1059-4
- Garcia-Esparcia, P., Hernández-Ortega, K., Koneti, A., Gil, L., Delgado-Morales, R., Castaño, E., et al. (2015). Altered machinery of protein synthesis is region- and stage-dependent and is associated with α-synuclein oligomers in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 3:76. doi: 10.1186/s40478-015-0257-4
- Goers, J., Manning-Bog, A. B., McCormack, A. L., Millett, I. S., Doniach, S., Di Monte, D. A., et al. (2003). Nuclear localization of α -synuclein and its interaction with histones. *Biochemistry* 42, 8465–8471. doi: 10.1021/bi03 41152
- Grandin, N., and Charbonneau, M. (1999). Dbf2 is implicated in a Cbt1dependent pathway following a shift from glucose to galactose or nonfermentable carbon sources in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 261, 402–407.
- Greten-Harrison, B., Polydoro, M., Morimoto-Tomita, M., Diao, L., Williams, A. M., Nie, E. H., et al. (2010). αβγ-Synuclein triple knockout mice reveal age-dependent neuronal dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 19573–19578. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005005107
- Hashimoto, M., Rockenstein, E., Mante, M., Mallory, M., and Masliah, E. (2001). Beta-Synuclein inhibits alpha-synuclein aggregation: a possible role as an antiparkinsonian factor. *Neuron* 32, 213–223. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00462-7
- Hashimoto, M., Takenouchi, T., Rockenstein, E., and Masliah, E. (2003). Alpha-synuclein up-regulates expression of caveolin-1 and down-regulates extracellular signal-regulated kinase activity in B103 neuroblastoma cells: role in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurochem.* 85, 1468–1479. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01791.x
- Hasnat, A., Bichenkova, E., Yu, X., Arnold, J. R., Fisher, J., Fedorova, O., et al. (2007). Fluorescence spectroscopic and (19)f NMR studies of human thymidylate synthase with its cognate RNA. J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn. 25, 253–270. doi: 10.1080/07391102.2007.10507174
- Hegde, M. L., and Jagannatha Rao, K. S. (2003). Challenges and complexities of alpha-synuclein toxicity: new postulates in unfolding the mystery associated with Parkinson's disease. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 418, 169–178. doi: 10.1016/ j.abb.2003.08.015
- Hegde, M. L., and Rao, K. S. (2007). DNA induces folding in alpha-synuclein: understanding the mechanism using chaperone property of osmolytes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 464, 57–69. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2007.03.042
- Hegde, M. L., Vasudevaraju, P., and Rao, K. J. (2010). DNA induced folding/fibrillation of alpha-synuclein: new insights in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Biosci.* 15, 418–436. doi: 10.2741/3628
- Hunkele, A., Sultan, H., Ikalina, F. A., Liu, A. H., Nahar-Gohad, P., and Ko, J. L. (2016). Identification of gamma-synuclein as a new PCBP1-interacting protein. *Neurol. Res.* 38, 1064–1078. doi: 10.1179/1743132815Y.0000000091
- Iwata, A., Maruyama, M., Kanazawa, I., and Nukina, N. (2001a). alpha-Synuclein affects the MAPK pathway and accelerates cell death. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 45320–45329.

- Iwata, A., Miura, S., Kanazawa, I., Sawada, M., and Nukina, N. (2001b). alpha-Synuclein forms a complex with transcription factor Elk-1. J. Neurochem. 77, 239–252.
- Jiang, P., Gan, M., Yen, S. H., McLean, P. J., and Dickson, D. W. (2017). Histones facilitate α-synuclein aggregation during neuronal apoptosis. *Acta Neuropathol.* 133, 547–558. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1660-z
- Jiménez, J. S. (2010). Protein-DNA interaction at the origin of neurological diseases: a hypothesis. J. Alzheimers Dis. 22, 375–391. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100189
- Jin, H., Kanthasamy, A., Ghosh, A., Yang, Y., Anantharam, V., and Kanthasamy, A. G. (2011). α-Synuclein negatively regulates protein kinase Cδ expression to suppress apoptosis in dopaminergic neurons by reducing p300 histone acetyltransferase activity. J. Neurosci. 31, 2035–2051. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 5634-10.2011
- Jowaed, A., Schmitt, I., Kaut, O., and Wüllner, U. (2010). Methylation regulates alpha-synuclein expression and is decreased in Parkinson's disease patients' brains. J. Neurosci. 30, 6355–6359. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6119-09.2010
- Khurana, V., and Lindquist, S. (2010). Modelling neurodegeneration in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: Why cook with baker's yeast? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11, 436–449. doi: 10.1038/nrn2809
- Khurana, V., Peng, J., Chung, C. Y., Auluck, P. K., Fanning, S., Tardiff, D. F., et al. (2017). Genome-scale networks link neurodegenerative disease genes to α -synuclein through specific molecular pathways. *Cell Syst.* 4, 157.e14–170. e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2016.12.011
- Kim, S., Park, J. M., Moon, J., and Choi, H. J. (2014). Alpha-synuclein interferes with cAMP/PKA-dependent upregulation of dopamine β-hydroxylase and is associated with abnormal adaptive responses to immobilization stress. *Exp. Neurol.* 252, 63–74. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.11.009
- Knott, A. B., Perkins, G., Schwarzenbacher, R., and Bossy-Wetzel, E. (2008). Mitochondrial fragmentation in neurodegeneration. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 505–518. doi: 10.1038/nrn2417
- Kokhan, V. S., Van'kin, G. I., Bachurin, S. O., and Shamakina, I. Y. (2013). Differential involvement of the gamma-synuclein in cognitive abilities on the model of knockout mice. *BMC Neurosci.* 14:53. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-14-53
- Kontopoulos, E., Parvin, J. D., and Feany, M. B. (2006). α-synuclein acts in the nucleus to inhibit histone acetylation and promote neurotoxicity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 15, 3012–3023. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddl243
- Lan, A., Smoly, I. Y., Rapaport, G., Lindquist, S., Fraenkel, E., and Yeger-Lotem, E. (2011). ResponseNet: revealing signaling and regulatory networks linking genetic and transcriptomic screening data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, W424–W429. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr359
- Lee, J. F., Stovall, G. M., and Ellington, A. D. (2006). Aptamer therapeutics advance. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 10, 282–289. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.03.015
- Littleton, J. T., and Bellen, H. J. (1995). Synaptotagmin controls and modulates synaptic-vesicle fusion in a Ca²⁺ dependent manner. *Trends Neurosci.* 18, 177–183. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(95)93898-8
- Ma, K. L., Song, L. K., Yuan, Y. H., Zhang, Y., Yang, J. L., Zhu, P., et al. (2014). α-Synuclein is prone to interaction with the GC-box-like sequence in vitro. *Cell Mol. Neurobiol.* 34, 603–609. doi: 10.1007/s10571-014-0046-9
- Malhotra, V., and Emr, S. D. (2002). Rothman and Schekman SNAREd by lasker for trafficking. *Cell* 111, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01008-5
- Maroteaux, L., Campanelli, J. T., and Scheller, R. H. (1988). Synuclein: a neuronspecific protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J. Neurosci.* 8, 2804–2815.
- Martell, J. D., Deerinck, T. J., Sancak, Y., Poulos, T. L., Mootha, V. K., Sosinsky, G. E., et al. (2012). Engineered ascorbate peroxidase as a genetically encoded reporter for electron microscopy. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 30, 1143–1148. doi: 10.1038/ nbt.2375
- Martins, M., Rosa, A., Guedes, L. C., Fonseca, B. V., Gotovac, K., Violante, S., et al. (2011). Convergence of miRNA expression profiling, α -synuclein interaction and GWAS in Parkinson's disease. *PLoS ONE* 6:e25443. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0025443
- Minton, A. P. (1993). Macromolecular crowding and molecular recognition. J. Mol. Recognit. 6, 211–214. doi: 10.1002/jmr.300060410
- Minton, A. P. (1998). Molecular crowding: analysis of effects of high concentrations of inert cosolutes on biochemical equilibria and rates in terms of volume exclusion. *Methods Enzymol.* 295, 127–149. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(98) 95038-8

- Ninkina, N., Peters, O. M., Connor-Robson, N., Lytkina, O., Sharfeddin, E., and Buchman, V. L. (2012). Contrasting effects of α -synuclein and γ -synuclein on the phenotype of cysteine string protein α (CSP α) null mutant mice suggest distinct function of these proteins in neuronal synapses. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 44471–44477. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.422402
- Padmaraju, V., Bhaskar, J. J., Prasada Rao, U. J., Salimath, P. V., and Rao, K. S. (2011). Role of advanced glycation on aggregation and DNA binding properties of α-synuclein. J. Alzheimers Dis. 24(Suppl. 2), 211–221. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2011-101965
- Pavlou, M. A., Pinho, R., Paiva, I., and Outeiro, T. F. (2017). The yin and yang of α-synuclein-associated epigenetics in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 140, 878–886. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww227
- Scheper, W., and Hoozemans, J. J. (2009). Endoplasmic reticulum protein quality control in neurodegenerative disease: the good, the bad and the therapy. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 16, 615–626. doi: 10.2174/092986709787458506
- Schmitt, I., Kaut, O., Khazneh, H., deBoni, L., Ahmad, A., Berg, D., et al. (2015). L-dopa increases α-synuclein DNA methylation in Parkinson's disease patients in vivo and in vitro. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1794–1801. doi: 10.1002/mds.26319
- Segura-Ulate, I., Yang, B., Vargas-Medrano, J., and Perez, R. G. (2017). FTY720 (Fingolimod) reverses α-synuclein-induced downregulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in OLN-93 oligodendroglial cells. *Neuropharmacology* 117, 149–157. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017. 01.028
- Seo, J. H., Rah, J. C., Choi, S. H., Shin, J. K., Min, K., Kim, H. S., et al. (2002). Alphasynuclein regulates neuronal survival via Bcl-2 family expression and PI3/Akt kinase pathway. *FASEB J.* 16, 1826–1828.
- Shtilerman, M. D., Ding, T. T., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2002). Molecular crowding accelerates fibrillization of alpha-synuclein: could an increase in the cytoplasmic protein concentration induce Parkinson's disease? *Biochemistry* 41, 3855–3860.
- Siddiqui, A., Chinta, S. J., Mallajosyula, J. K., Rajagopolan, S., Hanson, I., Rane, A., et al. (2012). Selective binding of nuclear α -synuclein to the PGC1alpha promoter under conditions of oxidative stress may contribute to losses in mitochondrial function: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 53, 993–1003. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.05.024
- Sonenberg, N., and Dever, T. E. (2003). Eukaryotic translation initiation factors and regulators. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 13, 56–63. doi: 10.1016/S0959-440X(03) 00009-5
- Sugeno, N., Jäckel, S., Voigt, A., Wassouf, Z., Schulze-Hentrich, J., and Kahle, P. J. (2016). α-Synuclein enhances histone H3 lysine-9 dimethylation and H3K9me2-dependent transcriptional responses. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36328. doi: 10.1038/ srep36328
- Surgucheva, I., McMahon, B., and Surguchov, A. (2006). gamma-Synuclein has a dynamic intracellular localization. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton* 63, 447–458. doi: 10.1002/cm.20135
- Surgucheva, I., Shestopalov, V. I., and Surguchov, A. (2008). Effect of γ-synuclein silencing on apoptotic pathways in retinal ganglion cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 36377–36385. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806660200
- Surgucheva, I., and Surguchov, A. (2008). gamma-Synuclein: cell-type specific promoter activity and binding to transcription factors. J. Mol. Neurosci. 35, 267–271. doi: 10.1007/s12031-008-9074-6
- Surgucheva, I. G., Sivak, J. M., Fini, M. E., Palazzo, R. E., and Surguchov, A. P. (2003). Effect of gamma-synuclein overexpression on matrix metalloproteinases in retinoblastoma Y79 cells. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 410, 167–176. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9861(02)00664-1
- Surguchov, A. (2008). Molecular and cellular biology of synucleins. Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol. 270, 225–317. doi: 10.1016/S1937-6448(08)01406-8
- Surguchov, A. (2014). What do synucleins do in the nucleus? J. Genet. Mol. Cell Biol. 1:1.
- Surguchov, A. (2015). Intracellular dynamics of synucleins: here, there and everywhere. *Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol.* 320, 103–169. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2015. 07.007
- Surguchov, A., Palazzo, R. E., and Surgucheva, I. (2001). Gamma synucleins: subcellular localization in neuronal cells and effect on signal transduction. *Cell Motil. Cytoskeleton* 2001, 218–228. doi: 10.1002/cm.1035
- Surguchov, A., Surgucheva, I., Sharma, M., and Singh, V. (2017). New putative epigenetic mechanism of epilepsy. *Front. Neurol.* 8:3. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017. 00003

- Surguchov, A., Surgucheva, I., Solessio, E., and Baehr, W. (1999). Synoretin–a new protein belonging to the synuclein family. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 13, 95–103. doi: 10.1006/mcne.1999.0735
- Tai, N., Schmitz, J. C., Liu, J., Lin, X., Bailly, M., Chen, T. M., et al. (2004). Translational autoregulation of thymidylate synthase and dihydrofolate reductase. *Front. Biosci.* 9, 2521–2526. doi: 10.2741/1413
- Tan, Y. Y., Wu, L., Zhao, Z. B., Wang, Y., Xiao, Q., Liu, J., et al. (2014). Methylation of α-synuclein and leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 in leukocyte DNA of Parkinson's disease patients. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 20, 308–313. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2013.12.002
- Tardiff, D. F., Khurana, V., Chung, C. Y., and Lindquist, S. (2014). From yeast to patient neurons and back again: powerful new discovery platform. *Mov. Disord.* 10, 1231–1240. doi: 10.1002/mds.25989
- Tenreiro, S., Franssens, V., Winderickx, J., and Outeiro, T. F. (2017). Yeast models of Parkinson's disease-associated molecular pathologies. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 44, 74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2017.01.013
- Ter-Avanesyan, M. D., Zimmermann, J., Inge-Vechtomov, S. G., Sudarikov, A. B., Smirnov, V. N., and Surguchov, A. P. (1982). Ribosomal recessive suppressors cause a respiratory deficiency in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Gen. Genet. 185, 319–323. doi: 10.1007/BF00330805
- Tsukakoshi, K., Abe, K., Sode, K., and Ikebukuro, K. (2012). Selection of DNA aptamers that recognize α -synuclein oligomers using a competitive screening method. *Anal. Chem.* 84, 5542–5547. doi: 10.1021/ac300330g
- Tsukakoshi, K., Harada, R., Sode, K., and Ikebukuro, K. (2010). Screening of DNA aptamer which binds to alpha-synuclein. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 32, 643–648. doi: 10.1007/s10529-010-0200-5
- Tucker, B. J., and Breaker, R. R. (2005). Riboswitches as versatile gene control elements. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15, 342–348. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2005.05.003
- Uversky, V. N., Li, J., and Fink, A. L. (2001). Metal-triggered structural transformations, aggregation, and fibrillation of human alpha-synuclein. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 44284–44296. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105343200
- Uversky, V. N., M Cooper, E., Bower, K. S., Li, J., and Fink, A. L. (2002). Accelerated alpha-synuclein fibrillation in crowded milieu. *FEBS Lett.* 515, 99–103. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02446-8
- Vargas, K. J., Makani, S., Davis, T., Westphal, T. H., Castillo, P. E., and Chandra, S. S. (2014). Synucleins regulate the kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 9364–9376. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4787-13.2014
- Vargas, K. J., Schrod, N., Davis, T., Fernandez-Busnadiego, R., Taguchi, Y. V., Laugks, U., et al. (2017). Synucleins have multiple effects on presynaptic architecture. *Cell Rep.* 18, 161–173. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.023
- Vasudevaraju, P., Guerrero, E., Hegde, M. L., Collen, T. B., Britton, G. B., and Rao, K. S. (2012). New evidence on α-synuclein and Tau binding to conformation and sequence specific GC* rich DNA: relevance to neurological disorders. *J. Pharm. Bioallied Sci.* 4, 112–117. doi: 10.4103/0975-7406. 94811
- Yeger-Lotem, E., Riva, L., Su, L. J., Gitler, A. D., Cashikar, A. G., King, O. D., et al. (2009). Bridging high-throughput genetic and transcriptional data reveals cellular responses to alpha-synuclein toxicity. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 16–23. doi: 10.1038/ng.337
- Zaltieri, M., Grigoletto, J., Longhena, F., Navarria, L., Favero, G., Castrezzati, S., et al. (2015). α-Synuclein and synapsin III cooperatively regulate synaptic function in dopamine neurons. *J. Cell Sci.* 128, 2231–2243. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 157867
- Zanzoni, A., Marchese, D., Agostini, F., Bolognesi, B., Cirillo, D., Botta-Orfila, M., et al. (2013). Principles of self-organization in biological pathways: a hypothesis on the autogenous association of alpha-synuclein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 9987–9998. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt794

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Surguchev and Surguchov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Silencing Alpha Synuclein in Mature Nigral Neurons Results in Rapid Neuroinflammation and Subsequent Toxicity

Matthew J. Benskey¹, Rhyomi C. Sellnow¹, Ivette M. Sandoval^{1,2}, Caryl E. Sortwell^{1,2}, Jack W. Lipton^{1,2} and Fredric P. Manfredsson^{1,2*}

¹Department of Translational Science and Molecular Medicine, College of Human Medicine, Michigan State University, Grand Rapids, MI, United States, ²Mercy Health Saint Mary's, Grand Rapids, MI, United States

Human studies and preclinical models of Parkinson's disease implicate the involvement of both the innate and adaptive immune systems in disease progression. Further, pro-inflammatory markers are highly enriched near neurons containing pathological forms of alpha synuclein (α -syn), and α -syn overexpression recapitulates neuroinflammatory changes in models of Parkinson's disease. These data suggest that α -syn may initiate a pathological inflammatory response, however the mechanism by which α -syn initiates neuroinflammation is poorly understood. Silencing endogenous α -syn results in a similar pattern of nigral degeneration observed following α -syn overexpression. Here we aimed to test the hypothesis that loss of α -syn function within nigrostriatal neurons results in neuronal dysfunction, which subsequently stimulates neuroinflammation. Adeno-associated virus (AAV) expressing an short hairpin RNA (shRNA) targeting endogenous α-syn was unilaterally injected into the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) of adult rats, after which nigrostriatal pathology and indices of neuroinflammation were examined at 7, 10, 14 and 21 days post-surgery. Removing endogenous α -syn from nigrostriatal neurons resulted in a rapid up-regulation of the major histocompatibility complex class 1 (MHC-1) within transduced nigral neurons. Nigral MHC-1 expression occurred prior to any overt cell death and coincided with the recruitment of reactive microglia and T-cells to affected neurons. Following the induction of neuroinflammation, α-syn knockdown resulted in a 50% loss of nigrostriatal neurons in the SNc and a corresponding loss of nigrostriatal terminals and dopamine (DA) concentrations within the striatum. Expression of a control shRNA did not elicit any pathological changes. Silencing a-syn within glutamatergic neurons of the cerebellum did not elicit inflammation or cell death, suggesting that toxicity initiated by α -syn silencing is specific to DA neurons. These data provide evidence that loss of a-syn function within nigrostriatal neurons initiates a neuronal-mediated neuroinflammatory cascade, involving both the innate and adaptive immune systems, which ultimately results in the death of affected neurons.

Keywords: alpha-synuclein, knockdown, major histocompatibility complex class 1 (MHC-1), microglia, neuroinflammation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andrei Surguchov, University of Kansas Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Veerle Baekelandt, KU Leuven, Belgium Fatemeh Nouri Emamzadeh, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States

*Correspondence:

Fredric P. Manfredsson fredric.manfredsson@hc.msu.edu

Received: 06 December 2017 Accepted: 26 January 2018 Published: 13 February 2018

Citation:

Benskey MJ, Sellnow RC, Sandoval IM, Sortwell CE, Lipton JW and Manfredsson FP (2018) Silencing Alpha Synuclein in Mature Nigral Neurons Results in Rapid Neuroinflammation and Subsequent Toxicity. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 11:36. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00036

INTRODUCTION

A growing body of research suggests that inflammation, mediated by both the innate and adaptive immune systems, is a crucial event in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (McGeer et al., 1988b; Croisier et al., 2005; Orr et al., 2005; Ouchi et al., 2005; Gerhard et al., 2006; Cebrián et al., 2014b). For example, increased numbers of microglia are present in virtually all brain regions affected by Parkinson's disease (Ouchi et al., 2005; Gerhard et al., 2006). Microglia within the Parkinson's disease brain express the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and CD68, indicating that they are activated and phagocytic (McGeer et al., 1988b; Croisier et al., 2005). Parkinson's disease patients exhibit increased pro-inflammatory cytokines in the brain and periphery (Mogi et al., 1994a,b, 1996), and infiltration of peripheral leukocytes, such as T-cells, into the brain (McGeer et al., 1988a). Within the Parkinson's disease brain catecholamine neurons express major histocompatibility complex class 1 (MHC-1; McGeer et al., 1988b; Croisier et al., 2005; Orr et al., 2005; Ouchi et al., 2005; Gerhard et al., 2006; Cebrián et al., 2014b), and Lewy bodies and dopamine (DA) neurons label with immunoglobulin G (Orr et al., 2005; Ouchi et al., 2005; Gerhard et al., 2006). Finally, serum or immunoglobulin G isolated from Parkinson's disease patients can mediate selective destruction of DA neurons in models of Parkinson's disease (McGeer et al., 1988b; Defazio et al., 1994; Chen et al., 1998; Croisier et al., 2005).

Whether neuroinflammation is an active participant in neurodegeneration or merely a reactionary response to cell death remains contentious. Microglia are increased within disease-affected brain regions of early stage Parkinson's disease patients (Mogi et al., 1994a,b, 1996; Gerhard et al., 2006), and increased microglia remain constant over the disease duration (McGeer et al., 1988a; Croisier et al., 2005; Gerhard et al., 2006). These data suggest that an initial immunogenic signal triggers microglia activation and recruitment to disease affected brain regions early in Parkinson's disease, prior to cell death. Aberrations in the expression or function of the protein alpha synuclein (α -syn) may be one such immunogenic signal, capable of directly initiating an inflammatory cascade.

 α -syn is a small protein that is expressed throughout many tissues in the body, but is highly enriched within neural tissue, where it primarily localizes to the presynaptic terminal (Maroteaux et al., 1988; Iwai et al., 1995). Missense mutations or multiplications of the α -syn gene cause familial Parkinson's disease (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Singleton et al., 2003), and aggregated α -syn protein is a primary component of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites (Spillantini et al., 1997), the defining histopathological features of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Further, perturbations in α -syn homeostasis can initiate an inflammatory response. α -syn depositions correlate, both spatially and temporally, with the presence of activated microglia (Croisier et al., 2005), and antibodies against α -syn have been isolated from the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of Parkinson's disease patients (Papachroni et al., 2007). Activated microglia are also found surrounding Lewy bodies in other synucleinopathies, suggesting that neuroinflammation is a common response to α -syn dysfunction (Streit and Xue, 2016). Supporting this idea, neuroinflammation is a common feature reported in virtually all a-syn-based animals models (reviewed in Magen and Chesselet, 2010; Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2013). Within rodents, transgenic or virally mediated overexpression of α -syn, or injection of recombinant α -syn protein, cause microgliosis, pro-inflammatory cytokine production, and infiltration of peripheral T-cells within the brain (Theodore et al., 2008; Wilms et al., 2009; Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2010, 2013; Barkholt et al., 2012; Watson et al., 2012; Fischer et al., 2016). Mimicking the human disease, microgliosis reported in α-syn based animal models occurs during neuronal dysfunction, but prior to cell death (Theodore et al., 2008; Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2010), suggesting that the inflammatory response actively contributes to neurodegeneration.

An important question that remains unanswered is how perturbations in α -syn homeostasis initiate neuroinflammation. Currently, the prevailing hypothesis posits that α -syn is released from neurons (either actively or following cell death) after which it directly stimulates glia, thereby initiating the inflammatory process. Supporting this theory, recombinant α -syn or conditioned media from α -syn expressing cells stimulates a pro-inflammatory response in cultured microglia (Su et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2016). However, it appears that loss of normal α -syn function is also capable of eliciting a pro-inflammatory response without a direct interaction between α-syn and glia. For example, microglia isolated from α -syn germline knockout (KO) mice display increased reactivity, both basally and following stimulus, as well as increased cytokine secretion (Austin et al., 2006, 2011). Bidirectional crosstalk between neurons and glia is an integral component to both the normal homeostatic maintenance of healthy neurons and the phagocytic removal of damaged neurons (Sheridan and Murphy, 2013). Thus, we hypothesized that loss of *normal* α -syn function, resulting from aggregation or genetic silencing (Benskey et al., 2016a), leads to neuronal dysfunction and subsequent stimulation of microgliosis and inflammation. We aimed to test this hypothesis without the confounding variable of increased extracellular a-syn, which is able to directly stimulate microglia. Endogenous or overexpressed a-syn is secreted from neurons (Lee et al., 2005; Jang et al., 2010), while injection of recombinant α -syn protein directly exposes microglia to α -syn (Yu et al., 2010). Thus, to induce intra-neuronal α -syn dysfunction without directly increasing microglial exposure to a-syn, we chose to silence endogenous a-syn expression within mature nigrostriatal neurons, using adeno-associated virus (AAV) expressing a short hairpin RNA (shRNA) targeting endogenous rat α-syn.

Removal of α -syn from mature nigrostriatal neurons of adult rodents and non-human primates results in neurodegeneration that recapitulates many neuropathological aspects of Parkinson's disease (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010; Khodr et al., 2011, 2014; Benskey et al., 2016a; Collier et al., 2016). However, the time course of neuronal dysfunction and degeneration following α -syn knockdown has never been thoroughly characterized. Thus, the purpose of this study was to: (1) establish a time line of nigrostriatal neuronal dysfunction and degeneration following removal of endogenous α -syn; and (2) examine the effects of intra-neuronal α -syn dysfunction on neuroinflammation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

cDNA Clones and Virus Production

 α -syn (GAAGGACCAGATGGGCAAG), myocardin (TGCA ACTGCAGAAGCAGAA), or scrambled (CACAAGATGAAGA GCACCA) siRNAs were designed using standard algorithms (Toro Cabrera and Mueller, 2016), and sequences were confirmed against available genomic data in order to ensure α -syn specificity. shRNAs were expressed by the H1 promoter (Benskey et al., 2014). All vectors also contained a green fluorescent protein (GFP) reporter gene under control of the hybrid chicken β -actin/cytomegalovirus promoter.

AAV was packaged through the co-transfection of human embryonic kidney 293T (HEK293T) cells with the AAV genome and an AAV5 helper plasmid. AAV was isolated from cellular lysates using an iodixanol step gradient and purified via column chromatography using a Q sepharose column (Amersham Biosciences). Virus titers were determined by dot blot and expressed in viral genomes/milliliter (vg/ml; Benskey et al., 2016b). Throughout the course of this study, several independent lots of the respective AAV vectors were created and used as needed. Results remained consistent between vector lots.

Lentivirus (LV) was packaged through the co-transfection of HEK293T cells with the respective LV genome, a LV packaging vector and a vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein psuedotyping plasmid. LV was concentrated from cellular media via ultracentrifugation, and resuspended in Dulbeccos modified eagles medium (Benskey and Manfredsson, 2016b). Viral titers were determined using the Lenti-X-qRT PCR kit (Clonetech).

Animals and Surgery

Experiments involving animals were conducted in accordance with the Michigan State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (AUF 10/15-156-00). The protocol was approved by the Michigan State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Rat experiments were conducted using young adult (220 g) male Sprague-Dawley rats. Mouse experiments were conducted using young adult (30 g) male α -syn knockout (B6:129X1-SNCA^{tmRosl/}J; Abeliovich et al., 2000) or wild type C57Bl6/j mice. Rats were housed two per cage while mice were housed four per cage. All animals were maintained in a light-controlled (12 h light/dark cycle; lights on at 06:00 h) room, and provided food and water *ad libitum*.

Surgery was performed under 2% isoflurane anesthesia as previously described (Benskey and Manfredsson, 2016a). AAV expressing the α -syn or myocardin shRNAs were injected into the rat substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) or cerebellum at a titer of 2.6 \times 10¹² vg/ml (Full) or 1.3 \times 10¹² vg/ml (Half) in the same volume. AAV expressing the α -syn or scrambled shRNAs were injected into the mouse SNc at a titer

of 3 \times 10¹³vg/ml. All stereotaxic coordinates were calculated relative to Bregma. Unilateral 1.5 µl injections to the rat SNc: -5.4 mm anterior/posterior; +2.0 mm medial/lateral; -7.2 mm dorsal ventral (relative to dura). Unilateral 1.5 µl injections to the rat cerebellum: -11.3 mm anterior/posterior; +2.5 mm medial/lateral; -6.2 mm dorsal/ventral (relative to dura). Unilateral 1 µl injections to the mouse SNc: -3 mm anterior/posterior; +1.5 mm medial/lateral; -4.6 mm dorsal ventral (relative to dura). Injections were performed using an automated micropump (World Precision Instruments).

Cell Culture

Undifferentiated PC12 cells were maintained in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% horse serum, 2.5% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. All cells were grown in a sterile incubator with 5% CO_2 at 37°C and subcultured every 2–3 days.

Tissue Collection and Processing

 α -syn shRNA toxicity in the rat nigrostriatal system was analyzed at 7, 10, 14, and 21-days post-surgery. α -syn shRNA toxicity in the rat cerebellum or mouse SNc, was analyzed 1-month postsurgery. Animals were sacrificed by a lethal dose of pentobarbital and transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline. The striatum was dissected and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen for protein and neurochemical analysis. For histological analysis, brains were post fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, and coronal sections (40 μ m) were cut through the midbrain or cerebellum using a microtome. To control for variations in inter-sample processing, the contralateral (uninjected) hemisphere is used as an internal control, and data is presented as percent of the contralateral hemisphere.

Histology

Free floating immunohistochemistry or immunofluorescence was performed by washing tissue in TBS containing 0.25% Triton-X 100 (TBS-Tx), blocking in 10% normal goat serum, and incubating in primary antibody over night at room temperature. Primary antibodies used: mouse anti-tyrosine hydroxylase (TH; Millipore MAB318), rabbit anti-TH (Millipore AB152), mouse anti-alpha-synuclein (BD Transduction Laboratories 610787) rabbit anti-calbindin (AbCam ab11426), mouse anti-HUc/d (Invitrogen A-21271), mouse anti-neuronal nuclear protein (NeuN; Millipore MAB377), rabbit anti-ionized calcium-biding adapter molecule 1 (IBA1; Wako 019-19741), rabbit anti-CD68 (Abcam ab31630), mouse anti-rat MHC-1 (Bio Rad MCA51GA), mouse anti-rat CD3 (Bio Rad MCA772), rabbit anti-cleaved caspase-3 (cell signaling 9661), and rabbit anti-vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT; Abcam ab81855).

For immunohistochemical detection, tissue was washed in TBS-Tx and incubated in a biotin-conjugated goat anti-rabbit (Abcam ab6720), or a goat anti-mouse (Millipore AP124B) secondary antibody for 2 h at room temperature. Bound peroxidase was visualized with 0.05% 3-3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (Sigma) with 0.01% hydrogen peroxide using an ABC Elite kit (Vector Laboratories). For immunfluorescent detection, tissue was washed in TBS-Tx and incubated with

alexafluor 488 (Invitrogen), alexafluor 594 (Invitrogen) or LiCor 680 (LiCor-Biosciences) secondary antibodies targeting the respective primary antibody host species.

Densitometry

Quantification of TH and VMAT protein levels in the striatum was made indirectly using an Odyssey near infrared scanner (Manfredsson et al., 2009; Benskey et al., 2016b). Briefly, striatal tissue was processed for immunodetection of TH and VMAT as described above, after which tissue was incubated in goat anti-mouse LiCor 680LT (925-68020) or goat anti-rabbit 800CW (925-32211) secondary antibodies. Tissue was scanned using the Odyssey infrared scanner using standardized scanning intensities optimized to avoid saturation. Image Studio software 5.2. (Li-COR Biosciences) was used to quantify signal intensity within the ipsilateral and contralateral striata. Signal was normalized to background (cortex), quantified as total intensity per unit area and expressed as the average signal from the ipsilateral hemisphere as a percent of the average signal from contralateral hemisphere.

Western Blot Analysis

As previously described (Benskey et al., 2013), PC12 cells were collected and homogenized in ice-cold lysis buffer (TBS containing 1% SDS, 1 mM DTT with Complete Mini Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablet (Roche)). Supernatants containing total cytosolic protein were assayed for protein content using the BCA assay. Protein (30 µg) was run on a 4%-20% polyacrylamide gel and transferred to a 0.2 µm nitrocellulose membrane. For detection of endogenous α-syn, membranes were then incubated in 0.4% paraformaldehyde for 30 min at room temperature. Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk and incubated with mouse anti-alpha synuclein (BD Transduction Laboratories 610787), rabbit anti-beta synuclein (AbCam ab76111) and mouse anti-GAPDH (Cell Signaling D16H11) primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Membranes were then incubated with goat anti-mouse LiCor 680LT (925-68020) or goat-anti mouse LiCor 800CW (925-32210). Membranes were visualized with the Odyssey infrared imager (Li-Cor Bioscience) and protein band density was quantified using Image Studio software 5.2.

Neurochemistry

Striatal tissue was homogenized in antioxidant solution and a portion of the homogenate was used for protein determination using the BCA assay (Manfredsson et al., 2007). The remaining homogenate was centrifuged at 14,000× g for 20 min and supernatants were used for high performance liquid chromatography to detect DA and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) as previously described (Koprich et al., 2003). Calculated concentrations of catecholamines were normalized to protein content to account for variations in sample size.

Unbiased Stereology and Manual Cell Counting

Unbiased stereological estimates were performed as previously described (Benskey et al., 2016b). Using Stereo-Investigator

software (Version 4.03; Microbrightfield, Inc., Williston, VT, USA, 2000), sections were viewed on a screen at low magnification $(4\times)$ and the region of interest was delineated through the rostrocaudal extent of the respective nuclei. Every sixth section was sampled using the optical fractionator method. Counting of cells was performed using a $60 \times$ oil objective on an Olympus BX53 microscope equipped with a motorized stage. The coefficient of error for each estimate was calculated and was less than 0.1 (Gundersen, m = 1). The number of purkinje cells in lobule 3 of the cerebellar vermis (3Cb) was quantified by manually counting nissl+ cells located within the neuroanatomical limits of the purkinje cell layer (PCL), with a round morphology and somal diameter of least 16 µm. The large size of purkinje soma excludes other local cell types from the analysis. 16 µm was chosen based on an analysis of 50 calbindin+ purkinje cells. From these 50 cells, the average, minimum and maximum cross sectional somal diameter was 19.24 μ m, 15.82 μ m and 24.67 μ m, respectively. Purkinje cells in the 3Cb were quantified within three adjacent sections at the level of the injection site (-11.3 mm anterior/posterior), and the mean number of purkinje cells was averaged over all sections within a single animal.

To quantify the number of MHC-1 positive neurons in the ventral midbrain, midbrain tissue was processed for immunofluorescent detection (as described above) of rat MHC-1. High magnification images of the SNc were obtained from four sections spanning the rostral-caudal axis of the ventral midbrain. The ImageJ cell counter plugin was used to manually count the number of MHC-1 expressing neurons from photomicrographs. To ensure quantification of MHC-1+ neurons, and exclude MHC-1+ microglia from the analysis, a priori criteria were set based on measurements obtained from 50 MHC-1+ cells that co-express the pan neuronal marker HUc/d (see Figures 4Y-CC). From these 50 cells, the average, minimum and maximum cross sectional somal diameter was 20.69 μ m, 11.17 μ m and 33.15 μ m, respectively. Thus, inclusionary criteria stated that cells must: be MHC-1+, have a distinctive cell boundary, have a clearly discernable nucleus, have a somal diameter of at least 11 µm at its widest cross-sectional distance (this somal diameter excludes microglia which had an average cross-sectional somal diameter of 7.8 $\mu\text{m})\text{,}$ and have no more than two processes to be included in the analysis. The mean number of MHC-1+ neurons was averaged over all sections within a single animal and presented as MHC-1+ neurons per ipsilateral SNc section.

Fluorescence Intensity Analysis

Tissue was processed for immunofluorescent detection (as described above) of TH and α -syn. Images were acquired using a Nikon A1 laser scanning confocal system with standardized laser and detection settings that were optimized to avoid saturation. Regions of interest were drawn around approximately 100–150 individual TH+ neurons, per hemisphere, per animal. a priori criteria were set such that all cells must be TH+, have a distinctive cell boundary, and a clearly discernable nucleus to be included in the analysis. To detect sub-regional differences in cellular TH, midbrain DA neurons were subdivided into the

medial ventral tegmental area, the lateral VTA, dorsal tier SNc, ventral tier SNc, and lateral SNc (see Supplementary Figure 5B). Outlined cells were treated as replicates that were averaged within a single animal (or within the respective midbrain subregion), and the mean fluorescence intensity was calculated for each hemisphere and expressed as the percent of the mean fluorescent intensity of the contralateral hemisphere (or the respective sub-region of the contralateral hemisphere).

To quantify the fluorescence intensity of MHC-1, tissue was processed for immunofluorescent detection (as described above) of rat MHC-1. High magnification images of the ventral midbrain were obtained from four sections spanning the rostralcaudal axis of the SNc, within the ipsilateral and contralateral hemispheres. Confocal images were acquired as described above. Nikon NIS elements software was used to perform automated-unbiased pixel fluorescence intensity analysis. The mean background fluorescence intensity in the 594 channel was measured in a subset of animals representing each experimental group to be analyzed. This mean background fluorescence intensity value was set as the lower threshold for automated fluorescence intensity analysis and was applied to all samples analyzed. The automated measurement tool in NIS elements was used to quantify the mean fluorescence intensity for all pixels above the preset, lower threshold. The mean MHC-1 fluorescence intensity was averaged over all sections within animal, and expressed as a percent of the mean fluorescence intensity of the contralateral hemisphere.

RNAscope in Situ Hybridization

RNAscope *in situ* hybridization for the promoter within the AAV genome was combined with immunohistochemical detection of IBA1+ microglia. Forty micrometer thick tissue was processed for RNAscope detection of the promoter within the viral genome using custom VS probes according to the manufacturer's instructions (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, Hayward, CA, USA) and previously published methods (Polinski et al., 2016). RNAscope was developed with 3-3'-diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride, after which tissue was counterstained for IBA1 using the immunohistochemical procedures detailed above, with the exception that the Vector SG reagent (Vector Laboratories) was used as the chromagen (Polinski et al., 2016).

Statistical Analysis

Power analyses were conducted to determine optimal sample size required to detect a statistical difference at p < 0.05 with a power of 0.8. *A priori* exclusion criteria stated that animals displaying a complete absence of transduction (no GFP reporter gene expression) were excluded from analysis. The experimenter was blind to all experimental conditions during data collection and analysis. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were used to detect statistical significance between two or more groups containing a single independent variable. Repeated measure two-way ANOVAs were used to detect statistical significance between two or more groups when there were two independent variables in the experiment. A repeated measures ANOVA was used to detect subregional differences within subjects. A p value of less than or equal to 0.05 was considered statistically significant. If the ANOVA revealed an interaction of statistical significance Tukey's test was used for multiple comparisons among groups.

Data Availability

The raw data supporting the author's conclusions will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

RESULTS

Specificity of α-syn shRNA-Induced Nigrostriatal Toxicity

We first sought to unequivocally confirm that nigrostriatal cell loss observed following a-syn knockdown was not due to non-specific, or off-target, RNA interference (RNAi) toxicity. The synuclein family consists of α , β and γ synuclein, three proteins which share sequence homology in the amino terminus. γ -synuclein is expressed in the brain and periphery but is the least conserved of the synucleins (George, 2001); however, α and β -synuclein (β -syn) are largely co-expressed in the central nervous system and they appear to be functionally redundant (Chandra et al., 2004; Greten-Harrison et al., 2010). Although our α -syn shRNA specifically targets a position of the α -syn transcript that does not share sequence homology with either βor γ -synuclein (Supplementary Figure 1A), we aimed to ensure that the α -syn shRNA did not affect expression of β -syn, as this could mask the true effects of α -syn silencing (as has been observed with several α -syn germline knockout mice (Abeliovich et al., 2000; Chandra et al., 2004; Greten-Harrison et al., 2010)). PC12 cells were transduced with LV expressing either the α -syn shRNA or a scrambled control shRNA, and α - and β -syn protein levels were quantified 5 days post-transduction. The α -syn shRNA significantly reduced α -syn protein (*t*-test; $t_{(10)} = 2.37$, p = 0.039), however there was no change in β -syn protein (Supplementary Figures 1B,C).

Next we examined the consequences of α -syn shRNA administration in α -syn germline KO and WT mice. α -syn KO or WT mice received unilateral SNc injections of AAV expressing the α -syn shRNA or a scrambled control shRNA and TH positive (TH+) nigral neuron numbers were quantified 1-month later. Expression of the α -syn shRNA significantly decreased TH+ nigral neurons in WT mice (~45% reduction; Supplementary Figures 1D,E; ANOVA: $F_{(3,24)} = 4.465$, p < 0.05), but had no effect on TH+ neurons in α -syn KO mice (Supplementary Figures 1D,F). These data provide further evidence that loss of endogenous α -syn is toxic to nigrostriatal neurons, and combined with previously published controls (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010), exclude the possibility that nigrostriatal cell loss following α -syn shRNA administration is due to non-specific RNAi-induced toxicity or off-target activity.

Time Course of Nigrostriatal Pathology Following α -syn Knockdown

Two separate titers of AAV 2/5 expressing an shRNA targeting endogenous rat α -syn were unilaterally injected into the SNc

of adult rats, and nigrostriatal pathology was examined at 7, 10, 14 and 21 days post-surgery. We observed successful transduction of TH+ cells in the SNc at all time points examined (indicated by the GFP transduction marker), however, GFP transgene expression increased over the time course (Supplementary Figure 2 shows GFP in myocardin shRNA treated animals). In animals receiving the α -syn shRNA, expression of the GFP reporter gene seemed to decrease over time (data not shown), likely the result of ongoing pathology within α -syn shRNA expressing neurons.

The level of α -syn knockdown was analyzed using confocal microscopy to quantify the intensity of α -syn fluorescence within TH+ nigrostriatal soma (Supplementary Figure 3). Prior to this analysis, WT and α -syn KO brain were stained using the α -syn antibody (clone 42/ α -synuclein) to confirm the specificity of the antibody. No signal was observed in α -syn KO brains (Supplementary Figures 3A,B). Further, immunoblotting of recombinant monomeric α -syn protein or striatal lysates from WT mice, α -syn KO mice or rat brain yielded a single band resolving at correct molecular weight (Supplementary Figure 3C).

There was no change in the fluorescence intensity of α -syn at any time point following injections of either the FULL or HALF titer AAV-myocardin-shRNA, thus solely 21-days post myocardin shRNA is shown (Supplementary Figures 3D–G,X–AA,RR). The α -syn shRNA (FULL) significantly reduced α -syn immunoreactivity by 44%, 48%, 50% and 57% as compared to the contralateral hemisphere at 7, 10, 14 and 21 days post-injection, respectively (Supplementary Figure 3RR; ANOVA: $F_{(7,18)} = 16.865$, p < 0.0001). The α -syn shRNA (HALF), significantly reduced α -syn immunoreactivity by 24%, 25%, 40% and 47% as compared to the contralateral hemisphere at 7, 10, 14, and 21 days-injection, respectively (Supplementary Figure 3RR; ANOVA: $F_{(7,20)} = 8.092$, p < 0.0001).

Next the time course of TH+ cell loss in the SNc following α-syn knockdown was examined (Figures 1A-Q). There was no change in TH+ neuron numbers at any time following expression the myocardin shRNAs. The α-syn shRNA significantly decreased TH+ cell numbers within the injected SNc (ANOVA: main effect of treatment $F_{(3,82)} = 12.36$, p < 0.0001), and this cell loss progressed over time (ANOVA: main effect of time $F_{(3,82)} = 4.253$, p < 0.007). The α -syn shRNA (Half) significantly decreased TH+ neurons in the injected SNc at 21 days post-injection (~25% loss; Figures 1A,Q). The α -syn shRNA (Full) produced a progressive loss of TH+ cells in the SNc beginning at 14 days (~30% loss; Figures 1A,K) and continuing to 21 days post-injection (\sim 50% loss; **Figures 1A,O**). Further, administration of α -syn shRNA (Full) resulted in a more pronounced loss of TH+ nigrostriatal neurons as compared to the α -syn shRNA (Half) at the 21-day time point,



FIGURE 1 The time course and concentration response of tyrosine hydroxylase positive (TH+) cell loss following α -syn knockdown within nigrostriatal neurons. Rats received unilateral substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) injections of AAV2/5 expressing an α -syn short hairpin RNA (shRNA) or a myocardin (Myo) control shRNA. AAV2/5 expressing the respective shRNAs was injected at a titer of 2.6×10^{12} vg/ml (Full) or 1.3×10^{12} vg/ml (Half). Rats were then sacrificed at 7, 10, 14, and 21 days post-surgery, and the number of TH+ neurons in the SNc was estimated using unbiased stereology. Columns in panel (**A**) represent mean number of TH+ cells in the injected SNc, expressed as the percent of TH+ cells in the contralateral SNc, +1 SEM (n = 6-7/group), in animals receiving Myo Full shRNA (solid blue columns), α -syn Full shRNA (solid red columns), Myo Half shRNA (hatched blue columns), or α -syn Half shRNA (hatched red columns). *Significantly different (ANOVA: p < 0.05). Representative images of TH positive neurons of the SNc for all shRNA concentrations and time points are shown panels (**B**–**Q**). Arrowheads indicate areas in which TH+ cell loss was observed. Scale bar in (**Q**) represents 500 μ m and applies to all other panels.

demonstrating a time and concentration dependent loss of TH+ neurons following knockdown of endogenous α -syn. To determine if TH+ cell loss reflects actual nigral cell loss or merely a phenotypic loss of TH expression, we quantified total neurons within the SNc using the pan-neuronal marker HUc (Supplementary Figure 4). The total number of HUc+ neurons within the ipsilateral SNc was significantly reduced by ~31% and ~36% 21-days following delivery of α -syn shRNA (Half) and α -syn shRNA (Full), respectively (ANOVA: $F_{(4,24)} = 3.61$, p < 0.01). There was also a non-significant reduction in HUc+ neurons 14 days following delivery of the α -syn shRNA (Full; ~27%).

Manipulation of α -syn alters TH expression (Baptista et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2004; Alerte et al., 2008), thus, we also analyzed TH fluorescence intensity within individual nigral neurons to probe for changes in TH expression (Supplementary Figures 5A-C). In an effort to detect any sub-regional differences in cellular TH intensity, we subdivided midbrain DA neurons into the medial ventral tegmental area (VTA-Medial), the lateral VTA (VTA-Lateral), the dorsal tier SNc (SNc-Dorsal), the ventral tier SNc (SNc-Ventral), and the lateral SNc (SNc-Lateral; Supplementary Figures 5A,B). There was no change in TH fluorescence intensity among the myocardin shRNA treated animals (data not shown), thus, data from these animals is presented as a single time point and treated as time zero after α -syn shRNA administration (Supplementary Figure 5C). There was no change in TH fluorescence intensity within VTA neurons in any groups analyzed. However, α -syn shRNA expression significantly decreased TH fluorescence intensity within nigral neurons over time (ANOVA: $F_{(4,16)} = 14.675$, p < 0.0001). Further, there was a significant interaction between time after a-syn shRNA treatment and the midbrain dopaminergic subregion, in which TH fluorescence intensity in the ventral tier of the SNc was significantly lower than the VTA as well as the other sub-regions of the injected SNc at the 21-day time point (Supplementary Figure 5C; ANOVA: $F_{(16,40)} = 2.675, p < 0.01$).

We next analyzed nigrostriatal axon terminal integrity by quantifying levels of striatal TH (**Figures 2A–Q**) and VMAT (**Figures 2R–HH**) protein, and striatal concentrations of DA and DOPAC (**Figures 2II–KK**). The α -syn shRNA (Full) and α -syn shRNA (Half) significantly decreased TH+ fibers within the striatum 21-days post-injection (**Figures 2A,I,Q**; ANOVA: main of effect of time $F_{(3,82)} = 15.01$, p < 0.0001; interaction between shRNA treatment and time $F_{(9,82)} = 3.467$, p < 0.001). In contrast, only the α -syn shRNA (Full) decreased VMAT+ nigrostriatal fibers 21-day post-injection (**Figures 2R,Z**; ANOVA main effect of α -syn shRNA treatment $F_{(3,82)} = 3.214$, p < 0.02; main effect of time $F_{(3,83)} = 3.695$, p < 0.01).

Striatal DA concentrations were significantly reduced 21-days following injection the α -syn shRNA (Full) and α -syn shRNA (Half; **Figure 2II**; ANOVA: main effect of treatment $F_{(3,94)} = 2.716$, p < 0.04; main effect of time $F_{(3,94)} = 4.957$, p < 0.003; interaction effect between treatment and time $F_{(9,94)} = 2.814$, p < 0.005). There was no change in striatal DOPAC concentrations regardless of treatment or time point (**Figure 2JJ**). However, there was a significant increase in the DOPAC to DA ratio at 21 days following injection of the α -syn

shRNA (Full) and α -syn shRNA (Half; **Figure 2KK**; ANOVA main effect of treatment $F_{(3,94)} = 3.091$, p < 0.03; main effect of time $F_{(3,94)} = 3.463$, p < 0.01).

Neuroinflammatory Response Initiated by α-syn Knockdown in Nigrostriatal Neurons

After characterizing the time line of pathology, we sought to determine if a-syn knockdown within nigral neurons elicits an inflammatory response. Here we focused on the α -syn shRNA (FULL) as this titer resulted in demonstrable neuronal dysfunction throughout the time course. In all rats we observed a moderate, and roughly equal, amount of gliosis along the needle track and the injection site at the 7-day time point (Figures 3C,G). This gliosis is an artifact of surgery, thus the 7-day time point was not included in additional analyses. The α -syn shRNA (Full) significantly increased the number of IBA1+ microglia within the injected ventral midbrain, beginning at 10 and 14 days post-injection, and increasing further at 21 days post-injection (ANOVA: main effect of treatment $F_{(5,30)} = 9.098$, p < 0.0001; Figures 3A,D-F). In addition, by 21 days post-injection the number of IBA1+ microglia was significantly increased in the substantia nigra pars reticulata (SNr; Figures 3B,F; ANOVA: main effect of treatment $F_{(5,31)} = 2.608$, p < 0.0442). Beyond microglia lining the needle track and injection site at early time points, microglial numbers did not change following injection of the myocardin shRNA (Figures 3A,B,G-J). Interestingly, at several time points post-a-syn shRNA administration the abundance of IBA1+ microglia appeared, from a purely qualitative point of view, to be increased far beyond the increase in the number of IBA+ microglia that were objectively quantified (e.g., Figure 3B vs. Figures 3F,J). This appears to result from an increase in the expression of IBA1 per cell, which exceeds the increase in actual IBA1+ cell numbers. Beginning at the 10-day time point, microglia in the α -syn shRNA injected SNc were reactive and phagocytic as indicated by increased CD68 immunoreactivity (Figure 3K). CD68+ microglia were in close apposition to GFP+ transduced neurons, and appeared to be extending processes to surround and engulf transduced neurons, indicative of neuronophagia of living neurons (arrowheads in Figures 3L-N). Further at 21 days post-a-syn-shRNA injection, we observed numerous ameboid CD68+ cells throughout the ventral midbrain (Figures 3S-U). The ameboid cells were in close apposition to IBA1+ microglia but displayed little to no IBA1 expression themselves (Figures 3V,W), indicating that they may be either ameboid microglia or infiltrating mononuclear cells. By comparison the microglia within the brains of myocardin shRNA treated animals displayed very low CD68 immunoreactivity (Figures 3O-R).

Mesencephalic DA neurons increase MHC-1 expression in the parkinsonian brain, and MHC-1 expression in cultured neurons results in the recruitment of immune cells and subsequent death of the affected neuron (Cebrián et al., 2014b). Thus, we next sought to determine if α -syn knockdown induces MHC-1 expression in nigral neurons. We observed either very



FIGURE 2 Time course and concentration response of nigrostriatal axon terminal degeneration following α -syn knockdown. Rats received unilateral injections of AAV2/5 expressing the α -syn shRNA or a myocardin control shRNA. AAV2/5 expressing the respective shRNAs was injected at a titer of 2.6 × 10¹² vg/ml (Full) or 1.3 × 10¹² vg/ml (Half). Rats were then sacrificed at 7, 10, 14 and 21 days post-surgery, and striatal TH, VMAT, dopamine (DA) and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) were quantified. Columns represent the mean total signal intensity of striatal TH (**A**) or VMAT (**R**), or the mean concentration of striatal DA (**II**), DOPC (**JJ**) or the DOPAC to DA ratio (**KK**), expressed as the percent of the contralateral striatum, +1 SEM (n = 5-8/group), in animals receiving Myo Full shRNA (solid blue columns), α -syn Full shRNA (solid red columns), Myo Half shRNA (hatched blue columns), or α -syn Half shRNA (hatched red columns). *Significantly different (ANOVA, $\rho < 0.05$). Representative images of TH+ (**B**–**Q**) and VMAT+ (**S**–**HH**) striata are shown. Arrowheads in panels (**I**,**Q**,**Z**) indicate areas in which nigrostriatal terminal loss was observed.

weak, or a complete absence of MHC-1 immunoreactivity in the SNc of animals injected with the myocardin shRNA (**Figures 4A–D,I–L,Q–T**). In contrast, knockdown of α -syn increased MHC-1 expression within the SNc. Most of the cells expressing MHC-1 between 10 days (**Figures 4E–H**) and 14 days (**Figures 4M–P**) post- α -syn shRNA injection did not express TH, but resembled nigral neurons in terms of their anatomical location, size, and morphology. At the 10 and 14-day time points, all MHC-1+ neurons were almost exclusively found within the ventral tier of the SNc (**Figures 4E,M**), which is the location where we observed the most pronounced cell loss at the 21 day time point. At the 21-day time point MHC-1 immunoreactivity was no longer confined to the SNc but was observed throughout the ventral midbrain of the injected hemisphere. Further, at 21 days post- α -syn shRNA, MHC-1+ cells no longer presented a neuronal morphology,



FIGURE 3 | Continued

following injection of the α-syn shRNA. Arrowheads in panels (L-N) depict CD68+ (red), IBA1+ (teal) reactive microglia surrounding α-syn shRNA transduced neurons (indicated by green fluorescent protein (GFP) reporter: green) at 10- (L), 14- (M), and 21-days (N) post-injection. Panels (O-R) depicts IBA1+ microglia that are largely devoid of CD68 immunoreactivity within the anatomical boundaries of the SNc at 10 (O,P), 14 (Q) and 21 days (R) following injection of α-myocardin shRNA. Numerous round CD68+ cells, which expressed little to no IBA1, were found throughout the entire ventral midbrain 21-days post-α-syn-shRNA expression (S,T). Panel (U) corresponds to area within the box in panels (S,T). The yellow arrow in panels (V,W) depicts the normal punctate CD68 immunoreactivity that was observed within IBA1+ microglia. The white arrowheads in panels (V,W) depict ameboid cells expressing high levels of CD68 with little to no colocalization with IBA1. *Significantly different (ANOVA: P < 0.05). The scale bars in panel (J) and the inset in panel (J) represents 1 mm and 100 µm respectively, and apply to the corresponding panels and insets in (C-I). The scale bar in panel (O) represents 50 μ m and applies to panel (K). The scale bar in panel (R) represents 25 µm and apply to panels (L,M,P,Q). Scale bar in panel (T) represents 250 µm and applies to panel (S). Scale bar in panels (U,V) represent 25 µm. Scale bar in Panel (W) represents 10 µm.

instead MHC-1 staining appeared diffuse or found on cells morphologically resembling microglia throughout the ventral midbrain (**Figures 4U-X**).

To confirm that MHC-1 expression was occurring on nigral neurons in the SNc, we analyzed colocalization of MHC-1, TH, and the pan-neuronal marker HUc (**Figures 4Y–JJ**). At the 10-day time point MHC-1 was expressed on HUc+ neurons that were TH- (**Figures 4Y–CC**). At the 14-day time point MHC-1 was expressed on HUc+ neurons (data not shown), in addition to neurons with limited TH expression (arrowheads in **Figures 4DD–FF**). Finally, at the 21-day time point, many of the remaining TH+ neurons in the injected SNc demonstrated cell surface MHC-1 expression (**Figures 4GG–JJ**).

Microglia also express MHC-1, and many MHC-1+ cells with distinct microglial morphology were in the α -syn shRNA injected SNc 21 days post-injection (yellow arrows Figures 4GG-II). As such, we wanted to confirm that MHC-1 expression was not solely an artifact of microglia surrounding transduced neurons. Ten days post α -syn shRNA injection, GFP+ transduced neurons displayed robust cell surface MHC-1 expression (Figures 4KK-OO). This MHC-1 expression distinctly surrounded the soma of GFP+ neurons, and although there were also IBA1+ microglia surrounding the same neurons, the IBA1 and MHC-1 signals rarely co-localized (Figure 400). At 14 days post α-syn shRNA injection, neuronal MHC-1 expression was more robust, filling the soma in addition to cell surface expression (Figure 4PP). Further, at the 14-day time point MHC-1+ neurons were often completely surrounded by IBA1+ microglia (Figures 4PP-TT), again indicative of neuronophagia.

We next quantified the number of MHC-1 expressing neurons within the ventral midbrain between 10 days and 21 days post-injection. MHC-1+ neurons were extremely rare or not present in the contralateral hemisphere, thus the contralateral hemisphere could not be used as an internal control in the analysis. Within the ipsilateral hemisphere, there was a significant increase in MHC-1+ neurons at 10, 14 and 21 days following injection of the α -syn shRNA (**Figure 4UU**; ANOVA: $F_{(5,18)} = 11.754, p < 0.0001$).

We also quantified MHC-1 fluorescence intensity within the ventral midbrain to detect changes in MHC-1 expression in all cell types, including microglia (**Figure 4VV**). The α -syn shRNA progressively increased MHC-1 fluorescence intensity from 10-days post-injection to peak at 21-days post-injection (**Figure 4VV**; ANOVA: $F_{(5,18)} = 48.536$, P < 0.0001). These collective data show that α -syn knockdown in nigral neurons induces MHC-1 expression in transduced neurons, prior to any neuronal loss, which coincides with the recruitment of reactive microglial to MHC-1 expressing neurons.

Neuronal MHC-1 expression is associated with the recruitment of T-cells in the parkinsonian brain (Cebrián et al., 2014b), thus we next investigated whether α -syn knockdown caused infiltration of T-cells to the brain. We observed a number of CD3 + T-cells within the injected SNc, solely at 21-days post- α -syn shRNA administration, many of which were in close apposition to TH+ neurons (**Figures 5A-D**). In contrast we could not detect any CD3+ T-cells in the brains of animals receiving the myocardin shRNA (**Figures 5E-H**), or at other time points following α -syn knockdown (data not shown).

Neuronophagia activates programmed cell death within affected cells. Thus we next analyzed the SNc for levels of cleaved caspase-3, a marker of apoptosis (Supplementary Figure 6). Within the myocardin shRNA treated animals there was little to no cleaved caspase-3 immunoreactivity (Supplementary Figures 6A–C,G–I). There was sparse cleaved caspase-3 immunoreactivity within a limited number of cells 14-days following α -syn shRNA expression (Supplementary Figures 6D–F), however, by the 21-day time point, punctate cleaved caspase-3 immunoreactivity within the cytosol and nucleus of cells was prevalent. Most cells displaying strong cleaved caspase-3 immunoreactivity morphologically resembled neurons, and were TH-, though there was some sparse cleaved caspase-3 immunoreactivity in TH+ neurons as well (Supplementary Figures 6J–L).

Microglial from α -syn KO mice display a reactive phenotype (Austin et al., 2006, 2011). Thus, it is possible that loss of endogenous α -syn within microglia of the SNc (following transduction with AAV expressing the α -syn shRNA) results in increased cytokine secretion, which induces nigral neurons to express MHC-1 (Cebrián et al., 2014b). To investigate this possibility, we performed a combination of RNAscope in situ hybridization for the promoter of the AAV genome, and IBA1 immunohistochemistry to visualize microglia, to determine if any viral genomes were located within microglia. Although there was abundant punctate signal from the AAV genome within the transduced SNc, we were unable to detect any AAV genomes within IBA1+ microglia (Supplementary Figures 7A-C), supporting previous reports that AAV5 does not transduce microglia (Rosario et al., 2016). These data support the conclusion that loss of endogenous α -syn within nigral neurons is able to stimulate a neuron-initiated inflammatory cascade without directly transducing- or manipulating levels of α -syn within microglia.



FIGURE 4 Silencing a-syn in nigral neurons induces major histocompatibility complex class 1 (MHC-1) expression. Rats received a single injection of AAV2/5 (2.6 × 10¹² vg/ml; Full) expressing a target α-syn shRNA or a myocardin control shRNA. Rats were then sacrificed at 10, 14, and 21 days post-surgery. Panels (A-X) show MHC-1 (red) immunoreactivity near TH (green) neurons in myocardin shRNA treated animals at 10 days (A-D), 14 days (I-L) and 21 days (Q-T) post injections. MHC-1 expression in α-syn shRNA treated animals at 10 days (E-H), 14 days (M-P) and 21 days (U-X) post injection. White arrowheads in (F-H) and (N-P) indicate neuronal MHC-1 expression. Panels (Y-CC) show co-localization of MHC-1 (red) with the neuronal marker HUc (teal) within the SNc 10 days following α-syn shRNA injection. Panels (DD-JJ) show co-localization of MHC-1 expression in TH+ neurons of the α-syn shRNA injected SNc. White arrowheads in (DD-FF) indicate MHC-1 expression in a neuron that also expresses low levels of TH. Yellow arrows in (GG-II) indicate MHC-1 expressing microglia. Panel (JJ) shows a composite z-stack image acquired using confocal microscopy, corresponding to the area within the box in panels (GG-II) showing MHC-1 expression on the surface of a TH+ neuron. Panels (KK-TT) show representative micrographs of transduced neurons (GFP+; green) within the α-syn shRNA injected SNc stained for IBA1 (teal) and MHC-1 (red). White arrowheads in (KK-NN) indicate cell surface expression of MHC-1 on GFP+ transduced neurons, which does not co-localize with the microglial marker IBA1 (OO). Yellow arrows in (TT) indicate IBA1+ microglia surrounding a neuron with high MHC-1 expression. Panels (QQ-TT) correspond to the area within the box in (PP). Panels (OO) and (TT) are composite z-stack images acquired using confocal microscopy. Columns in (UU) represent the mean number of MHC-1+ neurons, + 1 SEM (n = 4-5/group), counted from four sections of the ipsilateral ventral midbrain, spanning the rostral-caudal axis of the SNc. Columns in (VV) represent the mean MHC-1 fluorescent intensity within ventral midbrain of the ipsilateral hemisphere, expressed as a percent of the mean MHC-1 fluorescent intensity within ventral midbrain of contralateral hemisphere, +1 SEM (n = 4-5/group). * Significantly different (ANOVA: P < 0.05). Scale bar in (U) represents 500 μ m and applies to panels (A,E,I,M,Q). Scale bar in (X) represents 100 μ m and applies to (B-D,F-H,J-L,N-P,R-T,V,W). Scale bar in panel (BB) represents 10 μ m and applies to panels (Y-AA). Scale bar in (II) represents 25 µm and applies to panels (DD-HH). Scale bars in (NN) and (SS) represent 25 µm and apply to panels (KK-MM, PP-RR).

The Effects of α -syn Knockdown in Non-dopaminergic Neurons

To determine if α -syn knockdown toxicity and the corresponding neuroinflammatory sequela are specific to DA neurons, we analyzed the consequences of α -syn knockdown in a non-dopaminergic neuronal subpopulation. We choose to investigate the effects of α -syn knockdown within the granule cell layer (GCL) of the cerebellum, as neurons in the rat cerebellum expresses high levels of α -syn, and granule cells predominantly utilize glutamate as a neurotransmitter (Wersinger et al., 2004).



FIGURE 5 | Silencing α -syn in nigral neurons results in the infiltration of CD3+ T-cells to the SNc. Rats received a single injection of AAV2/5 (2.6 × 10¹² vg/ml; Full) expressing the α -syn or myocardin shRNA and were sacrificed 21 days post-surgery. Panels show CD3+ (red) T-cells near TH+ (green) nigral neurons in the SNc of α -syn shRNA (**A–D**) and myocardin shRNA (**E–H**) treated animals. White arrowheads in panels (**B–D**) indicate CD3+ T-cells. Scale bar in panel (**F**) represents 250 μ m and applies to panel (**A,B,E**). Scale bar in panel (**G**) represents 50 μ m and applies to panel (**C**). Scale bars in panels (**H**) represents 10 μ m and applies to panel (**C**).

One-month post-surgery there was abundant transduction that was largely confined to the GCL (Figures 6A,B). There was no change in IBA1+ microglia within the cerebellum following α -syn knockdown (Figures 6C-H). There was no change in the total number of NeuN+ neurons within the cerebellum following α -syn knockdown (Figures 6I–M). Purkinje cells to do not express NeuN (Mullen et al., 1992), thus, we also processed cerebellar tissue for immunohistochemical detection of the common purkinje marker, calbindin D-28K (calbindin), to probe the integrity of purkinje neurons (**Figures 6N–R**). α -syn knockdown resulted in a striking loss of calbindin+ purkinje cells (**Figure 6R**; \sim 50% loss; *t*-test: $t_{(13)} = -2.738$, p = 0.016). However, while performing calbindin+ cell counts, there were many remaining purkinje cells, which had very weak calbindinimmunoreactivity (arrows in the inset in Figure 6Q). This suggested that α-syn knockdown was not necessarily resulting in death of purkinje cells, but merely a phenotypic loss of calbindin expression.

To determine if calbindin negative purkinje cells were still present, we analyzed the PCL for expression of neuronal marker, HUc. Figures 6S-V shows colocalization of HUc and calbindin within purkinje cells of myocardin shRNA treated animals (arrows in Figures 6T-V). Within the α -syn shRNA injected cerebellum (Figures 6W-Z), calbindin immunoreactivity was almost completely absent, however, there remained strong HUc expression within cells of the purkinje layer (arrows in Figures 6X-Z). Indeed there was no change in the number of purkinje cells in the lobule 3 of the cerebellar vermis (an area immediately adjacent to the injection site) of α -syn shRNA treated animals (Figure 6AA). These data demonstrate that α -syn knockdown in cerebellar granule cells causes a phenotypic loss of calbindin expression within neighboring, non-transduced purkinje cells, suggestive of a functional deficit in the former. Importantly, our data show that α -syn knockdown does not cause neurodegeneration of the non-dopaminergic neurons of the cerebellum.



ar-syn shRNA or a myocardin control shRNA. One-month post-surgery rats were sacrificed. Panels (**A**,**B**) show transduction within the granule cell layer (GCL) of the cerebellum, directly adjacent to the purkinje cell layer (PCL). High magnification of the area within the box in panel (**A**) is shown in panel (**B**). Panels (**C**-**H**) shows IBA1+ microglia in Myo (**C**-**E**) and α-syn shRNA (**F**-**H**) treated animals. Unbiased stereology was used to quantify NeuN+ and calbindin+ neurons in the cerebellum. Columns in Panel (**M**) represent the mean number of NeuN+ cells from animals treated with the myocardin shRNA (black bars) or the α-syn shRNA (white bars). Representative images of NeuN+ cells of the cerebellum from animals injected with the myocardin shRNA (black bars) or the α-syn shRNA (white bars). Representative images of calbindin+ cells within the cerebellum from animals injected with the myocardin shRNA (black bars) or the α-syn shRNA (**P**,**Q**) are shown. Error bars in (**M**,**R**) are + 1 SEM (*n* = 7–8/group). *Significantly different than myocardin treated group (*t*-test: *P* < 0.05). Panels (**S**-**Z**) show co-localization of calbindin (teal) with the pan-neuronal marker HUc (red) in the PCL of animals treated with the myocardin shRNA (**S**–**V**) or the α-syn shRNA (**W**-**Z**). High magnification images of the boxes in panels (**S**,**W**) are shown in panels (**T**–**V**) and (**X**–**Z**), respectively. Arrows indicate purkinje cells that are calbindin positive (**T**–**V**) or calbindin negative (**X**–**Z**). Columns in panels (**A**) represent the mean number of purkinje cells in the third lobule of the cerebellur vermis (**G**C) from animals treated with the myocardin shRNA (**S**–**V**) or the α-syn shRNA (**W**–**Z**). High magnification images of the boxes in panels (**S**,**W**) are shown in panels (**T**–**V**) and (**X**–**Z**), respectively. Arrows indicate purkinje cells that are calbindin positive (**T**–**V**) or calbindin negative (**X**–**Z**). Columns in panels (**A**) represent the mean number of purkinje cells in the third lobule of the cerebe

DISCUSSION

Mechanistic Model of α-syn shRNA-Induced Toxicity

Here we have characterized the early pathological events that occur following α -syn knockdown in mature nigral neurons. Based on the data provided we propose a mechanistic model of toxicity elicited by α -syn silencing (**Figure 7**). Expression of the α -syn shRNA reduces α -syn protein as early as 7 days (**Figure 7B**), resulting in a progressive decrease in TH expression within nigral neurons, and an overall loss of nigral neurons over the 21-day time course. Nigral neurons up-regulate MHC-1 expression as early as 10-days following AAV- α -syn-shRNA injection, a time point prior to neurodegeneration (**Figure 7C**). MHC-1 up-regulation coincides with the recruitment of reactive microglia to affected neurons, followed by the infiltration of CD3+ T-cells to the injected midbrain. Recruited immune

cells surround and engulf MHC-1+ neurons, culminating in the death of nigral neurons, and a corresponding loss of nigrostriatal terminals (**Figures 7D,E**). Cell death elicited by α -syn knockdown appears to be apoptotic and specific to dopaminergic neurons of the SNc, as neurodegeneration was not observed in the non-dopaminergic neurons of the cerebellum or in dopaminergic neurons of the VTA (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010). Finally, DA neurons in the ventral tier of the SNc were more sensitive to α -syn knockdown, as many of these metrics were exacerbated or observed solely in this population.

The Critical Threshold of α -syn Knockdown

To date, the majority of knowledge on the biological function of α -syn, and more notably the pathological role of α -syn in Parkinson's disease, has been gained by examining the



consequences of increasing α -syn concentrations within a cellular environment (Chesselet, 2008). Although this approach has vielded a significant amount of information, an alternative though equally productive approach, is to examine the consequences of removing endogenous α -syn from the cell. This was initially attempted through the generation of several different lines of a-syn KO mice, however, despite modest changes in neurotransmission, germline removal of α -syn does not result in any major biological change or recapitulate Parkinson's disease pathology (Abeliovich et al., 2000; Cabin et al., 2002, 2005; Dauer et al., 2002; Schlüter et al., 2003). This lack of an effect is likely the result of developmental genetic compensation (Perez et al., 2002; Schlüter et al., 2003; Chandra et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2004; Kuhn et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2009; Ubhi et al., 2010; Cali et al., 2012; Benskey et al., 2016a; Ludtmann et al., 2016). For example, compared to WT mice, a-syn KO mice have 369 differentially expressed genes, including genes involved in apoptosis, neurotrophic signaling, and other, functionally redundant members of the synuclein family (Schlüter et al., 2003; Chandra et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2004; Kuhn et al., 2007). As such, genetic compensation may mask the true consequences of loss of a-syn function, including the intraneuronal sequela ultimately leading to an induction of a severe inflammatory response. Thus, many laboratories have begun examining the consequences of removing α -syn from mature neurons (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010; Khodr et al., 2011, 2014; Zharikov et al., 2015; Benskey et al., 2016a; Collier et al., 2016).

Here we have successfully utilized this approach to provide novel insights into α -syn function and toxicity, however; previously published research has yielded discrepant findings.

For example, no toxicity or inflammation was reported in two independent studies in which endogenous a-syn was silenced in the mouse hippocampus or the squirrel monkey SNc (Lewis et al., 2008; McCormack et al., 2010). Other laboratories have reported an intermediate degree of toxicity (e.g., loss of striatal DA; Zharikov et al., 2015), likely reflecting functional deficiencies (Cali et al., 2012), following acute α -syn silencing. In contrast, we and others report robust nigral cell death following α -syn knockdown in the rat, mouse, and non-human primate using both shRNA and microRNA technology (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010; Khodr et al., 2011, 2014; Benskey et al., 2016a; Collier et al., 2016). Finally, the absence of endogenous α -syn during development leads to decreased numbers of DA neurons in the mouse SNc (Garcia-Reitboeck et al., 2013). We believe that the source of discrepancy between these findings is a differing degree of a-syn knockdown, the kinetics of a-syn knockdown, and the type of cell being targeted. Here we show a dose dependent effect of α -syn knockdown, where the degree of nigrostriatal toxicity is inversely proportional to the amount of endogenous α -syn remaining within the affected neurons (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010). Thus, it is likely that alternative reports, which did not report toxicity, did not reach the critical threshold of α-syn knockdown. For example, the degree of a-syn knockdown reported in studies that did not observe toxicity ranges between 35%-55% (Lewis et al., 2008; McCormack et al., 2010; Zharikov et al., 2015). In contrast, knockdown of α -syn by 70%–90% causes severe nigral cell loss (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010). These findings are in line with the level of knockdown and toxicity observed here. A ${\sim}50\%$ reduction of α-syn was achieved following expression of the αsyn shRNA (FULL), whereas the α-syn shRNA (HALF) caused an initial \sim 25% reduction in α -syn, that eventually progressed to

a \sim 50% reduction over the course of the study. Corresponding to the differing degrees of a-syn knockdown between the two titers used, the α -syn shRNA (FULL) caused a progressive loss of TH+ neurons beginning at 14 days post-injection, while expression of the α -syn shRNA (HALF) did not produce any detectable TH+ cell loss until 21 days post-injection. An important caveat to these observations is that these are the levels of knockdown observed within nigral neurons that still retain their TH phenotype. Due to technical reason (loss of GFP reporter expression at later time points) we were unable to quantify α-syn knockdown after loss of TH expression. As loss of TH expression is one of the first pathological changes we observed following α -syn knockdown, it is likely that 50% depletion is the critical threshold of a-syn knockdown, below which a pathological cascade is initiated. Taken together, it seems that in order for nigral pathology to occur, levels of endogenous α -syn must be decreased below a certain level (likely below 50%) and this depletion must be maintained for a certain period of time (likely at least 7 days). Finally, an important limitation to our study, and others, is the fact that we are using α -syn knockdown at the level of the soma as a surrogate for estimating α -syn levels at the synapse, the presumptive functional location of a-syn. However, it is extremely difficult to accurately measure nigral terminal α -syn in the striatum given the large number of striatal terminals originating from non-nigral areas.

The Specificity of α -syn shRNA Mediated Toxicity

Nigrostriatal toxicity induced by shRNA-mediated α-syn knockdown is partially rescued by co-expression of a rat α -syn transgene rendered insensitive to the shRNA (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010). Although these data demonstrate that nigrostriatal cell loss is, at least in part, due to loss of endogenous α -syn, there is always a concern of non-specific toxicity when using RNAi. One goal of this work was to ensure that α -syn shRNA toxicity is indeed due to loss of α -syn function, and not an artifact from RNAi. To this end we examined the effects of α-syn silencing within WT and α -syn KO mice. If the toxicity we observe following expression of the α -syn shRNA is due to non-specific RNAi toxicity, than one would predict comparable toxicity within both WT and α -syn KO mice. If however, α -syn shRNA expression produces neurodegeneration by specifically decreasing endogenous α -syn, then α -syn KO mice should be immune to α -syn shRNA toxicity, as they do not express α -syn. a-syn KO mice were immune to the effects of a-syn shRNA administration, thus in conjunction with previously published controls (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010), we confidently conclude that α-syn knockdown-mediated nigral toxicity is solely mediated by loss of endogenous α -syn.

Neuroinflammation Induced by α -syn Knockdown

In the work of Gorbatyuk et al. (2010), the integrity of the nigrostriatal system was first examined at 4-weeks post-shRNA administration, at which point there was an approximate

90% reduction of endogenous α -syn and an 80% loss of TH+ nigral neurons. Here we sought to determine if intraneuronal α -syn dysfunction, in the absence of overt cell death, could elicit a neuroinflammatory response, thus we extensively characterized the early events in the pathological process that occur following loss of α -syn from nigrostriatal neurons, but prior to neurodegeneration.

One of the most remarkable changes we observed following α-syn knockdown was an up-regulation of neuronal MHC-1 expression, coinciding with the recruitment of immune cells. Members of the MHC-1 family are expressed on virtually all nucleated cells. However, under normal conditions, neuronal expression of MHC-1 is relatively low, especially in the adult brain (Boulanger and Shatz, 2004). Neuronal MHC-1 expression is suggested to play a role in synaptic plasticity (Corriveau et al., 1998), learning and memory (Nelson et al., 2013), and following injury (Boulanger and Shatz, 2004; Oliveira et al., 2004; Cebrián et al., 2014a). Additionally, neuronal MHC-1 expression is associated with neurodegenerative disorders such as Huntington's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, multiple sclerosis and Parkinson's disease (Boulanger and Shatz, 2004; Cebrián et al., 2014a,b). Within Parkinson's disease, midbrain catecholaminergic neurons express MHC-1, while cultured midbrain DA neurons induce MHC-1 expression in response to increased cytosolic DA, oxidative stress, α -syn and cytokines released from glia. Finally, increased MHC-1 expression on cultured DA neurons triggers an antigenic response, leading to a cytotoxic T-cell-mediated death of DA neurons (Cebrián et al., 2014b).

Here we observed a near identical sequence of events following α -syn knockdown within DA neurons of the rat SNc, including neuronal MHC-1 expression, glial cell recruitment, and infiltration of T-cells. Although we observed an infiltration of T-cells into the brain of animals injected with the α -syn shRNA, it is currently unclear whether the T-cells were CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells or CD4+ helper T-cells. Previous work indicates that MHC-1 expression on catecholaminergic neurons results in the recruitment of CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells, which subsequently mediate the selective degeneration of the MHC-1+ neurons (Cebrián et al., 2014b). Although, this type of CD8+ T-cell response is in line with what we observe here, the identity of the infiltrating T-cells remains unknown. Nonetheless, the nature of the T-cell response elicited by a-syn knockdown in nigral neurons is very important, as is could provide a mechanism of cell death, and as such will be the topic of future investigation.

Examining the temporal sequence of increased neuronal MHC-1+ numbers vs. total MHC-1 expression suggests that there is a biphasic induction of MHC-1 expression within more than one cell type, specifically neurons and microglia. Neuronal MHC-1 expression increased at 10-days, peaked at 14 days, and decreased at 21-days post injection. The decrease in MHC-1+ neurons at the 21-day time point is likely due to the death of MHC-1 expression within the injected SNc progressively increased from 10 days to 21 days post-injection. This progressive increase in total MHC-1 expression, in the face of decreasing numbers of MHC-1+ neurons, is the result of a dramatic increase in the

number of reactive microglia expressing MHC-1 within the injected midbrain.

From this sequence of events we believe that neuronal MHC-1 expression, and the recruitment of immune cells, is not merely a generalized inflammatory reaction to cell death, but rather a cell-autonomous response to loss of α syn function, which actively contributes to neurodegeneration. For instance, MHC-1 was up-regulated within transduced neurons 10 days post-injection, a time point that precedes any detectable amount of cell death by almost 2 weeks. At these early time points, the majority of MHC-1 expressing neurons were located in the ventral tier of the injected SNc, the anatomical location exhibiting the greatest cell loss at 21 days post-injection, and the anatomical location that where the earliest signs of pathology are seen in Parkinson's disease (Gibb and Lees, 1991). Finally, due to the fact that we silenced endogenous α -syn expression, and the inflammatory response occurred prior to cell loss, it is highly unlikely that the inflammation was initiated by a direct exposure of microglia to extracellular α -syn. We believe that these observations are consistent with microglial-mediated phagocytosis of stressed, yet still living, transduced neurons. Taken together, these data support an immune cell mediated process of neurodegeneration that is initiated by neurons, following intra-neuronal α-syn dysfunction.

Nonetheless, the initial impetus leading to MHC-1 up-regulation remains unclear. Neuronal expression of MHC-1 can be induced by viral infection (Redwine et al., 2001), however there was no increase in MHC-1 expression within AAV-myocardin shRNA transduced neurons, excluding this possibility. Further, previous work has demonstrated that a single administration of AAV is not sufficient to cause an inflammatory response (Peden et al., 2004). As mentioned, increased cytosolic DA (presumably leading to increased oxidative stress) can initiate neuronal MHC-1 up-regulation (Teoh and Davies, 2004; Cebrián et al., 2014b). α-syn regulates many aspects of chemical neurotransmission and DA biosynthesis (reviewed in Benskey et al., 2016a), thus, we predict that loss of normal α -syn function within nigral neurons results in a dysregulation of DA synthesis and handling, thereby increasing oxidative stress and MHC-1 expression (Teoh and Davies, 2004; Caudle et al., 2007; Cebrián et al., 2014b).

However, there was also a second initiation of MHC-1 expression at the 21-day time point, where non-transduced, TH+ neurons expressed MHC-1. This is likely caused by increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production within the injected SNc. Microglial-released pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interferon gamma, are sufficient to induce MHC-1 expression in DA neurons (Cebrián et al., 2014b). Thus, it is likely that the large increase in reactive microglia observed at the 21 day time point, resulted in a corresponding increase in inflammatory cytokine production, thereby inducing MHC-1 expression within the remaining, un-transduced nigrostriatal neurons. Future research is needed to confirm this hypothesis, however, this mechanism could account for the continued nigral degeneration (80% loss of TH+ neurons) observed at the 1-month time point by Gorbatyuk et al. (2010).

Nigrostriatal Pathology Induced by α -syn Knockdown

In parallel with a major immune response, α -syn knockdown also caused nigral neuron dysfunction, in the form of a progressive loss of TH expression. The loss of TH+ neurons was dosedependent, indicating that the degree of TH neuron loss is proportional to the degree of α -syn knockdown. Remarkably, despite early losses in TH immunoreactivity, striatal DA concentrations were unaffected until the 21-day time point. This may be the result of disinhibition of TH following α syn knockdown. α -syn acts as a negative regulator of both TH and aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC; Perez et al., 2002; Perez and Hastings, 2004; Yu et al., 2004; Peng et al., 2005; Tehranian et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2009; Benskey et al., 2016a). Thus, α-syn knockdown likely disinhibits TH and AADC, resulting in increased de novo DA synthesis, maintaining normal DA levels in the face of decreased TH expression. Finally, 21-days following expression of the αsyn shRNA (Half), there was no change in the levels of striatal VMAT, despite an overall reduction in the number of TH+/HUc+ neurons in the ipsilateral SNc. This is likely the effect of collateral axonal sprouting of the nigrostriatal terminals remaining in the striatum, a phenomenon that occurs following striatal denervation which has been well documented in rodent models of Parkinson's disease (Arkadir et al., 2014).

Interestingly, α -syn overexpression results in a near identical decrease in both TH expression (Baptista et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2004; Alerte et al., 2008; Li et al., 2011). Increased oxidative stress can cause the addition of carbonyl adducts to the TH protein, resulting in a loss of immunoreactivity (Dela Cruz et al., 1996). As such, the proposed (unregulated) increase in DA synthesis following α -syn manipulation, may result in DA auto-oxidation and a corresponding loss of TH protein following the addition of oxidative adducts. It is possible that both α syn overexpression and silencing induce toxicity through a common mechanism, which is the loss of α -syn function. For example, α-syn overexpression, and subsequent aggregation, may produce toxicity by sequestering functional forms of endogenous α -syn into aggregates, causing a *de facto* loss of function (Perez and Hastings, 2004; Benskey et al., 2016a). From this viewpoint it is not surprising that both α -syn overexpression and knockdown result similar decreases in TH expression, albeit over a different time course. This theory is supported by α -syn based animal models where overexpression of α -syn, or injection of α -syn recombinant protein (preformed fibrils) increase α -syn aggregation, with a corresponding depletion of soluble α -syn (Perez et al., 2002; Perez and Hastings, 2004; Unni et al., 2010; Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2011; Cali et al., 2012; Osterberg et al., 2015). Interestingly, administration of α -syn PFFs results in an inflammatory response, similar to that observed here and in the PD brain, potentially suggesting that loss of normal α syn function following PFF-induced aggregation can elicit an inflammatory response (Harms et al., 2017).

Is Toxicity Induced by α -syn Dysfunction Exclusive to Dopaminergic Neurons?

One important question of the current study was whether intra-neuronal α -syn dysfunction within non-dopaminergic neurons could elicit neuroinflammation and toxicity. As mentioned above we propose that loss of α -syn function may mediate toxicity via impaired DA metabolism and handling. Indeed several reports indicate that toxicity initiated through manipulation of α -syn is dependent upon the presence of intracellular DA (Xu et al., 2002). Further, antibodies isolated from the sera of Parkinson's disease patients react with proteins modified by DA oxidation. In line with these findings, no inflammation or neurodegeneration was detectable following α -syn knockdown within the cerebellum. Although this is by no means an exhaustive analysis of the effects of α -syn silencing in the myriad of non-dopaminergic neurons present in the brain, this result does support the notion that the inflammation and toxicity observed following α -syn dysfunction is specific to catecholaminergic neurons.

Interestingly, there was a phenotypic loss of calbindin expression within purkinje cells. This result was unanticipated due to the fact that there was no transduction of the PCL, and the fact that purkinje cells do not express appreciable amounts of α -syn (Lee et al., 2015). We believe that this loss of calbindin expression is the result of altered synaptic input from α -syn shRNA transduced granule cells onto purkinje cells. α -syn has been proposed to act as a negative regulator of synaptic transmission, and increasing synaptic input onto purkinje cells results in a decrease in calbindin mRNA and protein (Barmack and Qian, 2002). Thus, it is likely that removing α -syn from presynaptic granule cells increases neurotransmission at the granule-to-purkinje cell synapse, resulting in an activity dependent decrease in calbindin expression.

Is Loss of α -syn Function an Early Event in Parkinson's Disease Pathogenesis?

Based on the correlations between the data presented here and the sequence of pathological events observed in Parkinson's disease, we believe that α -syn loss-of-function toxicity may, at least in part, contribute to neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. Parkinson's disease pathology is characterized by a phenotypic loss of TH preceding the death of nigral neurons (Kastner et al., 1993, 1994; Kordower et al., 2013), a significant inflammatory response involving microgliosis, neuronal MHC-1 expression, and infiltration of peripheral leukocytes to the brain (McGeer et al., 1988a,b; Croisier et al., 2005; Orr et al., 2005; Ouchi et al., 2005; Cebrián et al., 2014b). Within the above experiments we describe a pathological cascade that entails all of these pathological features following acute α -syn knockdown within nigral neurons. Further, there is ample evidence to suggest that loss of normal α-syn function contributes to Parkinson's disease pathogenesis. For example, most familial SNCA mutations increase the aggregation kinetics of α-syn (Conway et al., 1998; Burré et al., 2010; Ghosh et al., 2014), while increasing cellular concentrations of α -syn (as is achieved with gene duplication) also increases the propensity of α -syn to aggregate (Conway et al., 1998; Uversky, 2007). As described above, the aggregation of α -syn could act to sequester functional forms of the protein, impairing normal function. This idea is supported by the fact that, although the brains of synucleinopathy patients do show accumulation of excess α -syn, the majority of α -syn is abberantly folded and/or contained within aggregates (Miller et al., 2004; Kramer and Schulz-Schaeffer, 2007; Quinn et al., 2012). Further, the brains of idiopathic Parkinson's disease patients have decreased levels of soluble (presumably functional) α-syn (Baba et al., 1998; Quinn et al., 2012). In addition, most mutations in the SNCA gene directly impair the ability of the mutant protein to perform its normal function (Fortin et al., 2004; Burré et al., 2010; Fares et al., 2014; Logan et al., 2017; Pozo Devoto et al., 2017), again linking loss of α -syn function to neurotoxicity. Finally, Parkinson's disease patients carrying the low repeat REP1 allele, which results in decreased SNCA expression (Chiba-Falek and Nussbaum, 2001), have worse motor and cognitive disease outcomes (Markopoulou et al., 2014). Viewed as a whole, we believe it is possible that an initial loss of function following α -syn aggregation in the Parkinsonian brain could elicit an early inflammatory response that contributes to neurodegeneration. Thus, examining the early pathological events following loss of a-syn function could provide insights into Parkinson's disease pathogenesis as well as the identification of novel therapeutic targets. Further, these data provide further support for examining early inflammatory markers as potential biomarkers for PD. Indeed, a recent study was able to identify a panel of inflammatory markers isolated from human serum or cerebrospinal fluid that could reliably distinguish between healthy controls and PD patients (Eidson et al., 2017).

Finally, these data suggest that therapeutics aimed at decreasing or ablating α -syn within Parkinson's disease-affected neurons should be undertaken with caution. From the current work it is clear that lowering α -syn levels beyond a critical threshold within nigral neurons can have deleterious consequences. Although it is theoretically possible to titer the degree of α -syn knockdown to a level that would be therapeutic in the context of PD, from a technical standpoint this could be extremely challenging if not impossible. We propose that a better therapeutic approach would be drugs or small molecules that prevent α -syn aggregation, or conversely, disassemble fibrilized α -syn to soluble, functional α -syn.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FPM conceived the experiments and performed surgery. MJB performed surgery, the experimentation, the data analysis and interpretation and wrote the manuscript. RCS performed stereological cell counting and surgery. IMS performed surgery. CES performed surgery and provided critical feedback on the manuscript. JWL performed HPLC analysis of neurochemicals.
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Mr. Nathan Kuhn for his contributions to this work. We would also like to thank Dr. Malu Tansey and Dr. Valerie Joers for their critical reading of the manuscript and their valuable input. This work was supported by the Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research and the National Institute of Health/National Institute

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, A. A., Schmitz, Y. Y., Fariñas, I. I., Choi-Lundberg, D. D., Ho, W. H. W., Castillo, P. E. P., et al. (2000). Mice lacking α-synuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80886-7
- Alerte, T. N. M., Akinfolarin, A. A., Friedrich, E. E., Mader, S. A., Hong, C.-S., and Perez, R. G. (2008). α-synuclein aggregation alters tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation and immunoreactivity: lessons from viral transduction of knockout mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 435, 24–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008. 02.014
- Arkadir, D., Bergman, H., and Fahn, S. (2014). Redundant dopaminergic activity may enable compensatory axonal sprouting in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 82, 1093–1098. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000243
- Austin, S. A., Floden, A. M., Murphy, E. J., and Combs, C. K. (2006). α-synuclein expression modulates microglial activation phenotype. J. Neurosci. 26, 10558–10563. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1799-06.2006
- Austin, S. A., Rojanathammanee, L., Golovko, M. Y., Murphy, E. J., and Combs, C. K. (2011). Lack of α-synuclein modulates microglial phenotype *in vitro*. *Neurochem. Res.* 36, 994–1004. doi: 10.1007/s11064-011-0439-9
- Baba, M., Nakajo, S., Tu, P. H., Tomita, T., Nakaya, K., Lee, V. M., et al. (1998). Aggregation of α-synuclein in Lewy bodies of sporadic Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. Am. J. Pathol. 152, 879–884.
- Baptista, M. J., O'Farrell, C., Daya, S., Ahmad, R., Miller, D. W., Hardy, J., et al. (2003). Co-ordinate transcriptional regulation of dopamine synthesis genes by α-synuclein in human neuroblastoma cell lines. *J. Neurochem.* 85, 957–968. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01742.x
- Barkholt, P., Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Kirik, D., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2012). Long-term polarization of microglia upon α-synuclein overexpression in nonhuman primates. *Neuroscience* 208, 85–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2012.02.004
- Barmack, N. H., and Qian, Z. (2002). Activity-dependent expression of calbindin in rabbit floccular Purkinje cells modulated by optokinetic stimulation. *Neuroscience* 113, 235–250. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(02)00008-8
- Benskey, M., Lee, K. Y., Parikh, K., Lookingland, K. J., and Goudreau, J. L. (2013). Sustained resistance to acute MPTP toxicity by hypothalamic dopamine neurons following chronic neurotoxicant exposure is associated with sustained up-regulation of parkin protein. *Neurotoxicology* 37, 144–153. doi: 10.1016/j. neuro.2013.04.002
- Benskey, M. J., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016a). Intraparenchymal stereotaxic delivery of rAAV and special considerations in vector handling. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1382, 199–215. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3271-9_14
- Benskey, M. J., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016b). Lentivirus production and purification. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1382, 107–114. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-32 71-9_8
- Benskey, M. J., Manfredsson, F. P., Lookingland, K. J., and Goudreau, J. L. (2014). The role of parkin in the differential susceptibility of tuberoinfundibular and nigrostriatal dopamine neurons to acute toxicant exposure. *Neurotoxicology* 46C, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2014.11.004
- Benskey, M. J., Perez, R. G., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016a). The contribution of α synuclein to neuronal survival and function—Implications for Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 137, 331–359. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13570
- Benskey, M. J., Sandoval, I. M., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016b). Continuous collection of adeno-associated virus from producer cell medium significantly increases total viral yield. *Hum. Gene Ther. Methods* 27, 32–45. doi: 10.1089/hgtb.2015.117

of Neurological Disease and Stroke grant R21NS09963201 (FPM).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnmol.2018.000 36/full#supplementary-material

- Boulanger, L. M., and Shatz, C. J. (2004). Immune signalling in neural development, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 521–531. doi: 10.1038/nrn1428
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Südhof, T. C. (2010). α-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Science 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227
- Cabin, D. E., Gispert-Sanchez, S., Murphy, D., Auburger, G., Myers, R. R., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2005). Exacerbated synucleinopathy in mice expressing A53T SNCA on a Snca null background. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 25–35. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2004.02.026
- Cabin, D. E., Shimazu, K., Murphy, D., Cole, N. B., Gottschalk, W., McIlwain, K. L., et al. (2002). Synaptic vesicle depletion correlates with attenuated synaptic responses to prolonged repetitive stimulation in mice lacking α-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 8797–8807.
- Cali, T., Ottolini, D., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2012). α-synuclein controls mitochondrial calcium homeostasis by enhancing endoplasmic reticulummitochondria interactions. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 17914–17929. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M111.302794
- Caudle, W. M., Richardson, J. R., Wang, M. Z., Taylor, T. N., Guillot, T. S., McCormack, A. L., et al. (2007). Reduced vesicular storage of dopamine causes progressive nigrostriatal neurodegeneration. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 8138–8148. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0319-07.2007
- Cebrián, C., Loike, J. D., and Sulzer, D. (2014a). Neuronal MHC-I expression and its implications in synaptic function, axonal regeneration and Parkinson's and other brain diseases. *Front. Neuroanat.* 8:114. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2014.00114
- Cebrián, C., Zucca, F. A., Mauri, P., Steinbeck, J. A., Studer, L., Scherzer, C. R., et al. (2014b). MHC-I expression renders catecholaminergic neurons susceptible to T-cell-mediated degeneration. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3633. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4633
- Chandra, S., Fornai, F., Kwon, H.-B., Yazdani, U., Atasoy, D., Liu, X., et al. (2004). Double-knockout mice for α- and β-synucleins: effect on synaptic functions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 101, 14966–14971. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0406283101
- Chen, S., Le, W. D., Xie, W. J., Alexianu, M. E., Engelhardt, J. I., Siklós, L., et al. (1998). Experimental destruction of substantia nigra initiated by Parkinson disease immunoglobulins. *Arch. Neurol.* 55, 1075–1080. doi: 10.1001/archneur. 55.8.1075
- Chesselet, M. F. (2008). In vivo α-synuclein overexpression in rodents: a useful model of Parkinson's disease? Exp. Neurol. 209, 22–27. doi: 10.1016/j. expneurol.2007.08.006
- Chiba-Falek, O., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2001). Effect of allelic variation at the NACP-Rep1 repeat upstream of the α-synuclein gene (SNCA) on transcription in a cell culture luciferase reporter system. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 10, 3101–3109. doi: 10.1093/hmg/10.26.3101
- Collier, T. J., Redmond, D. E. Jr., Steece-Collier, K., Lipton, J. W., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016). Is α-synuclein loss-of-function a contributor to parkinsonian pathology? Evidence from non-human primates. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:12. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00012
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. T. (1998). Accelerated *in vitro* fibril formation by a mutant α -synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat. Med.* 4, 1318–1320. doi: 10.1038/3311
- Corriveau, R. A., Huh, G. S., and Shatz, C. J. (1998). Regulation of class I MHC gene expression in the developing and mature CNS by neural activity. *Neuron* 21, 505–520. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80562-0
- Croisier, E., Moran, L. B., Dexter, D. T., Pearce, R. K. B., and Graeber, M. B. (2005). Microglial inflammation in the parkinsonian substantia nigra: relationship to α-synuclein deposition. *J. Neuroinflammation* 2:14. doi: 10.1186/1742-20 94-2-14

- Dauer, W., Kholodilov, N., Vila, M., Trillat, A. C., Goodchild, R., Larsen, K. E., et al. (2002). Resistance of α-synuclein null mice to the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPTP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 14524–14529. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.172514599
- Defazio, G., Dal Toso, R., Benvegnù, D., Minozzi, M. C., Cananzi, A. R., and Leon, A. (1994). Parkinsonian serum carries complement-dependent toxicity for rat mesencephalic dopaminergic neurons in culture. *Brain Res.* 633, 206–212. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(94)91541-5
- Dela Cruz, C. P., Revilla, E., Venero, J. L., Ayala, A., Cano, J., and Machado, A. (1996). Oxidative inactivation of tyrosine hydroxylase in substantia nigra of aged rat. *Free Radic Biol. Med.* 20, 53–61. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(95)02025-x
- Eidson, L. N., Kannarkat, G. T., Barnum, C. J., Chang, J., Chung, J., Caspell-Garcia, C., et al. (2017). Candidate inflammatory biomarkers display unique relationships with α -synuclein and correlate with measures of disease severity in subjects with Parkinson's disease. *J. Neuroinflammation* 14:164. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0935-1
- Fares, M.-B., Ait-Bouziad, N., Dikiy, I., Mbefo, M. K., Jovičić, A., Kiely, A., et al. (2014). The novel Parkinson's disease linked mutation G51D attenuates *in vitro* aggregation and membrane binding of α -synuclein and enhances its secretion and nuclear localization in cells. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 4491–4509. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu165
- Fischer, D. L., Gombash, S. E., Kemp, C. J., Manfredsson, F. P., Polinski, N. K., Duffy, M. F., et al. (2016). Viral vector-based modeling of neurodegenerative disorders: Parkinson's disease. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1382, 367–382. doi: 10.1007/ 978-1-4939-3271-9_26
- Fortin, D. L., Troyer, M. D., Nakamura, K., Kubo, S., Anthony, M. D., and Edwards, R. H. (2004). Lipid rafts mediate the synaptic localization of α-synuclein. J. Neurosci. 24, 6715–6723. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1594 -04.2004
- Garcia-Reitboeck, P., Anichtchik, O., Dalley, J. W., Ninkina, N., Tofaris, G. K., Buchman, V. L., et al. (2013). Endogenous α-synuclein influences the number of dopaminergic neurons in mouse substantia nigra. *Exp. Neurol.* 248, 541–545. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.07.015
- George, J. M. (2001). The synucleins. *Genome Biol.* 3:reviews3002.1. doi: 10.1186/ gb-2001-3-1-reviews3002
- Gerhard, A., Pavese, N., Hotton, G., Turkheimer, F., Es, M., Hammers, A., et al. (2006). *In vivo* imaging of microglial activation with [¹¹C](*R*)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 21, 404–412. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd. 2005.08.002
- Ghosh, D., Sahay, S., Ranjan, P., Salot, S., Mohite, G. M., Singh, P. K., et al. (2014). The newly discovered Parkinson's disease associated Finnish mutation (A53E) attenuates α-synuclein aggregation and membrane binding. *Biochemistry* 53, 6419–6421. doi: 10.1021/bi5010365
- Gibb, W. R., and Lees, A. J. (1991). Anatomy, pigmentation, ventral and dorsal subpopulations of the substantia nigra and differential cell death in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 54, 388–396. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.54. 5.388
- Gorbatyuk, O. S., Li, S., Nash, K., Gorbatyuk, M., Lewin, A. S., Sullivan, L. F., et al. (2010). *In vivo* RNAi-mediated α -synuclein silencing induces nigrostriatal degeneration. *Mol. Ther.* 18, 1450–1457. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.115
- Greten-Harrison, B., Polydoro, M., Morimoto-Tomita, M., Diao, L., Williams, A. M., Nie, E. H., et al. (2010). αβγ-synuclein triple knockout mice reveal age-dependent neuronal dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 19573–19578. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005005107
- Harms, A. S., Delic, V., Thome, A. D., Bryant, N., Liu, Z., Chandra, S., et al. (2017). α-Synuclein fibrils recruit peripheral immune cells in the rat brain prior to neurodegeneration. *Acta Neuropathol. Commun.* 5:85. doi: 10.1186/s40478-017-0494-9
- Iwai, A., Masliah, E., Yoshimoto, M., Ge, N. F., Flanagan, L., de Silva, H., et al. (1995). The precursor protein of non-a-β component of Alzheimers-disease amyloid is a presynaptic protein of the central-nervous-system. *Neuron* 14, 467–475. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90302-x
- Jang, A., Lee, H.-J., Suk, J.-E., Jung, J.-W., Kim, K.-P., and Lee, S.-J. (2010). Nonclassical exocytosis of α-synuclein is sensitive to folding states and promoted under stress conditions. *J. Neurochem.* 5, 1263–1274. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2010.06695.x
- Kastner, A., Herrero, M. T., Hirsch, E. C., Guillen, J., Luquin, M. R., Javoy-Agid, F., et al. (1994). Decreased tyrosine hydroxylase content in the

dopaminergic neurons of MPTP-intoxicated monkeys: effect of levodopa and GM1 ganglioside therapy. *Ann. Neurol.* 36, 206–214. doi: 10.1002/ana. 410360213

- Kastner, A., Hirsch, E. C., Agid, Y., and Javoy-Agid, F. (1993). Tyrosine hydroxylase protein and messenger RNA in the dopaminergic nigral neurons of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Brain Res.* 606, 341–345. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)91005-d
- Khodr, C. E., Becerra, A., Han, Y., and Bohn, M. C. (2014). Targeting α -synuclein with a microRNA-embedded silencing vector in the rat substantia nigra: positive and negative effects. *Brain Res.* 1550, 47–60. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2014.01.010
- Khodr, C. E., Sapru, M. K., Pedapati, J., Han, Y., West, N. C., Kells, A. P., et al. (2011). An α -synuclein AAV gene silencing vector ameliorates a behavioral deficit in a rat model of Parkinson's disease, but displays toxicity in dopamine neurons. *Brain Res.* 1395, 94–107. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011. 04.036
- Kim, C., Lee, H.-J., Masliah, E., and Lee, S.-J. (2016). Non-cell-autonomous neurotoxicity of α -synuclein through microglial toll-like receptor 2. *Exp.* Neurobiol. 25, 113–119. doi: 10.5607/en.2016.25.3.113
- Koprich, J. B., Chen, E.-Y., Kanaan, N. M., Campbell, N. G., Kordower, J. H., and Lipton, J. W. (2003). Prenatal 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (ecstasy) alters exploratory behavior, reduces monoamine metabolism, and increases forebrain tyrosine hydroxylase fiber density of juvenile rats. *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.* 25, 509–517. doi: 10.1016/s0892-0362(03)00091-6
- Kordower, J. H., Olanow, C. W., Dodiya, H. B., Chu, Y., Beach, T. G., Adler, C. H., et al. (2013). Disease duration and the integrity of the nigrostriatal system in Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 136, 2419–2431. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt192
- Kramer, M. L., and Schulz-Schaeffer, W. J. (2007). Presynaptic α-synuclein aggregates, not Lewy bodies, cause neurodegeneration in dementia with Lewy bodies. J. Neurosci. 27, 1405–1410. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4564-06.2007
- Kuhn, M., Haebig, K., Bonin, M., Ninkina, N., Buchman, V. L., Poths, S., et al. (2007). Whole genome expression analyses of single- and double-knockout mice implicate partially overlapping functions of α - and γ -synuclein. *Neurogenetics* 8, 71–81. doi: 10.1007/s10048-007-0079-z
- Lee, E.-J., Woo, M.-S., Moon, P.-G., Baek, M.-C., Choi, I.-Y., Kim, W.-K., et al. (2010). α -synuclein activates microglia by inducing the expressions of matrix metalloproteinases and the subsequent activation of protease-activated receptor-1. *J. Immunol.* 185, 615–623. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903480
- Lee, H. J., Patel, S., and Lee, S. J. (2005). Intravesicular localization and exocytosis of α -synuclein and its aggregates. J. Neurosci. 25, 6016–6024. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0692-05.2005
- Lee, S. K., Sillitoe, R. V., Silva, C., Martina, M., and Sekerkova, G. (2015). α -synuclein expression in the mouse cerebellum is restricted to VGluT1 excitatory terminals and is enriched in unipolar brush cells. Cerebellum 14, 516–527. doi: 10.1007/s12311-015-0673-9
- Lewis, J., Melrose, H., Bumcrot, D., Hope, A., Zehr, C., Lincoln, S., et al. (2008). *In vivo* silencing of α-synuclein using naked siRNA. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 3:19. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-3-19
- Li, Y.-H., Gao, N., Ye, Y.-W., Li, X., Yu, S., Yang, H., et al. (2011). α -synuclein functions as a negative regulator for expression of tyrosine hydroxylase. *Acta Neurol. Belg.* 111, 130–135.
- Logan, T., Bendor, J., Toupin, C., Thorn, K., and Edwards, R. H. (2017). α-Synuclein promotes dilation of the exocytotic fusion pore. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 681–689. doi: 10.1038/nn.4529
- Ludtmann, M. H. R., Angelova, P. R., Ninkina, N. N., Gandhi, S., Buchman, V. L., and Abramov, A. Y. (2016). Monomeric α -synuclein exerts a physiological role on brain ATP synthase. *J. Neurosci.* 36, 10510–10521. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1659-16.2016
- Magen, I., and Chesselet, M.-F. (2010). Genetic mouse models of Parkinson's disease The state of the art. *Prog. Brain Res.* 184, 53–87. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10)84004-X
- Manfredsson, F. P., Burger, C., Rising, A. C., Zuobi-Hasona, K., Sullivan, L. F., Lewin, A. S., et al. (2009). Tight long-term dynamic doxycycline responsive nigrostriatal GDNF using a single rAAV vector. *Mol. Ther.* 17, 1857–1867. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.196
- Manfredsson, F. P., Burger, C., Sullivan, L. F., Muzyczka, N., Lewin, A. S., and Mandel, R. J. (2007). rAAV-mediated nigral human parkin over-expression partially ameliorates motor deficits via enhanced dopamine neurotransmission

in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 207, 289–301. doi: 10.1016/j. expneurol.2007.06.019

- Markopoulou, K., Biernacka, J. M., Armasu, S. M., Anderson, K. J., Ahlskog, J. E., Chase, B. A., et al. (2014). Does α-synuclein have a dual and opposing effect in preclinical vs. clinical Parkinson's disease? *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 20, 584–589; discussion 584. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.02.021
- Maroteaux, L., Campanelli, J. T., and Scheller, R. H. (1988). Synuclein: a neuronspecific protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J. Neurosci.* 8, 2804–2815.
- McCormack, A. L., Mak, S. K., Henderson, J. M., Bumcrot, D., Farrer, M. J., and Di Monte, D. A. (2010). α-synuclein suppression by targeted small interfering RNA in the primate substantia nigra. *PLoS One* 5:e12122. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0012122
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Akiyama, H., and McGeer, E. G. (1988a). Rate of cell death in parkinsonism indicates active neuropathological process. *Ann. Neurol.* 24, 574–576. doi: 10.1002/ana.410240415
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and McGeer, E. G. (1988b). Reactive microglia are positive for hla-dr in the substantia nigra of Parkinsons and Alzheimers-disease brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291. doi: 10.1212/WNL.38. 8.1285
- Miller, D. W., Hague, S. M., Clarimon, J., Baptista, M., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Cookson, M. R., et al. (2004). α -synuclein in blood and brain from familial Parkinson disease with SNCA locus triplication. *Neurology* 62, 1835–1838. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000127517.33208.f4
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Kondo, T., Riederer, P., Inagaki, H., Minami, M., et al. (1994a). Interleukin-1 β , interleukin-6, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor- α are elevated in the brain from parkinsonian patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 180, 147–150. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(94)90508-8
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Riederer, P., Narabayashi, H., Fujita, K., and Nagatsu, T. (1994b). Tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α) increases both in the brain and in the cerebrospinal fluid from parkinsonian patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 165, 208–210. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(94)90746-3
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Narabayashi, H., Inagaki, H., Minami, M., and Nagatsu, T. (1996). Interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6 and transforming growth factor- α levels are elevated in ventricular cerebrospinal fluid in juvenile parkinsonism and Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 211, 13–16. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(96)12706-3
- Mullen, R. J., Buck, C. R., and Smith, A. M. (1992). NeuN, a neuronal specific nuclear protein in vertebrates. *Development* 116, 201–211.
- Nelson, P. A., Sage, J. R., Wood, S. C., Davenport, C. M., Anagnostaras, S. G., and Boulanger, L. M. (2013). MHC class I immune proteins are critical for hippocampus-dependent memory and gate NMDAR-dependent hippocampal long-term depression. *Learn. Mem.* 20, 505–517. doi: 10.1101/lm.031351.113
- Oliveira, A. L. R., Thams, S., Lidman, O., Piehl, F., Hökfelt, T., Kärre, K., et al. (2004). From the cover: a role for MHC class I molecules in synaptic plasticity and regeneration of neurons after axotomy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 101, 17843–17848. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408154101
- Orr, C. F., Rowe, D. B., Mizuno, Y., Mori, H., and Halliday, G. M. (2005). A possible role for humoral immunity in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 128, 2665–2674. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh625
- Osterberg, V. R., Spinelli, K. J., Weston, L. J., Luk, K. C., Woltjer, R. L., and Unni, V. K. (2015). Progressive aggregation of α-synuclein and selective degeneration of lewy inclusion-bearing neurons in a mouse model of parkinsonism. *Cell Rep.* 10, 1252–1260. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.060
- Ouchi, Y. Y., Yoshikawa, E. E., Sekine, Y. Y., Futatsubashi, M. M., Kanno, T. T., Ogusu, T. T., et al. (2005). Microglial activation and dopamine terminal loss in early Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 168–175. doi: 10.1002/ana.20338
- Papachroni, K. K., Ninkina, N., Papapanagiotou, A., Hadjigeorgiou, G. M., Xiromerisiou, G., Papadimitriou, A., et al. (2007). Autoantibodies to α-synuclein in inherited Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 101, 749–756. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04365.x
- Peden, C. S., Burger, C., Muzyczka, N., and Mandel, R. J. (2004). Circulating anti-wild-type adeno-associated virus type 2 (AAV2) antibodies inhibit recombinant AAV2 (rAAV2)-mediated, but not rAAV5-mediated, gene transfer in the brain. J. Virol. 78, 6344–6359. doi: 10.1128/jvi.78.12.6344-63 59.2004
- Peng, X., Tehranian, R., Dietrich, P., Stefanis, L., and Perez, R. G. (2005). α -Synuclein activation of protein phosphatase 2A reduces tyrosine

hydroxylase phosphorylation in dopaminergic cells. J. Cell Sci. 118, 3523–3530. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02481

- Perez, R. G., and Hastings, T. G. (2004). Could a loss of α-synuclein function put dopaminergic neurons at risk? J. Neurochem. 89, 1318–1324. doi: 10.1111/j. 1471-4159.2004.02423.x
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F. L., and Zigmond, M. J. (2002). A role for α -synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 3090–3099.
- Polinski, N. K., Manfredsson, F. P., Benskey, M. J., Fischer, D. L., Kemp, C. J., Steece-Collier, K., et al. (2016). Impact of age and vector construct on striatal and nigral transgene expression. *Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev.* 3:16082. doi: 10.1038/mtm.2016.82
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the α -synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.53 21.2045
- Pozo Devoto, V. M., Dimopoulos, N., Alloatti, M., Pardi, M. B., Saez, T. M., Otero, M. G., et al. (2017). α Synuclein control of mitochondrial homeostasis in human-derived neurons is disrupted by mutations associated with Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 7:5042. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05334-9
- Quinn, J. G., Coulson, D. T. R., Brockbank, S., Beyer, N., Ravid, R., Hellemans, J., et al. (2012). α-synuclein mRNA and soluble α-synuclein protein levels in post-mortem brain from patients with Parkinson's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 1459, 71–80. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2012.04.018
- Redwine, J. M., Buchmeier, M. J., and Evans, C. F. (2001). *In vivo* expression of major histocompatibility complex molecules on oligodendrocytes and neurons during viral infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 159, 1219–1224. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10)62507-2
- Robertson, D. C., Schmidt, O., Ninkina, N., Jones, P. A., Sharkey, J., and Buchman, V. L. (2004). Developmental loss and resistance to MPTP toxicity of dopaminergic neurones in substantia nigra pars compacta of γ-synuclein, α-synuclein and double α/γ-synuclein null mutant mice. J. Neurochem. 89, 1126–1136. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02378.x
- Rosario, A. M., Cruz, P. E., Ceballos-Diaz, C., Strickland, M. R., Siemienski, Z., Pardo, M., et al. (2016). Microglia-specific targeting by novel capsidmodified AAV6 vectors. *Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev.* 3, 16026–16026. doi: 10.1038/mtm.2016.26
- Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Barnum, C. J., Tansey, M. G., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2013). Neuroimmunological processes in Parkinson's disease and their relation to α-synuclein: microglia as the referee between neuronal processes and peripheral immunity. ASN Neuro. 5, 113–139. doi: 10.1042/ AN20120066
- Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Febbraro, F., Kirik, D., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2010). Microglia acquire distinct activation profiles depending on the degree of α -synuclein neuropathology in a rAAV based model of Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 5:e8784. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008784
- Schlüter, O. M., Fornai, F., Alessandri, M. G., Takamori, S., Geppert, M., Jahn, R. R., et al. (2003). Role of α -synuclein in 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced parkinsonism in mice. *Neuroscience* 118, 985–1002. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(03)00036-8
- Sheridan, K. K., and Murphy, K. J. (2013). Neuron-glia crosstalk in health and disease: fractalkine and CX3CR1 take centre stage. *Open Biol.* 3:130181. doi: 10.1098/rsob.130181
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., et al. (2003). α-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302:841. doi: 10.1126/science.1090278
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). α -synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Streit, W. J., and Xue, Q.-S. (2016). Microglia in dementia with Lewy bodies. Brain Behav. Immun. 55, 191–201. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.10.012
- Su, X., Maguire-Zeiss, K. A., Giuliano, R., Prifti, L., Venkatesh, K., and Federoff, H. J. (2008). Synuclein activates microglia in a model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 29, 1690–1701. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007. 04.006
- Tehranian, R., Montoya, S. E., Van Laar, A. D., Hastings, T. G., and Perez, R. G. (2006). $\alpha\text{-synuclein}$ inhibits aromatic amino acid decarboxylase activity in

dopaminergic cells. J. Neurochem. 99, 1188–1196. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2006.04146.x

- Teoh, C. Y., and Davies, K. J. A. (2004). Potential roles of protein oxidation and the immunoproteasome in MHC class I antigen presentation: the "PrOXI" hypothesis. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 423, 88–96. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2003. 12.001
- Theodore, S., Cao, S., McLean, P. J., and Standaert, D. G. (2008). Targeted overexpression of human α -synuclein triggers microglial activation and an adaptive immune response in a mouse model of parkinson disease. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 67, 1149–1158. doi: 10.1097/NEN. 0b013e31818e5e99
- Toro Cabrera, G., and Mueller, C. (2016). Design of shRNA and miRNA for delivery to the CNS. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1382, 67–80. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3271-9_5
- Ubhi, K., Rockenstein, E., Mante, M., Inglis, C., Adame, A., Patrick, C., et al. (2010). Neurodegeneration in a transgenic mouse model of multiple system atrophy is associated with altered expression of oligodendroglial-derived neurotrophic factors. J. Neurosci. 30, 6236–6246. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 0567-10.2010
- Unni, V. K., Weissman, T. A., Rockenstein, E., Masliah, E., McLean, P. J., and Hyman, B. T. (2010). *In vivo* imaging of α-synuclein in mouse cortex demonstrates stable expression and differential subcellular compartment mobility. *PLoS One* 5:e10589. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010589
- Uversky, V. N. (2007). Neuropathology, biochemistry, and biophysics of α -synuclein aggregation. J. Neurochem. 103, 17–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2007.04764.x
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Luk, K. C., Patel, T. P., Tanik, S. A., Riddle, D. M., Stieber, A., et al. (2011). Exogenous α-synuclein fibrils induce Lewy body pathology leading to synaptic dysfunction and neuron death. *Neuron* 72, 57–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.08.033
- Wang, J., Lou, H., Pedersen, C. J., Smith, A. D., and Perez, R. G. (2009). 14–3-3ζ contributes to tyrosine hydroxylase activity in MN9D cells: localization of dopamine regulatory proteins to mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 14011–14019. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M901310200
- Watson, M. B., Richter, F., Lee, S. K., Gabby, L., Wu, J., Masliah, E., et al. (2012). Regionally-specific microglial activation in young mice over-expressing human

wildtype α-synuclein. *Exp. Neurol.* 237, 318–334. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol. 2012.06.025

- Wersinger, C., Banta, M., and Sidhu, A. (2004). Comparative analyses of α -synuclein expression levels in rat brain tissues and transfected cells. *Neurosci. Lett.* 358, 95–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2003.12.118
- Wilms, H., Rosenstiel, P., Romero-Ramos, M., Arlt, A., Schäfer, H., Seegert, D., et al. (2009). Suppression of MAP kinases inhibits microglial activation and attenuates neuronal cell death induced by α-synuclein protofibrils. *Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol.* 22, 897–909. doi: 10.1177/039463200902200405
- Xu, J., Kao, S.-Y., Lee, F. J. S., Song, W., Jin, L.-W., and Yankner, B. A. (2002). Dopamine-dependent neurotoxicity of α -synuclein: a mechanism for selective neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Med.* 8, 600–606. doi: 10.1038/nm0602-600
- Yu, Z., Xu, X., Xiang, Z., Zhou, J., Zhang, Z., Hu, C., et al. (2010). Nitrated α-synuclein induces the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra of rats. *PLoS One* 5:e9956. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009956
- Yu, S., Zuo, X. H., Li, Y. H., Zhang, C., Zhou, M., Zhang, Y. A., et al. (2004). Inhibition of tyrosine hydroxylase expression in α-synuclein-transfected dopaminergic neuronal cells. *Neurosci. Lett.* 367, 34–39. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet. 2004.05.118
- Zharikov, A. D., Cannon, J. R., Tapias, V., Bai, Q., Horowitz, M. P., Shah, V., et al. (2015). shRNA targeting α -synuclein prevents neurodegeneration in a Parkinson's disease model. *J. Clin. Invest.* 125, 2721–2735. doi: 10.1172/JCI64502

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Benskey, Sellnow, Sandoval, Sortwell, Lipton and Manfredsson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Can Interactions Between α-Synuclein, Dopamine and Calcium Explain Selective Neurodegeneration in Parkinson's Disease?

Michael R. Post, Ori J. Lieberman and Eugene V. Mosharov*

Departments of Psychiatry and Neurology, New York State Psychiatric Institute, Columbia University Medical Center, New York, NY, United States

Several lines of evidence place alpha-synuclein (aSyn) at the center of Parkinson's disease (PD) etiology, but it is still unclear why overexpression or mutated forms of this protein affect some neuronal populations more than others. Susceptible neuronal populations in PD, dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) and the locus coeruleus (LC), are distinguished by relatively high cytoplasmic concentrations of dopamine and calcium ions. Here we review the evidence for the multi-hit hypothesis of neurodegeneration, including recent papers that demonstrate synergistic interactions between aSyn, calcium ions and dopamine that may lead to imbalanced protein turnover and selective susceptibility of these neurons. We conclude that decreasing the levels of any one of these toxicity mediators can be beneficial for the survival of SNpc and LC neurons, providing multiple opportunities for targeted drug interventions aimed at modifying the course of PD.

Keywords: α -Synuclein, dopamine, calcium, Parkinson's disease, substantia nigra pars compacta, locus coeruleus, multiple hits

*Correspondence:

Elisa Greggio,

Eugene V. Mosharov em706@cumc.columbia.edu

OPEN ACCESS

Center, United States

Matthew John Benskey,

Texas Tech University Health Sciences

College of Human Medicine, Michigan State University, United States

Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy

Edited by:

Ruth G. Perez,

Reviewed by:

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 28 December 2017 Accepted: 27 February 2018 Published: 14 March 2018

Citation:

Post MR, Lieberman OJ and Mosharov EV (2018) Can Interactions Between α-Synuclein, Dopamine and Calcium Explain Selective Neurodegeneration in Parkinson's Disease? Front. Neurosci. 12:161. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00161 DIFFERENTIAL SUSCEPTIBILITY OF CATECHOLAMINERGIC

DIFFERENTIAL SUSCEPTIBILITY OF CATECHOLAMINERGIC NEURONS IN PD

Parkinson's disease (PD), the second most common neurodegenerative disorder (De Lau and Breteler, 2006), is marked by slowness (bradykinesia), resting tremor, muscular rigidity, and postural instability (Lang and Lozano, 1998). Although multiple brain regions are affected in late-stage PD (Braak et al., 1995), two catecholaminergic neuronal populations degenerate early, before the onset of the motor symptoms-dopaminergic (DA) neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) and noradrenergic (NE) neurons of the locus coeruleus (LC). DA restoration through treatment with L-DOPA provides an effective symptomatic improvement, however, tolerance to treatment increases over time, accompanied by the development of severe side effects (L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia; Lewitt, 2015; Olanow, 2015). There is at the time no means available for delaying the progress of the disease, which is a critical goal in the field.

Rational design of disease-modifying therapies is complicated by the lack of a clear understanding of the pathophysiology of PD initiation and progression. The disease is predominantly sporadic, with an estimated 10% prevalence of familial cases (Eriksen et al., 2005). Alpha-synuclein (aSyn), encoded by the SNCA gene, plays a central role in both sporadic and

familial PD. Mutations or multiplications of the SNCA cause autosomal dominant PD (Eriksen et al., 2005). Levels of phosphorylated aSyn are increased in post-mortem brains of PD patients and in patient-derived dopaminergic neurons (Fujiwara et al., 2002; Swirski et al., 2014). Genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have reported a correlation between the SNCA locus and the risk of developing sporadic PD (Simon-Sanchez et al., 2009; Chang et al., 2017). Importantly, post-mortem PD brains show proteinaceous aSyn-positive deposits called Lewy bodies (Spillantini et al., 1997; Baba et al., 1998). Conversely, deletion of aSyn is protective in mouse and cellular models of PD (Dauer et al., 2002; Alvarez-Fischer et al., 2008). Similarly, a recent study identified β2-adrenoreceptor (β2AR) agonists as negative regulators of the aSyn gene expression, and an association was found between the use of B2AR agonist salbutamol, a brainpenetrant asthma medication, and a reduced risk of developing PD (Mittal et al., 2017). Yet, Lewy body pathology occurs throughout the nervous system in PD patients and does not correlate well with cell death (Goedert et al., 2013; Surmeier et al., 2017a), suggesting that aSyn may be necessary but not sufficient for PD neurodegeneration.

Several cellular pathways are affected in PD, resulting in endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and activation of the unfolded protein response, disruption of lysosomal and proteasomal protein degradation, and impaired Ca²⁺ homeostasis and mitochondrial dysfunction (Rochet et al., 2004; Stefanis, 2012; Duda et al., 2016; Michel et al., 2016). Although there does not appear to be a unifying end-point toxicity pathway, inflammatory response and both necrotic and apoptotic degeneration are often observed in PD models (Perier et al., 2012). The central question in PD neuropathology, however, is why some neurons are highly susceptible to neurodegeneration while other, even closely related populations, are much less affected. Specifically, SNpc and LC catecholaminergic neurons degenerate in PD, whereas ventral tegmental area (VTA) and tuberoinfundibular DA neurons are relatively spared in both PD patients and laboratory models of the disorder (Hirsch et al., 1988; Braak et al., 1995). Two features of SNpc and LC neurons-the presence of elevated catecholamine and Ca²⁺ concentration in the cytosol-have consistently been suggested as modulators of their sensitivity to neurodegeneration.

Due to the ability of DA to produce oxidative stress and protein damage, it has long been speculated that a dysregulation of cytosolic DA homeostasis plays a role in PD (Edwards, 1993; Gainetdinov et al., 1998; Uhl, 1998; Schmitz et al., 2001; Lotharius and Brundin, 2002; Lohr et al., 2014; Pifl et al., 2014). Spontaneous DA oxidation at neutral pH of the cytosol yields DA-o-quinone and dopaminochrome (Graham, 1978; Sulzer and Zecca, 2000), which can then react with free cysteine and exposed cysteine residues of proteins and glutathione producing 5-Scystenyl-DA. The latter can undergo further oxidation and is toxic to cultured cells (Spencer et al., 2002) or when injected into the mouse brain (Zhang and Dryhurst, 1994). 5-S-cystenyl adducts of DA and its metabolites are used as markers of excess cytosolic DA and oxidative stress in vivo (Hastings and Berman, 1999; Caudle et al., 2007) and are readily detected in human SNpc and LC, consistent with DA-induced protein damage in human PD (Fornstedt et al., 1989; Montine et al., 1995; Hastings and Berman, 1999). Other mechanisms of DAmediated neurotoxicity include reactions of DA with nitric oxide (Daveu et al., 1997), peroxynitrite (Daveu et al., 1997; Vauzour et al., 2008) and aldehydes (Collins and Bigdeli, 1975; Deitrich and Erwin, 1980; Naoi et al., 1993; Marchitti et al., 2007). Accumulation of cytosolic DA is toxic to cells *in vitro* (Mytilineou et al., 1993; Pardo et al., 1995; Sulzer et al., 2000; Xu et al., 2002; Fuentes et al., 2007; Mosharov et al., 2009) and several reports confirm that a buildup of cytosolic DA is indeed sufficient to induce progressive nigrostriatal degeneration in rodents (Caudle et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2008), although clinical studies of L-DOPA toxicity produced controversial results (Fahn et al., 2004; Olanow et al., 2004; Holford et al., 2006).

Dysregulation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis is likewise frequently observed in models of both sporadic and familial PD (Goldberg et al., 2012; Hurley and Dexter, 2012; Surmeier et al., 2017b). This includes impairment of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ maintenance (Exner et al., 2012), disrupted communication between mitochondrial and ER Ca²⁺ stores (Ottolini et al., 2013; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014), decreased store-operated Ca²⁺ entry (Zhou et al., 2016), and additional mechanisms that may cause toxicity due to abnormally high or low Ca²⁺ levels (Duda et al., 2016; Michel et al., 2016; Surmeier et al., 2017b). SNpc and VTA neurons express drastically different levels of calbindin-D_{28K} (Fu et al., 2012) and those expressing high levels of this Ca^{2+} buffering protein-the majority of VTA neurons and a small percentage of SNpc neurons-are spared from neurodegeneration in PD (Yamada et al., 1990; Rcom-H'cheo-Gauthier et al., 2014). Interestingly, at least some LC neurons appear to express Ca²⁺ buffering proteins calbindin-D_{28K}, calretinin and parvalbumin (Bhagwandin et al., 2013), although no comparison was made with other brain areas, such as the VTA.

SNpc neurons have long axons that extend into the striatum and arborize extensively, with many DA release sites (Matsuda et al., 2009). Physiologically, these neurons display broad action potential spikes and an autonomous tonic firing pattern governed by the activity of the L-type Ca_v1.3 channels (LTCCs) (Hetzenauer et al., 2006; Surmeier et al., 2010). This drives a feedforward stimulation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation that maintains ATP production during increased neuronal activity (Chan et al., 2007; Surmeier et al., 2017b). Chronically increased cytoplasmic and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ levels may however drive the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS), leading to mitochondrial dysfunction. While Cav1.3 channels are expressed at similar levels in SNpc and neighboring VTA dopaminergic neurons (Dragicevic et al., 2014), they do not drive pacemaking in VTA neurons (Chan et al., 2007; Duda et al., 2016) (although, this remains controversial Liu et al., 2014), suggesting post-translational regulation of their activity. Pharmacological blockade of LTCCs with dihydropyridines alleviates mitochondrial oxidative stress in SNpc neurons in ex vivo mouse brain slices (Chan et al., 2007), and protects them in neurotoxin-based models of PD (Chan et al., 2007). Similarly, LC neurons display broad action potential spikes and autonomous pacemaking that is dependent on Cav1.2 and Cav1.3 L-type channels (Sanchez-Padilla et al., 2014) as well as the T-type channels (Matschke et al., 2015). Dihydropyridines also prevent mitochondrial oxidative stress in LC neurons in *ex vivo* brain slices (Sanchez-Padilla et al., 2014). Although LC neurons are selectively targeted by parkinsonian neurotoxins (Masilamoni et al., 2011), the effect of LTCC blockers on the survival of LC neurons in these models has not been studied. However, an LTCC inhibitor nimodipine was shown to protect both SNpc and LC neurons in a model of chronic neuroinflammation (Hopp et al., 2015).

Overall, SNpc and LC appear to share many of the same characteristics—a proteomic analysis identified similar changes in 61 PD-associated proteins in SNpc and LC neurons (Van Dijk et al., 2012)—and are uniquely situated with high levels of cytosolic catecholamines and Ca^{2+} , which in the presence of aSyn may underlie their higher susceptibility to neurodegeneration. Below, we focus on the interactions between these three chemicals, highlighting recent developments in their role toward cell-selective PD pathogenesis.

aSyn AND Ca²⁺

aSyn is a protein widely expressed in the nervous system, with a subcellular localization at the presynaptic terminal. The protein is 140 amino acids in length (Figure 1), occurs as a helically folded tetramer under physiological conditions (Bartels et al., 2011) and is able to form oligomers, fibrils and more complex aggregates, eventually leading to Lewy bodies. The N-terminus is lysine-rich and is the site of the vesicle binding, with four lipidbinding KTK motif repeats in that region. Importantly, all known SNCA familial PD mutations to date—A30P, E46K, H50Q, G51D, A53E, and A53T-are found in this domain (Rcom-H'cheo-Gauthier et al., 2014). The central region of aSyn is known as the non-amyloid- β component (NAC) of amyloid plaques found in Alzheimer's disease patients and is responsible for aSyn aggregation and Lewy body formation (Li et al., 2002). The C-terminus is comprised of an EF-hand-like sequence that is capable of binding Ca²⁺; however, overexpression of truncated aSyn that lacks the C-terminus is sufficient to elicit a PD-like phenotype in mice (Tofaris et al., 2006). Normally, aSyn is involved in regulation of synaptic vesicles exocytosis, although its exact function is still debated (Imaizumi et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2006; Burre et al., 2010; Nemani et al., 2010; Bendor et al., 2013). Although gain-of-function mechanisms of aSyn toxicity due to its post-translational modifications or oligomerization have been widely reported, recent data suggest that the loss-of-function mechanisms may also play a role (Collier et al., 2016).

Effects of aSyn on Ca²⁺

Intracellular Ca^{2+} is a potent second-messenger that triggers many cellular events, and its concentration is tightly regulated by the activities of transporters and channels of the plasma, ER, and mitochondrial membranes, as well as calcium-binding proteins such as calbindin, parvalbumin, and calretinin (Zaichick et al., 2017). Various mechanisms by which aSyn is able to interfere with Ca^{2+} homeostasis in different cellular compartments have been reviewed in more detail elsewhere (Duda et al., 2016; Michel et al., 2016; Ottolini et al., 2017; Surmeier et al., 2017b), but are described here briefly.

First, aSyn localizes at the mitochondria-associated membranes of the ER (MAMs) where it can regulate IP₃ receptor-mediated transfer of calcium (Cali et al., 2012; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014). Pathogenic PD mutations in aSyn result in reduced association with MAM accompanied by increased mitochondrial fragmentation and augmented autophagy (Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014). Additionally, post-translationally modified aSyn interacts with TOM20, a translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane, and impairs mitochondrial import of proteins required for oxidative phosphorylation both in vitro and in postmortem brain tissue from PD patients (Di Maio et al., 2016). Second, aSyn overexpression induces lysosomal permeability, allowing lysosomal calcium and protons to leak to the cytosol and induce cell death (Bourdenx et al., 2014). Third, aSyn can increase ion permeability of the plasma membrane or interfere with the activity of its channels resulting in dysregulated neuronal firing and Ca²⁺ dynamics patterns that precede neurodegeneration (Subramaniam et al., 2014; Angelova et al., 2016). Consistently, aSyn is required for cytosolic Ca²⁺ influx through the plasma membrane following exposure to the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPP+ via a putative interaction with LTCCs (Lieberman et al., 2017), although the exact mechanism of this interaction needs further investigation. Fourth, a recent study showed that extracellularly added aSyn increased the activity of the Cav2.2 channel, thus increasing cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ sufficiently to induce exocytotic DA release (Ronzitti et al., 2014). Interestingly, aSyn did not increase Cav2.2 expression, but rather caused a relocation of Cav2.2 from lipid rafts to cholesterol-poor domains, providing a novel mechanism by which aSyn may change the activity of Ca²⁺ channels via the reorganization of membrane microdomains indicating an indirect interaction between aSyn and Ca²⁺-channels. Finally, a study of the proximal aSyn intracellular partners using APEX2based labeling found that aSyn might interact with calcineurin, a calmodulin dependent serine/threonine protein phosphatase that has ubiquitous intracellular substrates (Chung et al., 2017). This finding buttresses previous reports from the same group that demonstrated a functional relationship between aSyn levels and calcineurin activity (Caraveo et al., 2014).

Effects of Ca²⁺ on aSyn

 Ca^{2+} binding seems to promote aSyn annular oligomer formation. These ring-like oligomers have been shown to insert in the membrane forming a pore, perhaps allowing more Ca^{2+} to enter the cell (Mironov, 2015). This oligomer formation is dependent on the C-terminus and is eliminated in truncated forms of aSyn (Lowe et al., 2004). Increasing internal Ca^{2+} concentration via thapsigargin or Ca^{2+} ionophore treatment causes an increase in aggregate formation, while Ca^{2+} -chelators or Ca^{2+} channel inhibitors have the opposite effect (Danzer et al., 2007; Nath et al., 2011; Follett et al., 2013). The effect of Ca^{2+} on aSyn aggregation is mediated by the Ca^{2+} -activated protease, calpain, which cleaves the C-terminus of aSyn (Dufty et al., 2007; Nath et al., 2011). This has been confirmed *in vivo* by the overexpression of the calpain inhibitor, calpastatin,



which reduces PD-like symptoms and pathology in a mouse model of A30P aSyn overexpression (Diepenbroek et al., 2014). Additionally, an indirect effect of Ca^{2+} on aSyn aggregation can be mediated by disruptions in autophagy. As elevated Ca^{2+} leads to increased mitochondrial stress, it has been suggested that this adds demand to proteostasis systems by necessitating increased mitochondrial turnover. This process then reduces cell's capacity to degrade aSyn, leading to aSyn aggregation (Surmeier and Schumacker, 2013).

aSyn AND DA

Due to the toxic potential of DA, it is not surprising that multiple cellular mechanisms exist to regulate its cytosolic concentration. It has been suggested that neuromelanin biosynthesis acts as one of the mechanisms for regulating toxic DA by-products by sequestering them into autophagic vacuoles (Sulzer and Zecca, 2000). Similarly, oxidized derivatives of both DA and NE are found in LC-derived neuromelanin (Wakamatsu et al., 2015). Other mechanisms include feedback inhibition of DA synthesis, catabolic DA cleavage and synaptic vesicle sequestration.

Catecholamines are synthesized from the non-essential amino acid tyrosine by a series of enzymatic reactions. In the first, rate-limiting step, tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) attaches a hydroxyl group to the aromatic ring of tyrosine, forming L-DOPA. TH activity is regulated on transcriptional, translational and posttranslational levels (Goldstein and Lieberman, 1992; Kumer and Vrana, 1996; Fitzpatrick, 2000; Daubner et al., 2011), including phosphorylation-dependent activation of TH by various kinases and its inhibition by DA, which limits DA production when its cytosolic concentration increases. The second enzyme in DA biosynthesis, aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylaze (AADC), converts L-DOPA to DA. AADC activity can also be regulated by second messenger systems to decrease DA production when its extracellular concentration increases (Hadjiconstantinou and Neff, 2008). aSyn has been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with both TH (Perez et al., 2002) and AADC (Tehranian et al., 2006), and this interaction leads to decreased phosphorylation and activity of both enzymes. Decreased TH activity in the presence of aSyn overexpression depended on aSyn phosphorylation at Ser129 residue (Lou et al., 2010), which was modulated by the activity of protein phosphatase 2A (Peng et al., 2005). These data suggest that a loss of soluble aSyn due to reduced expression or aggregation may increase catecholamine synthesis.

Intracellular catecholamine catabolism starts with the cleavage by monoamine oxidase (MAO), which is localized at the outer mitochondrial membrane (Schnaitman et al., 1967), and produces two highly reactive compounds, hydrogen peroxide and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde (DOPAL) (or 3,4-dihydroxyphenylglycolaldehyde for NE) (Richter, 1937). This is followed by the oxidation by aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) to 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetate (DOPAC) and 3,4dihydroxyphenylglycol (DHPG), correspondingly. Although ALDH activity-there are both cytosolic and mitochondrial isoforms of this enzyme (Marchitti et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2014; Doorn et al., 2014) - is very high, possible neurotoxicity of the aldehyde metabolites of amines was predicted 60 years ago due to their extremely reactive nature (Blaschko, 1952). Indeed, the presence of DOPAL and its metabolites has been demonstrated both in vitro and in vivo (Burke et al., 2004; Goldstein et al., 2014). Additionally, a line of mice that are deficient for ALDH1a1 and ALDH2, the cytosolic and the mitochondrial isoforms expressed in SNpc DA neurons (Mccaffery and Drager, 1994; Galter et al., 2003), showed age-dependent, L-DOPA-responsive deficits in motor performance, significant increases in biogenic aldehydes and a loss of SNpc DA neurons (Wey et al., 2012), confirming that impaired detoxification of biogenic aldehydes may cause PD-like degeneration.

Finally, sequestration and compartmentalization of DA inside secretory vesicles is achieved via the activity of vesicular monoamine transporters (VMAT). The enzyme responsible for the conversion of DA to NE in noradrenergic neurons, dopamine beta-hydroxylase, is located in the lumen and the membrane of synaptic vesicles. Moreover, the acidic pH of vesicles prevents auto-oxidation of DA and NE, allowing high vesicular neurotransmitter concentrations without the formation of reactive species. Importantly, synaptic vesicle membrane is "leaky" and *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated that leakage of catecholamines from storage vesicles is the primary source of their catabolism in the cytosol (Goldstein et al., 1988; Halbrugge et al., 1989; Tyce et al., 1995).

High cytosolic DA levels following L-DOPA treatment have been shown to induce selective SNpc neuron degeneration and the formation of neuromelanin (Sulzer et al., 2000), whereas increased loading of DA from cytosol to vesicles following overexpression of vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) provides neuroprotection from L-DOPA (Mosharov et al., 2009). Consistent with this, higher levels of neuromelanin are found in SNpc neurons that degenerate in PD (Zucca et al., 2014). Striatal DA synaptic vesicles from PD patients were also found to have lower levels of VMAT2 (Pifl et al., 2014), although as these patients were almost certainly treated with L-DOPA, a decrease in VMAT expression could be a compensatory response rather than a cause of PD.

Oxidized DA and other catecholamines are able to interact with aSyn, producing DA-modified aSyn, which is less likely to fibrilize and instead forms soluble oligomers (Conway et al., 2001; Rochet et al., 2004). This interaction is non-covalent, reversible and occurs at the Y₁₂₅EMPS₁₂₉ pentapeptide in the C-terminal region of α-Syn with an additional long-range electrostatic interaction with E83 in the nAC region (Figure 1, in yellow) (Mazzulli et al., 2007; Herrera et al., 2008). Using fluorescencelifetime imaging microscopy to monitor the relative position of the N- and C- terminals of aSyn, it was shown that DA induces a conformation where the termini are closer together, which may inhibit fibril formation (Outeiro et al., 2009). Additionally, DOPAL may cross-link aSyn lysine residues, also facilitating its aggregation (Werner-Allen et al., 2016). Intracellular aSyn oligomeric species can be cytotoxic by a variety of mechanisms, including permeabilization of vesicular and plasma membranes by pore-forming fibrils (Ding et al., 2002; Gosavi et al., 2002; Lashuel et al., 2002; Mosharov et al., 2006), disruption of proteasomal protein clearance, chronic ER stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and inhibition of SNARE complex formation and neurotransmitter release (Rochet et al., 2004; Ebrahimi-Fakhari et al., 2011; Choi et al., 2013; Kalia et al., 2013; Zaltieri et al., 2015).

Monomeric DA-aSyn, however, may also be toxic by interfering with protein degradation via a lysosomal pathway called chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) (Cuervo et al., 2004, 2010). CMA cytosolic substrates contain a KFERQ-like

motif that can be recognized by the chaperone protein cyt-Hsc70 that delivers them to a lysosomal associated membrane protein (LAMP2A). LAMP2A forms a translocation complex once bound to a substrate and the unfolded protein crosses into the lysosomal lumen where it can be degraded. While aSyn, oxidized aSyn, and a phosphomimetic S129E aSyn mutant show similar LAMP2A binding levels, lysosomal uptake of the latter is significantly diminished. DA-aSyn demonstrates a similar CMA profile when compared to phosphorylated aSyn in that it binds to the lysosome without evidence of translocation. Furthermore, unlike phosphorylated aSyn, DA-aSyn blocks both the binding and uptake of a CMA substrate GAPDH, suggesting stronger binding to LAMP2A. A mutation in the DA-interacting region of aSyn (Y125EMPS129 to F125AAFA129) nullifies the effect, further demonstrating that the interaction of DA and oxidized forms of DA with aSyn leads to this change in CMA. In primary neuronal cultures, the same CMA blockade was demonstrated after exposure to a high dose of L-DOPA, but not in neurons derived from aSyn null animals (Martinez-Vicente et al., 2008).

A hypothesis that decreased uptake of DA into synaptic vesicles should lead to PD-like nigrostriatal neurodegeneration due to increased cytosolic transmitter levels was examined in mice that displayed a 95% reduction of VMAT2 expression due to a hypomorphic allele (Caudle et al., 2007). Surprisingly, the first generation of these mice (VMAT2-deficient KA1 line Mooslehner et al., 2001) did not show any PD phenotype, despite an \sim 85% reduction in brain levels of DA, NE and serotonin and their increased turnover. It was subsequently discovered, however, that this mouse line had a spontaneous deletion of the SNCA gene (Specht and Schoepfer, 2001; Colebrooke et al., 2006). After further breeding to reintroduce the wild-type aSyn gene, the resulting VMAT2-LO mice showed signs of PD-like progressive neurodegeneration, including L-DOPA-responsive motor deficits, oxidative stress and protein damage, decreased DA, DAT, and TH levels in the striatum, and pathological accumulations of aSyn and a reduced number of DA neurons in the SNpc (Caudle et al., 2007; Taylor et al., 2011). Overall, the VMAT2-LO mouse model not only demonstrated that a reduced capacity of cells to sequester cytosolic DA is sufficient to cause PD-like degeneration of neurons and their axonal projections, but also that this effect requires the presence of aSyn.

Another recent study investigated the toxic interaction between aSyn and DA *in vivo* by combining a common familial PD aSyn mutation with elevated cytosolic DA (Mor et al., 2017). Mice that overexpress PD mutant A53T aSyn were injected with a lentivirus containing TH with an R₃₇R₃₈ to E₃₇E₃₈ mutation. This mutation leads to a loss of feedback inhibition of TH by DA, resulting in increased neurotransmitter production in the cytosol (Nakashima et al., 2002). Elevation of cellular DA levels induced progressive motor impairment accompanied by nigrostriatal degeneration and increased formation of aSyn oligomers in A53T aSyn overexpressing mice but not in WT. Furthermore, in *Caenorhabditis elegans* overexpressing A53T aSyn, DA toxicity was prevented if DA-interacting residues of aSyn were mutated (Mor et al., 2017). Overall, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* data suggest that DA and aSyn have a synergetic effect on toxicity and that decreasing the levels of either of the compounds is neuroprotective.

aSyn, DA AND Ca²⁺

 Ca^{2+} levels positively regulate the activity of both TH and AADC, providing a direct connection between synaptic activity and DA synthesis. However, because of Ca^{2+} -driven pacemaking in SNpc and LC neurons, elevated levels of Ca²⁺ also lead to chronically increased cytosolic catecholamine levels. In agreement with this, L-DOPA treatment produces higher concentration of cytosolic catecholamines in cultured SNpc (Mosharov et al., 2009) and LC (unpublished data) compared to VTA neurons, which translated into higher susceptibility of these neurons to L-DOPA-induced degeneration. The difference between these cell types was normalized by pharmacological or genetic blockade of the LTCCs, confirming their role in selective PD-like neurodegeneration. Importantly, deletion of aSyn also protected SNpc neurons from L-DOPA-induced toxicity without changing cytosolic DA concentration, demonstrated that the levels of Ca^{2+} , DA and aSyn are equally important for toxicity.

Using the same model system, we recently investigated metabolic changes in neurons exposed to the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPP⁺ (Lieberman et al., 2017). Similar to the difference observed *in vivo* described above, a significantly higher level of toxicity was observed in cultured SNpc than VTA neurons. In MPP⁺-treated SNpc, but not VTA

neurons, neurotoxicity was caused by a transient increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺ that required the activity of LTCCs and ryanodine receptors. Combined with MPP+-mediated inhibition of DA cleavage by MAO (Choi et al., 2015), this caused upregulation of cytosolic DA and nitric oxide levels, mitochondria oxidation, and ER stress. As with L-DOPA toxicity, SNpc neurons from aSyn deficient mice were significantly more resistant to MPP+. Thus, in two different toxicity models we found that selective death of SNpc neurons results from a combination of "multiple hits," including the activity of the LTCCs that create high basal cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels, an upregulation of DA synthesis and the presence of aSyn. Similar upregulation of Ca²⁺/NO with concomitant mitochondria oxidative stress was demonstrated in LC neurons (Sanchez-Padilla et al., 2014) and SN neurons exposed to preformed aSyn fibrils (Dryanovski et al., 2013), indicating that this pathway may be commonly activated under stress conditions.

A recent study of DA- and aSyn-mediated toxicity in human idiopathic and familial iPSC-derived DA neurons from patients with a DJ-1 mutation (PARK7) provided more evidence for the involvement of multiple factors in mediating PD-like neurotoxicity (Burbulla et al., 2017). The authors identified a DA- and Ca²⁺-dependent toxic cascade that started with mitochondrial oxidative stress leading to lysosomal dysfunction and aSyn accumulation. Interestingly, this toxicity pathway was not present in DJ-1 deficient mice or mouse iPSC-derived



DA neurons generated from DJ-1 KO fibroblasts unless either DA production or aSyn expression was increased. Underlying species-specific differences may therefore explain the difficulties of creating an appropriate mouse model of PD.

CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

At the center of PD pathology is aSyn, which tends to form soluble oligomers and insoluble fibrils. Oligomerization is increased with increased Ca2+ or DA levels, while aSyn oligomers are able to increase internal Ca²⁺ and DA concentrations, forming a potential positive feedback cycle. Furthermore, DA-modified aSyn blocks CMA-mediated protein degradation, potentially causing a buildup of monomeric aSyn that then aggregates into more oligomers (Figure 2). These interactions demonstrate the precarious nature of SNpc and LC neuron health as, if one aspect of the homeostatic processes goes awry, the feedback loops activate and neurotoxicity ensues. Importantly, in this model it is possible to initiate the pathological sequence of events that lead to neurodegeneration by diverse insults, including elevation of Ca²⁺ levels, increased cytosolic DA unrelated to Ca²⁺-dependent regulation, mutation or overexpression of a-Syn, inhibition of CMA activity due to aging (Schneider et al., 2014, 2015), the presence of other parkinsonian mutations or other possible mechanisms.

Therapeutically, this hypothesis provides several avenues to pursue the disease-modifying opportunities as decreasing the levels of any one of these key toxicity mediators should be beneficial for the survival of SNpc and LC neurons. Previous work has demonstrated the utility of immunotherapy to reduce aSyn levels in the CNS (Masliah et al., 2005) and prevent

REFERENCES

- Alvarez-Fischer, D., Henze, C., Strenzke, C., Westrich, J., Ferger, B., Hoglinger, G. U., et al. (2008). Characterization of the striatal 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease in wild type and alpha-synuclein-deleted mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 210, 182–193. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.10.012
- Angelova, P. R., Ludtmann, M. H., Horrocks, M. H., Negoda, A., Cremades, N., Klenerman, D., et al. (2016). Ca²⁺ is a key factor in alpha-synucleininduced neurotoxicity. *J. Cell Sci.* 129, 1792–1801. doi: 10.1242/jcs.1 80737
- Baba, M., Nakajo, S., Tu, P. H., Tomita, T., Nakaya, K., Lee, V. M., et al. (1998). Aggregation of alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies of sporadic Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *Am. J. Pathol.* 152, 879–884.
- Bae, E. J., Lee, H. J., Rockenstein, E., Ho, D. H., Park, E. B., Yang, N. Y., et al. (2012). Antibody-aided clearance of extracellular alpha-synuclein prevents cell-to-cell aggregate transmission. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 13454–13469. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1292-12.2012
- Bartels, T., Choi, J. G., and Selkoe, D. J. (2011). alpha-Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. *Nature* 477, 107–110. doi: 10.1038/nature10324
- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P., and Edwards, R. H. (2013). The function of alphasynuclein. *Neuron* 79, 1044–1066. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Bhagwandin, A., Gravett, N., Bennett, N. C., and Manger, P. R. (2013). Distribution of parvalbumin, calbindin and calretinin containing neurons and terminal networks in relation to sleep associated nuclei in the brain of the giant

possible trans-synaptic spread of toxic aSyn species (Bae et al., 2012). A retrospective analysis demonstrated that the use of dihydropyridines correlates with decreased probability of developing PD (Pasternak et al., 2012), and an LTCC antagonist isradipine is currently in phase III clinical trials as a diseasemodifying therapy for PD (Swart and Hurley, 2016). Combining these approaches with drugs that reduce toxic DA species might provide additional benefits. One important future focus will be the development of diagnostic tools to enable earlier diseasemodifying treatments and stratification of patient populations to enhance beneficial outcomes. The level of aSyn peripherally and in the CNS (Malek et al., 2014) as well as the status of DA homeostasis (Niethammer et al., 2012) are currently the focus of studies aimed at developing bioassays and imaging approaches to identify pre-symptomatic PD cases with defined patho-physiologies to give "personalized" treatments.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MP, OL, and EM gave their substantial contribution to conception and design of the manuscript, its drafting and revising it critically. All authors have approved the manuscript in its present form for publication and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Supported by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (Grants NS075222 to EM) and the National Institute of Mental Health (F30MH114390 to OL and T32MH20004 to MP). We thank David Sulzer and Maha Subramaniam for their help during the preparation of the manuscript and Ellen Kanter for invaluable assistance.

Zambian mole-rat (Fukomys mechowii). J. Chem. Neuroanat. 52, 69-79. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2013.06.002

- Blaschko, H. (1952). Amine oxidase and amine metabolism. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 4, 415–458.
- Bourdenx, M., Bezard, E., and Dehay, B. (2014). Lysosomes and alpha-synuclein form a dangerous duet leading to neuronal cell death. *Front. Neuroanat.* 8:83. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2014.00083
- Braak, H., Braak, E., Yilmazer, D., Schultz, C., de Vos, R. A., and Jansen, E. N. (1995). Nigral and extranigral pathology in Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. (Suppl. 46), 15–31.
- Burbulla, L. F., Song, P., Mazzulli, J. R., Zampese, E., Wong, Y. C., Jeon, S., et al. (2017). Dopamine oxidation mediates mitochondrial and lysosomal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Science* 357, 1255–1261. doi: 10.1126/science.aam9080
- Burke, W. J., Li, S. W., Chung, H. D., Ruggiero, D. A., Kristal, B. S., Johnson, E. M., et al. (2004). Neurotoxicity of MAO metabolites of catecholamine neurotransmitters: role in neurodegenerative diseases. *Neurotoxicology* 25, 101–115. doi: 10.1016/S0161-813X(03)00090-1
- Burre, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Sudhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Science 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227
- Cali, T., Ottolini, D., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2012). alpha-synuclein controls mitochondrial calcium homeostasis by enhancing endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria interactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 17914–17929. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.302794

- Caraveo, G., Auluck, P. K., Whitesell, L., Chung, C. Y., Baru, V., Mosharov, E. V., et al. (2014). Calcineurin determines toxic versus beneficial responses to alpha-synuclein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E3544–E3552. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1413201111
- Caudle, W. M., Richardson, J. R., Wang, M. Z., Taylor, T. N., Guillot, T. S., Mccormack, A. L., et al. (2007). Reduced vesicular storage of dopamine causes progressive nigrostriatal neurodegeneration. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 8138–8148. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0319-07.2007
- Chan, C. S., Guzman, J. N., Ilijic, E., Mercer, J. N., Rick, C., Tkatch, T., et al. (2007). 'Rejuvenation' protects neurons in mouse models of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* 447, 1081–1086. doi: 10.1038/nature05865
- Chang, D., Nalls, M. A., Hallgrimsdottir, I. B., Hunkapiller, J., Van Der Brug, M., Cai, F., et al. (2017). A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies 17 new Parkinson's disease risk loci. *Nat. Genet.* 49, 1511–1516. doi: 10.1038/ng.3955
- Chen, C. H., Ferreira, J. C., Gross, E. R., and Mochly-Rosen, D. (2014). Targeting aldehyde dehydrogenase 2: new therapeutic opportunities. *Physiol. Rev.* 94, 1–34. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00017.2013
- Chen, L., Ding, Y., Cagniard, B., Van Laar, A. D., Mortimer, A., Chi, W., et al. (2008). Unregulated cytosolic dopamine causes neurodegeneration associated with oxidative stress in mice. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 425–433. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3602-07.2008
- Choi, B. K., Choi, M. G., Kim, J. Y., Yang, Y., Lai, Y., Kweon, D. H., et al. (2013). Large alpha-synuclein oligomers inhibit neuronal SNAREmediated vesicle docking. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 4087–4092. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1218424110
- Choi, S. J., Panhelainen, A., Schmitz, Y., Larsen, K. E., Kanter, E., Wu, M., et al. (2015). Changes in neuronal dopamine homeostasis following 1methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP+) exposure. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 6799–6809. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.631556
- Chung, C. Y., Khurana, V., Yi, S., Sahni, N., Loh, K. H., Auluck, P. K., et al. (2017). In situ peroxidase labeling and mass-spectrometry connects alpha-synuclein directly to endocytic trafficking and mRNA metabolism in neurons. Cell Syst. 4, 242–250. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2017.01.002
- Colebrooke, R. E., Humby, T., Lynch, P. J., Mcgowan, D. P., Xia, J., and Emson, P. C. (2006). Age-related decline in striatal dopamine content and motor performance occurs in the absence of nigral cell loss in a genetic mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 24, 2622–2630. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05143.x
- Collier, T. J., Redmond, D. E. Jr., Steece-Collier, K., Lipton, J. W., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016). Is alpha-synuclein loss-of-function a contributor to Parkinsonian pathology? Evidence from non-human primates. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:12. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00012
- Collins, M. A., and Bigdeli, M. G. (1975). Tetrahydroisoquinolines *in vivo*. I. Rat brain formation of salsolinol, a condensation product of dopamine and acetaldehyde, under certain conditions during ethanol intoxication. *Life Sci.* 16, 585–601.
- Conway, K. A., Rochet, J. C., Bieganski, R. M., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2001). Kinetic stabilization of the alpha-synuclein protofibril by a dopamine-alphasynuclein adduct. *Science* 294, 1346–1349. doi: 10.1126/science.1063522
- Cuervo, A. M., Stefanis, L., Fredenburg, R., Lansbury Pt, J., and Sulzer, D. (2004). Impaired degradation of mutant alpha-synuclein by chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Science* 305, 1292–1295. doi: 10.1126/science.1101738
- Cuervo, A. M., Wong, E. S., and Martinez-Vicente, M. (2010). Protein degradation, aggregation, and misfolding. *Mov. Disord.* 25(Suppl. 1), S49–S54. doi: 10.1002/mds.22718
- Danzer, K. M., Haasen, D., Karow, A. R., Moussaud, S., Habeck, M., Giese, A., et al. (2007). Different species of alpha-synuclein oligomers induce calcium influx and seeding. J. Neurosci. 27, 9220–9232. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2617-07.2007
- Daubner, S. C., Le, T., and Wang, S. (2011). Tyrosine hydroxylase and regulation of dopamine synthesis. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 508, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2010.12.017
- Dauer, W., Kholodilov, N., Vila, M., Trillat, A. C., Goodchild, R., Larsen, K. E., et al. (2002). Resistance of alpha -synuclein null mice to the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPTP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 14524–14529. doi: 10.1073/pnas.172514599

- Daveu, C., Servy, C., Dendane, M., Marin, P., and Ducrocq, C. (1997). Oxidation and nitration of catecholamines by nitrogen oxides derived from nitric oxide. *Nitric Oxide* 1, 234–243. doi: 10.1006/niox.1997.0123
- Deitrich, R., and Erwin, V. (1980). Biogenic amine-aldehyde condensation products: tetrahydroisoquinolines and tryptolines (beta-carbolines). Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 20, 55–80. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pa.20.040180.000415
- De Lau, L. M., and Breteler, M. M. (2006). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 5, 525-535. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70471-9
- Diepenbroek, M., Casadei, N., Esmer, H., Saido, T. C., Takano, J., Kahle, P. J., et al. (2014). Overexpression of the calpain-specific inhibitor calpastatin reduces human alpha-Synuclein processing, aggregation and synaptic impairment in [A30P]alphaSyn transgenic mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 3975–3989. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu112
- Di Maio, R., Barrett, P. J., Hoffman, E. K., Barrett, C. W., Zharikov, A., Borah, A., et al. (2016). alpha-Synuclein binds to TOM20 and inhibits mitochondrial protein import in Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 8:342ra378. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf3634
- Ding, T. T., Lee, S. J., Rochet, J. C., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2002). Annular alphasynuclein protofibrils are produced when spherical protofibrils are incubated in solution or bound to brain-derived membranes. *Biochemistry* 41, 10209–10217. doi: 10.1021/bi020139h
- Doorn, J. A., Florang, V. R., Schamp, J. H., and Vanle, B. C. (2014). Aldehyde dehydrogenase inhibition generates a reactive dopamine metabolite autotoxic to dopamine neurons. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 20(Suppl. 1), S73–S75. doi: 10.1016/S1353-8020(13)70019-1
- Dragicevic, E., Poetschke, C., Duda, J., Schlaudraff, F., Lammel, S., Schiemann, J., et al. (2014). Cav1.3 channels control D2-autoreceptor responses via NCS-1 in substantia nigra dopamine neurons. *Brain* 137, 2287–2302. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu131
- Dryanovski, D. I., Guzman, J. N., Xie, Z., Galteri, D. J., Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Lee, V. M., et al. (2013). Calcium entry and alpha-synuclein inclusions elevate dendritic mitochondrial oxidant stress in dopaminergic neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 10154–10164. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5311-12.2013
- Duda, J., Potschke, C., and Liss, B. (2016). Converging roles of ion channels, calcium, metabolic stress, and activity pattern of Substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons in health and Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 139(Suppl. 1), 156–178. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13572
- Dufty, B. M., Warner, L. R., Hou, S. T., Jiang, S. X., Gomez-Isla, T., Leenhouts, K. M., et al. (2007). Calpain-cleavage of alpha-synuclein: connecting proteolytic processing to disease-linked aggregation. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 1725–1738. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.061232
- Ebrahimi-Fakhari, D., Cantuti-Castelvetri, I., Fan, Z., Rockenstein, E., Masliah, E., Hyman, B. T., et al. (2011). Distinct roles *in vivo* for the ubiquitin-proteasome system and the autophagy-lysosomal pathway in the degradation of alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 14508–14520. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1560-11.2011
- Edwards, R. H. (1993). Neural degeneration and the transport of neurotransmitters. *Ann. Neurol.* 34, 638–645. doi: 10.1002/ana.410340504
- Eriksen, J. L., Przedborski, S., and Petrucelli, L. (2005). Gene dosage and pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Trends Mol. Med.* 11, 91–96. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2005.01.001
- Exner, N., Lutz, A. K., Haass, C., and Winklhofer, K. F. (2012). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological consequences. *EMBO J.* 31, 3038–3062. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.170
- Fahn, S., Oakes, D., Shoulson, I., Kieburtz, K., Rudolph, A., Lang, A., et al. (2004). Levodopa and the progression of Parkinson's disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 351, 2498–2508. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa033447
- Fitzpatrick, P. F. (2000). The aromatic amino acid hydroxylases. Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol. 74, 235–294. doi: 10.1002/9780470123201.ch6
- Follett, J., Darlow, B., Wong, M. B., Goodwin, J., and Pountney, D. L. (2013). Potassium depolarization and raised calcium induces alpha-synuclein aggregates. *Neurotox. Res.* 23, 378–392. doi: 10.1007/s12640-012-9366-z
- Fornstedt, B., Brun, A., Rosengren, E., and Carlsson, A. (1989). The apparent autoxidation rate of catechols in dopamine-rich regions of human brains increases with the degree of depigmentation of substantia nigra. *J. Neural Transm. Park. Dis. Dement. Sect.* 1, 279–295. doi: 10.1007/BF02263482

- Fu, Y., Yuan, Y., Halliday, G., Rusznak, Z., Watson, C., and Paxinos, G. (2012). A cytoarchitectonic and chemoarchitectonic analysis of the dopamine cell groups in the substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area, and retrorubral field in the mouse. Brain Struct. Funct. 217, 591-612. doi: 10.1007/s00429-011-0349-2
- Fuentes, P., Paris, I., Nassif, M., Caviedes, P., and Segura-Aguilar, J. (2007). Inhibition of VMAT-2 and DT-diaphorase induce cell death in a substantia nigra-derived cell line-an experimental cell model for dopamine toxicity studies. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 20, 776-783. doi: 10.1021/tx600325u
- Fujiwara, H., Hasegawa, M., Dohmae, N., Kawashima, A., Masliah, E., Goldberg, M. S., et al. (2002). alpha-Synuclein is phosphorylated in synucleinopathy lesions. Nat. Cell Biol. 4, 160-164. doi: 10.1038/ncb748
- Gainetdinov, R. R., Fumagalli, F., Wang, Y. M., Jones, S. R., Levey, A. I., Miller, G. W., et al. (1998). Increased MPTP neurotoxicity in vesicular monoamine transporter 2 heterozygote knockout mice. J. Neurochem. 70, 1973-1978. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1998.70051973.x
- Galter, D., Buervenich, S., Carmine, A., Anvret, M., and Olson, L. (2003). ALDH1 mRNA: presence in human dopamine neurons and decreases in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease and in the ventral tegmental area in schizophrenia. Neurobiol. Dis. 14, 637-647. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2003.09.001
- Goedert, M., Spillantini, M. G., Del Tredici, K., and Braak, H. (2013). 100 years of Lewy pathology. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 9, 13-24. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.242
- Goldberg, J. A., Guzman, J. N., Estep, C. M., Ilijic, E., Kondapalli, J., Sanchez-Padilla, J., et al. (2012). Calcium entry induces mitochondrial oxidant stress in vagal neurons at risk in Parkinson's disease. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1414-1421. doi: 10.1038/nn.3209
- Goldstein, D. S., Eisenhofer, G., Stull, R., Folio, C. J., Keiser, H. R., and Kopin, I. J. (1988). Plasma dihydroxyphenylglycol and the intraneuronal disposition of norepinephrine in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 213-220. doi: 10.1172/JCI113298
- Goldstein, D. S., Kopin, I. J., and Sharabi, Y. (2014). Catecholamine autotoxicity. Implications for pharmacology and therapeutics of Parkinson disease and related disorders. Pharmacol Ther. 144, 268-282. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.06.006
- Goldstein, M., and Lieberman, A. (1992). The role of the regulatory enzymes of catecholamine synthesis in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 42, 8-12.
- Gosavi, N., Lee, H. J., Lee, J. S., Patel, S., and Lee, S. J. (2002). Golgi fragmentation occurs in the cells with prefibrillar alpha-synuclein aggregates and precedes the formation of fibrillar inclusion. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 48984-48992. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208194200
- Graham, D. G. (1978). Oxidative pathways for catecholamines in the genesis of neuromelanin and cytotoxic quinones. Mol. Pharmacol. 14, 633-643.
- Guardia-Laguarta, C., Area-Gomez, E., Rub, C., Liu, Y., Magrane, J., Becker, D., et al. (2014), alpha-Synuclein is localized to mitochondria-associated ER membranes. J. Neurosci. 34, 249-259. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2507-13.2014
- Hadjiconstantinou, M., and Neff, N. H. (2008). Enhancing aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase activity: implications for L-DOPA treatment in Parkinson's disease. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 14, 340-351. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-5949.2008.00058.x
- Halbrugge, T., Wolfel, R., and Graefe, K. H. (1989). Plasma 3,4dihydroxyphenylglycol as a tool to assess the role of neuronal uptake in the anaesthetized rabbit. Naunyn Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol. 340, 726-732. doi: 10.1007/BF00169681
- Hastings, T. G., and Berman, S. B. (1999). "Dopamine-induced toxicity and quinone modification of proteins: implications for Parkinson's disease," in Role of Catechol Quinone Species in Cellular Toxicity, ed C.R. Creveling (Johnson City, TN: F.P. Graham Publishing, Inc.), 69-89.
- Herrera, F. E., Chesi, A., Paleologou, K. E., Schmid, A., Munoz, A., Vendruscolo, M., et al. (2008). Inhibition of alpha-synuclein fibrillization by dopamine is mediated by interactions with five C-terminal residues and with E83 in the NAC region. PLoS ONE 3:e3394. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003394
- Hetzenauer, A., Sinnegger-Brauns, M. J., Striessnig, J., and Singewald, N. (2006). Brain activation pattern induced by stimulation of L-type $\mathrm{Ca}^{2+}\text{-channels:}$ contribution of Ca(V)1.3 and Ca(V)1.2 isoforms. Neuroscience 139, 1005-1015. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.01.059
- Hirsch, E., Graybiel, A. M., and Agid, Y. A. (1988). Melanized dopaminergic neurons are differentially susceptible to degeneration in Parkinson's disease. Nature 334, 345-348. doi: 10.1038/334345a0
- Holford, N. H., Chan, P. L., Nutt, J. G., Kieburtz, K., and Shoulson, I. (2006). Disease progression and pharmacodynamics in Parkinson disease - evidence

for functional protection with levodopa and other treatments. J. Pharmacokinet. Pharmacodyn. 33, 281-311. doi: 10.1007/s10928-006-9012-6

- Hopp, S. C., Royer, S. E., D'angelo, H. M., Kaercher, R. M., Fisher, D. A., and Wenk, G. L. (2015). Differential neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects of Ltype voltage dependent calcium channel and ryanodine receptor antagonists in the substantia nigra and locus coeruleus. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 10, 35-44. doi: 10.1007/s11481-014-9568-7
- Hurley, M. J., and Dexter, D. T. (2012). Voltage-gated calcium channels and Parkinson's disease. Pharmacol. Ther. 133, 324-333. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.11.006
- Imaizumi, T., Yamashita, K., Taima, K., Ishikawa, A., Yoshida, H., and Satoh, K. (2005). Effect of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma ligands on the expression of retinoic acid-inducible gene-I in endothelial cells stimulated with lipopolysaccharide. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat. 78, 46-54. doi: 10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2005.02.006
- Kalia, L. V., Kalia, S. K., Mclean, P. J., Lozano, A. M., and Lang, A. E. (2013). alpha-Synuclein oligomers and clinical implications for Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 73, 155-169. doi: 10.1002/ana.23746
- Kumer, S. C., and Vrana, K. E. (1996). Intricate regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase activity and gene expression. J. Neurochem. 67, 443-462. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.67020443.x
- Lang, A. E., and Lozano, A. M. (1998). Parkinson's disease. Second of two parts. N. Engl. J. Med. 339, 1130-1143. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199810153391607
- Larsen, K. E., Schmitz, Y., Troyer, M. D., Mosharov, E., Dietrich, P., Quazi, A. Z., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein overexpression in PC12 and chromaffin cells impairs catecholamine release by interfering with a late step in exocytosis. J. Neurosci. 26, 11915-11922. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3821-06.2006
- Lashuel, H. A., Petre, B. M., Wall, J., Simon, M., Nowak, R. J., Walz, T., et al. (2002). Alpha-synuclein, especially the Parkinson's disease-associated mutants, forms pore-like annular and tubular protofibrils. J. Mol. Biol. 322, 1089-1102. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(02)00735-0
- Lewitt, P. A. (2015). Levodopa therapy for Parkinson's disease: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Mov. Disord. 30, 64-72. doi: 10.1002/mds.26082
- Li, H. T., Du, H. N., Tang, L., Hu, J., and Hu, H. Y. (2002). Structural transformation and aggregation of human alpha-synuclein in trifluoroethanol: non-amyloid component sequence is essential and beta-sheet formation is prerequisite to aggregation. Biopolymers 64, 221-226. doi: 10.1002/bip.10179
- Lieberman, O. J., Choi, S. J., Kanter, E., Saverchenko, A., Frier, M. D., Fiore, G. M., et al. (2017). Alpha-synuclein-dependent calcium entry underlies differential sensitivity of cultured, S. N., and VTA dopaminergic neurons to a Parkinsonian Neurotoxin. eNeuro 4:ENEURO.0167-17.2017. doi: 10 1523/ENEURO 0167-17 2017
- Liu, Y., Harding, M., Pittman, A., Dore, J., Striessnig, J., Rajadhyaksha, A., et al. (2014). Cav1.2 and Cav1.3 L-type calcium channels regulate dopaminergic firing activity in the mouse ventral tegmental area. J. Neurophysiol. 112, 1119-1130. doi: 10.1152/jn.00757.2013
- Lohr, K. M., Bernstein, A. I., Stout, K. A., Dunn, A. R., Lazo, C. R., Alter, S. P., et al. (2014). Increased vesicular monoamine transporter enhances dopamine release and opposes Parkinson disease-related neurodegeneration in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 9977-9982. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402134111
- Lotharius, J., and Brundin, P. (2002). Impaired dopamine storage resulting from alpha-synuclein mutations may contribute to the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11, 2395-2407. doi: 10.1093/hmg/11. 20.2395
- Lou, H., Montoya, S. E., Alerte, T. N., Wang, J., Wu, J., Peng, X., et al. (2010). Serine 129 phosphorylation reduces the ability of alpha-synuclein to regulate tyrosine hydroxylase and protein phosphatase 2A in vitro and in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 17648-17661. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.100867
- Lowe, R., Pountney, D. L., Jensen, P. H., Gai, W. P., and Voelcker, N. H. (2004). Calcium(II) selectively induces alpha-synuclein annular oligomers via interaction with the C-terminal domain. Protein Sci. 13, 3245-3252. doi: 10.1110/ps.04879704
- Malek, N., Swallow, D., Grosset, K. A., Anichtchik, O., Spillantini, M., and Grosset, D. G. (2014). Alpha-synuclein in peripheral tissues and body fluids as a biomarker for Parkinson's disease - a systematic review. Acta Neurol. Scand. 130, 59-72. doi: 10.1111/ane.12247
- Marchitti, S. A., Deitrich, R. A., and Vasiliou, V. (2007). Neurotoxicity and metabolism of the catecholamine-derived 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde

and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylglycolaldehyde: the role of aldehyde dehydrogenase. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 59, 125–150. doi: 10.1124/pr.59.2.1

- Martinez-Vicente, M., Talloczy, Z., Kaushik, S., Massey, A. C., Mazzulli, J., Mosharov, E. V., et al. (2008). Dopamine-modified alpha-synuclein blocks chaperone-mediated autophagy. J. Clin. Invest. 118, 777–788. doi: 10.1172/JCI32806
- Masilamoni, G. J., Bogenpohl, J. W., Alagille, D., Delevich, K., Tamagnan, G., Votaw, J. R., et al. (2011). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist protects dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons from degeneration in MPTP-treated monkeys. *Brain* 134, 2057–2073. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr137
- Masliah, E., Rockenstein, E., Adame, A., Alford, M., Crews, L., Hashimoto, M., et al. (2005). Effects of alpha-synuclein immunization in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 46, 857–868. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.05.010
- Matschke, L. A., Bertoune, M., Roeper, J., Snutch, T. P., Oertel, W. H., Rinne, S., et al. (2015). A concerted action of L- and T-type Ca(2+) channels regulates locus coeruleus pacemaking. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 68, 293–302. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2015.08.012
- Matsuda, W., Furuta, T., Nakamura, K. C., Hioki, H., Fujiyama, F., Arai, R., et al. (2009). Single nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons form widely spread and highly dense axonal arborizations in the neostriatum. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 444–453. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4029-08.2009
- Mazzulli, J. R., Armakola, M., Dumoulin, M., Parastatidis, I., and Ischiropoulos, H. (2007). Cellular oligomerization of alpha-synuclein is determined by the interaction of oxidized catechols with a C-terminal sequence. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 31621–31630. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704737200
- Mccaffery, P., and Drager, U. C. (1994). High levels of a retinoic acid-generating dehydrogenase in the meso-telencephalic dopamine system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 7772–7776. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.16.7772
- Michel, P. P., Hirsch, E. C., and Hunot, S. (2016). Understanding dopaminergic cell death pathways in Parkinson disease. *Neuron* 90, 675–691. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.03.038
- Mironov, S. L. (2015). alpha-Synuclein forms non-selective cation channels and stimulates ATP-sensitive potassium channels in hippocampal neurons. J. Physiol. 593, 145–159. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.280974
- Mittal, S., Bjornevik, K., Im, D. S., Flierl, A., Dong, X., Locascio, J. J., et al. (2017). beta2-Adrenoreceptor is a regulator of the alpha-synuclein gene driving risk of Parkinson's disease. *Science* 357, 891–898. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf3934
- Montine, T. J., Farris, D. B., and Graham, D. G. (1995). Covalent crosslinking of neurofilament proteins by oxidized catechols as a potential mechanism of Lewy body formation. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 54, 311–319. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199505000-00004
- Mooslehner, K. A., Chan, P. M., Xu, W., Liu, L., Smadja, C., Humby, T., et al. (2001). Mice with very low expression of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 gene survive into adulthood: potential mouse model for parkinsonism. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 5321–5331. doi: 10.1128/MCB.21.16.5321-5331.2001
- Mor, D. E., Tsika, E., Mazzulli, J. R., Gould, N. S., Kim, H., Daniels, M. J., et al. (2017). Dopamine induces soluble alpha-synuclein oligomers and nigrostriatal degeneration. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 1560–1568. doi: 10.1038/nn.4641
- Mosharov, E. V., Larsen, K. E., Kanter, E., Phillips, K. A., Wilson, K., Schmitz, Y., et al. (2009). Interplay between cytosolic dopamine, calcium, and alphasynuclein causes selective death of substantia nigra neurons. *Neuron* 62, 218–229. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.01.033
- Mosharov, E. V., Staal, R. G., Bove, J., Prou, D., Hananiya, A., Markov, D., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein overexpression increases cytosolic catecholamine concentration. J. Neurosci. 26, 9304–9311. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0519-06.2006
- Mytilineou, C., Han, S. K., and Cohen, G. (1993). Toxic and protective effects of L-DOPA on mesencephalic cell cultures. *J. Neurochem.* 61, 1470–1478. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1993.tb13642.x
- Nakashima, A., Kaneko, Y. S., Mori, K., Fujiwara, K., Tsugu, T., Suzuki, T., et al. (2002). The mutation of two amino acid residues in the Nterminus of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) dramatically enhances the catalytic activity in neuroendocrine AtT-20 cells. J. Neurochem. 82, 202–206. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00921.x
- Naoi, M., Dostert, P., Yoshida, M., and Nagatsu, T. (1993). N-methylated tetrahydroisoquinolines as dopaminergic neurotoxins. *Adv. Neurol.* 60, 212–217.

- Nath, S., Goodwin, J., Engelborghs, Y., and Pountney, D. L. (2011). Raised calcium promotes alpha-synuclein aggregate formation. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 46, 516–526. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2010.12.004
- Nemani, V. M., Lu, W., Berge, V., Nakamura, K., Onoa, B., Lee, M. K., et al. (2010). Increased expression of alpha-synuclein reduces neurotransmitter release by inhibiting synaptic vesicle reclustering after endocytosis. *Neuron* 65, 66–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.12.023
- Niethammer, M., Feigin, A., and Eidelberg, D. (2012). Functional neuroimaging in Parkinson's disease. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a009274. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009274
- Olanow, C. W. (2015). Levodopa: effect on cell death and the natural history of Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 37–44. doi: 10.1002/mds.26119
- Olanow, C. W., Agid, Y., Mizuno, Y., Albanese, A., Bonuccelli, U., Damier, P., et al. (2004). Levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease: current controversies. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 997–1005. doi: 10.1002/mds.20243
- Ottolini, D., Cali, T., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2013). The Parkinson diseaserelated protein DJ-1 counteracts mitochondrial impairment induced by the tumour suppressor protein p53 by enhancing endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria tethering. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2152–2168. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt068
- Ottolini, D., Cali, T., Szabo, I., and Brini, M. (2017). Alpha-synuclein at the intracellular and the extracellular side: functional and dysfunctional implications. *Biol. Chem.* 398, 77–100. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2016-0201
- Outeiro, T. F., Klucken, J., Bercury, K., Tetzlaff, J., Putcha, P., Oliveira, L. M., et al. (2009). Dopamine-induced conformational changes in alpha-synuclein. *PLoS ONE* 4:e6906. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006906
- Pardo, B., Mena, M. A., Casarejos, M. J., Paino, C. L., and De Yebenes, J. G. (1995). Toxic effects of L-DOPA on mesencephalic cell cultures: protection with antioxidants. *Brain Res.* 682, 133–143. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(95)00341-M
- Pasternak, B., Svanstrom, H., Nielsen, N. M., Fugger, L., Melbye, M., and Hviid, A. (2012). Use of calcium channel blockers and Parkinson's disease. Am. J. Epidemiol. 175, 627–635. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr362
- Peng, X., Tehranian, R., Dietrich, P., Stefanis, L., and Perez, R. G. (2005). Alpha-synuclein activation of protein phosphatase 2A reduces tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation in dopaminergic cells. J. Cell Sci. 118, 3523–3530. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02481
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F., and Zigmond, M. J., (2002). A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 3090–3099.
- Perier, C., Bove, J., and Vila, M. (2012). Mitochondria and programmed cell death in Parkinson's disease: apoptosis and beyond. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 16, 883–895. doi: 10.1089/ars.2011.4074
- Pifl, C., Rajput, A., Reither, H., Blesa, J., Cavada, C., Obeso, J. A., et al. (2014). Is Parkinson's disease a vesicular dopamine storage disorder? Evidence from a study in isolated synaptic vesicles of human and nonhuman primate striatum. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 8210–8218. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5456-13.2014
- Rcom-H'cheo-Gauthier, A., Goodwin, J., and Pountney, D. L. (2014). Interactions between calcium and alpha-synuclein in neurodegeneration. *Biomolecules* 4, 795–811. doi: 10.3390/biom4030795
- Richter, D. (1937). Adrenaline and amine oxidase. *Biochem. J.* 31, 2022–2028. doi: 10.1042/bj0312022
- Rochet, J. C., Outeiro, T. F., Conway, K. A., Ding, T. T., Volles, M. J., Lashuel, H. A., et al. (2004). Interactions among alpha-synuclein, dopamine, and biomembranes: some clues for understanding neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. J. Mol. Neurosci. 23, 23–34. doi: 10.1385/JMN:23:1-2:023
- Ronzitti, G., Bucci, G., Emanuele, M., Leo, D., Sotnikova, T. D., Mus, L. V., et al. (2014). Exogenous alpha-synuclein decreases raft partitioning of Cav2.2 channels inducing dopamine release. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 10603–10615. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0608-14.2014
- Sanchez-Padilla, J., Guzman, J. N., Ilijic, E., Kondapalli, J., Galtieri, D. J., Yang, B., et al. (2014). Mitochondrial oxidant stress in locus coeruleus is regulated by activity and nitric oxide synthase. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 832–840. doi: 10.1038/nn.3717
- Schmitz, Y., Lee, C. J., Schmauss, C., Gonon, F., and Sulzer, D. (2001). Amphetamine distorts stimulation-dependent dopamine overflow: effects on D2 autoreceptors, transporters, and synaptic vesicle stores. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 5916–5924.

- Schnaitman, C., Erwin, V. G., and Greenawalt, J. W. (1967). The submitochondrial localization of monoamine oxidase. An enzymatic marker for the outer membrane of rat liver mitochondria. *J. Cell. Biol.* 32, 719–735. doi: 10.1083/jcb.32.3.719
- Schneider, J. L., Suh, Y., and Cuervo, A. M. (2014). Deficient chaperone-mediated autophagy in liver leads to metabolic dysregulation. *Cell Metab.* 20, 417–432. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.06.009
- Schneider, J. L., Villarroya, J., Diaz-Carretero, A., Patel, B., Urbanska, A. M., Thi, M. M., et al. (2015). Loss of hepatic chaperone-mediated autophagy accelerates proteostasis failure in aging. *Aging Cell* 14, 249–264. doi: 10.1111/acel.12310
- Simon-Sanchez, J., Schulte, C., Bras, J. M., Sharma, M., Gibbs, J. R., Berg, D., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals genetic risk underlying Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1308–1312. doi: 10.1038/ng.487
- Specht, C. G., and Schoepfer, R. (2001). Deletion of the alpha-synuclein locus in a subpopulation of C57BL/6J inbred mice. BMC Neurosci. 2:11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-2-11
- Spencer, J. P., Whiteman, M., Jenner, P., and Halliwell, B. (2002). 5-s-Cysteinylconjugates of catecholamines induce cell damage, extensive DNA base modification and increases in caspase-3 activity in neurons. *J. Neurochem.* 81, 122–129. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00808.x
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Stefanis, L. (2012). Alpha-Synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a009399. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009399
- Subramaniam, M., Althof, D., Gispert, S., Schwenk, J., Auburger, G., Kulik, A., et al. (2014). Mutant alpha-synuclein enhances firing frequencies in dopamine substantia nigra neurons by oxidative impairment of A-type potassium channels. J. Neurosci. 34, 13586–13599. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5069-13.2014
- Sulzer, D., Bogulavsky, J., Larsen, K. E., Behr, G., Karatekin, E., Kleinman, M. H., et al. (2000). Neuromelanin biosynthesis is driven by excess cytosolic catecholamines not accumulated by synaptic vesicles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 97, 11869–11874. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.22.11869
- Sulzer, D., and Zecca, L. (2000). Intraneuronal dopamine-quinone synthesis: a review. Neurotox. Res. 1, 181–195. doi: 10.1007/BF03033289
- Surmeier, D. J., Guzman, J. N., Sanchez-Padilla, J., and Goldberg, J. A. (2010). What causes the death of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease? *Prog. Brain Res.* 183, 59–77. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10)83004-3
- Surmeier, D. J., Obeso, J. A., and Halliday, G. M. (2017a). Selective neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 101–113. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.178
- Surmeier, D. J., and Schumacker, P. T. (2013). Calcium, bioenergetics, and neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 10736–10741. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R112.410530
- Surmeier, D. J., Schumacker, P. T., Guzman, J. D., Ilijic, E., Yang, B., and Zampese, E. (2017b). Calcium and Parkinson's disease. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 483, 1013–1019. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.168
- Swart, T., and Hurley, M. J. (2016). Calcium channel antagonists as diseasemodifying therapy for Parkinson's disease: therapeutic rationale and current status. CNS Drugs 30, 1127–1135. doi: 10.1007/s40263-016-0393-9
- Swirski, M., Miners, J. S., De Silva, R., Lashley, T., Ling, H., Holton, J., et al. (2014). Evaluating the relationship between amyloid-beta and alpha-synuclein phosphorylated at Ser129 in dementia with Lewy bodies and Parkinson's disease. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 6:77. doi: 10.1186/s13195-014-0077-y
- Taylor, T. N., Caudle, W. M., and Miller, G. W. (2011). VMAT2-deficient mice display nigral and extranigral pathology and motor and nonmotor symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsons Dis.* 2011:124165. doi: 10.4061/2011/124165
- Tehranian, R., Montoya, S. E., Van Laar, A. D., Hastings, T. G., and Perez, R. G. (2006). Alpha-synuclein inhibits aromatic amino acid decarboxylase activity in dopaminergic cells. *J. Neurochem.* 99, 1188–1196. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04146.x
- Tofaris, G. K., Garcia Reitbock, P., Humby, T., Lambourne, S. L., O'connell, M., Ghetti, B., et al. (2006). Pathological changes in dopaminergic nerve cells of the substantia nigra and olfactory bulb in mice transgenic for truncated human alpha-synuclein(1-120): implications for Lewy body disorders. J. Neurosci. 26, 3942–3950. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4965-05.2006

- Tyce, G. M., Hunter, L. W., Ward, L. E., and Rorie, D. K. (1995). Effluxes of 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine, 3,4-dihydroxyphenylglycol, and norepinephrine from four blood vessels during basal conditions and during nerve stimulation. *J. Neurochem.* 64, 833–841. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1995.64020833.x
- Uhl, G. R. (1998). Hypothesis: the role of dopaminergic transporters in selective vulnerability of cells in Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 43, 555–560. doi: 10.1002/ana.410430503
- Ulmer, T. S., Bax, A., Cole, N. B., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2005). Structure and dynamics of micelle-bound human alpha-synuclein. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 9595–9603. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411805200
- Van Dijk, K. D., Berendse, H. W., Drukarch, B., Fratantoni, S. A., Pham, T. V., Piersma, S. R., et al. (2012). The proteome of the locus ceruleus in Parkinson's disease: relevance to pathogenesis. *Brain Pathol.* 22, 485–498. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2011.00540.x
- Vauzour, D., Ravaioli, G., Vafeiadou, K., Rodriguez-Mateos, A., Angeloni, C., and Spencer, J. P. (2008). Peroxynitrite induced formation of the neurotoxins 5-S-cysteinyl-dopamine and DHBT-1: implications for Parkinson's disease and protection by polyphenols. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 476, 145–151. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2008.03.011
- Wakamatsu, K., Tabuchi, K., Ojika, M., Zucca, F. A., Zecca, L., and Ito, S. (2015). Norepinephrine and its metabolites are involved in the synthesis of neuromelanin derived from the locus coeruleus. *J. Neurochem.* 135, 768–776. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13237
- Werner-Allen, J. W., Dumond, J. F., Levine, R. L., and Bax, A. (2016). Toxic dopamine metabolite DOPAL forms an unexpected dicatechol pyrrole adduct with lysines of alpha-Synuclein. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl.* 55, 7374–7378. doi: 10.1002/anie.201600277
- Wey, M. C., Fernandez, E., Martinez, P. A., Sullivan, P., Goldstein, D. S., and Strong, R. (2012). Neurodegeneration and motor dysfunction in mice lacking cytosolic and mitochondrial aldehyde dehydrogenases: implications for Parkinson's disease. *PLoS ONE* 7:e31522. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 31522
- Xu, J., Kao, S. Y., Lee, F. J., Song, W., Jin, L. W., and Yankner, B. A. (2002). Dopamine-dependent neurotoxicity of alpha-synuclein: a mechanism for selective neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Med.* 8, 600–606. doi: 10.1038/nm0602-600
- Yamada, T., Mcgeer, P. L., Baimbridge, K. G., and Mcgeer, E. G. (1990). Relative sparing in Parkinson's disease of substantia nigra dopamine neurons containing calbindin-D28K. *Brain Res.* 526, 303–307. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(90)91236-A
- Zaichick, S. V., Mcgrath, K. M., and Caraveo, G. (2017). The role of Ca(2+) signaling in Parkinson's disease. *Dis. Model. Mech.* 10, 519–535. doi: 10.1242/dmm.028738
- Zaltieri, M., Longhena, F., Pizzi, M., Missale, C., Spano, P., and Bellucci, A. (2015). Mitochondrial dysfunction and alpha-synuclein synaptic pathology in Parkinson's disease: who's on first? *Parkinsons Dis.* 2015:108029. doi: 10.1155/2015/108029
- Zhang, F., and Dryhurst, G. (1994). Effects of L-cysteine on the oxidation chemistry of dopamine: new reaction pathways of potential relevance to idiopathic Parkinson's disease. J. Med. Chem. 37, 1084–1098. doi: 10.1021/jm00034a006
- Zhou, Q., Yen, A., Rymarczyk, G., Asai, H., Trengrove, C., Aziz, N., et al. (2016). Impairment of PARK14-dependent Ca(2+) signalling is a novel determinant of Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10332. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10332
- Zucca, F. A., Basso, E., Cupaioli, F. A., Ferrari, E., Sulzer, D., Casella, L., et al. (2014). Neuromelanin of the human substantia nigra: an update. *Neurotox. Res.* 25, 13–23. doi: 10.1007/s12640-013-9435-y

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Post, Lieberman and Mosharov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





In Situ Proximity Ligation Assay Reveals Co-Localization of Alpha-Synuclein and SNARE Proteins in Murine Primary Neurons

Leire Almandoz-Gil, Emma Persson, Veronica Lindström, Martin Ingelsson, Anna Erlandsson and Joakim Bergström*

Department of Public Health and Caring Sciences, Molecular Geriatrics, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fredric P. Manfredsson, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Luigi Bubacco, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy Alino Martinez-Marcos, Universidad de Castilla-La Mancha, Spain Geert Van Den Bogaart, Radboud University Nijmegen, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Joakim Bergström joakim.bergstrom@pubcare.uu.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 22 December 2017 Accepted: 07 March 2018 Published: 22 March 2018

Citation:

Almandoz-Gil L, Persson E, Lindström V, Ingelsson M, Erlandsson A and Bergström J (2018) In Situ Proximity Ligation Assay Reveals Co-Localization of Alpha-Synuclein and SNARE Proteins in Murine Primary Neurons. Front. Neurol. 9:180. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00180 The aggregation of alpha-synuclein (α Syn) is the pathological hallmark of Parkinson's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies and related neurological disorders. However, the physiological function of the protein and how this function relates to its pathological effects remain poorly understood. One of the proposed roles of α Syn is to promote the soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) complex assembly by binding to VAMP-2. The objective of this study was to visualize the colocalization between αSyn and the SNARE proteins (VAMP-2, SNAP-25, and syntaxin-1) for the first time using in situ proximity ligation assay (PLA). Cortical primary neurons were cultured from either non-transgenic or transgenic mice expressing human α Syn with the A30P mutation under the Thy-1 promoter. With an antibody recognizing both mouse and human α Syn, a PLA signal indicating close proximity between α Syn and the three SNARE proteins was observed both in the soma and throughout the processes. No differences in the extent of PLA signals were seen between non-transgenic and transgenic neurons. With an antibody specific against human α Syn, the PLA signal was mostly located to the soma and was only present in a few cells. Taken together, in situ PLA is a method that can be used to investigate the co-localization of α Syn and the SNARE proteins in primary neuronal cultures.

Keywords: alpha-synuclein, SNARE, VAMP-2, SNAP-25, syntaxin-1, proximity ligation assay, primary neurons

INTRODUCTION

Alpha-synuclein (α Syn) is a presynaptic protein implicated in the pathology of Parkinson's disease (PD), dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) and multiple system atrophy. In its native state α Syn is an unfolded monomer, but under certain circumstances it can adopt a partly folded conformation and start an aggregation cascade, resulting in oligomers of increasing sizes and finally insoluble fibrils (1). The resulting inclusions, known as Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites, are the pathological hallmark of PD and related diseases (2). The presence of these inclusions is not enough to explain the neurodegeneration in the actual disorders, as the amount of Lewy bodies does not correlate with disease severity (3, 4). It has been suggested instead that smaller α Syn aggregates can cause synaptic dysfunction and loss of synapses. For example, up to 90% of all α Syn aggregates have been described to be located at the synapses in DLB brains with an associated loss of presynaptic proteins (5).

51

The physiological function of a Syn has remained unclear, but due to its presynaptic localization and interactions with membrane lipids (6) it has been hypothesized that it might play a role in neurotransmitter release. Recently, α Syn has been reported to chaperone the assembly of the soluble N-ethylmaleimidesensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE) complex by interacting with VAMP-2 (7). The SNARE proteins are critical for neurotransmitter release, as their assembly into a complex promotes the fusion of synaptic vesicles to the presynaptic membrane. They are classified in two groups: vesicle-SNAREs (v-SNAREs), which are bound to synaptic vesicles, i.e., VAMP-2, and the target-SNAREs (t-SNAREs), which are bound to the presynaptic membrane, i.e., SNAP-25 and syntaxin-1. When v-SNAREs and t-SNAREs assemble into a complex, the membranes fuse (8). Experimental evidence suggests that alpha-synuclein directly binds the N-terminus of VAMP-2 (1-28) with its C-terminus (96-140)(9).

It is unknown if the interaction between α Syn and the SNARE proteins is affected in PD and other α -synucleinopathies. Previous studies on mouse models for such disorders have shown that a 1–120 truncated α Syn can cause the redistribution of VAMP-2, SNAP-25, and syntaxin-1 in the synapse (10). One of the most widely studied α Syn transgenic (tg) models expresses human α Syn (h- α Syn) containing the point mutation A30P, which has been found to cause PD in humans (11). The tg A30P α Syn mice present PD-like motor symptoms at around 8 months of age and there are abundant α Syn aggregates found throughout the brainstem and midbrain (12–15). The motor symptoms have been associated with an increase in soluble α Syn protofibrils in the spinal cord (16). However, it is unknown whether the interaction between α Syn and the SNARE proteins is affected in these mice.

Interaction between two proteins in either cells or tissues can be visualized with the proximity ligation assay (PLA) (17). With this technique, the protein partners are targeted with two primary antibodies raised in different species and a pair of oligonucleotide labeled secondary antibodies (PLA probes). If the proteins of interest are located in close proximity to each other, two circularization oligonucleotides will be hybridized to the PLA probes and then ligated together, forming a circular DNA strand which will be the template for a rolling circle amplification step. Fluorescently labeled oligonucleotides will then be added and hybridized with the concatemeric construct.

In this study, we used PLA to investigate the molecular interaction between α Syn and the SNARE proteins in cortical primary neurons from non-tg and tg (Thy-1)-h[A30P] α Syn mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

All animal experiments were approved by the animal ethics committee of Uppsala, Sweden (C75/13, C92/14). The use and care of the animals were conducted in accordance with the EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments. C57BL/6 and Tg (Thy-1)-h[A30P] α Syn mice pregnant females were used for the extraction of E14 embryos. Non-transgenic (C57BL/6) mice were obtained from Jackson laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA).

Cortical Primary Neuron Cultures

Cortices from E14 embryos were dissected in Hank's buffered salt solution supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, and 8 mM HEPES buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Approximately 90,000 cells/ml were plated on poly-L-ornithine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and laminin coated (Thermo Fisher Scientific) cover slips. Cells were grown in neurobasal medium supplemented with B27, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, and L-glutamine 2 mM (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The cells were maintained at 37°C, 5% CO₂, until they were fixated with paraformaldehyde 4% 12 days later.

Cell Lysis

The cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail tablet (PIC, cOmplete, EDTA-free, Roche, Basel, Switzerland) and scraped. After centrifugation at 2,000 × g for 5 min, the lysis was performed incubating the cells in PBS with PIC and 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich) for 5 min. After centrifuging at 16,000 × g for 5 min, the supernatant was saved.

Sandwich Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay

A 96-well high-binding polystyrene plate (Corning Inc., Corning, NY, USA) was coated with 50 ng/well of either mouse monoclonal clone 42/alpha-synuclein antibody (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) for total (i.e., m-aSyn and h-aSyn) α Syn detection or mouse monoclonal 4B12 anti- α Syn antibody (Eurogentec, Osaka, Japan) for detection of h-aSyn and was incubated at 4°C overnight. After blocking the plate for 2 h with PBS supplemented with 1% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich), the primary neuron lysates were incubated for 2 h at room temperature, together with serial dilutions of recombinant monomeric α Syn as a standard. Next the detection antibody FL-140 (Santa Cruz Biotechnologies, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) was incubated for 1 h at room temperature at 1 µg/ml, followed by 1 h incubation of goat-anti-rabbit-HRP secondary antibody at 1:10,000 at room temperature. The reaction was developed with K-Blue Aqueous TMB substrate (Neogen Corporation, Lexington, KY, USA) and 1 M sulfuric acid (Sigma-Aldrich). Between every step 5× washes were performed with washing buffer (6.5 mM sodium dihydrogen phosphate monohydrate, 43.5 mM di-sodium hydrogen phosphate dihydrate, 0.3 M sodium chloride, and 0.1% Tween-20) in a HydroSpeed microplate washer (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland). The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using an Infinite M200 Pro microplate reader (Tecan). The reactions were performed in duplicates and their signal was averaged. The blank signal was deducted from the sample signal.

Antibodies

The following antibodies were used for the immunofluorescence and PLA experiments, with the same concentration for both techniques: mouse monoclonal mAb1338 recognizing both endogenous mouse α Syn (m- α Syn) and human α Syn (h- α Syn) at 4 μ g/ml (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), mouse monoclonal Syn 204 against h- α Syn at 4 μ g/ml (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit monoclonal EPR12790 against VAMP-2 at 2 μ g/ml (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), rabbit monoclonal EP3274 against SNAP-25 at 4 μ g/ml (Abcam), rabbit polyclonal against syntaxin-1 at 1:1,000 (ABR-Affinity Bioreagents, Golden, CO, USA), rabbit polyclonal AB5622 against microtubule associate protein MAP2 at 1:200 (Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA, USA), and rabbit monoclonal C39A9 against nucleoporin NUP98 at 1:50 (Cell Signaling Technologies, Danvers, MA, USA).

Immunofluorescence

Fixed cells were permeabilized and blocked with PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100 and 5% normal goat serum for 30 min at room temperature. The cells were incubated with primary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature in PBS with normal goat serum 0.5%. After three PBS washes, the cells were incubated with the secondary antibodies (goat anti-rabbit Alexa 488 or goat antimouse Alexa 594, Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 2 μ g/ml in PBS with normal goat serum 0.5% for 1 h at room temperature. After three PBS washes, the cover slips were mounted with Vectashield hard set mounting medium with DAPI (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA).

"In situ" PLA

The in situ PLA was performed on fixed primary neurons with DuoLink PLA technology probes and reagents (Sigma-Aldrich), and following the manufacturers protocol. First the neurons were permeabilized with PBS + Triton X-100 0.4% for 10 min. After two PBS washes, the cells were incubated with blocking solution for 30 min at 37°C and then with the primary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. Every experiment was performed with a pair of antibodies of different species. The cover slips were washed twice for 5 min with buffer A, followed by incubation with the PLA probes (secondary antibodies against two different species bound to two oligonucleotides: anti-mouse MINUS and antirabbit PLUS) in antibody diluent for 60 min at 37°C. After two washes of 5 min with buffer A, the ligation step was performed with ligase diluted in ligation stock for 30 min at 37°C. In the ligation step, the two oligonucleotides in the PLA probes are hybridized to the circularization oligonucleotides. The cells were washed with buffer A twice for 2 min before incubation for 100 min with amplification stock solution at 37°C. The amplification stock solution contains polymerase for the rolling circle amplification step and oligonucleotides labeled with fluorophores, which will bind to the product of the rolling circle amplification and thus allow detection. After two washes of 10 min with buffer B, the



cells were incubated with FITC-conjugated phalloidin (Sigma-Aldrich) at 1.25 μ g/ml. Finally, the cover slips were washed with PBS and mounted with Duolink *in situ* mounting medium containing DAPI. For every antibody, a negative control experiment was performed where only one antibody was incubated with the PLA probes. The experiments were performed three times on non-tg neurons and twice on tg neurons. Each experiment was performed with neurons originated from embryos of different mothers.

Microscopy and Image Analysis

Immunofluorescence staining was imaged with a Zeiss Axio Observer Z1 (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Quantification of $h-\alpha$ Syn positive cells was performed in 10 images of non-tg cells and 20 images of tg cells.

Proximity ligation assay imaging was performed with a confocal laser scanning microscope (LSM700, Zeiss). z-Stacks were captured with sections spanning entire cells. Zeiss software Zen 2.3 Blue edition was used to obtain maximum intensity projections and cross-sections of the confocal images. Quantification of PLA signal was performed on z-stack images taken systematically with a Zeiss Axio Observer Z1 microscope. Background signal was reduced by deconvolution using the Huygen software. Live cells with non-condensed nuclei were manually counted as number of neurons per image. The soma was manually outlined for each cell and number of puncta

per soma was counted with ImageJ 3D Objects Counter. The number of puncta in the processes was calculated by counting total number of puncta per image and subtracting number of puncta in the soma. The number of puncta was normalized by number of cells to obtain mean PLA puncta/cell. The threshold was set automatically using ImageJ 3D Objects Counter for each image and kept constant as the puncta in the soma were measured separately. Ten z-stack images were quantified per staining. The microscope settings were kept constant for all images to enable direct comparison. The quantification was performed on one set of experiments, when all stainings were performed at the same time. A sampling of the images is included as Figure S1 in Supplementary Material, with examples of the final thresholded images that were quantified. Quantification of cells with positive PLA signal between h-αSyn and SNARE proteins was performed manually in 10 images of tg cells.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism. Two-tailed Student's *t*-test was used to compare the amount of alpha-synuclein in cell lysates. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test was performed to compare the PLA puncta in soma/processes of non-tg and tg (Thy-1)-h[A30P] primary neurons.





RESULTS

The aim of this study was to visualize the co-localization between α Syn and SNARE proteins in non-transgenic primary neurons and primary neurons overexpressing A30P h- α Syn using PLA. First, we cultured cortical primary neurons of non-tg mouse embryos to observe the localization of mouse α Syn (m- α Syn) and the SNARE proteins, using conventional immunofluorescence. In addition to characterizing the expression pattern of the proteins of interest, it ensured that the antibodies were suitable candidates for PLA.

Antibody mAb1338 recognizes both m- α Syn and h- α Syn and can thus be used to detect total alpha-synuclein (t- α Syn). The α Syn staining was observed throughout the cell body and processes

(Figure 1A). Similarly, the SNARE proteins (VAMP-2, SNAP-25, and syntaxin-1) were abundantly expressed (Figure 1B-D), particularly in cell processes, where a more dotted pattern could be observed; presumably due to the presence in the synaptic boutons.

We next cultured cortical primary neurons from tg (Thy-1)h[A30P] α Syn mouse embryos and analyzed the expression and localization of m- α Syn and h- α Syn by ELISA on cell lysates and immunofluorescence (**Figure 2**). Human- α Syn was detected in lysates from A30P primary neurons, at a concentration of 600 pM and, as expected, not at all in non-tg primary neurons (**Figure 2A**). The levels of t- α Syn (m- α Syn in the case of non-tg neurons and both m- α Syn and h- α Syn in tg neurons) were found to be similar in both types of primary neurons, with h- α Syn constituting approximately 2% of all α Syn



FIGURE 3 | Representative confocal images of *in situ* proximity ligation assay (PLA) between alpha-synuclein (αSyn) (mAb1338) and VAMP-2 (red) in non-tg
 (A,B) and A30P (C,D) cortical primary neurons. Maximum intensity projections of a confocal z-stack including a whole cell were performed to observe the maximum amount of PLA puncta (A,C). Cross section of the processes allows visualization of the PLA puncta in an orthogonal view [(B,D), inlet], scale bar 20 µm.
 F-actin stained by phalloidin-FITC (green) and DAPI (blue). Quantification of amount of PLA puncta per cell in the soma and processes. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test, non-significant (ns), ****P* < 0.001. Error bars represent the SEM (E). Negative control PLA with VAMP-2 antibody only and αSyn antibody (mAb1338) only (F). Scale bar 20 µm.

detected in A30P primary neurons (**Figure 2B**). We performed immunofluorescence of the cultured A30P neurons with the h- α Syn-specific antibody Syn 204 and observed that 13% of the neurons expressed detectable levels of h- α Syn (**Figure 2C**). On the other hand, antibody mAb1338 against t- α Syn stained all A30P neurons, similarly to non-tg neurons, indicating that the distribution of m- α Syn was similar in both non-tg and tg neurons (**Figure 2D**). The h- α Syn was expressed mostly in the cell body and around the nucleus of the neurons, but rarely in processes (**Figure 2E**).

Next, we performed *in situ* PLA between α Syn and the three SNAREs in non-tg and A30P primary neurons. For these analyses, we used mAb1338 antibody, which recognized both m- α Syn and h- α Syn. Theoretically, each PLA dot is the result of

the close proximity of one molecule of α Syn and one molecule of one of the SNARE proteins. As a negative control to detect potential unspecific signal, we performed the assay removing one of the primary antibodies, thus one of the secondary antibodies will have no primary antibody to bind and subsequently no PLA signal will be generated.

Abundant PLA signal (red dots) was observed in both sets of primary neurons, indicating a close proximity between α Syn and VAMP-2 (**Figures 3A–D**). F-actin staining with phalloidin-FITC (green) was performed to observe the cytoskeleton of the neurons and locate the PLA puncta within the cell. Confocal images showed abundant PLA puncta in the processes (**Figures 3B,D**), a significantly higher number than those found in the soma (**Figure 3E**). No significant differences were found in the amount



FIGURE 4 | Representative confocal images of *in situ* proximity ligation assay (PLA) between alpha-synuclein (αSyn) (mAb1338) and SNAP-25 (red) in non-tg (**A**,**B**) and A30P (**C**,**D**) cortical primary neurons. Maximum intensity projections of a confocal z-stack including a whole cell were performed to observe the maximum amount of PLA puncta (**A**,**C**). Cross section of the processes allows visualization of the PLA puncta in an orthogonal view [(**B**,**D**), inlet], scale bar 20 µm. F-actin stained by phalloidin-FITC (green) and DAPI (blue). Quantification of amount of PLA puncta per cell in the soma and processes. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test, non-significant (ns), ****P* < 0.001. Error bars represent the SEM (**E**). Negative control PLA with SNAP-25 antibody only (**F**). Scale bar 20 µm.

of PLA puncta between non-tg and tg A30P α Syn neurons in either processes or the soma (**Figure 3E**). Very few PLA puncta were observed when the VAMP-2 and α Syn antibodies were used on their own, as negative controls (**Figure 3F**).

A PLA signal was also observed for α Syn and SNAP-25 (**Figures 4A–D**), and the distribution of the PLA puncta was similar to the α Syn and VAMP-2 PLA, where the PLA puncta were significantly more abundant in the processes than in the soma (**Figure 4E**). The amount of PLA puncta per cell was not significantly different between non-tg and tg cells (**Figure 4E**). Very low signals were observed in control experiments when SNAP-25 antibody was used alone in PLA (**Figure 4F**).

Proximity ligation assay against syntaxin-1 and α Syn produced a positive signal in both non-tg and tg neurons (Figures 5A–D),

but no differences were observed in the amount of PLA puncta between the two types of cells (**Figure 5E**). As expected due to the subcellular location of syntaxin-1 (**Figure 1D**), the puncta were significantly more abundant in the processes, compared with the soma (**Figure 5E**). Very few puncta were observed when the syntaxin-1 antibody was used alone in control experiments (**Figure 5F**).

To study the difference in distribution of the interaction between the SNAREs and m- α Syn or h- α Syn, respectively, we performed PLA with the h- α Syn specific antibody Syn 204 and VAMP-2, SNAP-25 and syntaxin-1 (**Figures 6A–F**). All three antibody combinations showed similar results: only a fraction of the cells were PLA positive, in agreement with what we observed with conventional immunofluorescence with Syn 204,



FIGURE 5 | Representative confocal images of *in situ* proximity ligation assay (PLA) between alpha-synuclein (α Syn) (mAb1338) and syntaxin-1 (red) in non-tg (**A**,**B**) and A30P (**C**,**D**) cortical primary neurons. Maximum intensity projections of a confocal z-stack including a whole cell were performed to observe the maximum amount of PLA puncta (**A**,**C**). Cross section of the processes allows visualization of the PLA puncta in an orthogonal view (**B**,**D**, inlet), scale bar 20 µm. F-actin stained by phalloidin-FITC (green) and DAPI (blue). Quantification of amount of PLA puncta per cell in the soma and processes. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test, non-significant (ns), ****P* < 0.001. Error bars represent the SEM (**E**) Negative control PLA with syntaxin-1 antibody only (**F**). Scale bar 50 µm.



where 13% of all cells expressed h- α Syn (**Figure 6G**). Most of the h- α Syn-SNARE PLA signal was observed in the neuronal body, with some rare instances where the signal could also be seen in processes. As expected, very few PLA puncta were observed in non-tg primary neurons with h- α Syn specific antibody Syn 204 (**Figure 6H**).

The nuclear pore complex protein NUP98 was used in PLA to further confirm that PLA signal is indicative of proximity between two proteins, as α Syn can be found in the nucleus (18, 19). First we performed immunofluorescence staining of the nuclear pore complex protein NUP98, which gave a perinuclear staining (**Figure 7A**). PLA with NUP98 and α Syn antibody mAb1338

only produced a few dots, indicating that those two proteins were not in close proximity to each other (**Figure 7B**). The results of the immunofluorescence staining and PLA were similar in non-tg and tg neurons.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we can for the first time visualize the co-localization between α Syn and the SNARE proteins in cultured primary neurons by using *in situ* PLA. Previous studies have demonstrated the use of PLA to study α Syn interacting with other proteins, such as the dopamine transporter and α Syn complexes in a tg mouse overexpressing α Syn 1–120 (20). Interactions with TOM20 (21) and the synaptic protein synapsin III (22, 23) have also been observed with PLA. In addition, PLA has been used to specifically detect oligomeric α Syn in brain tissue from PD patients (24).

Direct binding between proteins cannot be proven through *in situ* PLA, as the length of the probes and antibodies theoretically allows proteins with a proximity of up to 40 nm to give a positive PLA signal (25). However, Burré et al. showed that m- α Syn co-immunoprecipitates with VAMP-2, SNAP-25 and syntaxin-1 in brain lysates from non-transgenic mice (7). This observation

is indeed in agreement with our PLA results, in which we can see that α Syn is in close proximity to all three SNAREs in non-tg primary neurons, presumably due to its presynaptic localization and membrane binding properties. The PLA puncta were observed to a significantly higher degree in the neuronal processes, presumably indicating the location of synaptic boutons.

We did not observe any significant differences in PLA signal between α Syn and any of the SNARE proteins when comparing primary neurons from non-tg and A30P tg mice. This can be explained by the low amount of h- α Syn present in the tg primary neurons, which according to our ELISA analysis constituted about 2% of the total α Syn detected. This is in contrast to the twofold increase of h- α Syn relative m- α Syn levels observed in adult A30P tg mice (14). The reason for the discrepancy in expressed protein *in vivo* and *in vitro*, as well as for the predominant localization of h- α Syn to the soma, is probably due to the late expression of Thy-1 promoter in the primary neurons (26).

The A30P α Syn mutation exhibits a lower binding affinity for lipid membranes and has a reduced ability to promote SNARE complex formation, compared with wt α Syn and other disease-causing mutations (27, 28). Nevertheless, in the present study we could show that although the amount of h- α Syn positive cells was low (about 13%), positive PLA signals were observed between



h- α Syn and all three SNARE proteins. This could perhaps be explained by the finding that there is much smaller difference in relative binding affinity between A30P and wt h- α Syn for highly curved membranes such as synaptic vesicles (6).

Taken together, we can demonstrate that *in situ* PLA is a suitable technique for the study of α Syn co-localization with SNARE proteins in primary neurons. The finding of robust PLA signals between m- α Syn and all three SNARE proteins in the processes, suggests that non-tg primary neurons could be a useful model to study the physiological interaction between α Syn and presynaptic proteins.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments. The protocol was approved by the animal ethics committee of Uppsala, Sweden (C75/13, C92/14).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LA-G, EP, AE, and JB designed the experiments. LA-G, EP, and VL performed experiments. LA-G, EP, VL, MI, AE, and JB analyzed data. LA-G, EP, MI, and JB wrote the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Uversky VN, Li J, Fink AL. Evidence for a partially folded intermediate in alpha-synuclein fibril formation. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:10737–44. doi:10.1074/jbc.M010907200
- Spillantini MG, Schmidt ML, Lee VMY, Trojanowski JQ, Jakes R, Goedert M. Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* (1997) 388:839–40. doi:10.1038/ 42166
- Gómez-Tortosa E, Newell K, Irizarry MC, Albert M, Growdon JH, Hyman BT. Clinical and quantitative pathologic correlates of dementia with Lewy bodies. *Neurology* (1999) 53:1284–91. doi:10.1212/WNL.53.6.1284
- Jellinger KA. Neuropathology of sporadic Parkinson's disease: evaluation and changes of concepts. Mov Disord (2012) 27:8–30. doi:10.1002/mds.23795
- Kramer ML, Schulz-Schaeffer WJ. Presynaptic alpha-synuclein aggregates, not Lewy bodies, cause neurodegeneration in dementia with Lewy bodies. *J Neurosci* (2007) 27:1405–10. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4564-06.2007
- Middleton ER, Rhoades E. Effects of curvature and composition on αsynuclein binding to lipid vesicles. *Biophys J* (2010) 99:2279–88. doi:10.1016/j. bpj.2010.07.056
- Burré J, Sharma M, Tsetsenis T, Buchman V, Etherton MR, Südhof TC. Alphasynuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* (2010) 329:1663–7. doi:10.1126/science.1195227
- Söllner T, Whiteheart SW, Brunner M, Erdjument-Bromage H, Geromanos S, Tempst P, et al. SNAP receptors implicated in vesicle targeting and fusion. *Nature* (1993) 362:318–24. doi:10.1038/362318a0
- Burré J, Vivona S, Diao J, Sharma M, Brunger AT, Südhof TC. Properties of native brain α-synuclein. *Nature* (2013) 498:E4–6. doi:10.1038/nature12125
- Garcia-Reitböck P, Anichtchik O, Bellucci A, Iovino M, Ballini C, Fineberg E, et al. SNARE protein redistribution and synaptic failure in a transgenic mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Brain* (2010) 133:2032–44. doi:10.1093/ brain/awq132
- Krüger R, Kuhn W, Müller T, Woitalla D, Graeber M, Kösel S, et al. Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Nat Genet (1998) 18:106–8. doi:10.1038/ng0298-106
- Ekmark-Lewén S, Lindström V, Gumucio A, Ihse E, Behere A, Kahle PJ, et al. Early fine motor impairment and behavioral dysfunction in (Thy-1)h[A30P] alpha-synuclein mice. *Brain Behav* (2018). doi:10.1002/brb3.915
- Fagerqvist T, Lindström V, Nordström E, Lord A, Tucker SME, Su X, et al. Monoclonal antibodies selective for α-synuclein oligomers/protofibrils

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work was supported financially by grants from Marianne and Marcus Wallenberg Foundation, Swedish Alzheimer Foundation, Swedish Parkinson Foundation, Uppsala Berzelii Technology Center for Neurodiagnostics, Swedish Brain Foundation, Swedish Society of Medicine, Lennart and Christina Kalén, Stohne's Foundation, Åhlén Foundation, and Magnus Bergvall Foundation.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2018.00180/full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | *In situ* PLA (red) between alpha-synuclein (α Syn) and VAMP-2 (**A**), α Syn and SNAP-25 (**B**), and α Syn and syntaxin-1 (**C**). Sample maximum intensity projections of unprocessed images, which were used for quantification of *in situ* proximity ligation assay (PLA) between α Syn and SNAREs in non-tg and A30P cortical primary neurons [(**A**-**C**), upper panel]. The lower panels (**A**-**C**) display the red channel of the same images after deconvolution, and set to the same threshold as was used for the quantification. All PLA puncta from each plane were quantified with ImageJ 3D Objects Counter on deconvolved and thresholded z-stacks. DAPI in blue. Scale bar 20 µm.

recognize brain pathology in Lewy body disorders and α -synuclein transgenic mice with the disease-causing A30P mutation. *J Neurochem* (2013) 126:131–44. doi:10.1111/jnc.12175

- Kahle PJ, Neumann M, Ozmen L, Muller V, Jacobsen H, Schindzielorz A, et al. Subcellular localization of wild-type and Parkinson's disease-associated mutant alpha-synuclein in human and transgenic mouse brain. *J Neurosci* (2000) 20:6365–73.
- Schell H, Hasegawa T, Neumann M, Kahle PJ. Nuclear and neuritic distribution of serine-129 phosphorylated α-synuclein in transgenic mice. *Neuroscience* (2009) 160:796–804. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.03.002
- Lindström V, Fagerqvist T, Nordström E, Eriksson F, Lord A, Tucker S, et al. Immunotherapy targeting α-synuclein protofibrils reduced pathology in (Thy-1)-h[A30P] α-synuclein mice. *Neurobiol Dis* (2014) 69:134–43. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.05.009
- Söderberg O, Leuchowius KJ, Gullberg M, Jarvius M, Weibrecht I, Larsson LG, et al. Characterizing proteins and their interactions in cells and tissues using the in situ proximity ligation assay. *Methods* (2008) 45:227–32. doi:10.1016/j. ymeth.2008.06.014
- Maroteaux L, Campanelli JT, Scheller RH. Synuclein: a neuron-specific presynaptic nerve terminal protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J Neurosci* (1988) 8:2804–15.
- Yu S, Li X, Liu G, Han J, Zhang C, Li Y, et al. Extensive nuclear localization of alpha-synuclein in normal rat brain neurons revealed by a novel monoclonal antibody. *Neuroscience* (2007) 145:539–55. doi:10.1016/j. neuroscience.2006.12.028
- 20. Bellucci A, Navarria L, Falarti E, Zaltieri M, Bono F, Collo G, et al. Redistribution of DAT/ α -synuclein complexes visualized by "in situ" proximity ligation assay in transgenic mice modelling early Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e27959. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027959
- Di Maio R, Barrett PJ, Hoffman EK, Barrett CW, Zharikov A, Borah A, et al. Alpha-Synuclein binds to TOM20 and inhibits mitochondrial protein import in Parkinson's disease. *Sci Transl Med* (2016) 8:1–15. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaf3634
- Longhena F, Faustini G, Varanita T, Zaltieri M, Porrini V, Tessari I, et al. Synapsin III is a key component of alpha-synuclein fibrils in Lewy bodies of PD brains. *Brain Pathol* (2018). doi:10.1111/bpa.12587
- Zaltieri M, Grigoletto J, Longhena F, Navarria L, Favero G, Castrezzati S, et al. Alpha-synuclein and synapsin III cooperatively regulate synaptic function in dopamine neurons. J Cell Sci (2015) 128:2231–43. doi:10.1242/jcs.157867

- Roberts RF, Wade-Martins R, Alegre-Abarrategui J. Direct visualization of alpha-synuclein oligomers reveals previously undetected pathology in Parkinson's disease brain. *Brain* (2015) 138:1642–57. doi:10.1093/brain/ awv040
- Söderberg O, Gullberg M, Jarvius M, Ridderstråle K, Leuchowius KJ, Jarvius J, et al. Direct observation of individual endogenous protein complexes in situ by proximity ligation. *Nat Methods* (2006) 3:995–1000. doi:10.1038/ nmeth947
- Kollias G, Spanopoulou E, Grosveld F, Ritter M, Beech J, Morris R. Differential regulation of a Thy-1 gene in transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1987) 84:1492–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.84.6.1492
- Burré J, Sharma M, Südhof TC. Systematic mutagenesis of α-synuclein reveals distinct sequence requirements for physiological and pathological activities. *J Neurosci* (2012) 32:15227–42. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3545-12.2012
- Bussell R Jr, Eliezer D. Effects of Parkinson's disease-linked mutations on the structure of lipid-associated alpha-synuclein. *Biochemistry* (2004) 43: 4810–8. doi:10.1021/bi036135+

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Almandoz-Gil, Persson, Lindström, Ingelsson, Erlandsson and Bergström. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Close Encounter Between Alpha-Synuclein and Mitochondria

Mattia Vicario¹, Domenico Cieri¹, Marisa Brini² and Tito Calì^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Padova, Padova, Italy, ² Department of Biology, University of Padova, Padova, Italy, ³ Padova Neuroscience Center, University of Padova, Padova, Italy

The presynaptic protein alpha-synuclein (α -syn) is unequivocally linked to the development of Parkinson's disease (PD). Not only it is the major component of amyloid fibrils found in Lewy bodies but mutations and duplication/triplication in its gene are responsible for the onset of familial autosomal dominant forms of PD. Nevertheless, the precise mechanisms leading to neuronal degeneration are not fully understood. Several lines of evidence suggest that impaired autophagy clearance and mitochondrial dysfunctions such as bioenergetics and calcium handling defects and alteration in mitochondrial morphology might play a pivotal role in the etiology and progression of PD, and indicate the intriguing possibility that α -syn could be involved in the control of mitochondrial function both in physiological and pathological conditions. In favor of this, it has been shown that a fraction of cellular α -syn can selectively localize to mitochondrial sub-compartments upon specific stimuli, highlighting possible novel routes for α -syn action. A plethora of mitochondrial processes, including cytochrome c release, calcium homeostasis, control of mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP production, is directly influenced by a-syn. Eventually, a-syn localization within mitochondria may also account for its aggregation state, making the α -syn/mitochondria intimate relationship a potential key for the understanding of PD pathogenesis. Here, we will deeply survey the recent literature in the field by focusing our attention on the processes directly controlled by a-syn within mitochondrial sub-compartments and its potential partners providing possible hints for future therapeutic targets.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fredric P. Manfredsson, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Éva M. Szegő, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Germany Elizabeth A. Thomas, The Scripps Research Institute, United States

*Correspondence:

Tito Calì tito.cali@unipd.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 30 March 2018 Accepted: 22 May 2018 Published: 07 June 2018

Citation:

Vicario M, Cieri D, Brini M and Cali T (2018) The Close Encounter Between Alpha-Synuclein and Mitochondria. Front. Neurosci. 12:388. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00388 Keywords: alpha-synuclein, mitochondria, Parkinson disease, neurodegeneration, bioenergetics

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease, affecting more than 50000 people each year only in the US^{1,2}. Worldwide, more than 10 million people are estimated to suffer from PD. Clinically, the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta leads to motor dysfunction and the appearance of bradykinesia, resting tremor, rigidity and postural instability. Although some approved drugs alleviate the symptoms of PD, the disease is still incurable.

More than 90% of PD cases are sporadic. A small percentage, however, is due to mutations in specific genes. SNCA was the first gene to be associated to familial cases of PD

¹http://parkinson.org/Understanding-Parkinsons/Causes-and-Statistics/Statistics ²https://report.nih.gov/NIHfactsheets/ViewFactSheet.aspx?csid=109

(Polymeropoulos et al., 1997) and it encodes alpha-synuclein (α -syn), a small 14 kDa protein that was also found to accumulate in the Lewy bodies, the proteinaceous structures that mark the histopathology of PD (Spillantini et al., 1998). The 140 amino acids sequence of α -syn can be divided in three major regions (**Figure 1**): the amphipathic N-terminus, the hydrophobic central non-amyloid-beta component (NAC) and the acidic C-terminal domain.

The N-terminal domain is enriched in lysines and is characterized by the presence of 7 repeats of 11 residues each among which the KTKEGV motif is the core consensus sequence. The pathological mutations (A30P, A53E/T, E46K, G51D and H50Q) cluster in this domain, which is likely involved in the interaction with membranes. Indeed, the A30P mutation disrupts the interaction of α -syn with lipid rafts and causes the redistribution of α -syn in the axon (Jensen et al., 1998; Fortin et al., 2004). The NAC region was originally discovered in amyloid from the cortex of Alzheimer's disease patients (Ueda et al., 1993) and is essential for the aggregation of α -syn molecules, since deletions within this region abrogate the assembly of α -syn into filaments both in vitro and in intact cells (Giasson et al., 2001; Luk et al., 2009). The C-terminal tail displays many charged residues, lacks secondary structure bias and contains the pathologically relevant phosphorylation sites cluster.

The expression of α -syn is limited to the subphylum of vertebrates. It is highly expressed in both the central and peripheral nervous system and it is particularly enriched in the nerve terminal (Maroteaux et al., 1988; Yang et al., 2010; Vivacqua et al., 2011); at lower levels, it is also present in other tissues like hearth and muscles³.

The function of α -syn within the cell is still not completely clear, but its localization at presynaptic terminal reflects a role in synaptic transmission. α -syn co-localizes with synaptic vesicles and plays a role in the fast kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis, indeed, this process is impaired in $\alpha\beta\gamma$ -syn^{-/-} neurons and rescued by α -syn reintroduction (Lee et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008; Vargas et al., 2014). The number of presynaptic vesicles was reduced in cultured neurons from α -syn knockout mice (KO) as well as the size of synaptic puncta in $\alpha\beta\gamma$ -synuclein triple KO, (Cabin et al., 2002; Greten-Harrison et al., 2010). At the synapses, α -syn promoted the assembly of the SNARE complex by interacting with synaptobrevin 2 (VAMP2) and phospholipids through its C- and N- terminus, respectively (Burre et al., 2010).

In addition to its role at synapses, α -syn plays a role in the nucleus. Its name, indeed, reflects a nuclear localization (Maroteaux et al., 1988; Mori et al., 2002; Goncalves and Outeiro, 2013). Within the nucleus, α -syn affects the expression of several genes, including downregulation of major genes involved in DNA repair leading to increased levels of phosphorylated p53 and reduced levels of acetylated histone 3 (Paiva et al., 2017) and impaired neurogenesis by modulating Notch1 expression (Desplats et al., 2012). Interestingly, upon oxidative stress induction, α -syn nuclear localization increases and the protein binds to the promoter of several genes including PGC-1alpha, a transcription co-activator involved in metabolism and mitochondrial biogenesis (Siddiqui et al., 2012).

Either gene multiplications or point mutations in the SNCA gene are at the basis of familial dominantly inherited PD and result in the accumulation and aggregation of the protein in Lewy bodies within the brain (Conway et al., 1998; Pandey et al., 2006; Ghosh et al., 2013; Kara et al., 2014). The finding that gene multiplication is linked to PD suggests that α -syn expression level must be kept under tight control: when it reaches a specific threshold, wild type (wt) α -syn is sufficient *per se* to trigger PD, possibly as a consequence of augmented aggregation propensity. The issue of α -syn aggregation and conformational structure is deeply investigated, but controversial reports have appeared so far. The soluble form is a natively unfolded monomer with no defined secondary structure (Weinreb et al., 1996), but the first 100 residues are predicted to be structured in an α -helical conformation (George et al., 1995; Wang et al., 2011) that can be induced upon binding to lipids (Davidson et al., 1998). The NAC domain is responsible for α -syn aggregation: long-range hydrophobic interactions between the C-terminus and this region, as well as electrostatic interactions between the C- and the N-termini, prevent α -syn aggregation. Increases in temperature or the binding of polyamine have been shown to perturb these interactions favoring aggregation (Bertoncini et al., 2005). Recently, an aggregation resistant tetrameric structure of a-syn was described (Bartels et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011;Dettmer et al., 2013): evidence obtained in non-neuronal and neuronal cell cultures, brain tissue, living human cells and purified protein suggested that under non-denaturing conditions α -syn is a 58 kDa tetramer, whose formation is disturbed by the introduction of A30P, A53T, E46K, H50Q, and G51D PDrelated mutations (Dettmer et al., 2015). However, a different study performed on human, rat and mouse brains as well as on cell lines and *Escherichia coli* demonstrated that α -syn exists rather as a disordered monomer (Fauvet et al., 2012). All together, these findings indicate that multimeric α -syn can co-exists together with the monomeric protein in a dynamic equilibrium within the cell and, when the fraction of the unfolded monomer increases, the α -syn-mediated pathology is triggered (Dettmer et al., 2015).

Regardless of the monomeric or oligomeric nature of α -syn, its aggregation represents a key pathological feature of PD. Both oligomers and fibrils have been reported to have toxic effects on the functionality and the survival of neuronal cells. A better understanding of the physiological function of α -syn within the cell as well as of the mechanisms involved in its aggregation and propagation in the brain is essential to find new therapeutic approaches for PD. A lot of effort has been put in the last 5 years in the understanding of both the process of a-syn aggregation and the pathways responsible for aggregates elimination. Recently, a new mitochondria-mediated pathway that degrades cytosolic proteins prone to aggregation has been described in yeast and human cells. It has been named MAGIC (mitochondria as guardian in cytosol) and consists in the import of aggregation-prone proteins within mitochondria, where they will be degraded by mitochondrial

³https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000186868-MAPT/tissue



domains: the N-terminal amphipathic region, the non-amyloidogenic component (NAC) and the C-terminal acidic domain. The N-terminal domain drives α -syn to mitochondria thanks to the presence of seven positively charged lysine residues (indicated as +) and contains all the PD-related mutations.

proteases (Ruan et al., 2017). This process highlights the role of mitochondria as guardian of cell integrity and points on the necessity to deeply understand α -syn action and distribution at mitochondrial level.

ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN EFFECTS ON MITOCHONDRIA

Mitochondria are crucial players in the pathogenesis of PD. It is surprising that many (if not all) of the genes responsible for the onset of familial forms of PD, indeed, converge on mitochondria (Cieri et al., 2017) and besides the clear role played by PINK1 and Parkin as key regulators of mitochondrial integrity (Narendra et al., 2008), the list of PD-related genes linked to mitochondria is longer and α -syn is not an exception.

In this paragraph, we will briefly summarize the effects induced by α -syn on mitochondria. Several reports show contrasting results on this topic. It must be stressed, however, that differences in α -syn-induced effects may be explained by the cell type used in the experiments as well as the transfection method used, that may strongly affect protein expression levels.

 α -syn itself can affect the Ca²⁺ signaling within the mitochondria as it has been repeatedly reported to influence the Ca²⁺ exchange and the physical interaction between the ER and mitochondria, despite different groups reached different conclusions (Calì et al., 2012; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Paillusson et al., 2017). Interestingly, we have also shown that addition of exogenous recombinant a-syn to cell cultures leads to a dose dependent impairment of Ca²⁺ handling, with different doses showing different effects: increased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ transients were observed upon incubation with the 4 μ M exogenous α -syn, whereas a reduction was measured upon treatment with 8 µM (Calì et al., 2012). Similarly, another group reported that α -syn-induced mitochondrial fragmentation is dependent on its expression levels: whereas the expression of low levels of wt, A53T or A30P α -syn induced mitochondrial fragmentation only in the case of A53T, higher expression of the protein resulted in mitochondrial fragmentation also in the case of wt a-syn (Pozo Devoto et al., 2017).

Dynamic processes such as mitochondrial fusion/fission and axonal transport are also influenced by α -syn. Mitochondrial fragmentation induced by overexpression of mutant (A53T,

A30P, E46K) α -syn has been observed, although the effect of the wt was not consistently reported (Kamp et al., 2010; Nakamura et al., 2011; Gui et al., 2012; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014). The expression of α -syn in sensory neurons of living zebrafish embryos resulted in the fragmentation of mitochondria, occasionally leading to their swelling within the axon (O'Donnell et al., 2014). The mitochondrial pathology is also extended to their axonal transport and to the mtDNA: mitochondrial motility was indeed reduced by α -syn expression in SH-SY5Y cells and cultured neurons derived from human embryonic stem cells (Xie and Chung, 2012; Melo et al., 2017; Pozo Devoto et al., 2017) and α -syn transgenic mice display increased mitochondrial oxidative stress and DNA lesions (Bender et al., 2013).

How α -syn induces changes in mitochondrial morphology is still unclear. Some groups have shown a direct effect on the expression of mitochondria-shaping proteins (Gui et al., 2012; Xie and Chung, 2012; Menges et al., 2017), despite a general consensus has not been reached (Kamp et al., 2010; Nakamura et al., 2011; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Pozo Devoto et al., 2017). Alternatively, a direct effect induced by the binding of α -syn to the mitochondrial membrane has been proposed. Accordingly, in vitro studies have shown inhibition of membrane fusion by α-syn (Kamp et al., 2010), prompting to speculate that the binding of α -syn to the mitochondrial membrane may change the curvature of the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) and reduce its fusion with surrounding mitochondria. This hypothesis is supported by experiments showing that the selective targeting of wt and A53T a-syn, but not A30P, to the OMM induced mitochondrial fragmentation (Pozo Devoto et al., 2017).

Endogenous α -syn has also been shown to be required for the normal activity of the respiratory chain complexes (Ellis et al., 2005; Devi et al., 2008), we thus may hypothesize that its levels must be tightly regulated and kept under control. Deviations from the threshold levels inevitably affect cellular and mitochondrial functions and lead to the alterations hereby described. Accordingly, mutations may exert their pathogenicity because, by affecting aggregation propensity, they could contribute to compromise the availability of α -syn by sequestrating it in aggregates both within the cell and in specific cellular compartments or because mutated α -syn may quickly reach the dose that is required to induce mitochondrial and cellular dysfunction. Indeed, impairment of the complex I function and increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been consistently observed both in the absence and in the presence of overexpressed α -syn and the expression of the A53T mutation exacerbated the defects (Devi et al., 2008; Loeb et al., 2010; Reeve et al., 2015). Mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP production were also affected upon exogenous administration of the recombinant wild-type and mutant α -syn (Banerjee et al., 2010).

ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN AT THE MITOCHONDRIA-ASSOCIATED MEMBRANES (MAMs)

Mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs) are functionally specialized regions where the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria come in close proximity (Hayashi et al., 2009) and are in place to regulate several cellular processes including ER stress, unfolded protein response, cholesterol and phospholipid metabolism, mitochondrial division and dynamics, Ca^{2+} signaling and apoptosis (Rizzuto and Pozzan, 2006; Wozniak et al., 2006; Csordas and Hajnoczky, 2009; Simmen et al., 2010; Friedman et al., 2011).

Impaired functionality of the MAMs as well as changes in the number of contacts between ER and mitochondria have been recently associated to neurodegenerative diseases, including PD (Cali et al., 2012, 2013; Ottolini et al., 2013; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Rodriguez-Arribas et al., 2016), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Stoica et al., 2014, 2016) and Alzheimer's disease (Zampese et al., 2011; Area-Gomez et al., 2012; Hedskog et al., 2013; Schon and Area-Gomez, 2013; Area-Gomez and Schon, 2016, 2017). The presence of lipid raft-like domains at the MAMs and the intrinsic propensity of α -syn to interact with acidic phospholipids (Fortin et al., 2004), immediately suggested the possibility of a potential specific targeting and action of α -syn at these sites (**Table 1**).

One of the first evidence suggesting a potential role played by α -syn at the ER-mitochondria interface comes from the demonstration that overexpression of wt α -syn was able to sustain mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake by increasing the number of ER-mitochondria juxtapositions in SH-SY5Y and HeLa cells, while its down regulation impaired mitochondrial Ca²⁺ transfer and morphology (Calì et al., 2012). Of notice, in Hela cells the increase of α -syn levels over a certain threshold both by treatment with valproic acid (which acts on endogenous protein) and by incubation with exogenous recombinant TAT-a-syn leads to a reduction in mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake (Calì et al., 2012). This suggests the intriguing possibility that a-syn behavior at MAMs is dependent on its expression level, which is also known to affect its mitochondrial localization (see below) (Shavali et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009).

Soon after, α -syn was found at the MAMs (Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Paillusson et al., 2017) and shown to interact with the ER vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein B (VAPB), thus perturbing its association with the protein tyrosine

TABLE 1 | Effects of the different sub-mitochondrial $\alpha\text{-syn}$ localizations on mitochondrial dynamics.

α-syn localization	α-syn effects	
	High expression	Low expression
Mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs)	 ↓ ER-mito contacts ↓ Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake ↓ ATP synthesis ↑ Mitochondrial fragmentation 	 ↑ ER-mito contacts ↑ Mitochondrial Ca²⁻¹ uptake ↓ ATP synthesis
(OMM)	 Mitochondrial fragmentation Mitochondrial size Mitochondrial nuclear clustering Mitochondrial respiration Mitochondrial proteins import ROS production mtDNA damage Mitochondrial membrane potential ATP synthesis 	
Inter-membrane space (IMS) Inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) Mitochondrial matrix	 ↑ mPTP opening ↓ Mitochondrial membrane potential ↑ ROS production ↑ Mitochondrial swelling ↑ Mitochondrial vacuolation ↓ Cristae number ↑ ROS production ↓ Complex I activity ↑ ATP synthesis 	

phosphatase-interacting protein 51 (PTPIP51) (**Figure 2**), and consequently their ER-mitochondria tethering function (De Vos et al., 2012). Thus, increased α -syn levels induced a decrease in the number of ER-mitochondria interactions in SH-SY5Y and iPS cell-derived dopaminergic neurons from a patient harboring *SNCA* triplication, followed by impaired inositol 1,4,5 triphosphate (IP₃) receptor-mediated Ca²⁺ transfer to mitochondria and mitochondrial ATP production (Paillusson et al., 2017).

Additional evidence confirmed the pivotal role of α -syn at the MAMs, although different effects on the ER-mitochondria interface were reported for the wt and the mutant forms in different cell lines (Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014). Whether this reflects cell line-specific features or is influenced by the different distribution within the cells of the wt and mutant proteins, remains to be elucidated.

Altogether, these data suggest that a portion of α -syn resides at the MAMs and influences some of their basic cellular activities. Altered α -syn expression, unbalanced equilibrium between the α -syn located in the MAMs, in the cytosol or mitochondria and the presence of PD-related mutations could contribute to the onset and the development of PD pathology by differentially interfering with MAMs functions (Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2015a,b).



MITOCHONDRIAL ROUTES FOR ALPHA-SYNUCLEIN

Mitochondrial Localization of Alpha-Synuclein: General Evidence and Targeting Signals

The aforementioned data strongly imply that α -syn governs a plethora of mitochondrial processes. Whether these effects are regulated by α -syn directly or represent the culminating events of a signaling network arising from impairments in compartments other that mitochondria is still matter of investigation. Direct association of a-syn with mitochondria has been repeatedly and constantly observed in model cells and in different regions of the mouse brain (ventral midbrain, striatum and cortex) from α -syn transgenic mice (Subramaniam et al., 2014). Immunocytochemistry analysis (Parihar et al., 2008), immuno-gold electron microscopy (Parihar et al., 2008) and subcellular fractionation studies followed by western blot analysis (Subramaniam et al., 2014) revealed the presence of wt as well as PD-related A30P and A53T mutant a-syn in mitochondria. Interestingly, the presence of a fraction of α -syn residing in mitochondria was also found in dopaminergic neurons of substantia nigra from non-PD and PD subjects, but its accumulation was found only in mitochondria of PD patients (Devi and Anandatheerthavarada, 2010).

Albeit α -syn lacks a canonical mitochondrial targeting sequence, NMR studies and sequence alignments with cleavable N-terminal mitochondrial targeting sequences of cytochrome P450Scc and cytochrome P450 sterol 27-hydroxylase revealed that N-terminus domain of α -syn, which is rich in positively charged residues, mirrors the physico-chemical properties of mitochondrial targeting sequences and can adopt an α -helical conformation that can drive the anchoring of the protein to mitochondrial membranes (Ulmer et al., 2005; Devi and Anandatheerthavarada, 2010). The first N-terminal 32 amino acids have been shown to be fundamental for mitochondrial localization of the protein, (Devi et al., 2008) and, in particular, the lack of the first 11 N-terminal amino acids almost completely suppressed the *in vitro* binding of exogenous α -syn to isolated mitochondria from human HEK293 cells (Robotta et al., 2014).

As a matter of fact, all the PD-related mutations occur within the α -syn N-terminal domain, raising the interesting possibility that, beside their effect on protein aggregation (Conway et al., 1998; Li et al., 2001; Choi et al., 2004; Greenbaum et al., 2005; Sahay et al., 2017), they could impact on α -syn association to intracellular membranes and thus on its subcellular localization.

Interestingly, some mutants showed a greater tendency to be imported into mitochondria as compared with their wt counterpart (Cole et al., 2008; Devi et al., 2008; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Pozo Devoto et al., 2017), highlighting a potential pathogenic mechanism of action.

At the functional level their mitochondrial import was associated with broad mitochondrial defects such as increased mitochondrial Ca^{2+} levels, nitric oxide and ROS formation, cytochrome c release and apoptosis (Parihar et al., 2008, 2009), impairments of selected mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes (Subramaniam et al., 2014) and increased mitochondrial clearance (Chinta et al., 2010).

In the next sections, we will discuss the molecular basis for this intimate and functionally relevant relationship of α -syn with mitochondria, α -syn peculiar sub-organelle localization as well as the specific partners and processes that it governs at submitochondrial level (**Table 1**).

Alpha-Synuclein at the Outer Mitochondrial Membrane

This intrinsic ability of α -syn to bind lipids and thus membranes, especially those with negatively charged surfaces, raised the possibility of potential interactions with the mitochondrial

membranes (Shvadchak et al., 2011). The lipid binding properties of a-syn have been extensively investigated (Rhoades et al., 2006) and several studies have demonstrated the ability of α -syn N-terminal domain to adopt an α -helix conformation upon exposure to lipid surfaces (Ulmer et al., 2005). Deletion and/or insertion of charged amino groups in the first 25 residues of a-syn N-terminal domain strongly affected the propensity to adopt an α-helical conformation and also altered the binding to membranes (Perrin et al., 2000; Vamvaca et al., 2009; Bartels et al., 2010). Thus, it is not surprising that the presence of mutations in this domain strongly affected this feature. However, the three most frequent mutations confer different behavior: the A30P perturbs the helical structure leading to a reduction in lipid affinity, the E46K mutation increases the affinity for lipids, while the A53T has no major effect (Perrin et al., 2000; Jo et al., 2002; Bussell and Eliezer, 2004; Perlmutter et al., 2009).

By confocal and immuno-gold electron microscopy techniques a fraction of cellular α -syn has been found to localize at the OMM in dopaminergic neurons (Li et al., 2007) and rat brain neurons (Zhang et al., 2008). High pressure freeze immuno-electron microscopy on SH-SY5Y cells overexpressing α -syn further revealed that the protein directly binds the outer membrane of mitochondria leading to a MFN2 and DRP1independent mitochondrial fragmentation without affecting the mitochondrial membrane potential or the ATP levels (Kamp et al., 2010). The expression of pathologic A30P and A53T mutants retrieved similar results, despite of in vitro analysis has revealed, at least for the A30P, a reduction in lipid affinity, thus suggesting that the amount of overexpressed protein could also play a major role in membranes binding (Kamp et al., 2010). Accordingly, upon overexpression of wt or A53T and E46K α -syn mutants, but not under conditions of reduced α -syn levels (Nakamura et al., 2011) or upon overexpression of the A30P mutant, a phenotype of mitochondrial fragmentation was observed suggesting that the amount of α -syn bound to mitochondria membranes might play a pivotal role. In line with this possibility, recent findings have shown that the forced delivery of wt and A53T a-syn to the outer membrane of mitochondria caused a reduction in mitochondrial size, while the A30P mutant had no effect (Pozo Devoto et al., 2017).

Compelling evidence for a selective preference of α -syn for mitochondria came from FRET-based and *in vitro* studies demonstrating that it selectively binds to mitochondria independently of the mitochondrial membrane potential, suggesting that the lipid composition rather than the functional state of the organelle is involved in the binding (Nakamura et al., 2008). These studies indicated that cardiolipin, a phospholipid enriched in mitochondrial membranes, is strictly required for α -syn interaction (Ghio et al., 2016).

Additionally, by immune-electron microscopy on HEK293 cells stably expressing α -syn it has been observed that under condition of low intracellular pH α -syn translocates to the OMM, but not within the mitochondrial matrix or the intermembrane space (Cole et al., 2008). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that the mitochondrial targeting of α -syn could be enhanced by cellular stress conditions. Whether the association of α -syn with mitochondria occurs directly with the membranes or is

mediated by other proteins is still unclear. Sodium carbonate and proteinase K treatment on isolated mitochondria does not interfere with its association (Cole et al., 2008; Parihar et al., 2008). On the other hand, in vitro pull down experiments of mitochondrial extracts with a peptide composed of the last C-terminal 40 amino acids of α -syn retrieved TOM22, TOM40, VDAC 1-2-3 and Samm50 as binding partners (Figure 2) and, interestingly, S129 phosphorylation drastically reduced a-syn association with TOM40 and Samm50 (McFarland et al., 2008). Beside a series of α -syn induced mitochondrial alterations (such as increased ROS production and oxidative stress, alteration in complex I and deletions of mtDNA), a-syn accumulation was also accompanied by a decrease in TOM40 expression (Bender et al., 2013). More recently, α -syn binding to TOM20, but not to TOM40, TOM22 or Tim23, has been reported to impair the TOM20/TOM22 assembly, affecting the import of the complex I subunit Ndufs3 and leading to reduced respiration and increased ROS production. Intriguingly, the oligomeric dopamine-modified and the phosphomimic S129E mutant of α -syn, but not the monomeric or the nitrated and fibrillary forms, were reported to impair protein import, suggesting that the trimeric/tetrameric structure may play a role in mediating mitochondrial toxicity (Di Maio et al., 2016). As anticipated above, VDAC is also an important and recurrent α-syn binding partner: co-immunoprecipitation analysis revealed an association in the brainstem, striatum, and cerebral cortex of Thy1-A53T human α -syn transgenic mice (Martin et al., 2014) and *in vitro* studies revealed that recombinant monomeric α -syn at nanomolar concentration was sufficient to reversibly block VDAC1 channel activity in planar lipid bilayer, (Rostovtseva et al., 2015). Interestingly, nigral neurons from brains of PD patients containing a-syn positive inclusions also showed reduced VDAC1 immunoreactivity as compared with those displaying soluble or absent α -syn (Chu et al., 2014), suggesting a strong correlation between α -syn and VDAC in the pathogenesis of PD.

Thus, although α -syn possess the ability to bind cellular membranes directly, with an intrinsic preference for those mirroring the composition of the mitochondrial ones, proteinprotein interactions with the components of the mitochondrial import machinery at the OMM have been consistently reported. Albeit a specific molecular mechanism for this selectivity toward the mitochondrial protein import machinery, in particular TOM20 and TOM40, is still missing, it might represent one of the first event in the neurodegenerative process.

Alpha-Synuclein in the Inter-membrane Space (IMS)

Several studies have raised the possibility that a portion of the cellular α -syn can be found at the sub-mitochondrial level [inter membrane space (IMS), the inner membrane or the matrix], implying that a direct translocation from the cytosol across the OMM must also occur. As stated above, a number of OMM partners involved in this process has been found; however, how and why α -syn is imported into the mitochondria is still almost completely unexplored. *In vivo* and *in vitro* import of human

 α -syn into the mitochondria depends on the mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP levels and although anti-TOM40 antibodies have been reported to abolish α -syn mitochondrial localization (Devi et al., 2008), direct translocation through VDAC reconstituted into planar lipid bilayer has also been demonstrated (Rostovtseva et al., 2015; Hoogerheide et al., 2017), raising questions on whether there is a selective engagement on one of the two pathways or both components can be equally used based on the cell needs (Neupert and Herrmann, 2007). Understanding if the occurrence of the pathogenic mutations, the post-translational modifications or the aggregation state of the protein drive it to a specific pathway may be useful for a better understanding of α -syn physio/pathological behavior inside mitochondria as well as for the development of pharmacological approach and deserves further investigations.

At the IMS α -syn has been shown to interact with a portion of VDAC1 facing this compartment in the substantia nigra of α -syn overexpressing rats and in dopaminergic MN9D cells (Lu et al., 2013) and with the adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT) (Figure 3), one of the most abundant proteins of the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM; Liu and Chen, 2013) involved in the exchange of ADP/ATP between the matrix and the IMS (Ryan et al., 1999; Halestrap and Brenner, 2003). Interestingly, alterations of mitochondrial membrane potential, increased ROS production and mitochondrial vacuolation, swallowing and loss of cristae observed upon α -syn overexpression are partially reverted by the incubation with the ANT inhibitor bongkrekic acid (BKA), which was shown to reduce the interaction between α -syn and both ANT and VDAC, suggesting that this interaction could be the key for a-syn detrimental activity (Shen et al., 2014). Interestingly, these effects could not be recapitulated by overexpression of a truncated form of a-syn lacking its N-terminus (aminoacids 1-60) or mutated in two key residues important for the targeting (the V63 and N65 residues), indicating that the N-terminus domain is critical for α-syn-induced cytotoxicity, probably affecting its mitochondrial localization (Shen et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). Altogether, these findings suggest that α -syn translocation into the IMS of mitochondria might be a physiologically relevant under basal conditions and that increasing levels of α -syn also at this site could impact on the ability of cell to keep the ATP levels well balanced, contributing to the damage of dopaminergic neurons (Zhu et al., 2011).

Alpha-Synuclein at the Inner Mitochondrial Membrane

Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy studies designed to analyze the interactions between α -syn and large unilamellar phospholipid vesicles mimicking either the inner or the OMM, indicated that the protein binds specifically to the IMM through its N-terminus (Robotta et al., 2014). In accordance, fluorescence anisotropy and high resolution nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR) studies confirmed that wt and A30P α -syn mutant could strongly interact with large unilamellar phospholipid vesicles mimicking the IMM but not with those mimicking the OMM. The differential affinity for the two membranes was related to the specific cardiolipin composition, which in the inner membrane is at least 40 times higher than in the outer membrane (de Kroon et al., 1997; Zigoneanu et al., 2012). This evidence was further confirmed in α -syn transgenic mice which showed a predominant α -syn localization at the IMM (Nakamura et al., 2011). Indeed, cardiolipin ablation from inner membrane-like vesicles or its saturation with cardiolipin-binding dye nonyl-acridine orange (NAO) strongly prevented α -syn binding (Cole et al., 2008; Zigoneanu et al., 2012).

Proteomics analysis identified a series of α -syn interactors at the level of the IMM, including mitofilin, a mitochondrial inner membrane protein important for the regulation of cristae morphology (John et al., 2005; McFarland et al., 2008). iTRAQ proteomics on synaptosomes from α -syn^{+/+} and α -syn^{-/-} mice also revealed that α -syn interacts with sideroflexin 3 (SFXN3), a putative iron transporter of the IMM (Fleming et al., 2001; Li et al., 2010) which is important for maintenance of the synaptic morphology and neuromuscular junctions (Amorim et al., 2017) and that has been found down-regulated in substantia nigra of PD-affected patients (Simunovic et al., 2009).

The mitochondrial solute carrier family 25 members (namely the 3, 11, 12 and 13) and the components of the electron transport chain have also been reported as binding partners of α -syn (McFarland et al., 2008). Accordingly, yeast two-hybrid and coimmunoprecipitation assay confirmed a specific interaction of α -syn with complex IV of the mitochondrial transport chain (Elkon et al., 2002). Moreover, association of α -syn with complex I in PD brain has also been reported and found to induce a reduction in complex I activity and increased ROS production in a time and dose-dependent manner (Devi et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009), suggesting that the progressive accumulation of α -syn at the IMM may impair mitochondrial functions and induce oxidative stress.

Alpha-Synuclein in the Mitochondrial Matrix

To the best of our knowledge, the number of studies indicating a specific localization for α -syn within the mitochondrial matrix is limited and evidence for α -syn translocation through the IMM is missing. Moreover, *ex vivo* proximity ligation assays reveal no interactions between α -syn and Tim23, the major protein translocase of the inner membrane of mitochondria (Di Maio et al., 2016). Nevertheless, some clues suggest the possibility that a minor fraction of α -syn could be localized at the mitochondrial matrix (Devi et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009) and, intriguingly, proteomic analysis revealed α -syn interaction with the B, D and γ chain of the ATP synthase (McFarland et al., 2008).

Evidence obtained at functional level showing that α -syn absence impact essential mitochondrial function further support the possibility that α -syn may interact with ATP synthase. Indeed, primary neuron/glia co-cultures from cerebral cortex of $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$ -syn triple knock out (TKO) mice revealed reduced mitochondrial membrane potential, decreased ATP synthase activity and lower ATP levels (Ludtmann et al., 2016), importantly, exogenous addiction of monomeric α -syn, but not



of the A30P mutant, to the neuron/glia co-cultures was able to fully revert the phenotypes observed in the TKO neurons by physically interacting with the α subunit of the ATP synthase (**Figure 3**), suggesting that the mitochondrial matrix-resident fraction of α -syn could play a pivotal role in regulating important mitochondrial activities.

This scenario brings to speculate that a pool of α -syn exerts a physiological role inside the mitochondrial matrix where it is able to increase ATP synthase activity through direct binding with its α subunit, thus ensuring mitochondrial health and proper ATP fueling for synaptic functions. Aggregation and/or mutations of the protein could thus result in exaggerated mitochondrial accumulations that may lead to loss of function and initiate the degenerative process in PD.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Mitochondrial dysfunctions and α -syn misfolding/aggregation have both been extensively documented in the pathogenesis of PD (Exner et al., 2012; Bose and Beal, 2016). The possible interplay between the two phenomena is suggested by the evidence that increased levels and/or mutations of α -syn trigger mitochondrial alterations and that mitochondrial impairment causes α -syn accumulation and aggregation (Betarbet et al., 2006; George et al., 2010). Which of the two events comes first in the development of the neurodegenerative process is not yet clear (Zaltieri et al., 2015), but the strong association between α -syn and mitochondria is nowadays believed to play a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of PD. Although substantia nigra pars compacta dopaminergic neurons are among the first neurons to degenerate, additional neuronal populations are also affected in PD (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003; Surmeier et al., 2017; Zhai et al., 2018). Despite the mechanisms governing this selective vulnerability are poorly understood, increasing evidence suggests that α-syn-mediated alteration of mitochondria wellness might be particularly important in dopaminergic neurons from substantia nigra (Calì et al., 2014). Indeed, they show increased cytosolic dopamine, Ca²⁺ entry and mitochondrial oxidative stress that, in turn, induces accumulation of oxidized dopamine and mitochondrial dysfunction, leading to the onset of the PDrelated motor symptoms (Burbulla et al., 2017; Lieberman et al., 2017).

Despite the absence of a canonical mitochondrial targeting signal in α -syn sequence, a growing body of literatures indicates that at least a portion of cellular α -syn not only is able to physically interact with mitochondrial membranes by lipids-mediated binding, but also to cross them, possibly through a translocation process mediated by TIM/TOM complex or VDAC protein, reaching the intermembrane space and/or the matrix (Devi and Anandatheerthavarada, 2010; Nakamura, 2013; Abramov et al., 2017; Pozo Devoto and Falzone, 2017). Interestingly, α -syn effects on mitochondria seem to interplay

with other mitochondrial proteins/pathways known to be mutated/altered in PD, further confirming that mitochondrial α -syn can be a major player in the onset of the disease. In fact, it has been proposed that blockage of mitochondrial protein import through α -syn interaction with TOM20 may activate Pink1/Parkin mediated mitophagy, by promoting Pink1 accumulation at the OMM and consequent Parkin recruitment (Di Maio et al., 2016). In accordance, midbrain dopaminergic neurons overexpressing α -syn A53T display an increase in mitochondrial clearance (Chinta et al., 2010), and the overexpression of wt Pink1 or Parkin, but not their PD-associated mutants, is able to rescue the α -syn-induced impairment of mitochondrial morphology (Kamp et al., 2010).

Several aspects of α -syn/mitochondria interplay, however, need to be further elucidated. First, it is worth to investigate whether the different sub-organelle localizations of the protein account for peculiar physiological functions or represent the response to specific stimuli. It is not clear whether α -syn toxic species are delivered to the mitochondria as a pathological or a protective mechanism. In other words, it is still to be proven whether the portion of α -syn that localizes within mitochondria resides there to exert a physiologically relevant function or for other reasons, i.e., to be degraded. An elegant work has shown, in yeast and human cells, that protein aggregates enter the mitochondrial intermembrane space and matrix (through the mitochondrial import machinery) in order to be degraded (Ruan et al., 2017). The possibility that this process also favors the clearance of α -syn deserves further investigations.

In addition, the subtle equilibrium between physiological and pathological roles of a-syn and its propensity to accumulate within the cell in the course of the neurodegenerative process suggest that there might be a threshold of protein amount in the cytosol and mitochondria that discriminates between healthy and detrimental effects. In accordance, it has been shown that the mitochondrial distribution of the wt and A53T α -syn is significantly increased in cells overexpressing the proteins compared to controls (Parihar et al., 2008) and that their induction of mitochondrial fragmentation is directly related to their expression levels (Pozo Devoto et al., 2017). Moreover, only high expression of the A53T mutant in midbrain dopaminergic neurons of transgenic mice significantly increases the number of autophagic mitochondria (Chinta et al., 2010). Finally, we have previously demonstrated that increased endogenous wt a-syn content by valproic acid treatment and the TATmediated delivery of high doses of exogenous protein lead to a reduction in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake, while low levels of the protein induce an increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ influx. This

REFERENCES

- Abramov, A. Y., Berezhnov, A. V., Fedotova, E. I., Zinchenko, V. P., and Dolgacheva, L. P. (2017). Interaction of misfolded proteins and mitochondria in neurodegenerative disorders. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 45, 1025–1033. doi: 10.1042/BST20170024
- Amorim, I. S., Graham, L. C., Carter, R. N., Morton, N. M., Hammachi, F., Kunath, T., et al. (2017). Sideroflexin 3 is an alpha-synuclein-dependent mitochondrial protein that regulates synaptic morphology. J. Cell Sci. 130, 325–331. doi: 10.1242/jcs.194241

observation could explain the discrepancies observed on α -syn action at the MAMs, being its effects possibly related to different transfection methods that permit to reach different amount of overexpressed α -syn (Cali et al., 2012; Paillusson et al., 2017).

Differences in α -syn oligomerization states could further complicate the scenario. It is unclear which aggregation state of the protein forces its mitochondrial localization and its detrimental or positive effects on mitochondria. Nevertheless, western blot analysis on rat brain purified mitochondria incubated with aggregated or un-aggregated α -syn revealed that only the oligomeric form of the protein can associate with mitochondria, as confirmed by immuno-gold electron microscopy (Parihar et al., 2008, 2009). Concordantly, only soluble and prefibrillar α -syn oligomers, but not monomeric or fibrillar α -syn, are able to bind TOM20 and block mitochondrial protein import as well as to induce complex I dysfunction and mitochondrial membrane potential dissipation leading to the impairment of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ handling and enhanced cytochrome c release (Luth et al., 2014; Di Maio et al., 2016).

Finally, the impact of known pathogenic mutations on α -syn mitochondrial regulation is not completely understood. Beside their role on protein aggregation, it has been suggested that mutations are able to regulate α -syn-mitochondrial association, with the A30P mutant being particularly defective in mitochondrial membranes binding.

Albeit all this evidence clearly supports a pivotal role for α -syn in the alteration of mitochondrial functions leading to the neurodegenerative process, they also point out the requirement of additional efforts to dissect the intimate relationship between α -syn physio/pathology and mitochondrial dysfunctions, providing new elements for the complete understanding of neuronal degeneration in PD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MV, DC, MB, and TC contributed to the design and writing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work is supported by grants from the Ministry of University and Research (Bando SIR 2014 n° RBSI14C65Z to TC) and from the Università degli Studi di Padova (Progetto Giovani 2012 n° GRIC128SP0 to TC, Progetto di Ateneo 2016 n° CALI_SID16_01 to TC, and Progetto di Ateneo 2015 n° CPDA153402 to MB).

- Area-Gomez, E., Del Carmen Lara Castillo, M., Tambini, M. D., Guardia-Laguarta, C., De Groof, A. J., Madra, M., et al. (2012). Upregulated function of mitochondria-associated ER membranes in Alzheimer disease. *EMBO J.* 31, 4106–4123. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2012.202
- Area-Gomez, E., and Schon, E. A. (2016). Mitochondria-associated ER membranes and Alzheimer disease. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 38, 90–96. doi: 10.1016/j.gde. 2016.04.006
- Area-Gomez, E., and Schon, E. A. (2017). On the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease: the MAM hypothesis. FASEB J. 31, 864–867. doi: 10.1096/fj.201601309

- Banerjee, K., Sinha, M., Pham Cle, L., Jana, S., Chanda, D., Cappai, R., et al. (2010). alpha-Synuclein induced membrane depolarization and loss of phosphorylation capacity of isolated rat brain mitochondria: implications in Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Lett.* 584, 1571–1576. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.03.012
- Bartels, T., Ahlstrom, L. S., Leftin, A., Kamp, F., Haass, C., Brown, M. F., et al. (2010). The N-terminus of the intrinsically disordered protein alpha-synuclein triggers membrane binding and helix folding. *Biophys. J.* 99, 2116–2124. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.06.035
- Bartels, T., Choi, J. G., and Selkoe, D. J. (2011). alpha-Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. *Nature* 477, 107–110. doi: 10.1038/nature10324
- Bender, A., Desplats, P., Spencer, B., Rockenstein, E., Adame, A., Elstner, M., et al. (2013). TOM40 mediates mitochondrial dysfunction induced by alpha-synuclein accumulation in Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 8:e62277. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062277
- Bertoncini, C. W., Jung, Y. S., Fernandez, C. O., Hoyer, W., Griesinger, C., Jovin, T. M., et al. (2005). Release of long-range tertiary interactions potentiates aggregation of natively unstructured alpha-synuclein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 102, 1430–1435. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407146102
- Betarbet, R., Canet-Aviles, R. M., Sherer, T. B., Mastroberardino, P. G., Mclendon, C., Kim, J. H., et al. (2006). Intersecting pathways to neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease: effects of the pesticide rotenone on DJ-1, alpha-synuclein, and the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 22, 404–420. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2005.12.003
- Bose, A., and Beal, M. F. (2016). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 139(suppl. 1), 216–231. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13731
- Burbulla, L. F., Song, P., Mazzulli, J. R., Zampese, E., Wong, Y. C., Jeon, S., et al. (2017). Dopamine oxidation mediates mitochondrial and lysosomal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. *Science* 357, 1255–1261. doi: 10.1126/ science.aam9080
- Burre, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Sudhof, T. C. (2010). alpha-Synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227
- Bussell, R. Jr., and Eliezer, D. (2004). Effects of Parkinson's disease-linked mutations on the structure of lipid-associated alpha-synuclein. *Biochemistry* 43, 4810–4818. doi: 10.1021/bi036135+
- Cabin, D. E., Shimazu, K., Murphy, D., Cole, N. B., Gottschalk, W., Mcilwain, K. L., et al. (2002). Synaptic vesicle depletion correlates with attenuated synaptic responses to prolonged repetitive stimulation in mice lacking alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 8797–8807. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-20-08797.2002
- Calì, T., Ottolini, D., and Brini, M. (2014). Calcium signaling in Parkinson's disease. *Cell Tissue Res.* 357, 439–454. doi: 10.1007/s00441-014-1866-0
- Calì, T., Ottolini, D., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2012). alpha-Synuclein controls mitochondrial calcium homeostasis by enhancing endoplasmic reticulummitochondria interactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 17914–17929. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M111.302794
- Calì, T., Ottolini, D., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2013). Enhanced parkin levels favor ER-mitochondria crosstalk and guarantee Ca2+ transfer to sustain cell bioenergetics. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1832, 495–508. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013. 01.004
- Chinta, S. J., Mallajosyula, J. K., Rane, A., and Andersen, J. K. (2010). Mitochondrial alpha-synuclein accumulation impairs complex I function in dopaminergic neurons and results in increased mitophagy in vivo. *Neurosci. Lett.* 486, 235–239. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.09.061
- Choi, W., Zibaee, S., Jakes, R., Serpell, L. C., Davletov, B., Crowther, R. A., et al. (2004). Mutation E46K increases phospholipid binding and assembly into filaments of human alpha-synuclein. *FEBS Lett.* 576, 363–368. doi: 10.1016/j. febslet.2004.09.038
- Chu, Y., Goldman, J. G., Kelly, L., He, Y., Waliczek, T., and Kordower, J. H. (2014). Abnormal alpha-synuclein reduces nigral voltage-dependent anion channel 1 in sporadic and experimental Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 69, 1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.05.003
- Cieri, D., Brini, M., and Cali, T. (2017). Emerging (and converging) pathways in Parkinson's disease: keeping mitochondrial wellness. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 483, 1020–1030. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.153
- Cole, N. B., Dieuliis, D., Leo, P., Mitchell, D. C., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2008). Mitochondrial translocation of alpha-synuclein is promoted by intracellular acidification. *Exp. Cell Res.* 314, 2076–2089. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.03.012

- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. T. (1998). Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat. Med.* 4, 1318–1320. doi: 10.1038/3311
- Csordas, G., and Hajnoczky, G. (2009). SR/ER-mitochondrial local communication: calcium and ROS. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1787, 1352–1362. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.06.004
- Dauer, W., and Przedborski, S. (2003). Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. *Neuron* 39, 889–909. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00568-3
- Davidson, W. S., Jonas, A., Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1998). Stabilization of alpha-synuclein secondary structure upon binding to synthetic membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 9443–9449. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.16.9443
- de Kroon, A. I., Dolis, D., Mayer, A., Lill, R., and De Kruijff, B. (1997). Phospholipid composition of highly purified mitochondrial outer membranes of rat liver and *Neurospora crassa*. Is cardiolipin present in the mitochondrial outer membrane? *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1325, 108–116. doi: 10.1016/S0005-2736(96) 00240-4
- De Vos, K. J., Morotz, G. M., Stoica, R., Tudor, E. L., Lau, K. F., Ackerley, S., et al. (2012). VAPB interacts with the mitochondrial protein PTPIP51 to regulate calcium homeostasis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 1299–1311. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ ddr559
- Desplats, P., Spencer, B., Crews, L., Pathel, P., Morvinski-Friedmann, D., Kosberg, K., et al. (2012). alpha-Synuclein induces alterations in adult neurogenesis in Parkinson disease models via p53-mediated repression of Notch1. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 31691–31702. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.354522
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., Luth, E. S., Bartels, T., and Selkoe, D. (2013). In vivo cross-linking reveals principally oligomeric forms of alpha-synuclein and betasynuclein in neurons and non-neural cells. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 6371–6385. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.403311
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., Soldner, F., Luth, E. S., Kim, N. C., Von Saucken, V. E., et al. (2015). Parkinson-causing alpha-synuclein missense mutations shift native tetramers to monomers as a mechanism for disease initiation. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7314. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8314
- Devi, L., and Anandatheerthavarada, H. K. (2010). Mitochondrial trafficking of APP and alpha synuclein: relevance to mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1802, 11–19. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.07.007
- Devi, L., Raghavendran, V., Prabhu, B. M., Avadhani, N. G., and Anandatheerthavarada, H. K. (2008). Mitochondrial import and accumulation of alpha-synuclein impair complex I in human dopaminergic neuronal cultures and Parkinson disease brain. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 9089–9100. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M710012200
- Di Maio, R., Barrett, P. J., Hoffman, E. K., Barrett, C. W., Zharikov, A., Borah, A., et al. (2016). alpha-Synuclein binds to TOM20 and inhibits mitochondrial protein import in Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 8:342ra378. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf3634
- Elkon, H., Don, J., Melamed, E., Ziv, I., Shirvan, A., and Offen, D. (2002). Mutant and wild-type alpha-synuclein interact with mitochondrial cytochrome C oxidase. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 18, 229–238. doi: 10.1385/JMN:18:3:229
- Ellis, C. E., Murphy, E. J., Mitchell, D. C., Golovko, M. Y., Scaglia, F., Barcelo-Coblijn, G. C., et al. (2005). Mitochondrial lipid abnormality and electron transport chain impairment in mice lacking alpha-synuclein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 10190–10201. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.22.10190-10201.2005
- Exner, N., Lutz, A. K., Haass, C., and Winklhofer, K. F. (2012). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological consequences. *EMBO J.* 31, 3038–3062. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.170
- Fauvet, B., Mbefo, M. K., Fares, M. B., Desobry, C., Michael, S., Ardah, M. T., et al. (2012). alpha-Synuclein in central nervous system and from erythrocytes, mammalian cells, and *Escherichia coli* exists predominantly as disordered monomer. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 15345–15364. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 318949
- Fleming, M. D., Campagna, D. R., Haslett, J. N., Trenor, C. C. III, and Andrews, N. C. (2001). A mutation in a mitochondrial transmembrane protein is responsible for the pleiotropic hematological and skeletal phenotype of flexedtail (f/f) mice. *Genes Dev.* 15, 652–657. doi: 10.1101/gad.873001
- Fortin, D. L., Troyer, M. D., Nakamura, K., Kubo, S., Anthony, M. D., and Edwards, R. H. (2004). Lipid rafts mediate the synaptic localization of alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 6715–6723. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1594-04.2004
- Friedman, J. R., Lackner, L. L., West, M., Dibenedetto, J. R., Nunnari, J., and Voeltz, G. K. (2011). ER tubules mark sites of mitochondrial division. *Science* 334, 358–362. doi: 10.1126/science.1207385
- George, J. M., Jin, H., Woods, W. S., and Clayton, D. F. (1995). Characterization of a novel protein regulated during the critical period for song learning in the zebra finch. *Neuron* 15, 361–372. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90040-3
- George, S., Mok, S. S., Nurjono, M., Ayton, S., Finkelstein, D. I., Masters, C. L., et al. (2010). alpha-Synuclein transgenic mice reveal compensatory increases in Parkinson's disease-associated proteins DJ-1 and parkin and have enhanced alpha-synuclein and PINK1 levels after rotenone treatment. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 42, 243–254. doi: 10.1007/s12031-010-9378-1
- Ghio, S., Kamp, F., Cauchi, R., Giese, A., and Vassallo, N. (2016). Interaction of alpha-synuclein with biomembranes in Parkinson's disease–role of cardiolipin. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 61, 73–82. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2015.10.005
- Ghosh, D., Mondal, M., Mohite, G. M., Singh, P. K., Ranjan, P., Anoop, A., et al. (2013). The Parkinson's disease-associated H50Q mutation accelerates alpha-synuclein aggregation *in vitro*. *Biochemistry* 52, 6925–6927. doi: 10.1021/ bi400999d
- Giasson, B. I., Murray, I. V., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2001). A hydrophobic stretch of 12 amino acid residues in the middle of alphasynuclein is essential for filament assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 2380–2386. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M008919200
- Goncalves, S., and Outeiro, T. F. (2013). Assessing the subcellular dynamics of alpha-synuclein using photoactivation microscopy. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 47, 1081–1092. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8406-x
- Greenbaum, E. A., Graves, C. L., Mishizen-Eberz, A. J., Lupoli, M. A., Lynch, D. R., Englander, S. W., et al. (2005). The E46K mutation in alpha-synuclein increases amyloid fibril formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 7800–7807. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M411638200
- Greten-Harrison, B., Polydoro, M., Morimoto-Tomita, M., Diao, L., Williams, A. M., Nie, E. H., et al. (2010). αβγ-Synuclein triple knockout mice reveal age-dependent neuronal dysfunction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 19573–19578. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005005107
- Guardia-Laguarta, C., Area-Gomez, E., Rub, C., Liu, Y., Magrane, J., Becker, D., et al. (2014). alpha-Synuclein Is localized to mitochondria-associated ER membranes. J. Neurosci. 34, 249–259. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2507-13.2014
- Guardia-Laguarta, C., Area-Gomez, E., Schon, E. A., and Przedborski, S. (2015a). A new role for alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease: alteration of ERmitochondrial communication. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1026–1033. doi: 10.1002/mds. 26239
- Guardia-Laguarta, C., Area-Gomez, E., Schon, E. A., and Przedborski, S. (2015b). Novel subcellular localization for alpha-synuclein: possible functional consequences. *Front. Neuroanat.* 9:17. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2015.00017
- Gui, Y. X., Wang, X. Y., Kang, W. Y., Zhang, Y. J., Zhang, Y., Zhou, Y., et al. (2012). Extracellular signal-regulated kinase is involved in alpha-synucleininduced mitochondrial dynamic disorders by regulating dynamin-like protein 1. Neurobiol. Aging 33, 2841–2854. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.02.001
- Halestrap, A. P., and Brenner, C. (2003). The adenine nucleotide translocase: a central component of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and key player in cell death. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 10, 1507–1525. doi: 10.2174/ 0929867033457278
- Hayashi, T., Rizzuto, R., Hajnoczky, G., and Su, T. P. (2009). MAM: more than just a housekeeper. *Trends Cell Biol.* 19, 81–88. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2008.12.002
- Hedskog, L., Pinho, C. M., Filadi, R., Ronnback, A., Hertwig, L., Wiehager, B., et al. (2013). Modulation of the endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria interface in Alzheimer's disease and related models. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 7916–7921. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1300677110
- Hoogerheide, D. P., Gurnev, P. A., Rostovtseva, T. K., and Bezrukov, S. M. (2017). Mechanism of alpha-synuclein translocation through a VDAC nanopore revealed by energy landscape modeling of escape time distributions. *Nanoscale* 9, 183–192. doi: 10.1039/c6nr08145b
- Jensen, P. H., Nielsen, M. S., Jakes, R., Dotti, C. G., and Goedert, M. (1998). Binding of alpha-synuclein to brain vesicles is abolished by familial Parkinson's disease mutation. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 26292–26294. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.41. 26292
- Jo, E., Fuller, N., Rand, R. P., St George-Hyslop, P., and Fraser, P. E. (2002). Defective membrane interactions of familial Parkinson's disease mutant A30P alpha-synuclein. J. Mol. Biol. 315, 799–807. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.5269

- John, G. B., Shang, Y., Li, L., Renken, C., Mannella, C. A., Selker, J. M., et al. (2005). The mitochondrial inner membrane protein mitofilin controls cristae morphology. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 16, 1543–1554. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e04-08-0697
- Kamp, F., Exner, N., Lutz, A. K., Wender, N., Hegermann, J., Brunner, B., et al. (2010). Inhibition of mitochondrial fusion by alpha-synuclein is rescued by PINK1, Parkin and DJ-1. *EMBO J.* 29, 3571–3589. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.223
- Kara, E., Kiely, A. P., Proukakis, C., Giffin, N., Love, S., Hehir, J., et al. (2014). A 6.4 Mb duplication of the alpha-synuclein locus causing frontotemporal dementia and Parkinsonism: phenotype-genotype correlations. *JAMA Neurol.* 71, 1162–1171. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.994
- Lee, S. J., Jeon, H., and Kandror, K. V. (2008). alpha-Synuclein is localized in a subpopulation of rat brain synaptic vesicles. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp. (Wars).* 68, 509–515.
- Li, J., Uversky, V. N., and Fink, A. L. (2001). Effect of familial Parkinson's disease point mutations A30P and A53T on the structural properties, aggregation, and fibrillation of human alpha-synuclein. *Biochemistry* 40, 11604–11613. doi: 10.1021/bi010616g
- Li, W. W., Yang, R., Guo, J. C., Ren, H. M., Zha, X. L., Cheng, J. S., et al. (2007). Localization of alpha-synuclein to mitochondria within midbrain of mice. *Neuroreport* 18, 1543–1546. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e3282f03db4
- Li, X., Han, D., Kin Ting Kam, R., Guo, X., Chen, M., Yang, Y., et al. (2010). Developmental expression of *sideroflexin* family genes in *Xenopus* embryos. *Dev. Dyn.* 239, 2742–2747. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22401
- Lieberman, O. J., Choi, S. J., Kanter, E., Saverchenko, A., Frier, M. D., Fiore, G. M., et al. (2017). alpha-Synuclein-dependent calcium entry underlies differential sensitivity of cultured SN and VTA dopaminergic neurons to a Parkinsonian neurotoxin. *eNeuro* 4. doi: 10.1523/ENEURO.0167-17.2017
- Liu, G., Zhang, C., Yin, J., Li, X., Cheng, F., Li, Y., et al. (2009). alpha-Synuclein is differentially expressed in mitochondria from different rat brain regions and dose-dependently down-regulates complex I activity. *Neurosci. Lett.* 454, 187–192. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.02.056
- Liu, Y., and Chen, X. J. (2013). Adenine nucleotide translocase, mitochondrial stress, and degenerative cell death. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2013:146860. doi: 10.1155/2013/146860
- Loeb, V., Yakunin, E., Saada, A., and Sharon, R. (2010). The transgenic overexpression of alpha-synuclein and not its related pathology associates with complex I inhibition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 7334–7343. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109. 061051
- Lu, L., Zhang, C., Cai, Q., Lu, Q., Duan, C., Zhu, Y., et al. (2013). Voltage-dependent anion channel involved in the alpha-synuclein-induced dopaminergic neuron toxicity in rats. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai).* 45, 170–178. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gms114
- Ludtmann, M. H., Angelova, P. R., Ninkina, N. N., Gandhi, S., Buchman, V. L., and Abramov, A. Y. (2016). Monomeric alpha-synuclein exerts a physiological role on brain ATP synthase. *J. Neurosci.* 36, 10510–10521. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1659-16.2016
- Luk, K. C., Song, C., O'brien, P., Stieber, A., Branch, J. R., Brunden, K. R., et al. (2009). Exogenous alpha-synuclein fibrils seed the formation of Lewy bodylike intracellular inclusions in cultured cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 20051–20056. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908005106
- Luth, E. S., Stavrovskaya, I. G., Bartels, T., Kristal, B. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2014). Soluble, prefibrillar alpha-synuclein oligomers promote complex I-dependent, Ca2+-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 21490–21507. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.545749
- Maroteaux, L., Campanelli, J. T., and Scheller, R. H. (1988). Synuclein: a neuronspecific protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J. Neurosci.* 8, 2804–2815. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.08-08-02804.1988
- Martin, L. J., Semenkow, S., Hanaford, A., and Wong, M. (2014). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore regulates Parkinson's disease development in mutant alpha-synuclein transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1132–1152. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.11.008
- McFarland, M. A., Ellis, C. E., Markey, S. P., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2008). Proteomics analysis identifies phosphorylation-dependent alpha-synuclein protein interactions. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 7, 2123–2137. doi: 10.1074/mcp. M800116-MCP200
- Melo, T. Q., Van Zomeren, K. C., Ferrari, M. F., Boddeke, H. W., and Copray, J. C. (2017). Impairment of mitochondria dynamics by human A53T alpha-synuclein and rescue by NAP (davunetide) in a cell model for

Parkinson's disease. Exp. Brain Res. 235, 731-742. doi: 10.1007/s00221-016-4836-9

- Menges, S., Minakaki, G., Schaefer, P. M., Meixner, H., Prots, I., Schlotzer-Schrehardt, U., et al. (2017). alpha-Synuclein prevents the formation of spherical mitochondria and apoptosis under oxidative stress. *Sci. Rep.* 7:42942. doi: 10.1038/srep42942
- Mori, F., Tanji, K., Yoshimoto, M., Takahashi, H., and Wakabayashi, K. (2002). Immunohistochemical comparison of alpha- and beta-synuclein in adult rat central nervous system. *Brain Res.* 941, 118–126. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02) 02643-4
- Nakamura, K. (2013). alpha-Synuclein and mitochondria: partners in crime? Neurotherapeutics 10, 391–399. doi: 10.1007/s13311-013-0182-9
- Nakamura, K., Nemani, V. M., Azarbal, F., Skibinski, G., Levy, J. M., Egami, K., et al. (2011). Direct membrane association drives mitochondrial fission by the Parkinson disease-associated protein alpha-synuclein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 20710–20726. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.213538
- Nakamura, K., Nemani, V. M., Wallender, E. K., Kaehlcke, K., Ott, M., and Edwards, R. H. (2008). Optical reporters for the conformation of alphasynuclein reveal a specific interaction with mitochondria. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 12305–12317. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3088-08.2008
- Narendra, D., Tanaka, A., Suen, D. F., and Youle, R. J. (2008). Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy. J. Cell Biol. 183, 795–803. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200809125
- Neupert, W., and Herrmann, J. M. (2007). Translocation of proteins into mitochondria. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 76, 723–749. doi: 10.1146/annurev. biochem.76.052705.163409
- O'Donnell, K. C., Lulla, A., Stahl, M. C., Wheat, N. D., Bronstein, J. M., and Sagasti, A. (2014). Axon degeneration and PGC-1alpha-mediated protection in a zebrafish model of alpha-synuclein toxicity. *Dis. Model Mech.* 7, 571–582. doi: 10.1242/dmm.013185
- Ottolini, D., Calì, T., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2013). The Parkinson disease-related protein DJ-1 counteracts mitochondrial impairment induced by the tumour suppressor protein p53 by enhancing endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria tethering. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2152–2168. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt068
- Paillusson, S., Gomez-Suaga, P., Stoica, R., Little, D., Gissen, P., Devine, M. J., et al. (2017). alpha-Synuclein binds to the ER-mitochondria tethering protein VAPB to disrupt Ca2+ homeostasis and mitochondrial ATP production. *Acta Neuropathol.* 134, 129–149. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1704-z
- Paiva, I., Pinho, R., Pavlou, M. A., Hennion, M., Wales, P., Schutz, A. L., et al. (2017). Sodium butyrate rescues dopaminergic cells from alpha-synucleininduced transcriptional deregulation and DNA damage. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 26, 2231–2246. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddx114
- Pandey, N., Schmidt, R. E., and Galvin, J. E. (2006). The alpha-synuclein mutation E46K promotes aggregation in cultured cells. *Exp. Neurol.* 197, 515–520. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2005.10.019
- Parihar, M. S., Parihar, A., Fujita, M., Hashimoto, M., and Ghafourifar, P. (2008). Mitochondrial association of alpha-synuclein causes oxidative stress. *Cell. Mol. Life. Sci* 65, 1272–1284. doi: 10.1007/s00018-008-7589-1
- Parihar, M. S., Parihar, A., Fujita, M., Hashimoto, M., and Ghafourifar, P. (2009). Alpha-synuclein overexpression and aggregation exacerbates impairment of mitochondrial functions by augmenting oxidative stress in human neuroblastoma cells. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 41, 2015–2024. doi: 10.1016/j. biocel.2009.05.008
- Perlmutter, J. D., Braun, A. R., and Sachs, J. N. (2009). Curvature dynamics of alpha-synuclein familial Parkinson disease mutants: molecular simulations of the micelle- and bilayer-bound forms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 7177–7189. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808895200
- Perrin, R. J., Woods, W. S., Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (2000). Interaction of human alpha-Synuclein and Parkinson's disease variants with phospholipids. Structural analysis using site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 34393–34398. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004851200
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2045
- Pozo Devoto, V. M., Dimopoulos, N., Alloatti, M., Pardi, M. B., Saez, T. M., Otero, M. G., et al. (2017). alphaSynuclein control of mitochondrial homeostasis in human-derived neurons is disrupted by mutations associated with Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 7:5042. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05334-9

- Pozo Devoto, V. M., and Falzone, T. L. (2017). Mitochondrial dynamics in Parkinson's disease: a role for alpha-synuclein? *Dis. Model Mech.* 10, 1075–1087. doi: 10.1242/dmm.026294
- Reeve, A. K., Ludtmann, M. H., Angelova, P. R., Simcox, E. M., Horrocks, M. H., Klenerman, D., et al. (2015). Aggregated alpha-synuclein and complex I deficiency: exploration of their relationship in differentiated neurons. *Cell Death Dis.* 6:e1820. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.166
- Rhoades, E., Ramlall, T. F., Webb, W. W., and Eliezer, D. (2006). Quantification of alpha-synuclein binding to lipid vesicles using fluorescence correlation spectroscopy. *Biophys. J.* 90, 4692–4700. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.105.079251
- Rizzuto, R., and Pozzan, T. (2006). Microdomains of intracellular Ca2+: molecular determinants and functional consequences. *Physiol. Rev.* 86, 369–408. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00004.2005
- Robotta, M., Gerding, H. R., Vogel, A., Hauser, K., Schildknecht, S., Karreman, C., et al. (2014). Alpha-synuclein binds to the inner membrane of mitochondria in an alpha-helical conformation. *Chembiochem* 15, 2499–2502. doi: 10.1002/cbic. 201402281
- Rodriguez-Arribas, M., Yakhine-Diop, S. M., Pedro, J. M., Gomez-Suaga, P., Gomez-Sanchez, R., Martinez-Chacon, G., et al. (2016). Mitochondria-Associated Membranes (MAMs): overview and its role in Parkinson's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 6287–6303. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-0140-8
- Rostovtseva, T. K., Gurnev, P. A., Protchenko, O., Hoogerheide, D. P., Yap, T. L., Philpott, C. C., et al. (2015). alpha-Synuclein shows high affinity interaction with voltage-dependent anion channel, suggesting mechanisms of mitochondrial regulation and toxicity in Parkinson disease. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 18467–18477. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.641746
- Ruan, L., Zhou, C., Jin, E., Kucharavy, A., Zhang, Y., Wen, Z., et al. (2017). Cytosolic proteostasis through importing of misfolded proteins into mitochondria. *Nature* 543, 443–446. doi: 10.1038/nature21695
- Ryan, M. T., Muller, H., and Pfanner, N. (1999). Functional staging of ADP/ATP carrier translocation across the outer mitochondrial membrane. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 20619–20627. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.29.20619
- Sahay, S., Ghosh, D., Singh, P. K., and Maji, S. K. (2017). Alteration of structure and aggregation of alpha-Synuclein by familial Parkinson's disease associated mutations. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci* 18, 656–676. doi: 10.2174/ 1389203717666160314151706
- Schon, E. A., and Area-Gomez, E. (2013). Mitochondria-associated ER membranes in Alzheimer disease. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 55, 26–36. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2012. 07.011
- Shavali, S., Brown-Borg, H. M., Ebadi, M., and Porter, J. (2008). Mitochondrial localization of alpha-synuclein protein in alpha-synuclein overexpressing cells. *Neurosci. Lett.* 439, 125–128. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.05.005
- Shen, J., Du, T., Wang, X., Duan, C., Gao, G., Zhang, J., et al. (2014). alpha-Synuclein amino terminus regulates mitochondrial membrane permeability. *Brain Res.* 1591, 14–26. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.09.046
- Shvadchak, V. V., Yushchenko, D. A., Pievo, R., and Jovin, T. M. (2011). The mode of alpha-synuclein binding to membranes depends on lipid composition and lipid to protein ratio. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 3513–3519. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011. 10.006
- Siddiqui, A., Chinta, S. J., Mallajosyula, J. K., Rajagopolan, S., Hanson, I., Rane, A., et al. (2012). Selective binding of nuclear alpha-synuclein to the PGC1alpha promoter under conditions of oxidative stress may contribute to losses in mitochondrial function: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 53, 993–1003. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.05.024
- Simmen, T., Lynes, E. M., Gesson, K., and Thomas, G. (2010). Oxidative protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum: tight links to the mitochondria-associated membrane (MAM). *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1798, 1465–1473. doi: 10.1016/j. bbamem.2010.04.009
- Simunovic, F., Yi, M., Wang, Y., Macey, L., Brown, L. T., Krichevsky, A. M., et al. (2009). Gene expression profiling of substantia nigra dopamine neurons: further insights into Parkinson's disease pathology. *Brain* 132, 1795–1809. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn323
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., and Goedert, M. (1998). alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 6469–6473. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.11.6469
- Stoica, R., De Vos, K. J., Paillusson, S., Mueller, S., Sancho, R. M., Lau, K. F., et al. (2014). ER-mitochondria associations are regulated by the VAPB-PTPIP51

interaction and are disrupted by ALS/FTD-associated TDP-43. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3996. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4996

- Stoica, R., Paillusson, S., Gomez-Suaga, P., Mitchell, J. C., Lau, D. H., Gray, E. H., et al. (2016). ALS/FTD-associated FUS activates GSK-3beta to disrupt the VAPB-PTPIP51 interaction and ER-mitochondria associations. *EMBO Rep.* 17, 1326–1342. doi: 10.15252/embr.201541726
- Subramaniam, S. R., Vergnes, L., Franich, N. R., Reue, K., and Chesselet, M. F. (2014). Region specific mitochondrial impairment in mice with widespread overexpression of alpha-synuclein. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 70, 204–213. doi: 10.1016/ j.nbd.2014.06.017
- Surmeier, D. J., Obeso, J. A., and Halliday, G. M. (2017). Selective neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 101–113. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.178
- Ueda, K., Fukushima, H., Masliah, E., Xia, Y., Iwai, A., Yoshimoto, M., et al. (1993). Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding an unrecognized component of amyloid in Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 11282–11286. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.23.11282
- Ulmer, T. S., Bax, A., Cole, N. B., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2005). Structure and dynamics of micelle-bound human alpha-synuclein. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 9595–9603. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411805200
- Vamvaca, K., Volles, M. J., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2009). The first N-terminal amino acids of alpha-synuclein are essential for alpha-helical structure formation in vitro and membrane binding in yeast. J. Mol. Biol. 389, 413–424. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.03.021
- Vargas, K. J., Makani, S., Davis, T., Westphal, C. H., Castillo, P. E., and Chandra, S. S. (2014). Synucleins regulate the kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 9364–9376. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4787-13.2014
- Vivacqua, G., Casini, A., Vaccaro, R., Fornai, F., Yu, S., and D'este, L. (2011). Different sub-cellular localization of alpha-synuclein in the C57BL/6J mouse's central nervous system by two novel monoclonal antibodies. *J. Chem. Neuroanat.* 41, 97–110. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2010.12.003
- Wang, W., Perovic, I., Chittuluru, J., Kaganovich, A., Nguyen, L. T., Liao, J., et al. (2011). A soluble alpha-synuclein construct forms a dynamic tetramer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 17797–17802. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113260108
- Weinreb, P. H., Zhen, W., Poon, A. W., Conway, K. A., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (1996). NACP, a protein implicated in Alzheimer's disease and learning, is natively unfolded. *Biochemistry* 35, 13709–13715. doi: 10.1021/bi961799n
- Wozniak, A. L., Wang, X., Stieren, E. S., Scarbrough, S. G., Elferink, C. J., and Boehning, D. (2006). Requirement of biphasic calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum for Fas-mediated apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 175, 709–714. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200608035
- Xie, W., and Chung, K. K. (2012). Alpha-synuclein impairs normal dynamics of mitochondria in cell and animal models of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 122, 404–414. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07769.x

- Yang, M. L., Hasadsri, L., Woods, W. S., and George, J. M. (2010). Dynamic transport and localization of alpha-synuclein in primary hippocampal neurons. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 5:9. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-5-9
- Zaltieri, M., Longhena, F., Pizzi, M., Missale, C., Spano, P., and Bellucci, A. (2015). Mitochondrial dysfunction and alpha-synuclein synaptic pathology in Parkinson's disease: who's on first? *Parkinsons Dis.* 2015:108029. doi: 10.1155/ 2015/108029
- Zampese, E., Fasolato, C., Kipanyula, M. J., Bortolozzi, M., Pozzan, T., and Pizzo, P. (2011). Presenilin 2 modulates endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-mitochondria interactions and Ca2+ cross-talk. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 2777–2782. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1100735108
- Zhai, S., Tanimura, A., Graves, S. M., Shen, W., and Surmeier, D. J. (2018). Striatal synapses, circuits, and Parkinson's disease. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol* 48, 9–16. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2017.08.004
- Zhang, H., Liu, J., Wang, X., Duan, C., Wang, X., and Yang, H. (2016). V63 and N65 of overexpressed alpha-synuclein are involved in mitochondrial dysfunction. *Brain Res.* 1642, 308–318. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2016. 04.002
- Zhang, L., Zhang, C., Zhu, Y., Cai, Q., Chan, P., Ueda, K., et al. (2008). Semiquantitative analysis of alpha-synuclein in subcellular pools of rat brain neurons: an immunogold electron microscopic study using a C-terminal specific monoclonal antibody. *Brain Res.* 1244, 40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres. 2008.08.067
- Zhu, Y., Duan, C., Lu, L., Gao, H., Zhao, C., Yu, S., et al. (2011). alpha-Synuclein overexpression impairs mitochondrial function by associating with adenylate translocator. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 43, 732–741. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011. 01.014
- Zigoneanu, I. G., Yang, Y. J., Krois, A. S., Haque, E., and Pielak, G. J. (2012). Interaction of alpha-synuclein with vesicles that mimic mitochondrial membranes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1818, 512–519. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem. 2011.11.024

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Vicario, Cieri, Brini and Calì. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Quality Over Quantity: Advantages of Using Alpha-Synuclein Preformed Fibril Triggered Synucleinopathy to Model Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease

Megan F. Duffy¹, Timothy J. Collier^{1,2}, Joseph R. Patterson¹, Christopher J. Kemp¹, D. Luke Fischer¹, Anna C. Stoll¹ and Caryl E. Sortwell^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Translational Science and Molecular Medicine, Michigan State University, Grand Rapids, MI, United States, ² Mercy Health Hauenstein Neuroscience Medical Center, Grand Rapids, MI, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ruth G. Perez, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Rehanak K. Leak, Duquesne University, United States Philipp Janker Kahle, Hertie-Institut für klinische Hirnforschung (HIH), Germany

> *Correspondence: Caryl E. Sortwell caryl.sortwell@hc.msu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 30 May 2018 Accepted: 17 August 2018 Published: 04 September 2018

Citation:

Duffy MF, Collier TJ, Patterson JR, Kemp CJ, Fischer DL, Stoll AC and Sortwell CE (2018) Quality Over Quantity: Advantages of Using Alpha-Synuclein Preformed Fibril Triggered Synucleinopathy to Model Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. Front. Neurosci. 12:621. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00621 Animal models have significantly advanced our understanding of Parkinson's disease (PD). Alpha-synuclein (α -syn) has taken center stage due to its genetic connection to familial PD and localization to Lewy bodies, one pathological hallmark of PD. Animal models developed on the premise of elevated alpha-synuclein via germline manipulation or viral vector-mediated overexpression are used to investigate PD pathophysiology and vet novel therapeutics. While these models represented a step forward compared to their neurotoxicant model predecessors, they rely on overexpression of supraphysiological levels of α -syn to trigger toxicity. However, whereas SNCA-linked familial PD is associated with elevated α -syn, elevated α -syn is not associated with idiopathic PD. Therefore, the defining feature of the α -syn overexpression models may fail to appropriately model idiopathic PD. In the last several years a new model has been developed in which α-syn preformed fibrils are injected intrastriatally and trigger normal endogenous levels of α-syn to misfold and accumulate into Lewy body-like inclusions. Following a defined period of inclusion accumulation, distinct phases of neuroinflammation and progressive degeneration can be detected in the nigrostriatal system. In this perspective, we highlight the fact that levels of α -syn achieved in overexpression models generally exceed those observed in idiopathic and even SNCA multiplication-linked PD. This raises the possibility that supraphysiological a-syn expression may drive pathophysiological mechanisms not relevant to idiopathic PD. We argue in this perspective that synucleinopathy triggered to form within the context of normal a-syn expression represents a more faithful animal model of idiopathic PD when examining the role of neuroinflammation or the relationship between a-syn aggregation and toxicity.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, alpha-synuclein, preformed fibrils, synucleinopathy, animal models

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder, affecting 7–10 million individuals worldwide. Though PD was first described over 200 years ago by James Parkinson, no therapies currently exist to halt or slow nigrostriatal degeneration despite scores of preclinical studies predicting the success of particular disease-modifying treatment strategies. This "translational abyss" may be due in part to the failure of animal models to faithfully recapitulate human disease and, more specifically, failure to use the appropriate PD animal model.

During the past two decades, numerous preclinical studies have used overexpression of human wildtype or mutant alphasynuclein $(\alpha$ -syn) in Drosophila, rodents and non-human primates to model PD. Overexpression is achieved in these models via transgenic engineering or via injection of viral vectors. However, while these a-syn models represented an advance over neurotoxicant models through the incorporation of α -syn, the mechanism of toxicity and the neuropathology generated differ from idiopathic PD in key respects. Specifically, a-syn overexpression paradigms result in a-syn protein expression levels that far exceed levels associated with idiopathic PD, levels which can induce exacerbated neuroinflammation. Further, viral vector-mediated α -syn overexpression results in pathology in limited circuitry and can lack a protracted phase of classical Lewy body-like inclusion pathology. We contend that these shortcomings in the α -syn overexpression-based models have hindered our understanding of the pathogenic contributions of normal endogenous a-syn in idiopathic PD and have handicapped our ability to predict efficacy of novel neuroprotective therapeutics.

Recently, a model of synucleinopathy and nigral degeneration induced by intracerebral administration of sonicated preformed fibrils of α -syn (PFFs) has provided a new platform to study the pathogenic cascade in which normal levels of endogenous α -syn levels are triggered to misfold, template and accumulate. The engagement of physiologic levels of endogenous α -syn in the α -syn PFF model allows for the assessment of differential neural circuit vulnerabilities to α -syn inclusion formation and toxicity. The α -syn PFF model recapitulates many features of human idiopathic PD, namely: a protracted interval of accumulation of insoluble Lewy-like pathology, α -syn inclusion triggered neuroinflammation and degeneration of specific neuronal subpopulations.

Comprehensive comparisons of the viral vector mediated a-syn overexpression model and the a-syn PFF model have been previously conducted (Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016; Koprich et al., 2017). In this perspective, we highlight pathological features of human idiopathic and *SNCA*-linked familial PD in order to compare these features to those observed in the α -syn PFF model. Ultimately, these sporadic PD and α -syn PFF model features will be placed in the context of the pathology induced by overexpression of α -syn, with a focus on viral vector-mediated α -syn overexpression. We argue the perspective that the synucleinopathy and the inclusion-initiated nigral degeneration resulting from α -syn PFF injection provides a superior platform

for comprehending the pathophysiology of idiopathic PD and by extension, a superior platform for evaluating potential neuroprotective therapeutics.

Parkinson's Disease

Alpha-Synuclein (α -Syn) Expression and Localization in Idiopathic and SNCA-Linked Familial PD

While the majority (90-95%) of PD cases do not have an identified genetic component, they share with familial PD a role for the protein α -syn. In the CNS, α -syn accounts for approximately 1% of total protein and is localized primarily in the cytosol of axon terminals, with known roles in membrane bending, synaptic transmission, and plasticity (Bendor et al., 2013; Benskey et al., 2016). In 1997 it was first revealed that an Ala53Thr (A53T) substitution in the α -syn gene (SNCA) was associated with young onset, autosomal dominant PD (Polymeropoulos, 1998). Shortly thereafter it was shown in subjects with idiopathic PD that fibrillar a-syn was a major component of Lewy bodies (Spillantini et al., 1998). Subsequent work identified additional point mutations [A30P, E46K, H50Q, and G51D; (Kruger et al., 1998; Somme et al., 2011; Appel-Cresswell et al., 2013; Lesage et al., 2013)] that increase the risk of PD. The effects of these missense mutations on a-syn protein conformational state, solubility, membrane association, and aggregation kinetics have been extensively studied in vitro and in vivo (Jo et al., 2000; Khalaf et al., 2014; Dettmer et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2016). In addition to point mutations in SNCA, duplications or triplications of wildtype SNCA are also causative in familial PD. Collectively, this body of work provides compelling evidence that α -syn plays a central role in the pathophysiology of both familial and idiopathic PD.

As expected, studies of α -syn multiplication carriers demonstrate that α -syn mRNA and protein are elevated in these genetic forms of the disease with 1.5-2-fold increases in abundance reported (Singleton et al., 2003; Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004; Farrer et al., 2004; Fuchs et al., 2007; Olgiati et al., 2015) Notably, SNCA triplication carriers exhibit earlier onset and more-rapidly progressing PD compared to duplication carriers or sporadic PD patients, further lending support that dose-dependent increases in α -syn are a driving factor in disease onset and severity. However, in idiopathic PD the evidence for either elevated α -syn mRNA or α -syn protein is lacking. Analysis of a-syn mRNA levels within individual nigral neurons from early or late idiopathic PD subjects has revealed conflicting results with no differences reported (Tan et al., 2005; Su et al., 2017), increases reported (Grundemann et al., 2008) or decreases reported (Neystat et al., 1999; Kingsbury et al., 2004). Analysis of total a-syn protein levels in post-mortem idiopathic PD tissue suggests either a modest transient increase or similar levels to age-matched control (Zhou et al., 2011). In contrast to SNCA-linked familial PD, the concept that increases in α -syn levels drive pathophysiology in idiopathic PD is less supported.

Whereas total expression levels of α -syn appear to distinguish *SNCA* multiplication carriers from idiopathic PD patients, changes in the solubility, membrane association, and abundance of post-translationally modified forms α -syn are similar in

both patient subgroups. Investigations beyond a focus on α -syn abundance have identified changes in cellular localization and post-translational modifications as potential mechanisms of α -syn-mediated toxicity, as reviewed in Jo et al. (2000), Lee et al. (2002), Auluck et al. (2010), Tong et al. (2010), van Rooijen et al. (2010), Barrett and Timothy Greenamyre (2015), Oueslati (2016), and Burre et al. (2018). In idiopathic PD, studies have consistently demonstrated shifts in the ratio of soluble to insoluble a-syn without concurrent changes in total α-syn levels. Specifically: decreases in soluble monomeric α -syn with concurrent increases in soluble phosphorylated α -syn (pSyn) along with increases in membrane-bound α -syn have been observed in particularly vulnerable regions (SN and cortex) in sporadic PD cases (Gibb and Lees, 1988; Irizarry et al., 1998). Similar observations have also been made in samples derived from SNCA triplication carriers, albeit with increased magnitude and less regional specificity (Tong et al., 2010). The fact that both genetic and idiopathic forms of PD are associated with α-syn phosphorylation and increased membrane interactions suggests a role for these phenomena in PD pathophysiology.

Development of Lewy Pathology and Affected Circuitry

Confirmed diagnosis of PD is not made until Lewy bodies (LBs) and Lewy neurites (LNs) are observed upon post-mortem evaluation. LBs are composed of dozens of proteins, which may include α -syn, neurofilament, p62 and ubiquitin. pSyn staining is the most common immunohistochemical method of LB detection in post-mortem tissue, however, it should be noted that pSyn inclusions likely represent end stage LB development. Immature LBs, termed "pale bodies" are more often observed in early disease stages. Pale bodies are strongly immunoreactive for α -syn and manifest as intracellular diffuse, granular eosinophilic material with ill-defined borders. As disease stage advances, mature cytoplasmic LBs predominate over pale bodies and differ slightly in appearance depending on location in the cortex or brainstem (Gibb and Lees, 1988; Irizarry et al., 1998; Stefanis, 2012). With increasing maturity, LB and LN inclusions display a dense core with radiating filaments, and are strongly Thioflavin-S positive for beta-sheet structure and resistant to digestion by proteinase-K (Neumann et al., 2002; Li et al., 2010).

Although Lewy pathology is widespread in PD brain, it occurs in well-defined regions including the substantia nigra pars compacta, amygdala, olfactory bulb, temporal, frontal and parietal cortices (Halliday et al., 2011). Braak and colleagues developed a staging scheme for PD based on the location of pSyn LB and LN inclusions. Braak proposed that inclusions are first found in the olfactory bulb and dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus nerve, and follow an ascending pattern through the brainstem and finally the cortex (Braak et al., 2003; Dickson, 2018), lending to the debate of PD as a prion-like disease (Braak et al., 2003; Halliday et al., 2011; van de Berg et al., 2012). However, it should be noted that ~50% of cases do not follow this staging scheme (Burke et al., 2008; Jellinger, 2008; Kalaitzakis et al., 2008; Beach et al., 2009). Other theories suggest parallel

rather than stepwise accumulation of Lewy pathology based on differential vulnerability profiles of various cell types and regions (Engelender and Isacson, 2017).

Neuroinflammation

In recent years, neuroinflammation has been proposed as a contributor to neurodegeneration in PD and a potential target for disease modification. Early observations of post-mortem tissue describe a local increase in inflammatory markers in the SN associated with microglia, notably human-leukocyte antigen-D related [HLA-DR; (McGeer et al., 1988a,b, 1993; Imamura et al., 2003)], the human analog for major histocompatibility complex-II (MHC-II; antigen presentation). Not only has increased MHC-II expression been observed, it correlates positively with α -syn burden (Croisier et al., 2005). More recent work has implicated mutations in HLA-DR in amplified risk for developing PD, and levels of MHC-II are increased in cases of Incidental Lewy Body Disease [Braak stage I-II; (Dijkstra et al., 2015)] suggesting that inflammation may be at least in part, a contributing factor to ongoing degeneration (Kannarkat et al., 2015). On a broad level, cytokine measurements from patient biofluids (plasma and CSF) have consistently shown deviations from normal proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine levels compared to controls, although results are conflicting and may stem from variance in subject disease duration and time of sample collection (Mogi et al., 1996; Lindqvist et al., 2013; Eidson et al., 2017). However, while studies of patient tissue and biofluids have suggested that inflammation is involved in PD, these samples represent a single point in time over long disease duration. It is unclear whether neuroinflammatory markers that associate with LBs precede the formation of LBs and if the LBcontaining neurons ultimately degenerate. Thus, the time-course of neuroinflammation in relation to a-syn accumulation and aggregation and nigral degeneration in human PD has yet to be determined.

Using the α -Syn PFF Seeded Synucleinopathy to Model Idiopathic PD PFF-Induced Synucleinopathy in the Context of Normal Levels of Endogenous α -Syn

Given that idiopathic PD is not associated with an increase in total α -syn protein levels, synucleinopathy that arises in the context of normal endogenous α -syn levels would more faithfully recapitulate this key characteristic of the non-genetic form of PD. In contrast, previous models have relied on global overexpression (transgenics) or targeted overexpression (viral vector-mediated) of α -syn. The α -syn preformed fibril (PFF) model represents an approach in which synucleinopathy is induced in an environment of normal a-syn protein levels. The PFF model was first developed in vitro by introduction of α -syn PFFs to primary neuronal cultures. Briefly, α -syn fibrils are generated from recombinant α -syn monomers and sonicated to form smaller \sim 50 nm fragments which are introduced to cell culture (Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2011). The PFFs are internalized by neurons, template and recruit endogenous α -syn and accumulate as inclusions of insoluble pSyn (Luk et al., 2009; Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2011, 2014). The pSyn inclusions ultimately lead to neuronal dysfunction and degeneration. This toxicity is not due to introduction of the high quantity of PFFs *per se* but can be directly linked to the recruitment of endogenous α -syn into inclusions as evidenced by the fact that PFFs do not induce toxicity when applied to α -syn^{-/-} primary neurons (Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2011; Luk et al., 2012b).

Development of Abundant Lewy-Like Pathology in Multiple Extra Nigrostriatal Regions

The α -syn PFF model has since been extended to wildtype mice (Luk et al., 2012a) and rats (Paumier et al., 2015; Abdelmotilib et al., 2017; Duffy et al., 2018) and most recently non-human primates (Shimozawa et al., 2017). These studies demonstrate that direct intracerebral injection of a-syn PFFs leads to accumulation of insoluble pSyn inclusions resembling Lewy pathology, all taking place in an environment of normal endogenous α -syn expression levels. Similar to *in vitro* findings, the injection of the high quantity of PFFs in a-syn^{-/-} mice does not result in accumulation formation or degeneration (Luk et al., 2012b), illustrating the contribution and requirement of normal endogenous a-syn levels in the development of the pathological cascade. The similarity between α-syn PFF induced pSyn inclusions and human Lewy pathology in the SNc is particularly striking. At early time points post-injection, nigral pSyn immunoreactive inclusions resemble pale bodies: granular, diffuse and cytoplasmic (Figure 1B), whereas cortical inclusions occur abundantly in neurites and appear tendril-like in the soma. Over time, pSyn inclusions condense into more compact aggregates. The observed pSyn inclusions frequently colocalize with markers commonly observed in human LBs including p62 and ubiquitin, consist of α -syn oligomers and fibrils, and are also Thioflavin-S positive and proteinase-K resistant (Paumier et al., 2015; Duffy et al., 2018). Two photon microscopy has confirmed that neurons that form these pSyn inclusions ultimately degenerate (Osterberg Valerie et al., 2015). Similarly, the magnitude of pSyn inclusion formation observed in the substantia nigra 2 months following PFF injection can be used to predict the ultimate extent of nigral degeneration observed at 6 months (Duffy et al., 2018). The protracted course of these aggregation and degeneration events provides investigators the ability to focus on particular phases of the synucleinopathy cascade.

In vivo, the spatial emergence of LB and LN-like pathology is dependent on the location of PFF injection. For example, several groups have demonstrated that intrastriatal injections of PFFs result in pSyn inclusion accumulation in cell bodies of regions innervating the striatum (Wall et al., 2013): namely the substantia nigra, agranular insular and motor cortices, and amygdala (Luk et al., 2012a,b; Paumier et al., 2015; Abdelmotilib et al., 2017; Duffy et al., 2018), suggesting that axon terminals internalize the PFFs. The occurrence of pathology in these defined regions supports the concept of retrograde transport and templating of endogenous α -syn within neurons exposed to the injection site, rather than prion-like spread throughout the extensive brain networks. Importantly, areas in which pathology is observed are implicated in human PD (Halliday et al., 2011).

Neuroinflammation

In addition to generating α -syn pathology in multiple brain regions, intrastriatal injection of a-syn PFFs allows for investigations to delineate the time course of the inflammatory response in the substantia nigra. Due to the fact that the injection site (striatum) is spatially separated from the substantia nigra, inflammation related to surgical injection is minimized. Intrastriatal injection of PFFs, but not vehicle or other protein controls, induces peak reactive Figure 1D microglial morphology in the substantia nigra at 2 months, corresponding to the time point in which the greatest number of pSyn inclusions are observed (Duffy et al., 2018). In addition, a pSyn specific increase in MHC-II immunoreactive microglia is observed at this same time point, significantly correlating with pSyn inclusion load. This relationship between MHC-II immunoreactivity and α -syn inclusion burden is reminiscent to what has been reported in idiopathic PD (Croisier et al., 2005) providing face validity to the a-syn PFF model. However, while MHC-II is classically associated with a proinflammatory phenotype, it is unknown whether MHC-IIir microglia play a direct role in neurodegeneration, as a recent study has suggested that decreased expression of MHC-II and its regulator, Mhc2ta, augment α-syn pathology and accelerate degeneration (Jimenez-Ferrer et al., 2017). In addition, determining the stimulus of MHC-II expression is warranted (i.e., classical stimuli such as extracellular proteins or alternative induction by IFN-y secretion). It is possible that the gradual and modest nature of degeneration is insufficient to activate a sufficient immune response, rendering microglia as neutral. In addition, microglia promote tissue healing and repair, as they represent the brain's primary defense system against insult and infection. Therefore, clarifying the beneficial or detrimental role[s] of microglia at different disease stages is warranted. We suggest that the PFF model provides an improved platform for clarifying the role of microglia in synucleinopathy and degeneration, as it avoids the confounds of surgical artifact, compressed time-course, and irrelevant inflammatory responses resulting from continuous supraphysiological expression of human protein.

Is α -Syn Overexpression Analogous to Idiopathic PD?

Reliance on Supraphysiological α -Syn Levels and Lack of Protracted Lewy-Like Pathology

The development of AAV- α -syn overexpression models represents a significant advantage over previous neurotoxicant models which lack synucleinopathy as a component of disease pathology. Notably, AAV- α -syn overexpression models have provided insights into direct mechanisms of α -syn toxicity, including axonal and dopamine transport deficits and impairment of protein degradation pathways (Chung et al., 2009; Gaugler et al., 2012; Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016; Koprich et al., 2017). Models induced by intranigral injection of adenoassociated (AAV) or lentiviral (LV) overexpressing human wildtype or mutant α -syn often result in dramatic increases in the levels of protein (Kirik et al., 2002; Klein et al., 2002; Lo Bianco et al., 2002; Yamada et al., 2004; Ulusoy et al., 2010;



Lundblad et al., 2012; Mulcahy et al., 2012; Oliveras-Salvá et al., 2013; Van der Perren et al., 2015; Ip et al., 2017). Although final protein levels are titer dependent, many studies report levels of α -syn 2–20× higher than normal endogenous expression levels, as reviewed extensively (Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016). As these levels far exceed those observed in either idiopathic, duplication and even SNCA triplication carriers, they raise the potential for pathophysiological mechanisms specific to

supraphysiological α -syn expression, mechanisms that may not be relevant to idiopathic PD. Indeed, the downregulation of multiple trophic factor responsive genes is observed with fourfold, but not lower α -syn overexpression levels (Decressac et al., 2012; Su et al., 2017). *In vitro* studies show that following transduction, neurons release multiple forms of α -syn (Kim et al., 2013). It is therefore likely that α -syn is similarly released from neurons transduced *in vivo*. It is unclear

Feature	AAV-overexpression models	α-syn PFF model
Ability to examine impact of α-synuclein inclusions distinct from degeneration	Difficult	Straightforward
	Simultaneous α -syn overexpression and aggregation progresses rapidly to degeneration over the course of weeks	Distinct interval of inclusion formation followed by degeneration over a protracted time course
Injection artifact	Confound	Less of a factor
	Direct injections into the SN produce marked neuroinflammatory response that can make interpretation difficult	Direct injections into the striatum have less of an impact within the SN
α-synuclein levels	Not analogous to idiopathic PD	Normal endogenous α-syn levels
	Continuous supraphysiological α-syn levels produced by forced overexpression are not analogous to idiopathic PD	Pathophysiology results from templating of normal levels of α-syn
Extranigral α -synuclein pathology	Not present	α-syn pathology in multiple regions
	Pathology limited to the nigrostriatal system	Allows for the examination of events outside of nigrostriatal system

Abbreviations: AAV, adeno-associated virus; α -syn, alpha-synuclein; PD, Parkinson's disease; PFFs, alpha-synuclein preformed fibrils; SN, substantia nigra.

to what extent inclusion-bearing neurons release $\alpha\text{-syn,}$ if at all.

Lewy pathology in PD is widespread and likely develops in multiple regions concurrently. In contrast, AAV and LVmediated overexpression models drive a-syn expression in discrete circuitries, most often the nigrostriatal system. Another consideration is the form of Lewy pathology generated by α -syn overexpression. Although pSyn immunoreactive and proteinase-K resistant inclusions have been reported they are most often small and punctate (Ip et al., 2017) in contrast to the large, cytoplasmic aggregates seen in human PD and in the α -syn PFF model. Further, frequently the pSyn inclusions generated following a-syn overexpression are localized to the nucleus Figure 1A and Supplementary Material, unlike the cytoplasmic LBs that are the hallmark of PD and are observed in the PFF model (Figure 1B). A dramatic rise in cytosolic pSyn has been documented in PD (Zhou et al., 2011), and thus pSyn localized to the nucleus that is observed with viral vector-mediated a-syn overexpression would prevent pSyn's ability to interact with cytoplasmic proteins and structures.

Transgenic models overexpressing wildtype or mutant α -syn consistently display widespread synuclein pathology including proteinase-K resistant inclusions and behavioral deficits (Tanji et al., 2010; Yamakado et al., 2012). While there are some exceptions (Nuber et al., 2013), the majority of transgenic models do not exhibit robust, protracted nigral degeneration (Matsuoka et al., 2001; Fernagut and Chesselet, 2004). Thus, while transgenic models are adequate for investigating development of Lewy-like pathology as a consequence of germline genetic changes, most fail to recapitulate downstream nigral degeneration and thus have limited translational potential for evaluation of neuroprotective strategies.

Inflammation in AAV and LV-Mediated

Overexpression Models: Location, Location, Location Another feature of viral vector-mediated α -syn overexpression models that is often leveraged is their ability to produce a robust neuroinflammatory response as indicated by microgliosis, MHC-II and CD68 on microglia, in addition to production of proinflammatory cytokines (Chung et al., 2009; Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2010; Harms et al., 2013). However, there are several considerations when interpreting the disease relevance of the neuroinflammatory response in this paradigm. First, the majority of viral vector models are induced by direct intranigral injection which alone, in the absence of α -syn overexpression, can trigger a pronounced increase in MHC-II immunoreactive microglia (Figure 1C). This suggests that a significant component of the inflammatory response resulting from intranigral injections of α -syn vectors is due to the injection itself. Further, as previously stated, α -syn overexpression paradigms can result in the release of supraphysiological levels of α -syn into the immediate environment. This secretion of α -syn likely triggers a neuroinflammatory response in the absence of degeneration (Figure 1C) that has little to do with the disease state attempting to be modeled. Lastly, the majority of AAV and LV models overexpress human α -syn, not rodent α -syn, in rats and mice (Fischer et al., 2016; Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016). As rat and mouse α -syn differs from human α -syn by eight amino acids, it is plausible that overexpression of the foreign human protein may initiate an artificial inflammatory response.

CONCLUSION

The multiple features of the α -syn PFF model and the AAV a-syn model have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (refs). However, we contend that some of these model-specific features deserve specific attention when modeling idiopathic PD (**Table 1**). In particular, we offer that that α -syn PFF model may be better suited for studies of neuroinflammation and the relationship between α -syn aggregation and toxicity in idiopathic PD. The ability to advance our understanding of pathophysiology in idiopathic PD and predict the efficacy of novel therapeutics is dependent on the fidelity of animal models to the disease state. When modeling idiopathic PD, the presence of LB-like α -syn

inclusions within the context of normal endogenous α -syn levels in multiple brain regions, which ultimately results in progressive nigrostriatal degeneration are an essential model feature. While α -syn overexpression models have advanced our understanding of a-syn-mediated toxicity, they depend on focal expression of supraphysiological levels of a-syn in a limited circuitry. In contrast to SNCA-linked familial PD, clinicopathologic evidence does not support the concept that increases in α -syn levels drive pathophysiology in idiopathic PD and therefore a-syn overexpression may trigger pathogenic mechanisms that may not be relevant to idiopathic PD. We propose that accumulation of Lewy body-like inclusions in multiple regions induced by injection of PFFs in the context of normal α-syn levels, ultimately resulting in downstream inflammation and progressive nigral degeneration, more faithfully models the sequence of events in idiopathic PD. Additionally, findings from the PFF-model may be applicable to other synucleinopathies. Thus, the synucleinopathy induced by a-syn PFF injections represents an exceptional preclinical PD model to investigate the pathogenic contribution of endogenous a-syn, and assess novel disease-modifying therapeutics.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All procedures performed in studies involving animals were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Institute for

REFERENCES

- Abdelmotilib, H., Maltbie, T., Delic, V., Liu, Z., Hu, X., Fraser, K. B., et al. (2017). alpha-Synuclein fibril-induced inclusion spread in rats and mice correlates with dopaminergic Neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 105, 84–98. doi: 10.1016/j. nbd.2017.05.014
- Appel-Cresswell, S., Vilarino-Guell, C., Encarnacion, M., Sherman, H., Yu, I., Shah, B., et al. (2013). Alpha-synuclein p.H50Q, a novel pathogenic mutation for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 28, 811–813. doi: 10.1002/mds. 25421
- Auluck, P. K., Caraveo, G., and Lindquist, S. (2010). alpha-Synuclein: membrane interactions and toxicity in Parkinson's disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 26, 211–233. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.042308.113313
- Barrett, P. J., and Timothy Greenamyre, J. (2015). Post-translational modification of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Res.* 1628(Pt B), 247–253. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.06.002
- Beach, T. G., Adler, C. H., Lue, L., Sue, L. I., Bachalakuri, J., Henry-Watson, J., et al. (2009). Unified staging system for Lewy body disorders: correlation with nigrostriatal degeneration, cognitive impairment and motor dysfunction. *Acta Neuropathol.* 117, 613–634. doi: 10.1007/s00401-009-0538-8
- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P., and Edwards, R. H. (2013). The function of alphasynuclein. *Neuron* 79, 1044–1066. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Benskey, M. J., Perez, R. G., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016). The contribution of alpha synuclein to neuronal survival and function - implications for Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 137, 331–359. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13570
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rüb, U., de Vos, R. A., Jansen Steur, E. N., Braak, E., et al. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging.* 24, 197–211. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(02)00065-9
- Burke, R. E., Dauer, W. T., and Vonsattel, J. P. (2008). A critical evaluation of the Braak staging scheme for Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 64, 485–491. doi: 10.1002/ana.21541
- Burre, J., Sharma, M., and Sudhof, T. C. (2018). Cell biology and pathophysiology of alpha-Synuclein. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 8:a024091. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a024091

Animal Use and Care Committee (IACUC) at Michigan State University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

This manuscript was conceived and organized by MD, TC, and CS and discussed among all authors. Data were generated by MD, CK, CS, DF, and AS. The manuscript was first written and revised by MD and CS, and it was reviewed and critiqued by all authors.

FUNDING

Support provided by the Department of Translational Science and Molecular Medicine, the Neuroscience Graduate Program, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NS099416), the Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research and the Edwin A. Brophy Endowment at Michigan State University.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins. 2018.00621/full#supplementary-material

- Chartier-Harlin, M. C., Kachergus, J., Roumier, C., Mouroux, V., Douay, X., Lincoln, S., et al. (2004). Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 364, 1167–1169. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17103-1
- Chung, C. Y., Koprich, J. B., Siddiqi, H., and Isacson, O. (2009). Dynamic changes in presynaptic and axonal transport proteins combined with striatal neuroinflammation precede dopaminergic neuronal loss in a rat model of AAV alpha-synucleinopathy. J. Neurosci. 29, 3365–3373. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 5427-08.2009
- Croisier, E., Moran, L. B., Dexter, D. T., Pearce, R. K., and Graeber, M. B. (2005). Microglial inflammation in the parkinsonian substantia nigra: relationship to alpha-synuclein deposition. *J Neuroinflammation* 2:14. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-2-14
- Decressac, M., Mattsson, B., Lundblad, M., Weikop, P., and Björklund, A. (2012). Progressive neurodegenerative and behavioural changes induced by AAVmediated overexpression of alpha-synuclein in midbrain dopamine neurons. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 45, 939–953. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2011.12.013
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., Soldner, F., Luth, E. S., Kim, N. C., von Saucken, V. E., et al. (2015). Parkinson-causing alpha-synuclein missense mutations shift native tetramers to monomers as a mechanism for disease initiation. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7314. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8314
- Dickson, D. W. (2018). Neuropathology of Parkinson disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 46, S30–S33. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2017.07.033
- Dijkstra, A. A., Ingrassia, A., de Menezes, R. X., van Kesteren, R. E., Rozemuller, A. J., Heutink, P., et al. (2015). Evidence for immune response, axonal dysfunction and reduced endocytosis in the substantia nigra in early stage Parkinson's Disease. *PLoS One* 10:e0128651. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128651
- Duffy, M. F., Collier, T. J., Patterson, J. R., Kemp, C. J., Luk, K. C., Tansey, M. G., et al. (2018). Lewy body-like alpha-synuclein inclusions trigger reactive microgliosis prior to nigral degeneration. *J Neuroinflammation* 15:129. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1171-z
- Eidson, L. N., Kannarkat, G. T., Barnum, C. J., Chang, J., Chung, J., Caspell-Garcia, C., et al. (2017). Candidate inflammatory biomarkers display unique relationships with alpha-synuclein and correlate with measures of disease

severity in subjects with Parkinson's disease. J Neuroinflammation 14:164. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0935-1

- Engelender, S., and Isacson, O. (2017). The threshold theory for Parkinson's Disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 40, 4–14. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2016.10.008
- Farrer, M., Kachergus, J., Forno, L., Lincoln, S., Wang, D. S., Hulihan, M., et al. (2004). Comparison of kindreds with parkinsonism and alphasynuclein genomic multiplications. *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 174–179. doi: 10.1002/ana. 10846
- Fernagut, P.-O., and Chesselet, M.-F. (2004). Alpha-synuclein and transgenic mouse models. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 17, 123–130. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2004.07.001
- Fischer, D. L., Gombash, S. E., Kemp, C. J., Manfredsson, F. P., Polinski, N. K., Duffy, M. F., et al. (2016). Viral vector-based modeling of neurodegenerative disorders: Parkinson's Disease. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1382, 367–382. doi: 10.1007/ 978-1-4939-3271-9_26
- Fischer, D. L., Manfredsson, F. P., Kemp, C. J., Cole-Strauss, A., Lipton, J. W., Duffy, M. F., et al. (2017). Subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation does not modify the functional deficits or axonopathy induced by nigrostriatal alpha-synuclein overexpression. *Sci. Rep.* 7:16356. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16690-x
- Fuchs, J., Nilsson, C., Kachergus, J., Munz, M., Larsson, E. M., Schüle, B., et al. (2007). Phenotypic variation in a large Swedish pedigree due to SNCA duplication and triplication. *Neurology* 68, 916–922. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl. 0000254458.17630.c5
- Gaugler, M. N., Genc, O., Bobela, W., Mohanna, S., Ardah, M. T., Cantoni, M., et al. (2012). Nigrostriatal overabundance of alpha-synuclein leads to decreased vesicle density and deficits in dopamine release that correlate with reduced motor activity. *Acta Neuropathol.* 123, 653–669. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-0963-y
- Gibb, W. R., and Lees, A. J. (1988). The relevance of the Lewy body to the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 51, 745–752. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.51.6.745
- Gombash, S. E., Manfredsson, F. P., Kemp, C. J., Kuhn, N. C., Fleming, S. M., Egan, A. E., et al. (2013). Morphological and behavioral impact of AAV2/5-mediated overexpression of human wildtype alpha-synuclein in the rat nigrostriatal system. *PLoS One* 8:e81426. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081426
- Grundemann, J., Schlaudraff, F., Haeckel, O., and Liss, B. (2008). Elevated alphasynuclein mRNA levels in individual UV-laser-microdissected dopaminergic substantia nigra neurons in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36:e38. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn084
- Halliday, G. M., Holton, J. L., and Revesz, T. (2011). Neuropathology underlying clinical variability in patients with synucleinopathies. *Acta Neuropathol.* 122, 187–204. doi: 10.1007/s00401-011-0852-9
- Harms, A. S., Cao, S., Rowse, A. L., Thome, A. D., Li, X., Mangieri, L. R., et al. (2013). MHCII is required for alpha-synuclein-induced activation of microglia, CD4 T cell proliferation, and dopaminergic neurodegeneration. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 9592–9600. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5610-12.2013
- Imamura, K., Hishikawa, N., Sawada, M., Nagatsu, T., Yoshida, M., Hashizume, Y., et al. (2003). Distribution of major histocompatibility complex class II-positive microglia and cytokine profile of Parkinson's disease brains. *Acta Neuropathol.* 106, 518–526. doi: 10.1007/s00401-003-0766-2
- Ip, C. W., Klaus, L. C., Karikari, A. A., Visanji, N. P., Brotchie, J. M., Lang, A. E., et al. (2017). AAV1/2-induced overexpression of A53T-alpha-synuclein in the substantia nigra results in degeneration of the nigrostriatal system with Lewylike pathology and motor impairment: a new mouse model for Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 5:11. doi: 10.1186/s40478-017-0416-x
- Irizarry, M. C., Growdon, W., Gomez-Isla, T., Newell, K., George, J. M., Clayton, D. F., et al. (1998). Nigral and cortical Lewy bodies and dystrophic nigral neurites in Parkinson's disease and cortical Lewy body disease contain alpha-synuclein immunoreactivity. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 57, 334–337. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199804000-00005
- Jellinger, K. A. (2008). A critical reappraisal of current staging of Lewy-related pathology in human brain. Acta Neuropathol. 116, 1–16. doi: 10.1007/s00401-008-0406-y
- Jimenez-Ferrer, I., Jewett, M., Tontanahal, A., Romero-Ramos, M., and Swanberg, M. (2017). Allelic difference in Mhc2ta confers altered microglial activation and susceptibility to α-synuclein-induced dopaminergic neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 106, 279–290. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2017. 07.016

- Jo, E., McLaurin, J., Yip, C. M., St George-Hyslop, P., and Fraser, P. E. (2000). alpha-Synuclein membrane interactions and lipid specificity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 34328–34334. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004345200
- Kalaitzakis, M. E., Graeber, M. B., Gentleman, S. M., and Pearce, R. K. (2008). The dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus is not an obligatory trigger site of Parkinson's disease: a critical analysis of alpha-synuclein staging. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 34, 284–295. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.2007.00 923.x
- Kannarkat, G. T., Cook, D. A., Lee, J. K., Chang, J., Chung, J., Sandy, E., et al. (2015). Common Genetic variant association with altered hla expression, synergy with pyrethroid exposure, and risk for parkinson's disease: an observational and case-control study. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 1:15002. doi: 10.1038/npjparkd. 2015.2
- Khalaf, O., Fauvet, B., Oueslati, A., Dikiy, I., Mahul-Mellier, A. L., Ruggeri, F. S., et al. (2014). The H50Q mutation enhances alpha-synuclein aggregation, secretion, and toxicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 21856–21876. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114. 553297
- Kim, C., Ho, D. H., Suk, J. E., You, S., Michael, S., Kang, J., et al. (2013). Neuron-released oligomeric alpha-synuclein is an endogenous agonist of TLR2 for paracrine activation of microglia. *Nat. Commun.* 4:1562. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms2534
- Kingsbury, A. E., Daniel, S. E., Sangha, H., Eisen, S., Lees, A. J., Foster, O. J., et al. (2004). Alteration in α-synuclein mRNA expression in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 162–170. doi: 10.1002/mds.10683
- Kirik, D., Rosenblad, C., Burger, C., Lundberg, C., Johansen, T. E., Muzyczka, N., et al. (2002). Parkinson-like neurodegeneration induced by targeted overexpression of alpha-synuclein in the nigrostriatal system. *J Neurosci.* 22, 2780–2791. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-07-02780.2002
- Klein, R. L., King, M. A., Hamby, M. E., and Meyer, E. M. (2002). Dopaminergic cell loss induced by human A30P alpha-synuclein gene transfer to the rat substantia nigra. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 13, 605–612. doi: 10.1089/10430340252837206
- Koprich, J. B., Kalia, L. V., and Brotchie, J. M. (2017). Animal models of alphasynucleinopathy for Parkinson disease drug development. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 515–529. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2017.75
- Kruger, R., Kuhn, W., Müller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kösel, S., et al. (1998). Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet.*, 18, 106–108. doi: 10.1038/ng0298-106
- Lee, H. J., Choi, C., and Lee, S. J. (2002). Membrane-bound alpha-synuclein has a high aggregation propensity and the ability to seed the aggregation of the cytosolic form. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 671–678. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M1070 45200
- Lesage, S., Anheim, M., Letournel, F., Bousset, L., Honoré, A., Rozas, N., et al. (2013). G51D alpha-synuclein mutation causes a novel parkinsonian-pyramidal syndrome. *Ann. Neurol.* 73, 459–471. doi: 10.1002/ana.23894
- Li, J. Y., Englund, E., Widner, H., Rehncrona, S., Björklund, A., Lindvall, O., et al. (2010). Characterization of Lewy body pathology in 12- and 16-yearold intrastriatal mesencephalic grafts surviving in a patient with Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 1091–1096. doi: 10.1002/mds.23012
- Lindqvist, D., Hall, S., Surova, Y., Nielsen, H. M., Janelidze, S., Brundin, L., et al. (2013). Cerebrospinal fluid inflammatory markers in Parkinson's disease – Associations with depression, fatigue, and cognitive impairment. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 33, 183–189. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.07.007
- Lo Bianco, C., Déglon, N., Pralong, W., and Aebischer, P. (2002). alpha -Synucleinopathy and selective dopaminergic neuron loss in a rat lentiviralbased model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 10813–10818. doi: 10.1073/pnas.152339799
- Luk, K. C., Kehm, V., Carroll, J., Zhang, B., O'Brien, P., Trojanowski, J. Q., et al. (2012a). Pathological alpha-synuclein transmission initiates Parkinsonlike neurodegeneration in nontransgenic mice. *Science* 338, 949–953. doi: 10. 1126/science.1227157
- Luk, K. C., Kehm, V. M., Zhang, B., O'Brien, P., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., et al. (2012b). Intracerebral inoculation of pathological α -synuclein initiates a rapidly progressive neurodegenerative α -synucleinopathy in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 975–986. doi: 10.1084/jem.20112457
- Luk, K. C., Song, C., O'Brien, P., Stieber, A., Branch, J. R., Brunden, K. R., et al. (2009). Exogenous α-synuclein fibrils seed the formation of Lewy body-like intracellular inclusions in cultured cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 20051–20056. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908005106

- Lundblad, M., Decressac, M., Mattsson, B., and Björklund, A. (2012). Impaired neurotransmission caused by overexpression of alpha-synuclein in nigral dopamine neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 3213–3219. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1200575109
- Matsuoka, Y., Vila, M., Lincoln, S., McCormack, A., Picciano, M., LaFrancois, J., et al. (2001). Lack of nigral pathology in transgenic mice expressing human alpha-synuclein driven by the tyrosine hydroxylase promoter. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 8, 535–539. doi: 10.1006/nbdi.2001.0392
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and McGeer, E. G. (1988a). Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., and McGeer, E. G. (1988b). Expression of the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR in neurological disease. Acta Neuropathol. 76, 550–557.
- McGeer, P. L., Kawamata, T., Walker, D. G., Akiyama, H., Tooyama, I., McGeer, E. G., et al. (1993). Microglia in degenerative neurological disease. *Glia* 7, 84–92. doi: 10.1002/glia.440070114
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Narabayashi, H., Inagaki, H., Minami, M., Nagatsu, T., et al. (1996). Interleukin (IL)-1 beta. *Neurosci. Lett.* 211, 13–16. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(96)12706-3
- Mulcahy, P., O'Doherty, A., Paucard, A., O'Brien, T., Kirik, D., Dowd, E., et al. (2012). Development and characterisation of a novel rat model of Parkinson's disease induced by sequential intranigral administration of AAValpha-synuclein and the pesticide, rotenone. *Neuroscience* 203, 170–179. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.12.011
- Neumann, M., Kahle, P. J., Giasson, B. I., Ozmen, L., Borroni, E., Spooren, W., et al. (2002). Misfolded proteinase K-resistant hyperphosphorylated alpha-synuclein in aged transgenic mice with locomotor deterioration and in human alphasynucleinopathies. J. Clin. Invest. 110, 1429–1439. doi: 10.1172/JCI200215777
- Neystat, M., Lynch, T., Przedborski, S., Kholodilov, N., Rzhetskaya, M., Burke, R. E., et al. (1999). Alpha-synuclein expression in substantia nigra and cortex in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 14, 417–422. doi: 10.1002/1531-8257(199905) 14:3<417::AID-MDS1005>3.0.CO;2-X
- Nuber, S., Harmuth, F., Kohl, Z., Adame, A., Trejo, M., Schönig, K., et al. (2013). A progressive dopaminergic phenotype associated with neurotoxic conversion of alpha-synuclein in BAC-transgenic rats. *Brain* 136(Pt 2), 412–432. doi: 10. 1093/brain/aws358
- Olgiati, S., Thomas, A., Quadri, M., Breedveld, G. J., Graafland, J., Eussen, H., et al. (2015). Early-onset parkinsonism caused by alpha-synuclein gene triplication: clinical and genetic findings in a novel family. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 21, 981–986. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.06.005
- Oliveras-Salvá, M., Van der Perren, A., Casadei, N., Stroobants, S., Nuber, S., D'Hooge, R., et al. (2013). rAAV2/7 vector-mediated overexpression of alpha-synuclein in mouse substantia nigra induces protein aggregation and progressive dose-dependent neurodegeneration. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 8, 44–44. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-8-44
- Osterberg, V. R., Spinelli, K. J., Weston, L. J., Luk, K. C., Woltjer, R. L., Unni, V. K., et al. (2015). Progressive aggregation of alpha-synuclein and selective degeneration of lewy inclusion-bearing neurons in a mouse model of Parkinsonism. *Cell Rep.* 10, 1252–1260. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.060
- Oueslati, A. (2016). Implication of alpha-synuclein phosphorylation at S129 in synucleinopathies: what have we learned in the last decade? *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 6, 39–51. doi: 10.3233/JPD-160779
- Paumier, K. L., Luk, K. C., Manfredsson, F. P., Kanaan, N. M., Lipton, J. W., Collier, T. J., et al. (2015). Intrastriatal injection of pre-formed mouse alpha-synuclein fibrils into rats triggers alpha-synuclein pathology and bilateral nigrostriatal degeneration. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 82, 185–199. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.06.003
- Polymeropoulos, M. H. (1998). Autosomal dominant Parkinson's disease and alpha-synuclein. Ann. Neurol. 44(3 Suppl. 1), S63–S64. doi: 10.1002/ana. 410440710
- Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Febbraro, F., Kirik, D., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2010). Microglia acquire distinct activation profiles depending on the degree of alphasynuclein neuropathology in a rAAV based model of Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 5:e8784. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008784
- Shimozawa, A., Ono, M., Takahara, D., Tarutani, A., Imura, S., Masuda-Suzukake, M., et al. (2017). Propagation of pathological alpha-synuclein in marmoset brain. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 5:12. doi: 10.1186/s40478-017-0413-0

- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., et al. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302:841. doi: 10.1126/science.1090278
- Somme, J. H., Gomez-Esteban, J. C., Molano, A., Tijero, B., Lezcano, E., Zarranz, J. J., et al. (2011). Initial neuropsychological impairments in patients with the E46K mutation of the alpha-synuclein gene (PARK 1). J. Neurol. Sci. 310, 86–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2011.07.047
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., and Goedert, M. (1998). alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 6469– 6473. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.11.6469
- Stefanis, L. (2012). α-Synuclein in Parkinson's Disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a009399. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009399
- Su, X., Fischer, D. L., Li, X., Bankiewicz, K., Sortwell, C. E., Federoff, H. J., et al. (2017). Alpha-synuclein mRNA Is not increased in sporadic PD and alphasynuclein accumulation does not block GDNF signaling in parkinson's disease and disease models. *Mol. Ther.* 25, 2231–2235. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017. 04.018
- Tan, E. K., Chandran, V. R., Fook-Chong, S., Shen, H., Yew, K., Teoh, M. L., et al. (2005). Alpha-synuclein mRNA expression in sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 20, 620–623. doi: 10.1002/mds.20391
- Tanji, K., Mori, F., Mimura, J., Itoh, K., Kakita, A., Takahashi, H., et al. (2010). Proteinase K-resistant alpha-synuclein is deposited in presynapses in human Lewy body disease and A53T alpha-synuclein transgenic mice. Acta Neuropathol. 120, 145–154. doi: 10.1007/s00401-010-0676-z
- Tong, J., Henry, W., Mark, G., Ang, L. C., Forno, L. S., Shimadzu, M., et al. (2010). Brain alpha-synuclein accumulation in multiple system atrophy, Parkinson's disease and progressive supranuclear palsy: a comparative investigation. *Brain* 133(Pt 1), 172–188. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp282
- Ulusoy, A., Decressac, M., Kirik, D., and Björklund, A. (2010). Viral vectormediated overexpression of alpha-synuclein as a progressive model of Parkinson's disease. *Prog. Brain Res.* 184, 89–111. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10) 84005-1
- van de Berg, W. D., Hepp, D. H., Dijkstra, A. A., Rozemuller, J. A., Berendse, H. W., Foncke, E., et al. (2012). Patterns of alpha-synuclein pathology in incidental cases and clinical subtypes of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 18, S28–S30. doi: 10.1016/S1353-8020(11)70011-6
- Van der Perren, A., Van den Haute, C., and Baekelandt, V. (2015). "Viral Vector-Based Models of Parkinson's Disease," in *Behavioral Neurobiology of Huntington's Disease and Parkinson's Disease*, eds H. H. P. Nguyen and M. A. Cenci (Berlin: Springer), 271–301.
- van Rooijen, B. D., Claessens, M. M., and Subramaniam, V. (2010). Membrane interactions of oligomeric alpha-synuclein: potential role in Parkinson's disease. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci.* 11, 334–342. doi: 10.2174/1389203107913 30659
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Kirik, D., Stoyka, L. E., Standaert, D. G., and Harms, A. S. (2016). How can rAAV-alpha-synuclein and the fibril alpha-synuclein models advance our understanding of Parkinson's disease? *J. Neurochem.* 139(Suppl. 1), 131–155. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13627
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Luk, K. C., and Lee, V. M. (2014). Addition of exogenous alpha-synuclein preformed fibrils to primary neuronal cultures to seed recruitment of endogenous alpha-synuclein to Lewy body and Lewy neurite-like aggregates. *Nat. Protoc.* 9, 2135–2146. doi: 10.1038/nprot. 2014.143
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Luk, K. C., Patel, T. P., Tanik, S. A., Riddle, D. M., Stieber, A., et al. (2011). Exogenous alpha-synuclein fibrils induce Lewy body pathology leading to synaptic dysfunction and neuron death. *Neuron* 72, 57–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.08.033
- Wall, N. R., De La Parra, M., Callaway, E. M., and Kreitzer, A. C. (2013). Differential innervation of direct- and indirect-pathway striatal projection neurons. *Neuron* 79, 347–360. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.05.014
- Xu, J., Wu, X. S., Sheng, J., Zhang, Z., Yue, H. Y., Sun, L., et al. (2016). alpha-synuclein mutation inhibits endocytosis at mammalian central nerve terminals. *J. Neurosci.* 36, 4408–4414. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3627-15. 2016
- Yamada, M., Iwatsubo, T., Mizuno, Y., and Mochizuki, H. (2004). Overexpression of alpha-synuclein in rat substantia nigra results in loss of dopaminergic neurons, phosphorylation of alpha-synuclein and activation of caspase-9:

resemblance to pathogenetic changes in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 91, 451-461. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02728.x

- Yamakado, H., Moriwaki, Y., Yamasaki, N., Miyakawa, T., Kurisu, J., Uemura, K., et al. (2012). alpha-synuclein BAC transgenic mice as a model for Parkinson's disease manifested decreased anxiety-like behavior and hyperlocomotion. *Neurosci. Res.* 73, 173–177. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2012. 03.010
- Zhou, J., Broe, M., Huang, Y., Anderson, J. P., Gai, W. P., Milward, E. A., et al. (2011). Changes in the solubility and phosphorylation of alpha-synuclein over the course of Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 121, 695–704. doi: 10.1007/ s00401-011-0815-1

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Duffy, Collier, Patterson, Kemp, Fischer, Stoll and Sortwell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





α-Synuclein and Noradrenergic Modulation of Immune Cells in Parkinson's Disease Pathogenesis

Laura M. Butkovich, Madelyn C. Houser and Malú G. Tansey*

Tansey Laboratory, Department of Physiology, School of Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

 α -synuclein (α -syn) pathology and loss of noradrenergic neurons in the locus coeruleus (LC) are among the most ubiquitous features of Parkinson's disease (PD). While noradrenergic dysfunction is associated with non-motor symptoms of PD, preclinical research suggests that the loss of LC norepinephrine (NE), and subsequently its immune modulatory and neuroprotective actions, may exacerbate or even accelerate disease progression. In this review, we discuss the mechanisms by which α -syn pathology and loss of central NE may directly impact brain health by interrupting neurotrophic factor signaling, exacerbating neuroinflammation, and altering regulation of innate and adaptive immune cells.

Keywords: α-synuclein, locus coeruleus, Parkinson's disease, neuroinflammation, norepinephrine, immune cell

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ruth G. Perez, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Luigi Bubacco, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy Victor Tapias, Weill Cornell Medicine, United States

> *Correspondence: Malú G. Tansey malu.tansey@emory.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 21 August 2018 Published: 11 September 2018

Citation:

Butkovich LM, Houser MC and Tansey MG (2018) α-Synuclein and Noradrenergic Modulation of Immune Cells in Parkinson's Disease Pathogenesis. Front. Neurosci. 12:626. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00626

INTRODUCTION

Locus coeruleus (LC) degeneration and α -synuclein (α -syn) aggregation are among the most ubiquitous features of Parkinson's disease (PD) (Chui et al., 1986; German et al., 1992; Zarow et al., 2003). Brain regions affected in PD, including the LC, contain large protein-rich intracellular inclusions known as Lewy bodies (LB) or Lewy neurites (LN) accompanied by chronic inflammation and neuron loss (den Hartog and Bethlem, 1960; Spillantini et al., 1997; Tansey and Goldberg, 2010). While LBs and LNs contain numerous proteins, α -syn is the predominant component (Spillantini et al., 1997), and α -syn is the major pathological protein underlying PD pathogenesis. α -syn is a 140-amino acid protein encoded by the SNCA gene, which is expressed in many tissue types and which accounts for approximately 1% of cytosolic proteins in neurons (Shibayama-Imazu et al., 1993; Iwai et al., 1995; Stefanis, 2012). It is highly expressed in the presynaptic terminals where it acts as a molecular chaperone in SNARE formation and vesicular trafficking (Burre et al., 2010). Genetic evidence comes from individuals carrying SNCA mutations, which confer increased risk of PD, or autosomal dominant forms of PD (Klein and Schlossmacher, 2006). Finally, animal models overexpressing α -syn develop age-dependent α -syn aggregates and PD-like behavioral abnormalities (Masliah et al., 2000; Giasson et al., 2002). The initiating event in α -syn aggregation is unknown, but Lewy pathology (LP) and cell loss are common within discrete neuronal populations in PD.

Extensive dysfunction of catecholaminergic neurons is a well-established feature of PD, and a major hallmark is LP and loss of dopaminergic (DA) neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) which induces motor impairments including tremor, muscle rigidity, bradykinesia, and postural instability (Hirsch et al., 1988; Fearnley and Lees, 1991; Parkinson, 2002). A diagnosis of PD is currently dependent on the presence of motor symptoms and striatal dopamine deficiency; however, PD is a multifactorial disease with non-motor symptoms that are associated with alterations in cholinergic, serotonergic, and noradrenergic systems occurring years or even decades prior to the onset of motor dysfunction (Gonera et al., 1997; Abbott et al., 2005; Ross et al., 2008).

85

LP and degeneration of several pontine and medullary nuclei (including the dorsal raphe, dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus, pedunculopontine nucleus, and LC) are ubiquitous features of PD (Halliday et al., 1990). The LC is the major source of norepinephrine (NE) to the CNS, and it is among the first brain regions to be affected in PD (Iversen et al., 1983; Mann and Yates, 1983; Braak et al., 2001). NE is the ligand for the adrenergic receptors (ARs) comprised of seven G-protein coupled receptors that are G_q-, G_{i/o}-, or G_s-coupled, allowing NE to have diverse functional effects dependent on receptor expression and cell type (Strosberg, 1993). LC neurons are constitutively active and innervate virtually every brain region via extensive and complex axonal arborization that facilitates the release of both synaptic NE and extra-synaptic NE at axonal varicosities (Freedman et al., 1975; Grzanna and Molliver, 1980; Jones and Yang, 1985; Agnati et al., 1995) where LC-NE can be neuroprotective by both direct and indirect mechanisms. Here, we will review evidence that LC dysfunction may exacerbate PD pathophysiology and may represent a tipping point in disease progression.

LC-NE DYSREGULATION COULD PROMOTE THE PROGRESSION OF PD PATHOLOGY

It is unclear why certain neuronal populations like the LC are vulnerable to α -syn pathology, but sensitivity to oxidative stress, pacemaker activity, and extensive contact with blood vessels that may expose LC neurons to circulating toxins have been implicated (Jenner, 2003; Cho, 2014; Pamphlett, 2014). The degree of noradrenergic innervation to a brain region is negatively correlated with DA loss (Tong et al., 2006), indicating that the loss of central NE and its neuroprotective actions may directly influence the rate of PD progression. In PD, loss of LC neurons begins prior to nigral pathology and appears to be of greater magnitude (German et al., 1992; Zarow et al., 2003; Szot et al., 2006; Brunnstrom et al., 2011). Per the Braak staging hypothesis of PD pathology, LP first appears in brainstem nuclei (stage 1), and, as PD progresses, continues along a caudo-rostral axis with LC pathology appearing at stage 2 and SNpc pathology at stage 3, before ultimately extending into cortical regions (Braak et al., 2003). PD brain tissue has marked LC denervation in many brain regions and loss of LC cell bodies that extends throughout its rostral-caudal axis (Javoy-Agid et al., 1984; German et al., 1992; Pavese et al., 2011). Imaging and postmortem histological studies of PD patients reveal a progressive loss of central NE throughout the brain (Pifl et al., 2012) along with accumulation of a-syn and loss of LC neurons (Halliday et al., 1990; Chen et al., 2014; Keren et al., 2015; Isaias et al., 2016). LC neuron vulnerability to α -syn pathology can be replicated experimentally. A recent model targeted viral vector-mediated overexpression of a familial PD mutant α -syn variant to the murine LC region (Henrich et al., 2018). While transgene expression was not restricted to neuronal cells, the resulting progressive α syn aggregation, gliosis, and LC degeneration are reminiscent of LC pathology found in PD. Enzymes responsible for NE synthesis and NE metabolite levels are reduced in the CSF of PD

patients, also supporting these central changes in NE metabolism (Hurst et al., 1985; Goldstein et al., 2012). Evidence of early LC dysfunction can be found in patients who do not meet the diagnostic criteria for PD. In such individuals, decreased neuron density in the LC, but not VTA or dorsal raphe, corresponds to the severity of global parkinsonism (Buchman et al., 2012), suggesting that this state may represent prodromal/preclinical PD. Patients who had LP at autopsy but lacked any of the clinical signs of PD also had reduced LC neuron density as compared to DA neurons in the SNpc, further highlighting the possible early role of LC neuron loss in PD (Dickson et al., 2008).

There is also evidence that α -syn may directly affect NE homeostasis by two separate mechanisms. First, norepinephrine transporter (NET)-expressing cells transfected for α-syn expression reveal that high levels of α -syn negatively regulate NET expression on the cell surface, while relatively lower levels increase NET expression (Wersinger et al., 2006). Second, when a-syn is overexpressed in an NE-producing cell line or transgenic rodent model, it can translocate to the nucleus and directly interfere with transcription of dopamine ß-hydroxylase (DBH), the enzyme involved in the final step of NE synthesis, reducing NE production (Kim et al., 2011, 2014). It is possible that interfering in NE neurotransmission could, in turn, impact a-syn expression as ß-adrenergic receptor (ß-AR) agonists reduce SNCA mRNA and a-syn protein expression in induced pluripotent stem cells derived from individuals carrying the SNCA triplication mutation (Mittal et al., 2017). Together, these data indicate that α -syn can influence NE metabolism, and that this, in turn, could impact α -syn expression, although additional work is required to determine if this is clinically relevant.

PD NON-MOTOR SYMPTOMS

The LC is the major source of NE to the CNS (Mouton et al., 1994), and dysregulated noradrenergic innervation is associated with many of the non-motor symptoms of PD including anxiety (Casacchia et al., 1975; Stein et al., 1990; Nuti et al., 2004), depression (Shulman et al., 2002; Ravina et al., 2007), rapid eye movement (REM) sleep behavioral disorder (RBD) (Sixel-Doring et al., 2011; Kalaitzakis et al., 2013), and dementia (Chui et al., 1986).

Up to 60% of PD patients report experiencing some form of anxiety (Chaudhuri and Schapira, 2009; Lin et al., 2015; Houser and Tansey, 2017). Dopamine, serotonin, and NE have been implicated in PD anxiety, suggesting that its neurobiological origins are complex (Eskow Jaunarajs et al., 2011; Thobois et al., 2017; Joling et al., 2018). LC neurons are highly active during stress exposure (Bingham et al., 2011; Curtis et al., 2012) and innervate all corticolimbic regions involved in the anxiety response (Aston-Jones et al., 1991, 1999). In PD patients, anxiety severity is inversely correlated with dopamine/NE transporter binding in the LC (Remy et al., 2005), and experimentally, selectively inhibiting LC neurons during stress exposure blocks the subsequent anxiety-like behavior (McCall et al., 2015). Around 35% of PD patients suffer from depression (Reijnders et al., 2008; Houser and Tansey, 2017). Dysfunction of LC-NE is known to be associated with depression (Moriguchi et al., 2017) and is a common pharmacological target in the treatment of depression (Ressler and Nemeroff, 2001; Remy et al., 2005). Indeed, early investigation of NET expression in the LC reported decreased NET in major depressive disorder (Klimek et al., 1997), although results from subsequent studies have been inconsistent (Moriguchi et al., 2017). While it is unclear if NET is downregulated due to lack of available NE or in order to increase synaptic NE levels, it is clear that NE dysfunction can contribute to depressive symptoms.

LC neuron activity fluctuates diurnally with increased activity immediately prior to waking and during waking hours (Hobson et al., 1975). Sleep disturbances are one of the most common complaints from PD patients (Smith et al., 1997) and can include insomnia (Gjerstad et al., 2007), excessive daytime sleepiness (Rye et al., 2000), and RBD (Comella et al., 1998; Gagnon et al., 2002). A recent study reported that disturbed sleep is positively correlated with anxiety and depression in PD (Rana et al., 2018). In fact, RBD is the most predictive non-motor symptom of synucleinopathies with up to 92% of idiopathic RBD patients receiving a synucleinopathy diagnosis within 14 years (Iranzo et al., 2006; Postuma et al., 2009; Schenck et al., 2013). There is evidence that LC neurons in individuals that have PD with disturbed sleep contain more LP than in those without (Kalaitzakis et al., 2013), and mice lacking DBH (and subsequently, NE) have significantly disturbed sleep behavior (Hunsley and Palmiter, 2003). Together, these data suggest that loss of central NE may directly contribute to the development of sleep disturbances in PD.

An estimated 83% of PD patients will experience some sort of cognitive dysfunction, including dementia (Hely et al., 2008). Dementia is characterized by cognitive impairment, including memory loss, attentional deficits, and loss of executive function (Elizan et al., 1986; Aarsland et al., 2003). While dementia is generally associated with cholinergic deficits and late-stage PD, early executive disturbances may arise from deregulation of LC-NE. PD patients with dementia have more extensive loss of LC-NE in cortical regions than those without (Chan-Palay and Asan, 1989). In fact, degeneration of LC neurons and loss of cortical NE is a central component of dementia of Alzheimer's type (Mann and Yates, 1983; Zarow et al., 2003). In animal models, hippocampal LC-NE is essential for proper memory acquisition and retrieval (Devauges and Sara, 1991; Mello-Carpes et al., 2016), and loss of LC neurons can impact memory and enhance cognitive deficits (Ohno et al., 1997; Chalermpalanupap et al., 2018).

BEYOND THE NON-MOTOR SYMPTOMS

The temporal relationship between LC and SNpc pathology suggests that loss of LC-NE may leave SNpc neurons more vulnerable to α -syn toxicity and potentiate the rate of PD progression. Experimentally, loss of LC-NE exacerbates 6-OHDA- and MPTP-mediated nigral degeneration in rodent

and primate models (Mavridis et al., 1991; Srinivasan and Schmidt, 2003; Rommelfanger et al., 2007; Yao et al., 2015), while increasing synaptic NE by genetic deletion or pharmacological blockade of the NE transporter (NET) confers resistance (Kilbourn et al., 1998; Rommelfanger et al., 2004). Indeed, individuals with a functional polymorphism in the promoter regions of the *DBH* gene have reduced risk of developing PD (Healy et al., 2004). In sum, these data demonstrate that loss of NE may exacerbate nigral pathology.

NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS

NE can directly act as a neurotrophic factor but can also indirectly stimulate neurotrophic factor expression. Primary mesencephalic cultures treated chronically with NE have a significantly reduced rate of cell death, increased neuritic processes, and reduced production of reactive oxygen species when compared to untreated cultures, and this phenotype resembles cultures treated with traditional antioxidants (Troadec et al., 2001, 2002). Increasing synaptic NE was shown to be protective against neuron loss and inflammation in a model of hypoxic-ischemia (Toshimitsu et al., 2018). While NE ligation of ARs directly facilitates neuroprotection by several mechanisms, the neuroprotective effects are not always blocked by AR antagonists, suggesting NE-mediated protection may also occur indirectly. One candidate mechanism of interest is the neuropeptide brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which is synthesized and released by astrocytes and neurons, including those in the LC (Castren et al., 1995). BDNF signaling is primarily mediated by binding to the high affinity tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor (TrkB), which can protect SNpc neurons in experimental models, and BDNF mRNA is reduced in the SNpc in PD (Hyman et al., 1991; Spina et al., 1992; Howells et al., 2000). NE can also enhance BDNF transcription and BDNF/TrkB kinetics (Chen et al., 2007). Activation of the β1-adrenergic receptor stimulates BDNF transcription in astrocytes (Koppel et al., 2018). When BDNF binds to TrkB, signal transduction is mediated by TrkB dimerizing and autophosphorylating (Haniu et al., 1997). NE can induce autophosphorylation of TrkB and is protective against cell death in primary culture (Liu et al., 2015). In addition to loss of NE, α -syn may also directly disrupt the neuroprotective effects of BDNF. A recent study demonstrated that α -syn has the potential to bind the kinase domain on TrkB receptors, preventing the neurotrophic signaling of BDNF/TrkB, and that this exacerbates degeneration of DA neurons (Kang et al., 2017).

CENTRAL INFLAMMATION

Neuroinflammation is a vital mechanism in restoring brain integrity following neuronal insult but is also a core component of PD pathology. In a healthy brain, the inflammatory response resolves relatively quickly, with normal brain function restored (Roth et al., 2014; Laumet et al., 2018). In neurodegenerative diseases, such as PD, sustained neuroinflammation can become cytotoxic, aggravating neuronal degeneration. It is unclear what triggers the initial inflammation in PD, but extracellular monomeric or aggregated α -syn can be phagocytosed by microglia and induce their activation (Zhang et al., 2005; Hoenen et al., 2016), and neuronal overexpression of α -syn aggravates and prolongs neuroinflammation (Miller et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2011; Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2013). In PD patients, immune mediators such as IL-1ß, TGFB, IFNy, and IL-6 are increased in the cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) and nigrostriatal regions (Mogi et al., 1994; Blum-Degen et al., 1995; Mount et al., 2007), and SNpc DA neurons appear particularly sensitive to proinflammatory cytokines (McGuire et al., 2001; Mount et al., 2007; Tansey and Goldberg, 2010). In fact, neuroinflammation is detectable prior to signs of neuronal degeneration, suggesting a potential early role for inflammation in PD pathogenesis (Theodore et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2012).

Research indicates that dysregulation of noradrenergic signaling may also play a role in driving inflammation. Like overexpression of neuronal α-syn, lesioning LC neurons using a noradrenergic-specific toxin also induces inflammation (Theodore et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2012; Yao et al., 2015; Song et al., 2018). NE can have activating or inhibitory effects on immune cells depending on adrenergic receptor expression, which varies depending on the cellular environment (Khan et al., 1985; Tanaka et al., 2002). Therefore, LC degeneration and subsequent deficient brain NE may contribute to PD pathology by loss of normal immune cell modulation. Microglia, the brainresident macrophages, are the sentinels of brain parenchyma, monitoring tissue integrity and responding to infection or injury (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005). When ramified (resting) microglia are activated, they adopt an amoeboid morphology, proliferate, and become phagocytic, releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines which can recruit central and peripheral immune cells to the site of insult (Hayes et al., 1987). There is extensive evidence of sustained microglial over-activation in degenerating brain regions in PD (Kim and Joh, 2006; Tansey and Goldberg, 2010), and inhibiting microglia activation with minocycline prevents DA neuronal loss in mice treated with a DA neuron-specific toxin (Wu et al., 2002).

Microglia express many neurotransmitter receptors, including ARs (Pocock and Kettenmann, 2007). While more studies are required to understand how AR activation affects microglial phenotypes, depletion of NE, as is found in PD, exacerbates microglial inflammatory responses (Heneka et al., 2002; Bharani et al., 2017). AR-mediated modulation of microglia is well documented, although reports of the functional outcome are inconsistent. In murine brain slices, resting microglia appear to preferentially express the excitatory ß2-AR, but shift toward the inhibitory a2-AR receptor expression following activation with the canonical microglial activator lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Gyoneva and Traynelis, 2013). However, microglial treatment with an ß2-AR agonist is reported to have anti- or proinflammatory effects. For example, cultured primary microglia treated with a ß2-AR agonist suppressed microglial proliferation (Fujita et al., 1998), while a subsequent study reported that priming microglia with a ß2-AR agonist prior to LPS treatment significantly increased pro-inflammatory IL-1ß and IL-6 expression (Johnson et al., 2013). The functional outcome of microglial AR activation appears dependent on the physiological context, and further examination is needed to determine how this may influence PD pathology.

PERIPHERAL INFLAMMATION

There is abundant evidence that the inflammatory manifestations of PD are not confined to the CNS. Indicators of inflammation have been found in the colon tissue, stool, and blood as well as in the CSF. Colonic expression of the genes encoding proinflammatory cytokines TNF, IFNy, IL-6, and IL-1ß is increased in PD, accompanied by evidence of gliosis (Devos et al., 2013). Recently, we reported that IL-1 α , IL-1 β , CXCL8, and CRP are significantly elevated in stool from PD patients compared to controls (Houser et al., 2018), and that serum levels of TNF, IFNy, and neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin levels are significantly and consistently different in PD over a 24-h period (Eidson et al., 2017). Local α-syn expression has been found to increase under inflammatory conditions in the periphery (Stolzenberg et al., 2017), and α -syn pathology has been observed in the enteric nervous system of PD patients, even from the earliest stages of disease (Stokholm et al., 2016; Barrenschee et al., 2017; Punsoni et al., 2017). These findings demonstrate that similar pathological processes are active in the CNS and the periphery in PD, and there is almost certainly significant crosstalk between them.

Degradation of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) has been well documented in PD (Kortekaas et al., 2005; Pisani et al., 2012; Gray and Woulfe, 2015), and it has been proposed that this impaired barrier function exposes the CNS to circulating factors that could promote α -syn aggregation (Gray and Woulfe, 2015), immune cell infiltration, neuroinflammation, and, ultimately, neurodegeneration (Rite et al., 2007). Whether through direct effects of reduced signaling through endothelial β-ARs or through increases in vascular permeability-promoting inflammation, LC neurodegeneration compromises the integrity of tight junctions (Kalinin et al., 2006) and increases permeability of the BBB (Nag and Harik, 1987). BBB leakiness enables greater interaction between central and peripheral immune activities, allowing exchange of cytokines, chemokines, and other circulating molecules and potentially even facilitating infiltration of peripheral immune cells into the CNS where loss of central NE modulation could result in aberrant immune cell activity.

As with brain-resident microglia, immune cells originating in the periphery can also be modulated by NE. Peripheral immune cells infiltrate the brain parenchyma in PD (Kannarkat et al., 2013), and these will likely be directly impacted by reduced levels of central NE. Peripheral NE levels may also play important immunomodulatory roles in PD. The NE deficiency found in the CNS in PD is not consistently recapitulated in the periphery, with several studies reporting no difference in NE levels in plasma from PD patients compared to healthy controls (Eldrup et al., 1995; Goldstein et al., 2003). It is likely, however, that at least a subset of PD patients is affected by peripheral NE dysregulation as evinced by the prevalence of neurogenic orthostatic hypotension (NOH) associated with this disease. NOH is a condition in which insufficient noradrenergic activity results in failure to appropriately increase blood pressure (BP) in response to a postural change such as sitting up or standing. This results in insufficient cerebral blood supply and can produce lightheadedness and dizziness, which increase fall risk (Merola et al., 2016). NOH occurs frequently in conditions involving synucleinopathy, and roughly 30% of PD patients are affected. NOH in PD is attributed to noradrenergic postganglionic sympathetic denervation associated with LP and a subsequent failure to induce sufficient NE production when transitioning to an upright position (reviewed by Loavenbruck and Sandroni, 2015). PD patients with orthostatic hypotension exhibit lower levels of NE in plasma compared to PD patients without NOH that reach levels significantly lower than non-PD controls (Senard et al., 1990; Niimi et al., 1999; Goldstein et al., 2005). This creates the potential for PD-associated NE deficiency to modulate peripheral immune responses as well as central.

Nearly every lymphoid tissue in the body has postganglionic sympathetic innervation, and peripheral innate and adaptive immune cells express ARs, rendering them responsive to NE. Excitatory β 2-ARs are the most highly expressed ARs on peripheral immune cells, and their activity likely dominates the immune response to NE. β-AR signaling has potent antiinflammatory effects on innate immune cells (reviewed by Qiao et al., 2018). In macrophages, which bear close functional resemblance to microglia, it suppresses pro-inflammatory activity and promotes tolerogenic and homeostatic phenotypes (Grailer et al., 2014; Noh et al., 2017). It also limits the number and the effector functions of natural killer (NK) cells (Whalen and Bankhurst, 1990; Takamoto et al., 1991). Adrenergic signaling has been shown to impair the functions of neutrophils and eosinophils as well (Gosain et al., 2009; Brunskole Hummel et al., 2013; Noguchi et al., 2015). Dendritic cells connect the innate and adaptive immune responses by sampling antigens in the local environment and then presenting them with appropriate polarization signals to T cells. B2-AR activation profoundly suppresses dendritic cell functionality, inhibiting their maturation, migration, antigen presentation including cross presentation, and proinflammatory cytokine production while inducing expression of anti-inflammatory factors (Seiffert et al., 2002; Herve et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2016; Qiao et al., 2018). It is important to note that while these anti-inflammatory effects on innate immune cells are well-documented, study designs differ widely, and the effects they observe on these cells vary depending on physiological context, time, AR agonist, and dose. Further research will be necessary to better characterize the relationship between NE and innate immune responses.

CD4+ T helper (Th) cells are indirectly affected by AR agonists due to their suppressive effects on dendritic cells which result in diminished differentiation of effector T cells, particularly Th1s (Wu et al., 2016). Th1 cells also express β 2-ARs (McAlees et al., 2011), and their proliferation and activity are inhibited upon ligation of this receptor (Ramer-Quinn et al., 1997; Riether et al., 2011). Since Th2 cells do not express ARs (McAlees et al., 2011), their functionality is not directly modulated by exposure to NE, but NE-mediated suppression of Th1 cells would relieve their negative regulatory pressure on Th2 cells, indirectly promoting

Th2-mediated immune activity, which is canonically involved in anti-helminth and allergic immune responses but not classic inflammation (Huang et al., 2015). β 2-AR signaling also impairs the activity of CD8+ memory and effector T cells (Chen et al., 2016; Estrada et al., 2016; Bucsek et al., 2017).

The consequences of AR ligation on other T cell subsets are less straightforward. The intricacies of the potential effects of NE on CD4+ Th17 cells are just beginning to be elucidated. These cells are important actors in normal mucosal immunity, but they are also implicated in autoimmune pathology. Several studies have reported that treatment of CD4+ cells with NE promotes differentiation of Th17 cells and increases their activity (IL-17 production) while simultaneously inhibiting Th1 differentiation and activity (IFNy production) (Carvajal Gonczi et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2018). On the other hand, studies of Th17 cells from both mice and humans with Th17-mediated autoimmune diseases found that treating CD4+ T cells with NE inhibited the differentiation and activity of Th17 cells (IFNy production was also still reduced) (Boyko et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2018). This indicates that the immunoregulatory effects of NE on Th17 cells are dependent on the physiological context. It is also possible that autoimmune conditions in which pathology is mediated in part by IL-17-producing cells might constitute a unique context in which this alternative regulatory action of NE is observed. For instance, in such conditions, a highly inflammatory cell type that exhibits characteristics of both Th1 and Th17 cells is typically present (Murphy et al., 2010), and it may be that the actions of NE on this particular cell type rather than on canonical Th17s dominate its observed effects in these autoimmune diseases.

Findings on NE modulation of CD4+ T regulatory (Treg) cells, an anti-inflammatory subset which counteracts effector functions of other types of T cells, are even more ambiguous. One study reports that treatment of Tregs with NE prior to transfer in an autoimmune arthritis mouse model rendered them pathological and worsened the disease (Harle et al., 2008). In the same vein, another study found that NE exposure decreased the regulatory activity of Tregs and even induced their apoptosis (Wirth et al., 2014). On the other hand, a study in humans reported that Treg frequencies were elevated under conditions which increased circulating NE levels and that treatment of Tregs with epinephrine, which is chemically similar to NE and binds the same receptors, stimulated Treg proliferation. This effect was blocked by treatment with a β -AR antagonist (Inoue et al., 2017). A final study reported no detectable effects of treatment with NE or epinephrine on human Tregs, though they did determine that they could express three different types of ARs (Cosentino et al., 2007). Obviously, more research is needed to determine the effect of NE on Tregs.

B cells also express β 2-ARs, and there is evidence that NE can negatively regulate the magnitude of antibody responses. The effects are highly varied, however, as they are influenced by the effects of NE on T cells, by the stimuli used to activate B cells, and by the immunological and physiological context of the experiment (extensively reviewed by Kin and Sanders, 2006). A couple of more recent studies suggest that, under conditions of autoimmune disease in which B cells contribute to inflammatory activity and pathology, NE exerts a suppressive effect on these

cells which is mediated by decreased IL-7 receptor signaling and enhanced production of anti-inflammatory IL-10 (Pongratz et al., 2012, 2014).

The effects described here do not represent the full extent of peripheral NE-mediated neuroimmune interactions. Most studies to date have focused on the results of β 2-AR signaling, but immune cells express other ARs as well which can mediate different effects (Lorton and Bellinger, 2015), and, as in the brain, the relative levels of these receptors change in different immune environments. Activation of the same AR can even produce distinct responses depending on the concentration of the ligand and its temporal relationship to immunogenic stimuli (reviewed by Lorton and Bellinger, 2015). This provides important plasticity for neuroimmune regulatory mechanisms. Nonetheless, many functional studies support the existing literature that indicates a primarily anti-inflammatory impact of peripheral NE. Vagus nerve stimulation is known to have clear immunosuppressive effects (Inoue et al., 2017) and to reduce synuclein expression in the brain (Farrand et al., 2017), and these effects are mediated in large part by NE signaling through β-ARs (Vida et al., 2011). A recent review (Bucsek et al., 2018) summarized numerous studies showing that chemical ablation of sympathetic neurons or β-AR blockade enhanced immune responses to different bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections while AR agonist treatment impaired anti-viral and anti-parasite responses. Several of the studies found that these effects were specific to modulation of peripheral adrenergic activity, but it was also demonstrated that this could induce corresponding immune responses in the CNS. Similarly, another study found that ablation of peripheral and LC noradrenergic neurons prompted an exaggerated acute inflammatory response to peripheral LPS that was observed both in the brain and in the circulation (Bharani et al., 2017).

Taken together, the data on peripheral immune cells and their function when challenged indicate that NE is immunosuppressive, and as such, postganglionic sympathetic denervation and NE deficiency in PD could stimulate proinflammatory immune activity. This has implications for PD pathogenesis and the progression of disease pathology. Peripheral and systemic inflammation have been well documented in PD, and it has been proposed that inflammatory mechanisms may contribute to non-motor symptoms and also be responsible for the development and spread of synucleinopathy and the induction of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in this disorder (Qin et al., 2016; Houser and Tansey, 2017). PDassociated gastrointestinal abnormalities and dysfunction are consistent with inflammatory conditions in the gut (Houser and Tansey, 2017), and levels of proinflammatory cytokines in the blood correlate positively with the severity of anxiety and depression in PD patients (Wang et al., 2016). a-syn levels increase in the context of immune activation, and some data suggest that peripheral inflammation can induce elevated α -syn expression in the brain (Kelly et al., 2014) and that peripheral α syn can migrate to the brain through the vagus nerve (Holmqvist et al., 2014). α-syn has also been shown to exert chemoattractant properties on peripheral myeloid cells, including recruiting them into the brain in a rodent PD model (Stolzenberg et al., 2017; Harms et al., 2018). Infiltration of peripheral CD4+ and CD8+

T cells into the brain has also been observed in PD (Brochard et al., 2009), and it has been shown that these T cells (primarily the CD4+ subset) in peripheral blood from PD patients recognize and respond to peptides derived from α -syn (Sulzer et al., 2017). In animal models of parkinsonian neuropathology, invading monocytes and CD4+ T cells have been identified as key mediators of neurodegeneration (Brochard et al., 2009; Harms et al., 2018).

NE deficiency, centrally and/or in the periphery, could potentiate all of these immune-mediated effects in PD. It would impair anti-inflammatory regulatory functions, shifting immune cells toward more pro-inflammatory phenotypes. Innate immune cells affected in this way would be less able to clear a-syn aggregates and neuronal debris effectively and in a toleragenic manner and more likely to recruit additional effector cells, stimulate their pro-inflammatory activities, and perhaps even present a-syn and other neuronal antigens in a context which could induce autoimmune responses (Sulzer et al., 2017). Furthermore, the activity of at least some T cell subsets which may be pathologically involved in PD could be potentiated by a loss of inhibitory NE signaling. Especially in the context of a compromised BBB, these pro-inflammatory immune cells and their products would have greater access to the CNS and could infiltrate and mediate damaging effects on neurons there.

DISCUSSION

Extensive dysfunction of catecholaminergic neurons is a wellestablished feature of PD, and while a major hallmark is LP and loss of DA neurons in the SNpc, PD is a multifactorial disease with alterations in cholinergic, serotinergic, and noradrenergic systems occurring years earlier and generally associated with PD's non-motor symptoms (Halliday et al., 1990; Braak et al., 2003). α-syn pathology and a progressive decline in LC-NE have been well characterized; still it is unclear why these neurons are among the most vulnerable in PD. Still less is known about how the deficits in LC-NE and the loss of its neuroprotective and neuroimmune modulatory effects could influence the development of synucleinopathy and exacerbate PD pathology (summarized in Figure 1). Preclinical research has provided compelling evidence supporting the neuroprotective functions of NE. Experimentally, depletion of NE renders SNpc neurons vulnerable in toxin models of PD (Mavridis et al., 1991; Srinivasan and Schmidt, 2003; Rommelfanger et al., 2007), while NE enhancement is protective (Kilbourn et al., 1998; Rommelfanger et al., 2004). Additionally, there is a reciprocal modulatory relationship between a-syn and NE whereby asyn can modulate NE neurotransmission, both at the level of synthesis (Kim et al., 2014), and by modulating NET expression at the cell surface (Wersinger et al., 2006), and NE can attenuate SNCA transcription and α -syn protein expression (Mittal et al., 2017). As PD pathophysiology progresses, LP develops in the SNpc and other brain regions, and LC-NE denervation may exacerbate the rate and/or degree of degeneration during this premotor phase of PD. Experimentally, NE drives BDNF/TrkB



signal transduction (Liu et al., 2015), while α -syn can interrupt it (Kang et al., 2017). The detrimental effects of declining NE in PD may be compounded by the inhibition of BDNF-mediated neuroprotection by α -syn. This could contribute to the low serum BDNF levels that negatively correlate with motor impairment in later PD (Scalzo et al., 2010). Neuroinflammation is a cardinal feature of PD and experimentally, both α -syn overexpression and lesion of the LC neurons result in inflammation (Theodore et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2012; Yao et al., 2015). While the experimental outcomes are currently inconsistent, it is clear that NE can modulate microglia activation status (Fujita et al., 1998;

Gyoneva and Traynelis, 2013; Johnson et al., 2013). The decline in brain NE, increase in synucleinopathy, and subsequent modulation of microglia may contribute to the chronic inflammation found in PD brain tissue. Such inflammation is sufficient to induce parkinsonian neurodegeneration (Duffy et al., 2018; Song et al., 2018).

While the brain was once believed to be "immune privileged," the entry of peripheral immune cells through the BBB is now a well-established feature of PD. Numerous immune cell populations are responsive to NE, and its deficiency in the periphery would diminish what seems to be a largely anti-inflammatory regulatory influence. This could promote exaggerated pro-inflammatory immune responses systemically. If the peripheral immune cells were recruited to the brain, reduced local NE levels combined with synuclein pathology would serve to augment and sustain inflammatory activity.

The physiological effects of neuroimmune interactions both centrally and peripherally are myriad, and their subtleties are just beginning to be appreciated and studied in detail. They may have the potential, however, to offer new therapeutic approaches for disorders such as PD for which effective treatments remain elusive. Future research evaluating the incidence of PD among individuals taking β -AR blockers (Mittal et al., 2017), for instance, and the rate of disease progression in PD patients

REFERENCES

- Aarsland, D., Andersen, K., Larsen, J. P., Lolk, A., and Kragh-Sorensen, P. (2003). Prevalence and characteristics of dementia in Parkinson disease: an 8-year prospective study. Arch. Neurol. 60, 387–392. doi: 10.1001/archneur.60.3.387
- Abbott, R. D., Ross, G. W., White, L. R., Tanner, C. M., Masaki, K. H., Nelson, J. S., et al. (2005). Excessive daytime sleepiness and subsequent development of Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 65, 1442–1446. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000183056. 89590.0d
- Agnati, L. F., Zoli, M., Stromberg, I., and Fuxe, K. (1995). Intercellular communication in the brain: wiring versus volume transmission. *Neuroscience* 69, 711–726. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(95)00308-6
- Aston-Jones, G., Rajkowski, J., and Cohen, J. (1999). Role of locus coeruleus in attention and behavioral flexibility. *Biol. Psychiatry* 46, 1309–1320. doi: 10.1016/ S0006-3223(99)00140-7
- Aston-Jones, G., Shipley, M. T., Chouvet, G., Ennis, M., van Bockstaele, E., Pieribone, V., et al. (1991). Afferent regulation of locus coeruleus neurons: anatomy, physiology and pharmacology. *Prog. Brain Res.* 88, 47–75. doi: 10. 1016/S0079-6123(08)63799-1
- Barrenschee, M., Zorenkov, D., Bottner, M., Lange, C., Cossais, F., Scharf, A. B., et al. (2017). Distinct pattern of enteric phospho-alpha-synuclein aggregates and gene expression profiles in patients with Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 5:1. doi: 10.1186/s40478-016-0408-2
- Bharani, K. L., Derex, R., Granholm, A. C., and Ledreux, A. (2017). A noradrenergic lesion aggravates the effects of systemic inflammation on the hippocampus of aged rats. *PLoS One* 12:e0189821. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189821
- Bingham, B., McFadden, K., Zhang, X., Bhatnagar, S., Beck, S., and Valentino, R. (2011). Early adolescence as a critical window during which social stress distinctly alters behavior and brain norepinephrine activity. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 36, 896–909. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.229
- Blum-Degen, D., Muller, T., Kuhn, W., Gerlach, M., Przuntek, H., and Riederer, P. (1995). Interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6 are elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer's and de novo Parkinson's disease patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 202, 17–20. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(95)12192-7
- Boyko, A., Melnikov, M., Zhetishev, R., and Pashenkov, M. (2016). The role of biogenic amines in the regulation of interaction between the immune and

treated with drugs that raise peripheral NE levels, such as droxidopa, could reveal new information about the role of NE in PD pathology.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LB contributed to conception and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MH wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Funding support for authors was provided by NIH/NINDS 5F31NS098673 (LB), NIH/NIA 1R01 AG057247 (MT and MH), NIH/NINDS 5R01NS092122 (MT and MH), and NIH/NIA 3RF1AG051514-01 (MT).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank members of the Tansey lab for scientific discussions and Joshua Houser for assistance with graphic design.

nervous systems in multiple Sclerosis. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 23, 217–223. doi: 10.1159/000449167

- Braak, E., Sandmann-Keil, D., Rub, U., Gai, W. P., de Vos, R. A., Steur, E. N., et al. (2001). alpha-synuclein immunopositive Parkinson's disease-related inclusion bodies in lower brain stem nuclei. *Acta Neuropathol*. 101, 195–201.
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rub, U., de Vos, R. A., Jansen Steur, E. N., and Braak, E. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 197–211. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(02) 00065-9
- Brochard, V., Combadiere, B., Prigent, A., Laouar, Y., Perrin, A., Beray-Berthat, V., et al. (2009). Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 182–192. doi: 10.1172/JCI36470
- Brunnstrom, H., Friberg, N., Lindberg, E., and Englund, E. (2011). Differential degeneration of the locus coeruleus in dementia subtypes. *Clin. Neuropathol.* 30, 104–110. doi: 10.5414/NPP30104
- Brunskole Hummel, I., Reinartz, M. T., Kalble, S., Burhenne, H., Schwede, F., Buschauer, A., et al. (2013). Dissociations in the effects of beta2-adrenergic receptor agonists on cAMP formation and superoxide production in human neutrophils: support for the concept of functional selectivity. *PLoS One* 8:e64556. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064556
- Buchman, A. S., Nag, S., Shulman, J. M., Lim, A. S., VanderHorst, V. G., Leurgans, S. E., et al. (2012). Locus coeruleus neuron density and parkinsonism in older adults without Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 1625–1631. doi: 10.1002/ mds.25142
- Bucsek, M. J., Giridharan, T., MacDonald, C. R., Hylander, B. L., and Repasky, E. A. (2018). An overview of the role of sympathetic regulation of immune responses in infectious disease and autoimmunity. *Int. J. Hyperthermia* 34, 135–143. doi: 10.1080/02656736.2017.1411621
- Bucsek, M. J., Qiao, G., MacDonald, C. R., Giridharan, T., Evans, L., Niedzwecki, B., et al. (2017). Beta-Adrenergic signaling in mice housed at standard temperatures suppresses an effector phenotype in CD8(+) T cells and undermines checkpoint inhibitor therapy. *Cancer Res.* 77, 5639–5651. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0546
- Burre, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Sudhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.1195227

- Carvajal Gonczi, C. M., Tabatabaei Shafiei, M., East, A., Martire, E., Maurice-Ventouris, M. H. I., and Darlington, P. J. (2017). Reciprocal modulation of helper Th1 and Th17 cells by the beta2-adrenergic receptor agonist drug terbutaline. *FEBS J.* 284, 3018–3028. doi: 10.1111/febs.14166
- Casacchia, M., Zamponi, A., Squitieri, G., and Meco, G. (1975). Treatment of anxiety in Parkinson's disease with bromazepam. *Riv. Neurol.* 45, 326–338.
- Castren, E., Thoenen, H., and Lindholm, D. (1995). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor messenger RNA is expressed in the septum, hypothalamus and in adrenergic brain stem nuclei of adult rat brain and is increased by osmotic stimulation in the paraventricular nucleus. *Neuroscience* 64, 71–80. doi: 10. 1016/0306-4522(94)00386-J
- Chalermpalanupap, T., Schroeder, J. P., Rorabaugh, J. M., Liles, L. C., Lah, J. J., Levey, A. I., et al. (2018). Locus Coeruleus Ablation Exacerbates Cognitive Deficits, Neuropathology, and Lethality in P301S Tau Transgenic Mice. *J. Neurosci.* 38, 74–92. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1483-17.2017
- Chan-Palay, V., and Asan, E. (1989). Alterations in catecholamine neurons of the locus coeruleus in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type and in Parkinson's disease with and without dementia and depression. J. Comp. Neurol. 287, 373–392. doi: 10.1002/cne.902870308
- Chaudhuri, K. R., and Schapira, A. H. (2009). Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: dopaminergic pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Neurol.* 8, 464–474. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70068-7
- Chen, G., Le, Y., Zhou, L., Gong, L., Li, X., Li, Y., et al. (2016). Dexmedetomidine inhibits maturation and function of human cord blood-derived dendritic cells by interfering with synthesis and secretion of IL-12 and IL-23. *PLoS One* 11:e0153288. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153288
- Chen, M. J., Nguyen, T. V., Pike, C. J., and Russo-Neustadt, A. A. (2007). Norepinephrine induces BDNF and activates the PI-3K and MAPK cascades in embryonic hippocampal neurons. *Cell. Signal.* 19, 114–128. doi: 10.1016/j. cellsig.2006.05.028
- Chen, X., Huddleston, D. E., Langley, J., Ahn, S., Barnum, C. J., Factor, S. A., et al. (2014). Simultaneous imaging of locus coeruleus and substantia nigra with a quantitative neuromelanin MRI approach. *Magn. Reson. Imaging* 32, 1301–1306. doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2014.07.003
- Cho, M. (2014). Pacemaker's burden. Nat. Neurosci. 17:755. doi: 10.1038/nn0614-755
- Chui, H. C., Mortimer, J. A., Slager, U., Zarow, C., Bondareff, W., and Webster, D. D. (1986). Pathologic correlates of dementia in Parkinson's disease. Arch. Neurol. 43, 991–995. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1986.00520100013007
- Comella, C. L., Nardine, T. M., Diederich, N. J., and Stebbins, G. T. (1998). Sleeprelated violence, injury, and REM sleep behavior disorder in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 51, 526–529. doi: 10.1212/WNL.51.2.526
- Cosentino, M., Fietta, A. M., Ferrari, M., Rasini, E., Bombelli, R., Carcano, E., et al. (2007). Human CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells selectively express tyrosine hydroxylase and contain endogenous catecholamines subserving an autocrine/paracrine inhibitory functional loop. *Blood* 109, 632–642. doi: 10. 1182/blood-2006-01-028423
- Curtis, A. L., Leiser, S. C., Snyder, K., and Valentino, R. J. (2012). Predator stress engages corticotropin-releasing factor and opioid systems to alter the operating mode of locus coeruleus norepinephrine neurons. *Neuropharmacology* 62, 1737–1745. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.11.020
- den Hartog, J. W., and Bethlem, J. (1960). The distribution of Lewy bodies in the central and autonomic nervous systems in idiopathic paralysis agitans. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 23, 283–290. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.4.283
- Devauges, V., and Sara, S. J. (1991). Memory retrieval enhancement by locus coeruleus stimulation: evidence for mediation by beta-receptors. *Behav. Brain Res.* 43, 93–97. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(05)80056-7
- Devos, D., Lebouvier, T., Lardeux, B., Biraud, M., Rouaud, T., Pouclet, H., et al. (2013). Colonic inflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 50, 42–48. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.09.007
- Dickson, D. W., Fujishiro, H., DelleDonne, A., Menke, J., Ahmed, Z., Klos, K. J., et al. (2008). Evidence that incidental Lewy body disease is pre-symptomatic Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 115, 437–444. doi: 10.1007/s00401-008-0345-7
- Duffy, M. F., Collier, T. J., Patterson, J. R., Kemp, C. J., Luk, K. C., Tansey, M. G., et al. (2018). Lewy body-like alpha-synuclein inclusions trigger reactive microgliosis prior to nigral degeneration. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:129. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1171-z

- Eidson, L. N., Kannarkat, G. T., Barnum, C. J., Chang, J., Chung, J., Caspell-Garcia, C., et al. (2017). Candidate inflammatory biomarkers display unique relationships with alpha-synuclein and correlate with measures of disease severity in subjects with Parkinson's disease. *J. Neuroinflammation* 14:164. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0935-1
- Eldrup, E., Mogensen, P., Jacobsen, J., Pakkenberg, H., and Christensen, N. J. (1995). CSF and plasma concentrations of free norepinephrine, dopamine, 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA), and epinephrine in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 92, 116–121. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1995.tb01023.x
- Elizan, T. S., Sroka, H., Maker, H., Smith, H., and Yahr, M. D. (1986). Dementia in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Variables associated with its occurrence in* 203 patients. J. Neural Transm. 65, 285–302. doi: 10.1007/BF01249089
- Eskow Jaunarajs, K. L., Angoa-Perez, M., Kuhn, D. M., and Bishop, C. (2011). Potential mechanisms underlying anxiety and depression in Parkinson's disease: consequences of 1-DOPA treatment. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 556–564. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.06.007
- Estrada, L. D., Agac, D., and Farrar, J. D. (2016). Sympathetic neural signaling via the beta2-adrenergic receptor suppresses T-cell receptor-mediated human and mouse CD8(+) T-cell effector function. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 46, 1948–1958. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646395
- Farrand, A. Q., Helke, K. L., Gregory, R. A., Gooz, M., Hinson, V. K., and Boger, H. A. (2017). Vagus nerve stimulation improves locomotion and neuronal populations in a model of Parkinson's disease. *Brain Stimul* 10, 1045–1054. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2017.08.008
- Fearnley, J. M., and Lees, A. J. (1991). Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. *Brain* 114(Pt 5), 2283–2301. doi: 10.1093/brain/114.5. 2283
- Freedman, R., Foote, S. L., and Bloom, F. E. (1975). Histochemical characterization of a neocortical projection of the nucleus locus coeruleus in the squirrel monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 164, 209–231. doi: 10.1002/cne.90164 0205
- Fujita, H., Tanaka, J., Maeda, N., and Sakanaka, M. (1998). Adrenergic agonists suppress the proliferation of microglia through beta 2-adrenergic receptor. *Neurosci. Lett.* 242, 37–40. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(98) 00003-2
- Gagnon, J. F., Bedard, M. A., Fantini, M. L., Petit, D., Panisset, M., Rompre, S., et al. (2002). REM sleep behavior disorder and REM sleep without atonia in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 59, 585–589. doi: 10.1212/WNL.59.4.585
- Gao, H. M., Zhang, F., Zhou, H., Kam, W., Wilson, B., and Hong, J. S. (2011). Neuroinflammation and alpha-synuclein dysfunction potentiate each other, driving chronic progression of neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 119, 807–814. doi: 10.1289/ehp. 1003013
- German, D. C., Manaye, K. F., White, C. L. III, Woodward, D. J., McIntire, D. D., Smith, W. K., et al. (1992). Disease-specific patterns of locus coeruleus cell loss. *Ann. Neurol.* 32, 667–676. doi: 10.1002/ana.410320510
- Giasson, B. I., Duda, J. E., Quinn, S. M., Zhang, B., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2002). Neuronal alpha-synucleinopathy with severe movement disorder in mice expressing A53T human alpha-synuclein. *Neuron* 34, 521–533. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00682-7
- Gjerstad, M. D., Wentzel-Larsen, T., Aarsland, D., and Larsen, J. P. (2007). Insomnia in Parkinson's disease: frequency and progression over time. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 78, 476–479. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.100370
- Goldstein, D. S., Eldadah, B. A., Holmes, C., Pechnik, S., Moak, J., Saleem, A., et al. (2005). Neurocirculatory abnormalities in Parkinson disease with orthostatic hypotension: independence from levodopa treatment. *Hypertension* 46, 1333– 1339. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000188052.69549.e4
- Goldstein, D. S., Holmes, C., and Sharabi, Y. (2012). Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of central catecholamine deficiency in Parkinson's disease and other synucleinopathies. *Brain* 135(Pt 6), 1900–1913. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws055
- Goldstein, D. S., Holmes, C., Sharabi, Y., Brentzel, S., and Eisenhofer, G. (2003). Plasma levels of catechols and metanephrines in neurogenic orthostatic hypotension. *Neurology* 60, 1327–1332. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000058766. 46428.F3
- Gonera, E. G., van't Hof, M., Berger, H. J., van Weel, C., and Horstink, M. W. (1997). Symptoms and duration of the prodromal phase in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 12, 871–876. doi: 10.1002/mds.870120607

- Gosain, A., Gamelli, R. L., and DiPietro, L. A. (2009). Norepinephrine-mediated suppression of phagocytosis by wound neutrophils. J. Surg. Res. 152, 311–318. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2008.05.001
- Grailer, J. J., Haggadone, M. D., Sarma, J. V., Zetoune, F. S., and Ward, P. A. (2014). Induction of M2 regulatory macrophages through the beta2-adrenergic receptor with protection during endotoxemia and acute lung injury. *J. Innate Immun.* 6, 607–618. doi: 10.1159/000358524
- Gray, M. T., and Woulfe, J. M. (2015). Striatal blood-brain barrier permeability in Parkinson's disease. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 35, 747–750. doi: 10.1038/ jcbfm.2015.32
- Grzanna, R., and Molliver, M. E. (1980). The locus coeruleus in the rat: an immunohistochemical delineation. *Neuroscience* 5, 21–40. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(80)90068-8
- Gyoneva, S., and Traynelis, S. F. (2013). Norepinephrine modulates the motility of resting and activated microglia via different adrenergic receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 15291–15302. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.458901
- Halliday, G. M., Li, Y. W., Blumbergs, P. C., Joh, T. H., Cotton, R. G., Howe, P. R., et al. (1990). Neuropathology of immunohistochemically identified brainstem neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 27, 373–385. doi: 10.1002/ana. 410270405
- Haniu, M., Montestruque, S., Bures, E. J., Talvenheimo, J., Toso, R., Lewis-Sandy, S., et al. (1997). Interactions between brain-derived neurotrophic factor and the TRKB receptor. Identification of two ligand binding domains in soluble TRKB by affinity separation and chemical cross-linking. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 25296–25303. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.40.25296
- Harle, P., Pongratz, G., Albrecht, J., Tarner, I. H., and Straub, R. H. (2008). An early sympathetic nervous system influence exacerbates collagen-induced arthritis via CD4+CD25+ cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* 58, 2347–2355. doi: 10.1002/art. 23628
- Harms, A. S., Thome, A. D., Yan, Z., Schonhoff, A. M., Williams, G. P., Li, X., et al. (2018). Peripheral monocyte entry is required for alpha-Synuclein induced inflammation and Neurodegeneration in a model of Parkinson disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 300, 179–187. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.11.010
- Hayes, G. M., Woodroofe, M. N., and Cuzner, M. L. (1987). Microglia are the major cell type expressing MHC class II in human white matter. J. Neurol. Sci. 80, 25–37. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(87)90218-8
- Healy, D. G., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Ozawa, T., Lees, A. J., Bhatia, K., Ahmadi, K. R., et al. (2004). A functional polymorphism regulating dopamine betahydroxylase influences against Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 443–446. doi: 10.1002/ana.20063
- Hely, M. A., Reid, W. G., Adena, M. A., Halliday, G. M., and Morris, J. G. (2008). The Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: the inevitability of dementia at 20 years. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 837–844. doi: 10.1002/mds.21956
- Heneka, M. T., Galea, E., Gavriluyk, V., Dumitrescu-Ozimek, L., Daeschner, J., O'Banion, M. K., et al. (2002). Noradrenergic depletion potentiates beta amyloid-induced cortical inflammation: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 2434–2442. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-07-02434.2002
- Henrich, M. T., Geibl, F. F., Lee, B., Chiu, W. H., Koprich, J. B., Brotchie, J. M., et al. (2018). A53T-alpha-synuclein overexpression in murine locus coeruleus induces Parkinson's disease-like pathology in neurons and glia. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 6:39. doi: 10.1186/s40478-018-0541-1
- Herve, J., Dubreil, L., Tardif, V., Terme, M., Pogu, S., Anegon, I., et al. (2013). beta2-Adrenoreceptor agonist inhibits antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 190, 3163–3171. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201391
- Hirsch, E., Graybiel, A. M., and Agid, Y. A. (1988). Melanized dopaminergic neurons are differentially susceptible to degeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Nature* 334, 345–348. doi: 10.1038/334345a0
- Hobson, J. A., McCarley, R. W., and Wyzinski, P. W. (1975). Sleep cycle oscillation: reciprocal discharge by two brainstem neuronal groups. *Science* 189, 55–58. doi: 10.1126/science.1094539
- Hoenen, C., Gustin, A., Birck, C., Kirchmeyer, M., Beaume, N., Felten, P., et al. (2016). Alpha-synuclein proteins promote pro-inflammatory cascades in microglia: stronger effects of the A53T Mutant. *PLoS One* 11:e0162717. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162717
- Holmqvist, S., Chutna, O., Bousset, L., Aldrin-Kirk, P., Li, W., Bjorklund, T., et al. (2014). Direct evidence of Parkinson pathology spread from the gastrointestinal tract to the brain in rats. *Acta Neuropathol.* 128, 805–820. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1343-6

- Houser, M. C., Chang, J., Factor, S. A., Molho, E. S., Zabetian, C. P., Hill-Burns, E. M., et al. (2018). stool immune profiles evince gastrointestinal inflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 793–804. doi: 10.1002/mds. 27326
- Houser, M. C., and Tansey, M. G. (2017). The gut-brain axis: is intestinal inflammation a silent driver of Parkinson's disease pathogenesis? NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 3:3. doi: 10.1038/s41531-016-0002-0
- Howells, D. W., Porritt, M. J., Wong, J. Y., Batchelor, P. E., Kalnins, R., Hughes, A. J., et al. (2000). Reduced BDNF mRNA expression in the Parkinson's disease substantia nigra. *Exp. Neurol.* 166, 127–135. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2000.7483
- Huang, H. W., Fang, X. X., Wang, X. Q., Peng, Y. P., and Qiu, Y. H. (2015). Regulation of differentiation and function of helper T cells by lymphocyte-derived catecholamines via alpha(1)- and beta(2)-adrenoceptors. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 22, 138–151. doi: 10.1159/000360579
- Hunsley, M. S., and Palmiter, R. D. (2003). Norepinephrine-deficient mice exhibit normal sleep-wake states but have shorter sleep latency after mild stress and low doses of amphetamine. *Sleep* 26, 521–526.
- Hurst, J. H., LeWitt, P. A., Burns, R. S., Foster, N. L., and Lovenberg, W. (1985). CSF dopamine-beta-hydroxylase activity in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 35, 565–568. doi: 10.1212/WNL.35.4.565
- Hyman, C., Hofer, M., Barde, Y. A., Juhasz, M., Yancopoulos, G. D., Squinto, S. P., et al. (1991). BDNF is a neurotrophic factor for dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra. *Nature* 350, 230–232. doi: 10.1038/350230a0
- Inoue, T., Tanaka, S., and Okusa, M. D. (2017). Neuroimmune Interactions in Inflammation and Acute Kidney Injury. *Front. Immunol.* 8:945. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.00945
- Iranzo, A., Molinuevo, J. L., Santamaria, J., Serradell, M., Marti, M. J., Valldeoriola, F., et al. (2006). Rapid-eye-movement sleep behaviour disorder as an early marker for a neurodegenerative disorder: a descriptive study. *Lancet Neurol.* 5, 572–577. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70476-8
- Isaias, I. U., Trujillo, P., Summers, P., Marotta, G., Mainardi, L., Pezzoli, G., et al. (2016). Neuromelanin Imaging and Dopaminergic Loss in Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 8:196. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00196
- Iversen, L. L., Rossor, M. N., Reynolds, G. P., Hills, R., Roth, M., Mountjoy, C. Q., et al. (1983). Loss of pigmented dopamine-beta-hydroxylase positive cells from locus coeruleus in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. *Neurosci. Lett.* 39, 95–100. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(83)90171-4
- Iwai, A., Masliah, E., Yoshimoto, M., Ge, N., Flanagan, L., de Silva, H. A., et al. (1995). The precursor protein of non-A beta component of Alzheimer's disease amyloid is a presynaptic protein of the central nervous system. *Neuron* 14, 467–475. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90302-X
- Javoy-Agid, F., Ruberg, M., Taquet, H., Bokobza, B., Agid, Y., Gaspar, P., et al. (1984). Biochemical neuropathology of Parkinson's disease. *Adv. Neurol.* 40, 189–198.
- Jenner, P. (2003). Oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol 53(Suppl. 3), S26–S36. doi: 10.1002/ana.10483
- Johnson, J. D., Zimomra, Z. R., and Stewart, L. T. (2013). Beta-adrenergic receptor activation primes microglia cytokine production. J. Neuroimmunol. 254, 161–164. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.08.007
- Joling, M., van den Heuvel, O. A., Berendse, H. W., Booij, J., and Vriend, C. (2018). Serotonin transporter binding and anxiety symptoms in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 89, 89–94. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316193
- Jones, B. E., and Yang, T. Z. (1985). The efferent projections from the reticular formation and the locus coeruleus studied by anterograde and retrograde axonal transport in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 242, 56–92. doi: 10.1002/cne. 902420105
- Kalaitzakis, M. E., Gentleman, S. M., and Pearce, R. K. (2013). Disturbed sleep in Parkinson's disease: anatomical and pathological correlates. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 39, 644–653. doi: 10.1111/nan.12024
- Kalinin, S., Feinstein, D. L., Xu, H. L., Huesa, G., Pelligrino, D. A., and Galea, E. (2006). Degeneration of noradrenergic fibres from the locus coeruleus causes tight-junction disorganisation in the rat brain. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 24, 3393–3400. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05223.x
- Kang, S. S., Zhang, Z., Liu, X., Manfredsson, F. P., Benskey, M. J., Cao, X., et al. (2017). TrkB neurotrophic activities are blocked by alpha-synuclein, triggering dopaminergic cell death in Parkinson's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 10773–10778. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1713969114

- Kannarkat, G. T., Boss, J. M., and Tansey, M. G. (2013). The role of innate and adaptive immunity in Parkinson's disease. J Parkinsons Dis 3, 493–514. doi: 10.3233/JPD-130250
- Kelly, L. P., Carvey, P. M., Keshavarzian, A., Shannon, K. M., Shaikh, M., Bakay, R. A., et al. (2014). Progression of intestinal permeability changes and alphasynuclein expression in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 29, 999–1009. doi: 10.1002/mds.25736
- Keren, N. I., Taheri, S., Vazey, E. M., Morgan, P. S., Granholm, A. C., Aston-Jones, G. S., et al. (2015). Histologic validation of locus coeruleus MRI contrast in post-mortem tissue. *Neuroimage* 113, 235–245. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015. 03.020
- Khan, M. M., Sansoni, P., Engleman, E. G., and Melmon, K. L. (1985). Pharmacologic effects of autacoids on subsets of T cells. Regulation of expression/function of histamine-2 receptors by a subset of suppressor cells. *J Clin Invest* 75, 1578–1583. doi: 10.1172/JCI111863
- Kilbourn, M. R., Sherman, P., and Abbott, L. C. (1998). Reduced MPTP neurotoxicity in striatum of the mutant mouse tottering. *Synapse* 30, 205–210. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-2396(199810)30:2<205::AID-SYN10>3.0.CO;2-0
- Kim, S., Park, J. M., Moon, J., and Choi, H. J. (2014). Alpha-synuclein interferes with cAMP/PKA-dependent upregulation of dopamine beta-hydroxylase and is associated with abnormal adaptive responses to immobilization stress. *Exp. Neurol.* 252, 63–74. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.11.009
- Kim, S. S., Moon, K. R., and Choi, H. J. (2011). Interference of alpha-synuclein with cAMP/PKA-dependent CREB signaling for tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression in SK-N-BE(2)C cells. Arch. Pharm. Res. 34, 837–845. doi: 10.1007/ s12272-011-0518-0
- Kim, Y. S., and Joh, T. H. (2006). Microglia, major player in the brain inflammation: their roles in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 38, 333–347. doi: 10.1038/emm.2006.40
- Kin, N. W., and Sanders, V. M. (2006). It takes nerve to tell T and B cells what to do. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 79, 1093–1104. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1105625
- Klein, C., and Schlossmacher, M. G. (2006). The genetics of Parkinson disease: implications for neurological care. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Neurol.* 2, 136–146. doi: 10.1038/ncpneuro0126
- Klimek, V., Stockmeier, C., Overholser, J., Meltzer, H. Y., Kalka, S., Dilley, G., et al. (1997). Reduced levels of norepinephrine transporters in the locus coeruleus in major depression. J. Neurosci. 17, 8451–8458. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-21-08451.1997
- Koppel, I., Jaanson, K., Klasche, A., Tuvikene, J., Tiirik, T., Parn, A., et al. (2018). Dopamine cross-reacts with adrenoreceptors in cortical astrocytes to induce BDNF expression, CREB signaling and morphological transformation. *Glia* 66, 206–216. doi: 10.1002/glia.23238
- Kortekaas, R., Leenders, K. L., van Oostrom, J. C., Vaalburg, W., Bart, J., Willemsen, A. T., et al. (2005). Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in parkinsonian midbrain in vivo. Ann. Neurol. 57, 176–179. doi: 10.1002/ana.20369
- Laumet, G., Edralin, J. D., Chiang, A. C., Dantzer, R., Heijnen, C. J., and Kavelaars, A. (2018). Resolution of inflammation-induced depression requires T lymphocytes and endogenous brain interleukin-10 signaling. *Neuropsychopharmacology* doi: 10.1038/s41386-018-0154-1 [Epub ahead of print].
- Lin, C. H., Lin, J. W., Liu, Y. C., Chang, C. H., and Wu, R. M. (2015). Risk of Parkinson's disease following anxiety disorders: a nationwide population-based cohort study. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 22, 1280–1287. doi: 10.1111/ene.12740
- Liu, X., Ye, K., and Weinshenker, D. (2015). Norepinephrine Protects against Amyloid-beta Toxicity via TrkB. J. Alzheimers Dis. 44, 251–260. doi: 10.3233/ JAD-141062
- Liu, Y., Rui, X. X., Shi, H., Qiu, Y. H., and Peng, Y. P. (2018). Norepinephrine Inhibits Th17 Cells via beta2-Adrenergic Receptor (beta2-AR) Signaling in a Mouse Model of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 24, 1196–1204. doi: 10.12659/MSM.906184
- Loavenbruck, A., and Sandroni, P. (2015). Neurogenic orthostatic hypotension: roles of norepinephrine deficiency in its causes, its treatment, and future research directions. *Curr. Med. Res. Opin.* 31, 2095–2104. doi: 10.1185/ 03007995.2015.1087988
- Lorton, D., and Bellinger, D. L. (2015). Molecular mechanisms underlying beta-adrenergic receptor-mediated cross-talk between sympathetic neurons and immune cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 5635–5665. doi: 10.3390/ijms1603 5635

- Mann, D. M., and Yates, P. O. (1983). Pathological basis for neurotransmitter changes in Parkinson's disease. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 9, 3–19. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1983.tb00320.x
- Masliah, E., Rockenstein, E., Veinbergs, I., Mallory, M., Hashimoto, M., Takeda, A., et al. (2000). Dopaminergic loss and inclusion body formation in alphasynuclein mice: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Science* 287, 1265–1269. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5456.1265
- Mavridis, M., Degryse, A. D., Lategan, A. J., Marien, M. R., and Colpaert, F. C. (1991). Effects of locus coeruleus lesions on parkinsonian signs, striatal dopamine and substantia nigra cell loss after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine in monkeys: a possible role for the locus coeruleus in the progression of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience* 41, 507–523. doi: 10.1016/ 0306-4522(91)90345-O
- McAlees, J. W., Smith, L. T., Erbe, R. S., Jarjoura, D., Ponzio, N. M., and Sanders, V. M. (2011). Epigenetic regulation of beta2-adrenergic receptor expression in T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 408–415. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi. 2010.10.019
- McCall, J. G., Al-Hasani, R., Siuda, E. R., Hong, D. Y., Norris, A. J., Ford, C. P., et al. (2015). CRH Engagement of the Locus Coeruleus Noradrenergic System Mediates Stress-Induced Anxiety. *Neuron* 87, 605–620. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2015.07.002
- McGuire, S. O., Ling, Z. D., Lipton, J. W., Sortwell, C. E., Collier, T. J., and Carvey, P. M. (2001). Tumor necrosis factor alpha is toxic to embryonic mesencephalic dopamine neurons. *Exp. Neurol.* 169, 219–230. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2001.7688
- Mello-Carpes, P. B., da Silva, de Vargas, L., Gayer, M. C., Roehrs, R., and Izquierdo, I. (2016). Hippocampal noradrenergic activation is necessary for object recognition memory consolidation and can promote BDNF increase and memory persistence. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 127, 84–92. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm. 2015.11.014
- Merola, A., Romagnolo, A., Rosso, M., Lopez-Castellanos, J. R., Wissel, B. D., Larkin, S., et al. (2016). Orthostatic hypotension in Parkinson's disease: does it matter if asymptomatic? *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 33, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/ j.parkreldis.2016.09.013
- Miller, R. M., Kiser, G. L., Kaysser-Kranich, T., Casaceli, C., Colla, E., Lee, M. K., et al. (2007). Wild-type and mutant alpha-synuclein induce a multi-component gene expression profile consistent with shared pathophysiology in different transgenic mouse models of PD. *Exp. Neurol.* 204, 421–432. doi: 10.1016/j. expneurol.2006.12.005
- Mittal, S., Bjornevik, K., Im, D. S., Flierl, A., Dong, X., Locascio, J. J., et al. (2017). beta2-Adrenoreceptor is a regulator of the alpha-synuclein gene driving risk of Parkinson's disease. *Science* 357, 891–898. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf3934
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Riederer, P., Narabayashi, H., Fujita, K., and Nagatsu, T. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) increases both in the brain and in the cerebrospinal fluid from parkinsonian patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 165, 208–210. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(94)90746-3
- Moriguchi, S., Yamada, M., Takano, H., Nagashima, T., Takahata, K., Yokokawa, K., et al. (2017). Norepinephrine Transporter in Major Depressive Disorder: a PET Study. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 174, 36–41. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.15101334
- Mount, M. P., Lira, A., Grimes, D., Smith, P. D., Faucher, S., Slack, R., et al. (2007). Involvement of interferon-gamma in microglial-mediated loss of dopaminergic neurons. J. Neurosci. 27, 3328–3337. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5321-06.2007
- Mouton, P. R., Pakkenberg, B., Gundersen, H. J., and Price, D. L. (1994). Absolute number and size of pigmented locus coeruleus neurons in young and aged individuals. *J. Chem. Neuroanat.* 7, 185–190. doi: 10.1016/0891-0618(94) 90028-0
- Murphy, A. C., Lalor, S. J., Lynch, M. A., and Mills, K. H. (2010). Infiltration of Th1 and Th17 cells and activation of microglia in the CNS during the course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 641–651. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.01.014
- Nag, S., and Harik, S. I. (1987). Cerebrovascular permeability to horseradish peroxidase in hypertensive rats: effects of unilateral locus ceruleus lesion. Acta Neuropathol. 73, 247–253. doi: 10.1007/BF00686618
- Niimi, Y., Ieda, T., Hirayama, M., Koike, Y., Sobue, G., Hasegawa, Y., et al. (1999). Clinical and physiological characteristics of autonomic failure with Parkinson's disease. *Clin. Auton. Res* 9, 139–144. doi: 10.1007/BF02281627
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318. doi: 10.1126/science.1110647

- Noguchi, T., Nakagome, K., Kobayashi, T., Ueda, Y., Soma, T., Nakamoto, H., et al. (2015). Effect of beta2-adrenergic agonists on eosinophil adhesion, superoxide anion generation, and degranulation. *Allergol. Int.* 64(Suppl.), S46–S53. doi: 10.1016/j.alit.2015.05.009
- Noh, H., Yu, M. R., Kim, H. J., Lee, J. H., Park, B. W., Wu, I. H., et al. (2017). Beta 2-adrenergic receptor agonists are novel regulators of macrophage activation in diabetic renal and cardiovascular complications. *Kidney Int.* 92, 101–113. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.013
- Nuti, A., Ceravolo, R., Piccinni, A., Dell'Agnello, G., Bellini, G., Gambaccini, G., et al. (2004). Psychiatric comorbidity in a population of Parkinson's disease patients. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 11, 315–320. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2004.00781.x
- Ohno, M., Yoshimatsu, A., Kobayashi, M., and Watanabe, S. (1997). Noradrenergic DSP-4 lesions aggravate impairment of working memory produced by hippocampal muscarinic blockade in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 57, 257–261. doi: 10.1016/S0091-3057(96)00353-X
- Pamphlett, R. (2014). Uptake of environmental toxicants by the locus ceruleus: a potential trigger for neurodegenerative, demyelinating and psychiatric disorders. *Med. Hypotheses* 82, 97–104. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2013.11.016
- Parkinson, J. (2002). An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 14, 223–236; discussion 222. doi: 10.1176/jnp.14.2.223
- Pavese, N., Rivero-Bosch, M., Lewis, S. J., Whone, A. L., and Brooks, D. J. (2011). Progression of monoaminergic dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: a longitudinal 18F-dopa PET study. *Neuroimage* 56, 1463–1468. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2011.03.012
- Pifl, C., Kish, S. J., and Hornykiewicz, O. (2012). Thalamic noradrenaline in Parkinson's disease: deficits suggest role in motor and non-motor symptoms. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 1618–1624. doi: 10.1002/mds.25109
- Pisani, V., Stefani, A., Pierantozzi, M., Natoli, S., Stanzione, P., Franciotta, D., et al. (2012). Increased blood-cerebrospinal fluid transfer of albumin in advanced Parkinson's disease. J Neuroinflammation 9:188. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-188
- Pocock, J. M., and Kettenmann, H. (2007). Neurotransmitter receptors on microglia. Trends Neurosci. 30, 527–535. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2007.07.007
- Pongratz, G., Anthofer, J. M., Melzer, M., Anders, S., Grassel, S., and Straub, R. H. (2014). IL-7 receptor alpha expressing B cells act proinflammatory in collageninduced arthritis and are inhibited by sympathetic neurotransmitters. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 73, 306–312. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202944
- Pongratz, G., Melzer, M., and Straub, R. H. (2012). The sympathetic nervous system stimulates anti-inflammatory B cells in collagen-type II-induced arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 71, 432–439. doi: 10.1136/ard.2011.153056
- Postuma, R. B., Gagnon, J. F., Vendette, M., Fantini, M. L., Massicotte-Marquez, J., and Montplaisir, J. (2009). Quantifying the risk of neurodegenerative disease in idiopathic REM sleep behavior disorder. *Neurology* 72, 1296–1300. doi: 10. 1212/01.wnl.0000340980.19702.6e
- Punsoni, M., Friedman, J. H., Resnick, M., Donahue, J. E., Yang, D. F., and Stopa, E. G. (2017). Enteric Pathologic Manifestations of Alpha-Synucleinopathies. *Appl. Immunohistochem. Mol. Morphol.* doi: 10.1097/PAI.000000000000613 [Epub ahead of print].
- Qiao, G., Chen, M., Bucsek, M. J., Repasky, E. A., and Hylander, B. L. (2018). Adrenergic Signaling: a targetable checkpoint limiting development of the antitumor immune response. *Front. Immunol.* 9:164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 00164
- Qin, X. Y., Zhang, S. P., Cao, C., Loh, Y. P., and Cheng, Y. (2016). Aberrations in peripheral inflammatory cytokine levels in Parkinson disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurol.* 73, 1316–1324. doi: 10.1001/ jamaneurol.2016.2742
- Ramer-Quinn, D. S., Baker, R. A., and Sanders, V. M. (1997). Activated T helper 1 and T helper 2 cells differentially express the beta-2-adrenergic receptor: a mechanism for selective modulation of T helper 1 cell cytokine production. *J. Immunol.* 159, 4857–4867.
- Rana, A. Q., Qureshi, A. R. M., Shamli Oghli, Y., Saqib, Y., Mohammed, B., Sarfraz, Z., et al. (2018). Decreased sleep quality in Parkinson's patients is associated with higher anxiety and depression prevalence and severity, and correlates with pain intensity and quality. *Neurol. Res* doi: 10.1080/01616412. 2018.1462880 [Epub ahead of print].
- Ravina, B., Camicioli, R., Como, P. G., Marsh, L., Jankovic, J., Weintraub, D., et al. (2007). The impact of depressive symptoms in early Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 69, 342–347. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000268695.63392.10

- Reijnders, J. S., Ehrt, U., Weber, W. E., Aarsland, D., and Leentjens, A. F. (2008). A systematic review of prevalence studies of depression in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 23, 183–189;quiz313. doi: 10.1002/mds.21803
- Remy, P., Doder, M., Lees, A., Turjanski, N., and Brooks, D. (2005). Depression in Parkinson's disease: loss of dopamine and noradrenaline innervation in the limbic system. *Brain* 128(Pt 6), 1314–1322. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awh445
- Ressler, K. J., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2001). Role of norepinephrine in the pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric disorders. CNS Spectr. 6 663–666. doi: 10.1017/S1092852900001358
- Riether, C., Kavelaars, A., Wirth, T., Pacheco-Lopez, G., Doenlen, R., Willemen, H., et al. (2011). Stimulation of beta(2)-adrenergic receptors inhibits calcineurin activity in CD4(+) T cells via PKA-AKAP interaction. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 59–66. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.07.248
- Rite, I., Machado, A., Cano, J., and Venero, J. L. (2007). Blood-brain barrier disruption induces in vivo degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons. J. Neurochem. 101, 1567–1582. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04567.x
- Rommelfanger, K. S., Edwards, G. L., Freeman, K. G., Liles, L. C., Miller, G. W., and Weinshenker, D. (2007). Norepinephrine loss produces more profound motor deficits than MPTP treatment in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 13804–13809. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702753104
- Rommelfanger, K. S., Weinshenker, D., and Miller, G. W. (2004). Reduced MPTP toxicity in noradrenaline transporter knockout mice. J. Neurochem. 91, 1116–1124. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02785.x
- Ross, G. W., Petrovitch, H., Abbott, R. D., Tanner, C. M., Popper, J., Masaki, K., et al. (2008). Association of olfactory dysfunction with risk for future Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 63, 167–173. doi: 10.1002/ana.21291
- Roth, T. L., Nayak, D., Atanasijevic, T., Koretsky, A. P., Latour, L. L., and McGavern, D. B. (2014). Transcranial amelioration of inflammation and cell death after brain injury. *Nature* 505, 223–228. doi: 10.1038/nature 12808
- Rye, D. B., Bliwise, D. L., Dihenia, B., and Gurecki, P. (2000). FAST TRACK: daytime sleepiness in Parkinson's disease. J. Sleep Res. 9, 63–69. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2869.2000.00201.x
- Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Barnum, C. J., Tansey, M. G., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2013). Neuroimmunological processes in Parkinson's disease and their relation to alpha-synuclein: microglia as the referee between neuronal processes and peripheral immunity. ASN Neuro 5, 113–139. doi: 10.1042/AN20120066
- Scalzo, P., Kummer, A., Bretas, T. L., Cardoso, F., and Teixeira, A. L. (2010). Serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor correlate with motor impairment in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. 257, 540–545. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-5357-2
- Schenck, C. H., Boeve, B. F., and Mahowald, M. W. (2013). Delayed emergence of a parkinsonian disorder or dementia in 81% of older men initially diagnosed with idiopathic rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder: a 16-year update on a previously reported series. *Sleep Med.* 14, 744–748. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2012.10. 009
- Seiffert, K., Hosoi, J., Torii, H., Ozawa, H., Ding, W., Campton, K., et al. (2002). Catecholamines inhibit the antigen-presenting capability of epidermal Langerhans cells. J. Immunol. 168, 6128–6135. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.12. 6128
- Senard, J. M., Valet, P., Durrieu, G., Berlan, M., Tran, M. A., Montastruc, J. L., et al. (1990). Adrenergic supersensitivity in parkinsonians with orthostatic hypotension. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 20, 613–619. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1990. tb01909.x
- Shibayama-Imazu, T., Okahashi, I., Omata, K., Nakajo, S., Ochiai, H., Nakai, Y., et al. (1993). Cell and tissue distribution and developmental change of neuron specific 14 kDa protein (phosphoneuroprotein 14). *Brain Res.* 622, 17–25. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)90796-P
- Shulman, L. M., Taback, R. L., Rabinstein, A. A., and Weiner, W. J. (2002). Non-recognition of depression and other non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism. Relat. Disord.* 8, 193–197. doi: 10.1016/S1353-8020(01) 00015-3
- Sixel-Doring, F., Trautmann, E., Mollenhauer, B., and Trenkwalder, C. (2011). Associated factors for REM sleep behavior disorder in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 77, 1048–1054. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31822e560e
- Smith, M. C., Ellgring, H., and Oertel, W. H. (1997). Sleep disturbances in Parkinson's disease patients and spouses. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 45, 194–199. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1997.tb04506.x

- Song, S., Jiang, L., Oyarzabal, E. A., Wilson, B., Li, Z., Shih, Y. I., et al. (2018). Loss of brain norepinephrine elicits neuroinflammation-mediated oxidative injury and selective caudo-rostral neurodegeneration. *Mol. Neurobiol.* doi: 10.1007/ s12035-018-1235-1 [Epub ahead of print].
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Spina, M. B., Squinto, S. P., Miller, J., Lindsay, R. M., and Hyman, C. (1992). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor protects dopamine neurons against 6-hydroxydopamine and N-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion toxicity: involvement of the glutathione system. J. Neurochem. 59, 99–106. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1992.tb08880.x
- Srinivasan, J., and Schmidt, W. J. (2003). Potentiation of parkinsonian symptoms by depletion of locus coeruleus noradrenaline in 6-hydroxydopamine-induced partial degeneration of substantia nigra in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 17, 2586–2592. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02684.x
- Stefanis, L. (2012). alpha-Synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2, a009399. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009399
- Stein, M. B., Heuser, I. J., Juncos, J. L., and Uhde, T. W. (1990). Anxiety disorders in patients with Parkinson's disease. Am. J. Psychiatry 147, 217–220. doi: 10.1176/ ajp.147.2.217
- Stokholm, M. G., Danielsen, E. H., Hamilton-Dutoit, S. J., and Borghammer, P. (2016). Pathological alpha-synuclein in gastrointestinal tissues from prodromal Parkinson disease patients. *Ann. Neurol.* 79, 940–949. doi: 10.1002/ana.24648
- Stolzenberg, E., Berry, D., Yang, Lee, E. Y., Kroemer, A., Kaufman, S., et al. (2017). A Role for Neuronal Alpha-Synuclein in Gastrointestinal Immunity. *J. Innate Immun.* 9, 456–463. doi: 10.1159/000477990
- Strosberg, A. D. (1993). Structure, function, and regulation of adrenergic receptors. Protein Sci. 2, 1198–1209. doi: 10.1002/pro.5560020802
- Sulzer, D., Alcalay, R. N., Garretti, F., Cote, L., Kanter, E., Agin-Liebes, J., et al. (2017). T cells from patients with Parkinson's disease recognize alpha-synuclein peptides. *Nature* 546, 656–661. doi: 10.1038/nature22815
- Szot, P., White, S. S., Greenup, J. L., Leverenz, J. B., Peskind, E. R., and Raskind, M. A. (2006). Compensatory changes in the noradrenergic nervous system in the locus ceruleus and hippocampus of postmortem subjects with Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 467–478. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4265-05.2006
- Takamoto, T., Hori, Y., Koga, Y., Toshima, H., Hara, A., and Yokoyama, M. M. (1991). Norepinephrine inhibits human natural killer cell activity in vitro. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 58, 127–131. doi: 10.3109/00207459108987189
- Tanaka, K. F., Kashima, H., Suzuki, H., Ono, K., and Sawada, M. (2002). Existence of functional beta1- and beta2-adrenergic receptors on microglia. J. Neurosci. Res. 70, 232–237. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10399
- Tansey, M. G., and Goldberg, M. S. (2010). Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: its role in neuronal death and implications for therapeutic intervention. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 510–518. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.11.004
- Theodore, S., Cao, S., McLean, P. J., and Standaert, D. G. (2008). Targeted overexpression of human alpha-synuclein triggers microglial activation and an adaptive immune response in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 67, 1149–1158. doi: 10.1097/NEN. 0b013e31818e5e99
- Thobois, S., Prange, S., Sgambato-Faure, V., Tremblay, L., and Broussolle, E. (2017). Imaging the etiology of apathy, anxiety, and depression in Parkinson's Disease: implication for treatment. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 17:76. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0788-0
- Tong, J., Hornykiewicz, O., and Kish, S. J. (2006). Inverse relationship between brain noradrenaline level and dopamine loss in Parkinson disease: a possible neuroprotective role for noradrenaline. *Arch. Neurol.* 63, 1724–1728. doi: 10. 1001/archneur.63.12.1724
- Toshimitsu, M., Kamei, Y., Ichinose, M., Seyama, T., Imada, S., Iriyama, T., et al. (2018). Atomoxetine, a selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor, improves short-term histological outcomes after hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in the neonatal male rat. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2018.03.011 [Epub ahead of print].
- Troadec, J. D., Marien, M., Darios, F., Hartmann, A., Ruberg, M., Colpaert, F., et al. (2001). Noradrenaline provides long-term protection to dopaminergic neurons by reducing oxidative stress. *J. Neurochem.* 79, 200–210. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00556.x

- Troadec, J. D., Marien, M., Mourlevat, S., Debeir, T., Ruberg, M., Colpaert, F., et al. (2002). Activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (ERK(1/2)) signaling pathway by cyclic AMP potentiates the neuroprotective effect of the neurotransmitter noradrenaline on dopaminergic neurons. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 62, 1043–1052. doi: 10.1124/mol.62.5.1043
- Vida, G., Pena, G., Kanashiro, A., Thompson-Bonilla Mdel, R., Palange, D., Deitch, E. A., et al. (2011). beta2-Adrenoreceptors of regulatory lymphocytes are essential for vagal neuromodulation of the innate immune system. *FASEB J.* 25, 4476–4485. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-191007
- Wang, X. M., Zhang, Y. G., Li, A. L., Long, Z. H., Wang, D., Li, X. X., et al. (2016). Relationship between levels of inflammatory cytokines in the peripheral blood and the severity of depression and anxiety in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 20, 3853–3856.
- Watson, M. B., Richter, F., Lee, S. K., Gabby, L., Wu, J., Masliah, E., et al. (2012). Regionally-specific microglial activation in young mice over-expressing human wildtype alpha-synuclein. *Exp. Neurol.* 237, 318–334. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol. 2012.06.025
- Wersinger, C., Jeannotte, A., and Sidhu, A. (2006). Attenuation of the norepinephrine transporter activity and trafficking via interactions with alphasynuclein. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 24, 3141–3152. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006. 05181.x
- Whalen, M. M., and Bankhurst, A. D. (1990). Effects of beta-adrenergic receptor activation, cholera toxin and forskolin on human natural killer cell function. *Biochem. J.* 272, 327–331. doi: 10.1042/bj27 20327
- Wirth, T., Westendorf, A. M., Bloemker, D., Wildmann, J., Engler, H., Mollerus, S., et al. (2014). The sympathetic nervous system modulates CD4(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells via noradrenaline-dependent apoptosis in a murine model of lymphoproliferative disease. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 38, 100–110. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2014.01.007
- Wu, D. C., Jackson-Lewis, V., Vila, M., Tieu, K., Teismann, P., Vadseth, C., et al. (2002). Blockade of microglial activation is neuroprotective in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson disease. J. Neurosci. 22, 1763–1771. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-05-01763. 2002
- Wu, H., Chen, J., Song, S., Yuan, P., Liu, L., Zhang, Y., et al. (2016). beta2-adrenoceptor signaling reduction in dendritic cells is involved in the inflammatory response in adjuvant-induced arthritic rats. *Sci. Rep.* 6:24548. doi: 10.1038/srep24548
- Xu, L., Ding, W., Stohl, L. L., Zhou, X. K., Azizi, S., Chuang, E., et al. (2018). Regulation of T helper cell responses during antigen presentation by norepinephrine-exposed endothelial cells. *Immunology* 154, 104–121. doi: 10. 1111/imm.12871
- Yao, N., Wu, Y., Zhou, Y., Ju, L., Liu, Y., Ju, R., et al. (2015). Lesion of the locus coeruleus aggravates dopaminergic neuron degeneration by modulating microglial function in mouse models of Parkinsons disease. *Brain Res.* 1625, 255–274. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015. 08.032
- Zarow, C., Lyness, S. A., Mortimer, J. A., and Chui, H. C. (2003). Neuronal loss is greater in the locus coeruleus than nucleus basalis and substantia nigra in Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. *Arch. Neurol.* 60, 337–341. doi: 10.1001/ archneur.60.3.337
- Zhang, W., Wang, T., Pei, Z., Miller, D. S., Wu, X., Block, M. L., et al. (2005). Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.* 19, 533–542. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-2751com

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Butkovich, Houser and Tansey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Rationally Designed Variants of α-Synuclein Illuminate Its *in vivo* Structural Properties in Health and Disease

Ulf Dettmer*

Ann Romney Center for Neurologic Diseases, Department of Neurology, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

 α -Synuclein (α S) is a conserved and abundant neuronal protein with unusual structural properties. It appears to partition between folded and unstructured states as well as between membrane-bound and aqueously soluble states. In addition, a switch between monomeric and tetrameric/multimeric states has been observed recently. The precise composition, localization and abundance of the multimeric species are under study and remain unsettled. Yet to interfere with disease pathogenesis, we must dissect how small changes in α S homeostasis may give rise to Parkinson's disease (PD), dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) and other human synucleinopathies. Rationally designed α S point mutations that prevent the protein from populating all states within its normal folding repertoire have continued to be instrumental in bringing new insights into its biochemistry *in vivo*. This review summarizes biochemical and cell biological findings about α S homeostasis from different labs, with a special emphasis on intact-cell approaches that may preserve the complex, metastable native states of α S.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fredric P. Manfredsson, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Joakim Bergström, Uppsala University, Sweden Laura Civiero, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy

> *Correspondence: Ulf Dettmer udettmer@bwh.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 01 June 2018 Accepted: 20 August 2018 Published: 25 September 2018

Citation:

Dettmer U (2018) Rationally Designed Variants of α-Synuclein Illuminate Its in vivo Structural Properties in Health and Disease. Front. Neurosci. 12:623. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00623 Keywords: α-synuclein, structure, proteotoxicity, mutagenesis, multimerization, Parkinson's disease

α S IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

"Synucleinopathies" comprise Parkinson's disease (PD), dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB), multiple system atrophy and also Alzheimer's disease. DLB is the most common cause of dementia after AD and vascular dementia (Meeus et al., 2012), while PD is the most common neurodegenerative disease after AD, with an estimated life-time risk of 1.5% globally (Tanner and Goldman, 1996). Typical pathology of synucleinopathies comprises neuronal loss and neuronal/neuritic aggregation of α -synuclein (α S), a protein of 140 amino acids (aa) with an incompletely defined function involving synaptic vesicle trafficking (e.g., Scott and Roy, 2012; Vargas et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014). Since its discovery as the first causative gene product for PD (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997) and the major constituent of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites (large aggregate structures) in patients' brains (Spillantini et al., 1997), α S has been increasingly implicated as a key pathogenic protein in sporadic and familial PD (fPD). α S missense mutations, copy number variants, and upregulated expression have each been associated with fPD (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Krüger et al., 1998; Singleton et al., 2003; Zarranz et al., 2004; Fuchs et al., 2008; Appel-Cresswell et al., 2013; Kiely et al., 2013; Lesage et al., 2013; Proukakis et al., 2013; Pasanen et al., 2014) or an fPD/DLB spectrum [especially E46K (Zarranz et al., 2004)]. Consequently, both native and altered αS folding states are of great interest as regards normal biology and the mechanisms, diagnostics and disease-modifying therapeutics of synucleinopathies. In order to prevent a pathological state of any protein, it is of central importance to understand its physiological state in all details. Nonetheless, αS structure and precisely how it is altered in the synucleinopathies remain unclear. A wellrecognized aS species in vitro is the soluble unfolded monomer (Weinreb et al., 1996), and a recent publication showed that this state can persist in considerable part when exogenous unfolded recombinant monomers are delivered into cultured mammalian cells by electroporation (Theillet et al., 2016). However, this incell liquid phase NMR analysis did not rule out the existence of other α S species, as the method is unable to detect membranebound or multimeric αS forms (Alderson and Bax, 2016). At least 10% of cellular α S is found in membrane fractions (Kahle et al., 2000; Fortin et al., 2010; Dettmer et al., 2015a), and transiently membrane-associated aS has been characterized as monomeric and helically folded (George et al., 1995) or multimeric and (presumably) folded (Burré et al., 2014). In addition, previous (Bartels et al., 2011) and recent (Iljina et al., 2016) studies report soluble, multimeric αS forms that have α -helical conformation, resist aggregation, and are distinct from pathological, β-sheetrich oligomers that are the hallmark of synucleinopathies. If all aS forms that have been repeatedly described are relevant, they likely exist in a dynamic equilibrium with each other. Perturbation of the neuronal αS equilibrium in neurons on the other hand, may be the starting point for pathological α S insolubility and misfolding. Since their discovery, the known fPD/DLB-linked aS missense mutations have been obvious candidates for studying perturbed aS equilibria, but rationally designed variants have been informative as well.

THE REPETITIVE STRUCTURE OF α S

The N-terminal two thirds of α S contain up to nine 11-residue imperfect repeats, with the consensus core motif being KTKEGV (Bendor et al., 2013). Figure 1A highlights the KTKEGV motifs within the 140 aa sequence, and Figure 1B displays the αS aa sequence after aligning it by the KTKEGV motifs. Repeats 1-5 and 7 are highly conserved, repeat 9 is partially conserved and repeats 6 and 8 are poorly conserved. The repeats are interrupted by 4 aa (ATVA) between repeats 4 and 5. In addition to the core motif (KTKEGV) that encompasses positions 2-7 of the 11-aa repeat, the polar character of positions 1 and 9 as well as the non-polar, hydrophobic character of positions 8, 10, and 11 are relatively well conserved, as visualized by the color-code in Figure 1C (see legend). The repeats are highly conserved, both across vertebrate species and among the three homologs α -, β - and γ -synuclein. The KTKEGV motif has not been observed in non-vertebrates, and no similar sequence has been identified outside the synuclein protein family. However, perilipins (Londos et al., 1999) as well as apolipoproteins and certain plant proteins (George et al., 1995) exhibit a similar overall structure, i.e., they contain 11-aa repeats with a similar pattern of charged/polar and hydrophobic aa. Like α S, apolipoproteins interact with lipid membranes via their N-terminal regions and, interestingly, they are the protein class that is over-represented in amyloid diseases: so far four apolipoproteins, SAA, Apo AI, Apo AII, and Apo AIV, have been described in the context of amyloidosis (Sipe et al., 2014). The 11-aa repeats enable such polypeptides to form amphipathic 11/3 helices at membranes (different from true α -helices): after exactly three turns, position 1 of the next 11-aa repeat is reached. Figure 1D illustrates in a simplified fashion the 11/3 helix formation of αS for repeats 1–7 in the context of the rest of the protein including the ATVA intervening sequence. The formation of helical α S on membranes was predicted from its sequence and formally demonstrated by binding to artificial membranes in vitro (Davidson et al., 1998). In a simplified diagram that focuses on repeats 1-7 and ignores ATVA, Figure 1E depicts two forces that attract amphipathic aS helices to cellular membranes: (i) light gray area: hydrophobic interactions between fatty acyl chains (long curved black lines in Figure 1E) and the hydrophobic half of the α S amphipathic helix; and (ii) light blue areas: electrostatic interactions between positively charged lysines (K) on opposite sides of the helix and negatively charged membrane lipid headgroups (e.g., phosphatidylserine, phosphatidic acid, phosphatidylinositol headgroups; depicted in red) (Zhu and Fink, 2003). While a "bent" *a*-helix was detected on small-diameter micelles by nuclear magnetic resonance (Eliezer et al., 2001; Ulmer and Bax, 2005), the extended 11/3 helix was observed for spin-labeled protein on artificial membranes, which have a larger diameter than micelles and are expected to model the in vivo conformation better (Figure 1F: aa 9-89) (Jao et al., 2004, 2008). Thus, through the membrane interaction of multiple KTKEGV repeats, αS likely forms one long 11/3 helix that lies along the outside surface of cellular vesicle membranes, at least half-buried in the bilayer (Bussell et al., 2005; Jao et al., 2008; Wietek et al., 2013), while the C-terminal \sim 30-40 aa remain unfolded. Moreover, the preference of αS for curved membranes (cellular vesicles) instead of relatively flat membranes (ER or plasma membrane) is well established (Middleton and Rhoades, 2010; Jensen et al., 2011). Figure 1F illustrates the positions of repeat 4 and ATVA (both color-coded) within the extended 11/3 helix of α S (only as 9–89 are shown). Moreover, the positions of the lysine "wings" are shown (the hydrophobic half of the helix is below, the hydrophilic half above the plane that is defined by the lysines).

Importantly, purified recombinant α S in solution behaves like a natively unfolded protein *in vitro* (Weinreb et al., 1996; Bertoncini et al., 2005). The *in vivo* occurrence of this α S conformation, presumably in addition to membrane-associated helical monomers, has recently been suggested by intact-cell NMR (Binolfi et al., 2012; Theillet et al., 2016). In addition to those monomeric states, native multimeric α S assemblies have been observed by several groups (Bartels et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011, 2014; Dettmer et al., 2013; Gurry et al., 2013; Westphal and Chandra, 2013; Burré et al., 2014; Gould et al., 2014; Iljina et al., 2016). The characterization of the multimeric α S species ranges from soluble tetramers (Bartels et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011) to membrane-associated octamers (Burré et al., 2014). The



relationship and relative abundance of all these species may be highly dependent on biological context and therefore difficult to predict from *in vitro* experiments.

Over the years, several α S missense mutations have each been associated with familial PD (**Figure 2A**: wt α S, **Figure 2B**: mutants). Those are, in chronological order of publication: A53T (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997), A30P (Krüger et al., 1998), E46K (Zarranz et al., 2004), H50Q (Appel-Cresswell et al., 2013; Proukakis et al., 2013), G51D (Kiely et al., 2013; Lesage et al., 2013) and A53E (Pasanen et al., 2014). While all except A30P cluster around aa 50, their relative position in the α S amphipathic helix differs: A30P (11-aa repeat position: 11) and G51D (position 10) are in the hydrophobic half of the helix, E46K (position 5) and H50Q (position 9) are in the hydrophilic half; A53T/E are not found in the 11-aa repeat, but in the ATVA sequence between repeat 4 and 5. Neither is the effect of the substitution on the nature of the respective aa (e.g., charged vs. uncharged) unifying among them. Moreover, A30P binds to membranes less than wt (Jo et al., 2002), E46K binds more (Choi et al., 2004) and the A53T may exhibit similar binding (Bussell and Eliezer, 2004). In contrast to that, the clustering around a "putative protein loop" (Kara et al., 2013) (except A30P) and a negative impact on physiological multimer formation (Dettmer et al., 2015a) have been proposed to be a common feature of fPD-linked mutants. Strategic "exaggerations" and "analogies" of fPD-linked mutants promise to lead to a better understanding of the effect of fPD-linked mutations on aS homeostasis, especially when studied in the cellular context (see below). Many important questions in α S research are ultimately linked to understanding α S conformational homeostasis in intact cells. How are the different aS conformations linked to aS function in vivo? How is α S structural homeostasis maintained in health and perturbed in disease? How does a proteinaceous aggregation start, and is that truly the key pathogenic event in human synucleinopathies? How should we design strategies for therapeutic intervention? This review will emphasize that valuable tools toward answering these



FIGURE 2 | Wt aS, fPD-linked and strategic aS mutations. (A) Schematic of wt human aS by aligning its as sequence via the KTKEGV motifs; as that fully conform to "KTKEGV" are highlighted in gray (top). Color-coded (see Figure 1) schematic of repeats 1-7 (omitting "ATVA" between repeats 4 and 5) in an 11/3 helical wheel (bottom). (B) fPD-linked αS missense mutations ("ATVA" was included to illustrate A53T and A53E). (C) Non-toxic αS point mutations (in aa 1–89) identified by expression in yeast (most were identified in compound mutants and the focus is on E and P mutations). E at aa positions 3, 7, and 10 of each repeat destabilizes the hydrophobic interaction between as and lipid tails, E at positions 2 and 4 destabilizes electrostatic interactions with lipid headgroups; the effect of E at position 8 is less clear. P destabilizes the helix independent of its position. (D) K10,12E and K21,23E. E substitutions at positions 2 and 4 of each repeat destabilize the electrostatic interaction with lipid headgroups. (E) Engineered αS single P mutants (left panel) and compound mutants A11P/V70P and T44P/A89P (right panel). The P substitutions reduce helix formation, thereby increasing the pool of cytosolic unfolded αS. "X" marks toxic single point mutants. (F) E/Q-to-K/R mutants. The positive charge of R or K presumably stabilizes the electrostatic interaction with negatively charged headgroups analogous to fPD-linked aS E46K. Left panel: yeast-toxic αS Q79R. Middle panel: E35K and E57K. Right panel: αS "2K" (E35K + E46K) and αS "3K" (E35K + E46K + E61K) amplify/exaggerate E46K. (G) Hydrophobic KTKEGV repeat motif mutants. Left: "EGW" (consensus motif: KTKEGW). The bulky, non-polar W instead of V at position 7 adds hydrophobicity to the amphipathic aS helix, leading to strongly increased binding. Middle: Engineered aS mutant "KLK" (KLKEGV). The non-polar L instead of T at position 3 corrects the imperfect hydrophobicity in the amphipathic helix, leading to strongly increased binding. Right: "EIV" (KTKEIV). The non-polar I instead of G at position 6 corrects the imperfect hydrophobicity in the amphipathic α S helix, leading to strongly increased binding. (H) KTKEGV repeat motif mutants modifying the "T" position. T at position 3 of each 11-aa repeat causes imperfect hydrophobicity in the hydrophobic face of the amphipathic aS helix, leading to only transient binding. Left: "TsixK" (KKKEGV). K instead of T at position 3 reduces the hydrophobicity in the amphipathic helix. However, the additional positive charge may lead to an aberrant binding to negatively charged lipid head groups, permitting residual, but possibly abnormal binding characterized by less helicity. Middle: "TsixE" (KEKEGV). E instead of T at position 3 reduces the hydrophobicity in the amphipathic helix. Right: "TG6" (KGKEGV). G instead of T at position 3 may have a helix-destabilizing effect, while membrane-binding might be intact. (n/t, not tested; XL, crosslinking; gray areas indicate the hydrophobic face of the amphipathic aS helix; dark gray areas: increased membrane binding/stronger helix formation; white areas: decreased membrane binding/impaired helix formation).

questions can arise from informative point mutations that, e.g., prevent αS from populating all states within its normal folding landscape.

αS TOXICITY AND MEMBRANE BINDING

About one decade after the discovery of αS as the principal Lewy body component and its initial structural characterization, Volles and Lansbury (2007) published a remarkable study on αS fibrillization and yeast toxicity. The authors screened a library of random aS point mutants both in vitro and in yeast in order to identify variants that could help elucidate sequence-phenotype relationships. When in vitro fibrillization and yeast toxicity of the aS variants were compared, no correlation of toxicity with fibrillization rate was observed, suggesting that fibrillization is not necessary for aS-induced yeast toxicity. A second screen in a library of several thousand yeast clones identified 25 nontoxic α S sequence variants. Most of these contained a mutation to either proline (P) or glutamate (E) that decreased membrane binding (Figure 2C) relative to wt α S (Figure 2A). The authors hypothesized that αS toxicity in yeast is caused by the protein binding directly to membranes at levels sufficient to nonspecifically disrupt membrane homeostasis. Subsequent studies helped characterize the membrane-associated toxicity of aS in more detail: aS expression in yeast (any level of aS expression in the aS-lacking S. cerevisiae is "over-expression") was found to lead to vesicle clustering/aggregation (Soper et al., 2008) and vesicle trafficking defects (Cooper et al., 2006). The relevance of these findings beyond the yeast system, and for PD pathogenesis in particular, was highlighted when similar vesicle trafficking defects were recapitulated in patient-derived αS A53T and αS triplication iPS cell cultures (Chung et al., 2013). However, in contrast to the yeast system, no pronounced toxicity was observed in the iPS cells, possibly due to lower expression levels or a better ability of mammalian cells to compensate for aSinduced membrane dyshomeostasis. While this apparent lack of immediate toxicity is consistent with PD being an insidious, relatively late-onset disease, it also suggests that a "mutation amplification" strategy might be necessary to readily detect α Sinduced vesicle trafficking defects and their related toxicity in mammalian cells.

A decrease in membrane binding caused by "E mutants" was confirmed upon expression in human cells (HEK and the mesencephalic neuronal cell line MN9D) by Zarbiv et al. (2014). The authors replaced two positive lysine (K) residues with two negative glutamate (E) residues at either the first (K10,12E) or second (K21,23E) KTKEGV repeat motif (**Figure 2D**). Reduced binding of both double-point mutations relative to wt α S was determined by a quantitative phospholipid ELISA assay. In addition, the K-to-E substitutions resulted in strongly reduced levels of soluble α S oligomers, but larger intracellular inclusions. The toxicity of the mutants relative to wt α S was not addressed in the study.

The membrane binding and toxic effects of "P mutants" in neuronal cells were the subject of a comprehensive study by Burré et al. (2012). The authors generated 13 strategic α S proline

mutants within seven αS KTKEGV repeats (Figure 2E, left panel) and analyzed them relative to wt, A30P, E46K, and A53T aS in seven assays that ranged from biochemical studies on purified α S to examining the toxicity of virally expressing α S in the mouse substantia nigra (SN) by stereotactic injections. Strikingly, proline mutations in the central region of α S, referred to as NAC (non-amyloid β component) domain (residues 61–95), as well as T59P and the fPD-linked mutations A30P, E46K, A53T increased the neurotoxicity of αS. In contrast, all P mutants (except G41P) both inside and outside the NAC domain significantly reduced membrane association, as the authors had expected based on the helix-breaking effects of the proline residues. In a follow-up study (Burré et al., 2015), the same group examined proline-rich aS variants A11P/V70P and T44P/A89P (Figure 2E, right panel), plus a quadruple mutant A11P/V70P/T44P/A89P. All these compound "P mutants" showed lack of membrane binding in various in vitro assays. Moreover, all compound proline mutants were significantly more toxic than wt α S in the cultured cells, and the respective P mutant-injected mice (SN, stereotactic virus injection) showed more motor deficits and more pronounced loss of tyrosine-hydroxylase-positive neurons in the SN compared to wt aS-injected mice (which themselves showed more deficits than control-injected mice). In cultured cells, transfection of A11P/V70P and T44P/A89P as well as the quadruple P mutant caused cytoplasmic inclusion formation that was significantly more pronounced than that of wt aS. While the authors did not address the nature of the inclusions in the study, they assumed that those inclusions were β-sheet-rich and thus different from the vesicle-rich inclusions that can be observed when wt αS is expressed in yeast or when a S variants with enhanced membrane binding are expressed in human cells (see below). At a first glance, these observations by Burré et al. (2015) challenged the assumption of "less membrane-binding = less (immediate) toxicity" as suggested by Volles and Lansbury (2007). However, it should be noted that (i) no proline mutations more C-terminal than V38P had been identified to be protective in yeast, consistent with the idea that NAC-domain mutations are more detrimental; (ii) α S amyloid formation has been reported to be more difficult to achieve in S. cerevisiae than in mammalian cells (Soper et al., 2008; Jarosz and Khurana, 2017); (iii) the only real discrepancy between the two studies are the data on A30P. The PD-causing effect of the "P mutant" as A30P had always been at odds with the study by Volles and Lansbury (2007) and several other αS studies in yeast, where A30P behaved like a negative control for aS toxicity. In that regard, the approaches proposed by Burré et al. might overcome the previous lack of robust α S A30P cellular toxicity models.

Importantly, the study by Volles and Lansbury (2007) (**Figure 2C**) also identified the point mutation Q79R to increase α S toxicity paralleled by an increase in membrane binding (**Figure 2F**, left panel). In this context, a publication by Winner et al. (2011) is of interest, reporting the pronounced toxicity of two engineered α S variants, α S E35K and α S E57K (**Figure 2F**, middle panel), when virally expressed in rat midbrains. The overall effect of these two mutants on α S amphipathic helix formation at membranes might be similar to that of Q79R (**Figure 2F**, left panel), as additional positive charges are added

to the hydrophilic half of the helix in all three cases. More importantly, these charge changes may be analogous to the effect of the fPD-linked aS E46K mutant (Zarranz et al., 2004) (Figure 2B). αS E46K is known to bind to membrane phospholipids more tightly than wt α S (Choi et al., 2004). It was suggested that the E46K aS amphipathic helix is more stable at phospholipid membranes due to the possibility of forming an additional salt bridge between the positively charged lysine (K) and a negatively charged phospholipid head group (Perlmutter et al., 2009). This electrostatic attraction is visualized in Figure 2F, and the mechanism can likely be extended to E35K and other engineered "K mutants". Similar to E35K, the fPD-linked E46K has been reported to exhibit more pronounced toxicity than wt aS in both yeast (Lázaro et al., 2014) and mammalian cells (Íñigo-Marco et al., 2017). Furthermore, both E35K and E46K occur in the core repeat motif (KTKEGV becomes KTKKGV), and both at position 5 of the 11-aa repeat (E35K: position 5 in repeat 3; E46K: position 5 in repeat 4). This is consistent with the "dose-dependent" effects of the "2K" compound mutant E35K + E46K (Figure 2F, right panel) and the further extrapolation to "3K" = E35K + E46K + E61K(Figure 2F, right panel) (Dettmer et al., 2015a). Importantly, a "dose-dependent" increase in α S toxicity and membrane binding (PBS insolubility) was observed in mammalian cells with each additional E-to-K mutation. In several assays, transfection of the α S 3K variant into neuroblastoma cells led to strong cytotoxicity, similar to the level caused by the pro-apoptotic protein Bax (Dettmer et al., 2015a). E46K was shown to be more toxic than wt in at least one assay, while the toxicity of aS 2K was in between E46K and 3K. The pronounced cellular toxicity of aS 3K was accompanied by the development of round cytoplasmic inclusions (Dettmer et al., 2015a). Electron microscopy (EM) identified these inclusions as round, dense clusters of vesicles of different sizes that were strongly positive for aS by immunogold (Dettmer et al., 2017). In co-expression experiments, vesicular markers of various origins (endosomal, lysosomal, and Golgi), but not mitochondrial or ER membrane markers, were found to co-localize with the α S 3K inclusions (Dettmer et al., 2017). The lack of 3K overlap with ER membranes is at odds with a report on pronounced ER interactions of E46K (Mbefo et al., 2015), which will need to be consolidated in future studies. Nonetheless, the principal effects of increased toxicity apply to all E/Q-to-K/R mutations in repeat positions 1 and 5, as presented in Figure 2F. And this seems to be related to excess interaction with vesicular membranes and/or aberrant binding to non-vesicular membranes. Importantly, the effect of expressing α S 3K in mammalian cells resembles expressing wt human α S in yeast: (immediate) cytotoxicity, inclusion formation and vesicle clusters, linking the 3K effect to wt aS pathobiology.

While no analogy to a known fPD-linked mutant exists, another theoretical strategy of increasing α S membrane binding consists in increasing the hydrophobic interaction between α S and the fatty-acyl chains of phospholipid bilayers. The imperfect hydrophobicity of the hydrophobic half of the α S amphipathic helix (**Figure 1E**) could be enhanced by several strategies: (i) replacing the central threonine (T) of KTEKGV with an uncharged and non-polar aa such as leucine (L), changing the

consensus motif to KLKEGV (abbreviated "KLK"; Figure 2G, middle panel); (ii) replacing the small glycine (G) with a bulkier non-polar aa such as isoleucine (I), resulting in KTKEIV (abbreviated "EIV"; Figure 2G, right panel); or (iii) replacing the non-polar valine (V) with a bulkier non-polar aa such as tryptophan (W), resulting in KTKEGW (abbreviated "EGW"; Figure 2G, left panel). Similar to α S 3K, such engineered α S mutants were enriched in membrane fractions, were immediately toxic when transfected into neuroblastoma cells, and led to round cytoplasmic inclusions that were again shown by EM and fluorescence microscopy to be clusters of vesicles of various origins (Dettmer et al., 2015b, 2017). These findings are consistent with earlier observations by Volles and Lansbury (2007), namely, that increased membrane binding and increased toxicity are correlated. A "KLK"-like αS variant termed "T6" (Pranke et al., 2011) (4 T \rightarrow L and 2 T \rightarrow F substitutions) has been studied in vitro, and the authors concluded that its strongly increased membrane binding was accompanied by a lack of specificity toward target membranes: while wt aS showed a preference for curved membranes, as observed before (e.g., Middleton and Rhoades, 2010; Jensen et al., 2011), as T6 lost this preference and also bound to flat membranes in vitro. However, co-localization analyses with different cellular markers in neuroblastoma cells showed that the highly similar aS "KLK" (Figure 2G, middle panel) was associated with vesicular, but not ER or mitochondrial membranes, consistent with a quantitatively, but not qualitatively different binding mode (Dettmer et al., 2017).

Position 2 of the KTKEGV core motif was addressed in two additional studies. Perrin et al. (2000) characterized aS "TsixK" (KTKEGV becomes KKKEGV in six repeats; Figure 2H, left panel) and "TsixE" (KTKEGV becomes KEKEGV in six repeats; Figure 2H, middle panel). TsixK and TsixE both introduce thermodynamically unfavorable charges into the hydrophobic half of the α S amphipathic helix (TsixK: 6 lysines = 6+; TsixE: 6 glutamates = 6-). Interestingly, the authors observed pronounced membrane repulsion of TsixE, while for certain phospholipid mixtures TsixK still engaged in membrane binding despite diminished lipid-induced helicity (35% helicity instead of 70% in the lipid-bound state). The complete solubility of TsixE in the presence of membranes composed of acidic phospholipids was attributed to both electrostatic repulsion and reduced hydrophobicity in the hydrophobic face of the α S helix. A different study that involved a T substitution strategy, however, questioned to some extent the biological relevance of studying aS membranes interactions in vitro: Kim et al. (2006) reported that the interaction of αS with biological membranes may be quite different from that with model membranes. The authors characterized the interaction typically observed with model phospholipid membranes as spontaneous, stable and mainly driven by electrostatic attraction. In contrast, the interaction with cellular membranes was proposed to be highly dynamic and more driven by hydrophobic attraction. Kim et al. (2006) further suggested that the latter mode of αS interaction only occurs in the context of the cytoplasm and that cytoplasmic cofactors assist the interaction, consistent with findings by other researchers (Wislet-Gendebien et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2013). The authors pursued an "in-lysate" chemical crosslinking strategy and observed that cellular α S-membrane binding was characterized by the trapping of a 17 kDa membrane-bound version of α S (p17), in addition to the expected 14 kDa unmodified monomer. A "TG6" α S mutant (KTKEGV becomes KGKEGV in six repeats; **Figure 2H**, right panel), designed to break the helical structure of the protein, abolished p17 formation, while the mutant protein was apparently still detected in membrane fractions similarly to wt α S [see Figure 4 in Ref. Kim et al. (2006); note that the authors do not explicitly assess the total membrane binding of wt vs. TG6]. Analogous to "TsixK" this could indicate that for TG6 membrane binding was still possible, but helix formation was impaired.

αS MULTIMERIZATION

That cellular αS homeostasis is more complex than just a constant switching between soluble (unfolded) and membraneassociated (helical) monomers was proposed in a study by Bartels et al. (2011). First, using intact-cell crosslinking, the authors observed apparent multimeric species by Western blotting in addition to the 14 kDa monomer. Second, they used native methods to isolate cellular aS under non-denaturing conditions from various natural (non-PD) sources, including neural cells and human erythrocytes. The αS assemblies they isolated had α-helical structure by circular dichroism and were sized by two methods as ~ 60 kDa tetramers that were relatively resistant to in vitro aggregation, compared to recombinant monomers. Subsequent work from several labs confirmed elements of this new hypothesis of the existence of physiological α S multimers in addition to free monomers and emphasized the dynamic nature of aS tetramers/multimers (Wang et al., 2011; Dettmer et al., 2013; Gurry et al., 2013; Gould et al., 2014; Luth et al., 2015). For example, chemical crosslinkers were found to trap 60 kDa αS (monomer MW: 14 kDa) in intact, living cells, but not in cell lysates (Dettmer et al., 2013). Questions regarding the specificity of crosslinked α S cellular multimers (Fauvet et al., 2012) triggered a search for defined point mutations in the molecule that would abolish aS tetramer/multimer formation, based on the rationale that identifying such mutations would argue for molecular specificity. Focusing on the semi-conserved KTKEGV core motif in the α S 11-aa repeats, Dettmer et al. (2015b) identified missense mutations that, when introduced in several repeats, led to the detection of solely 14 kDa α S monomers, with α S multimers virtually absent. Mapping the identified mutations based on the membrane-induced α S helix model revealed that most α S multimer-abolishing repeated KTKEGV motif variants (6 × KLKEGV = "KLK," $7 \times \text{KTKEIV} = \text{"EIV,"} 6 \times \text{KTKEGW} = \text{"EGW"}$) strongly increased the hydrophobicity of the hydrophobic half of the aS membrane-induced helix (Figure 2G). Another multimerabolishing mutant (6 \times KTKKGV = "KGV"; not shown) identified in the study also increased aS membrane helix formation, but likely via additional electrostatic interactions between lysine residues and lipid headgroups. 6 × KTKKGV is a further amplification of α S "3K" (3 × KTKKGV; **Figure 2F**) and, importantly, fPD-linked E46K (1 × KTKKGV; **Figures 2B,F**), which both "dose-dependently" lead to multimer abrogation and increased membrane binding (Dettmer et al., 2015a). In all cases, the increase in membrane binding and loss of α S multimerization was accompanied by inclusion formation and toxicity (Dettmer et al., 2015a,b). This raised the question of what was responsible for the observed toxicity of those particular mutants: the loss of multimerization or the increased membrane binding? If both aspects of α S biology are tightly linked, the question may be hard or impossible to answer.

The study by Dettmer et al. (2015a) also revealed that 5 different fPD-linked aS missense mutations (A30P, E46K, H50Q, G51D, and A53T) all shifted the multimer:monomer equilibrium toward more monomers, albeit not as drastically as the strategic repeated mutants. This is noteworthy because at least A30P (Jensen et al., 1998; Jo et al., 2002) and G51D (Fares et al., 2014) exhibit decreased, not increased, membrane binding, suggesting that the detrimental effect of αS monomer excess goes beyond increased membrane binding. Otherwise, not all five mutants, membrane-enriched such as E46K or cytosol-enriched such as A30P and G51D, would cause PD. The notion that as A30P reduces both membrane binding and multimerization was supported by Westphal and Chandra (2013), and work by Burré et al. (2015) (Figure 2E, right panel) helped generalize the hypothesis that impaired formation of aS membrane-induced amphipathic helices causes αS monomer excess in the cytosol. According to Burré et al. (2015), the lack of membrane interaction of aS A11P/V70P and T44P/A89P monomers causes a failure to form native multimers at the membrane. These findings were consistent with aS TsixK (Figure 2H, left panel), which had been described to interfere with aS folding at membranes (Perrin et al., 2000), also abolishing α S multimerization, as assessed via YFP complementation on vesicle surfaces in intact neurons (Wang et al., 2014). Burré et al. (2015) concluded that reduced membrane binding results in the accumulation of monomeric, unfolded αS in the cytosol, as assessed by crosslinking in brain homogenates (but post lysis). It is plausible that an accumulation of unfolded soluble αS is the starting point of α S amyloid formation, since it is well-known that monomeric, unfolded aS can aggregate in vitro (Conway et al., 2000). In this context, it is important to note that in pure solutions *in vitro*, where both wt and P mutant α S are natively unfolded, aS A11P/V70P or T44P/A89P were not more aggregationprone than wt. The P mutants aggregated faster only in the cellular context, in which wt, but not P mutant aS can interact with membranes, once again highlighting the importance of studying consequences of αS structure alterations in intact cells. However, membrane excess of αS – as observed for αS "3K," "KLK" or "EIV" - has also been proposed to be the starting point of α S aggregation (Galvagnion et al., 2015), and the two possibilities are not mutually exclusive. Moreover, the amyloid nature of the observed inclusions in the respective studies reviewed here will require further analysis: EM revealed that "3K," "KLK," or "EIV" αS inclusions are primarily vesicle-rich α S inclusions and may only over time give rise to protein-rich, β -sheet α S inclusions. The exact nature of α S A11P/V70P or T44P/A89P inclusions that Burré et al. (2015) readily observed

upon expressing these in cell culture has not been addressed yet.

In combination, the findings by Dettmer et al. (2015a; 2015b), Burré et al. (2015) and Wang et al. (2014) are consistent with native αS multimerization being the result of an intact αS dynamic equilibrium. In such a dynamic equilibrium, αS is expected to efficiently shuttle between cytosol and membranes, i.e., it constantly binds to and gets released from lipid bilayers. Transient interactions of aS monomers with membranes may drive multimerization (Dettmer et al., 2016, 2017), something that recently was observed in an *in vitro* helical α S (tetramer) reconstitution system (Rovere et al., 2018). A possible scenario is that the induced amphipathic α S helices at lipid bilayers may over time cooperatively interact with each other in such a way that the hydrophobic portions of four monomers face each other, resulting in tetramer/multimer formation and simultaneous release from membranes. Too much or too little membrane association could lead to an accumulation of monomers either in the cytosol (e.g., T44P/A89P) or at membranes (e.g., 3K, KLK), respectively (Figure 3).

These considerations could help explain how both membrane-enriched aS E46K (Choi et al., 2004) and cytosolenriched aS A30P (Jensen et al., 1998; Jo et al., 2002) or G51D (Fares et al., 2014) can cause aS dyshomeostasis culminating in the pathogenesis of PD. Indeed, a loss of aS tetramerization/multimer formation had been proposed as a unifying principle between fPD-linked aS mutants: A30P, E46K, H50Q, G51D, and A53T all shifted the dynamic equilibrium away from tetramers/multimers when studied via intact-cell crosslinking and YFP complementation (Dettmer et al., 2015a). This is consistent with the idea that α S multimers may serve as a "safe" (i.e., not aggregation-prone) storage form in the cytoplasm (Gurry et al., 2013; Westphal and Chandra, 2013). The short-term consequences of αS monomer accumulation at membranes (vesicle-rich as inclusions; pronounced immediate toxicity) or in the cytosol (β -sheet-rich α S aggregates; more subtle/context-dependent toxicity) may differ. One important unsolved question (see above) remains the aggregation state of αS in the "vesicle-rich" inclusions. By EM [wt αS in yeast (Soper et al., 2008) or 3K/KLK aS in neural cells (Dettmer et al., 2017)], such inclusions are not characterized by fibrillar proteinaceous aggregates. In fact, while immunogold analysis clearly shows strong αS enrichment within the vesicle clusters, it is unclear if there is any direct α S- α S interaction at all, be it native or non-native. Assessed via crosslinking and YFP complementation (Dettmer et al., 2015b), aS 3K, KLK, and EIV appeared largely monomeric (at least the crosslinking assays should be able to detect both β -sheet and helical assemblies of α S). However, the aggregation of α S at membranes has been demonstrated (Galvagnion et al., 2015) and only the kinetics of aggregation and toxicity may differ between aS cytosol and membrane accumulation. Eventually, cytosol and membrane pathways of aS dyshomeostasis may converge in common pathological mechanisms, e.g., after the (relatively slow) formation of β -sheet-rich α S aggregates at membranes (Galvagnion et al., 2015). Alternatively, the principle of selective vulnerability (discussed in Walsh and Selkoe, 2016) may



 \rightarrow soluble monomers ↑ \rightarrow prone to β-sheet aggregation \rightarrow defects in cellular proteostasis?

increased αS membrane affinity → membrane monomers ↑ → membrane dyshomeostasis: vesicle clustering? defects in lipid packaging? pore-forming oligomers? β-sheet aggregation?

FIGURE 3 | Model of cellular aS homeostasis and the effect of engineered aS mutants. Physiological situation in blue: Coming off the ribosome, αS is soluble, unfolded and monomeric. Upon binding to vesicular membranes, it adopts helical fold. Folded monomers assemble to form multimers/tetramers on membranes. Multimers/tetramers are only weakly membrane-associated and likely in an equilibrium with cytosolic multimers/tetramers. Cytosolic tetramers/multimers may have an intrinsic propensity to disassemble - and eventually unfold, initiating a new cycle. Pathological situation in red: Perturbed cellular aS homeostasis, modeled via engineered aS variants, increases (i) the levels of aggregation-prone unfolded monomers in the cytosol (top left; TsixE, E/P mutants) or (ii) the level of membrane-associated monomeric aS (bottom; 3K, KLK, EIV, EGW mutants). While membrane-associated aS accumulation is generally toxic in in vivo models, the toxicity of cytosol-accumulated unfolded αS appears to be context specific, e.g., non-toxic in yeast (Volles and Lansbury, 2007), but more toxic than wt αS when virally expressed in mouse SN (Burré et al., 2015).

help explain why certain brain regions are susceptible to any α S-related insult, while other regions are not. Engineered α S variants, which have more pronounced effects than the fPD-linked mutations, are expected to continue contributing to a better understanding of these phenomena, especially when tested in animal models.

The observation that both increased and decreased membrane binding reduces the α S multimer:monomer ratio may indicate that the folding landscape of wt α S is well balanced to minimize both aggregation-prone unfolded, cytoplasmic monomers and membrane-toxicity causing membrane-associated monomers. Consequently, it may not be possible to further "improve" the native wt aS membrane:cytosol and multimer:monomer ratios by protein engineering. *Disturbed* aS homeostasis, however, may be corrected in the future by interfering with αS membraneinteractions. Interestingly, the drug squalamine has recently been reported to displace αS from lipid vesicles, thereby inhibiting aggregation and reducing toxicity (Perni et al., 2017; Pineda and Burré, 2017). However, an A30P carrier may not benefit from such a treatment because A30P already exhibits decreased membrane binding. Also for sporadic PD cases (wt α S), "precision medicine" might be required to determine if the underlying αS dyshomeostasis can be resolved by an increase or a decrease of α S membrane interaction. Alternatively, compounds that can directly stabilize aS tetramers/multimers, analogous to tafamidis in stabilizing transthyretin tetramers in that amyloidosis (Johnson et al., 2012), could arise as "onesize fit all" drugs. The design of such compounds would be facilitated by resolving the structure of tetrameric αS , which appears highly challenging in light of the reported lysis sensitivity of aS multimers (Dettmer et al., 2013; Luth et al., 2015). It is tempting to speculate that membrane-enriched αS variants such as KLK and EIV might even help stabilize aS multimers in vitro if we found methods and conditions to release membrane-enriched α S variants from membranes while the hydrophobic faces of their amphipathic helices engage in ordered synuclein-synuclein interactions at the same time. This approach, of course, would only be valid if the mechanism that drives wt aS multimerization in vivo is sufficiently similar to this scenario, for which there is some evidence (Wang et al., 2011; Gurry et al., 2013; Rovere et al., 2018).

α S FUNCTION

Several studies have linked aS function to synaptic vesicle trafficking (Abeliovich et al., 2000; Cooper et al., 2006; Larsen et al., 2006; Nemani et al., 2010; Vargas et al., 2014, 2017; Logan et al., 2017). While the exact details are still under debate, this function seems to be tied to transient α S-membrane interactions, which also seem to play a role in α S multimerization (Rovere et al., 2018). Initial reports focused on effects of αS on directly stabilizing curved membrane structures (Kamp et al., 2010; Varkey et al., 2010), similar to BAR domain proteins (DeWitt and Rhoades, 2013; Westphal and Chandra, 2013). More recent studies described direct effects of aS on membrane clustering Wang et al., 2014) or indirect effects of αS on vesicle fusion via the stabilization of vesicle SNARE complexes (Burré et al., 2010, Burré et al., 2014; Almandoz-Gil et al., 2018). Interestingly, both direct and indirect effects have been proposed to be mediated by α S multimerization. Based on biochemical assays, Burré et al. (2014) proposed a dynamic equilibrium between a natively unfolded form in the cytosol and a physiologically functional, multimeric form at membranes, while the latter but not the former acts as a SNARE complex chaperone at the presynaptic terminal. The study by Wang et al. (2014) coupled YFP complementation and confocal microscopy in cultured primary neurons to propose that aS multimerization occurs on synaptic vesicles and is associated with clustering of the vesicles. Wang et al. (2014) employed the aS TsixK variant (Figure 2H, left panel) as a negative control and concluded that an αS variant that does not form multimers also does not have vesicle-clustering activity. YFP signals from wt aSmediated YFP complementation did not only occur at vesicles, but also remained associated with vesicles, leading the authors to postulate that physiological aS multimers have vesicle-clustering activity. If this vesicle-clustering activity is indeed the function of α S, then the excess vesicle-clustering in α S-expressing yeast (Cooper et al., 2006; Soper et al., 2008) may be only quantitatively, but not qualitatively different from the normal αS activity. However, the membrane-enriched aS 3K, KLK, EIV, EGW were largely monomeric when expressed in neuroblastoma cells, as assessed via crosslinking and YFP complementation (Dettmer et al., 2015b), and still exhibited strong vesicle-clustering activity, indicating that pronounced membrane localization of α S may be sufficient to drive vesicle clustering. Thus, 3K, KLK and similar membrane-favoring aS variants may have to be considered constitutively active gain-of-function mutants with regard to vesicle-clustering activity. Cytosol-enriched aS mutations such as A11P/V70 and T44P/A89P as well as the folding-incompetent TsixK, on the other hand, would be loss-of function mutations (Figure 2). In another study, the generation of membrane curvature (another activity of αS that is potentially related to its vesicle-clustering activity), has been assigned to monomeric aS at membranes (Westphal and Chandra, 2013). Conversely, soluble tetrameric α S was described in the same study as a passive storage form of the protein (Westphal and Chandra, 2013). The in part contradictory results summarized here might be resolved eventually by a model in which the protein's ability to rapidly switch between different localizations and folding/assembly states mediates its activity. In light of such a model, the question if monomeric or multimeric aS represents the functional form of the protein becomes obsolete. An analogy for such a scenario would be SNARE proteins that switch between monomeric and (hetero)tetrameric states, thereby driving vesicle fusion events. In the meantime, the α S variants reviewed here represent valuable tools for the field's attempt to better understand αS functions and assign certain aspects of those functions to certain conformations of the protein. As an example, it would be interesting to test if the exocytic fusion-pore dilating effect of wt α S (Logan et al., 2017) is increased or decreased for membrane-enriched aS variants and if cytosol-enriched variants have the opposite effect. In addition to the membrane-associated functions of αS , engineered soluble αS mutants offer opportunities for testing and identifying cytosolic functions of the protein.

AN ATTEMPT TO CATEGORIZE α S MUTATIONS

A simplified wheel diagram of a membrane-induced amphipathic helix of α S (**Figure 1**) helps categorize α S variants into two classes: membrane-enriched and cytosol-enriched variants. Membrane-enriched α S variants stabilize the formation of the α S membrane-induced amphipathic helix, cytosol-enriched variants destabilize the helix.



FIGURE 4 Categories of α S Mutants. Wt α S (shaded; over-simplified by choosing the color-code of the most prevalent as for each 11-aa repeat position) and α S variants (theoretical: top row; fPD: middle row) are shown. "Mutant type" (upper row) highlights the positions at which the respective mutations are expected to exert the proposed effects. "Effect" (bottom row) shows the (exaggerated) effect of the mutations on α S homeostasis: monomers accumulate at the membrane or in the cytosol.

Cytosol-enriched αS variants can be further classified into (Figure 4):

- "P-type" variants: substitutions with proline (P) residues prevent helix formation, leading to the accumulation of cytosolic α S, which is likely unfolded, monomeric and aggregation-prone. P, known as a "helix-breaker", should have this effect at any position in α S. fPD-linked α S A30P (Krüger et al., 1998; Jo et al., 2002) falls into this category; see **Figures 2C,E** for engineered analogs/amplifications.
- "D/E-type" variants: substitutions with aspartate (D) or glutamate (E) residues cause repulsion from lipid acyl chains (D/E in the hydrophobic half of the α S helix). As a result, cytosolic α S accumulates, which is likely unfolded, monomeric and aggregation-prone. fPD-linked α S G51D (Kiely et al., 2013; Lesage et al., 2013; Fares et al., 2014) is one example; see **Figures 2C,H** for engineered analogs/amplifications. D/E substitutions should have similar effects in the "lysine wings" (**Figure 2D**).

The effect of "P-" and "D/E-type" variants on α S toxicity appears to be model- and context-specific and ranges from less toxic than wt in yeast (Volles and Lansbury, 2007) to more toxic than wt in virally injected mouse SN (Burré et al., 2015). This discrepancy, which may have to do with differences in β -sheetrich aggregation in different cellular environments, will require further elucidation. Of course, human genetics underlines the long-term toxicity of both types: the fPD-linked variants A30P (Krüger et al., 1998; Jo et al., 2002) and G51D (Kiely et al., 2013; Lesage et al., 2013; Fares et al., 2014) cause PD. However, A30P and G51D are likely not readily toxic in yeast or (simple) cellular models, consistent with membrane interactions being important for yeast α S toxicity (Volles and Lansbury, 2007).

Membrane-enriched αS variants can be further classified into (Figure 4):

- "K-type variants": substitutions with lysine (K) residues at position 1 or 5 of each 11-aa repeat presumably lead to an energetically favorable interaction with lipid headgroups, in analogy to what has been proposed for fPD-linked aS E46K (Perlmutter et al., 2009) (Figure 2B). The result of a stabilized αS membrane-induced amphipathic helix is the accumulation of membrane-associated, helically folded (and monomeric) α S. See Figure 2F for analogs and exaggerations of E46K. It should be noted that "K-type" mutations are highly position-specific. All variants discussed here are located at positions 1 and 5 of each 11-aa repeat. A similar effect may occur at positions 8 and 9, but this remains to be tested. The positively charged histidine (position 9 in repeat 4, aa 50 in α S) may stabilize the α S helix in the environment of negatively charged lipid headgroups and therefore the fPD-linked H50Q (Appel-Cresswell et al., 2013) (Figure 4, second column from the right) may (slightly) repel αS from membranes. The presence of positively charged K (or R) at the (hydrophobic) positions 3, 6, 7, 10, or 11 will interfere with helix formation and lead to repulsion or a different mode of membrane binding [as discussed by Perrin et al. (2000); Figure 2H, left panel].

- "B-type variants": substitutions with "bulky" residues (L, I, W, F) in the hydrophobic half of the α S amphipathic helix enhance hydrophobic interactions, leading to increased membrane dwell-time (**Figure 2G**). "B-type" α S variants do not have a counterpart in an fPD-linked variant. This could be coincidence or indicative of a strong toxicity that has prevented the presence of such variants in humans.

"K-type" α S variants show consistent toxicity in yeast (Volles and Lansbury, 2007), cellular (Dettmer et al., 2015a), and animal (Winner et al., 2011) models, which should most likely also apply to "B-type" variants (Dettmer et al., 2015b). The pronounced toxicity of these variants, however, is possibly caused by disrupting membrane integrity and vesicle trafficking
(Dettmer et al., 2017), and the relationship to β -sheet-rich aggregation will require further elucidation. Thus far, it is not clear if there is any direct α S- α S interaction at all in the vesicle-rich α S inclusions. Recent work (Fusco et al., 2016) suggests that excess α S monomers, that each are in contact with two vesicle membranes, could directly cause aberrant vesicle clustering. Importantly, however, the fPD-linked E46K, a "K-type" mutant, produces typical proteinaceous inclusions, Lewy bodies, in patient brains (Zarranz et al., 2004), arguing against an E46K-specific pathogenic mechanism that is entirely independent of α S proteinaceous aggregation.

LIMITATIONS OF THE PRESENTED STUDIES AND THEIR INTERPRETATION BASED ON A SIMPLIFIED αS MEMBRANE-INDUCED HELIX MODEL

The studies presented and discussed here typically rely on the overexpression of αS , sometimes fused to whole or split fluorescent proteins, in human/rodent cells or even in yeast, an organism that does not possess synuclein. Excess/ectopic expression and the modification with tags that are larger than αS itself may of course affect the localization and structure of the studied variants. Nonetheless, all presented α S variants were compared to wt aS expressed under the same conditions and, therefore, the conclusions relative to wt α S can be expected to be meaningful. Moreover, many key observations such as the toxic effect of adding positive charges to positions 1 or 5 of the 11-aa repeat have been confirmed independent of tagging (untagged, YFP-tagged) or model system (yeast, transfected neural cells, stereotactic viral expression in mouse substantia nigra). However, the effect of expressing foldingimpaired P-mutant aS ranges from less toxic (yeast) to more toxic (stereotactic viral expression in mouse substantia nigra) and, while it is obvious to consider the findings in the rodent in vivo system more relevant, the study of the "A30P-like" aS toxicity remains challenging.

It also has to be noted again that the synoptic considerations in this review are based on a simplified wheel model of αS membrane-induced amphipathic helix formation. The model ignores the "ATVA" interrupting sequence, which leads to a shift (repeats 5-7 relative to repeats 1-4) that is not reflected. The fPD-linked mutations A53T (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997) (ATVA becomes TTVA) and A53E (Pasanen et al., 2014) (ATVA becomes ETVA) cannot be assessed via the simplified wheel model (Figure 4, right column). At least for A53E, reduced membrane binding has been reported (Ghosh et al., 2014), while the membrane binding of A53T may be similar to wt (Bussell and Eliezer, 2004). Positions 8 and 9 in the 11-aa repeats seem to be understudied. While located in the hydrophilic half of the αS helix, the nature of the aa found at position 8 are surprisingly hydrophobic, especially in repeats 1-4 (V, A, L, V). This may have to do with membrane-interaction-independent requirements for helix formation and may be addressed in future studies. At position 9, aa with very different characteristics are

found: A, E, Y, H, N, A, S. The only positively charged aa, H, is mutated in fPD-linked H50Q and assessing this effect based on the simplified helix model is not straightforward (see above). Moreover, the simplified wheel diagrams in **Figure 2** only depict aa 9–89 while regions up to aa 97 (Fusco et al., 2016) and also the very N-terminus (Bartels et al., 2010) have been proposed to be involved in membrane binding.

It cannot be ruled out that some of the mutants discussed here have very specific effects unrelated to their position in the membrane-induced α S amphipathic helix. For example, E35K and E57K (**Figure 2F**) have been reported to have specific effects on α S aggregation (oligomer formation instead of fast fibrillization) *in vitro*, in the absence of membranes. However, based on the existing data, it appears reasonable to predict that E13K, E83K and, possibly even E105K (all at position 5 of the 11aa repeat) have similar effects as E46K. The same should apply to E20K (position 1 of 11-aa repeat #2) and mutants generated by replacing the non-E amino acids at positions 1 and 5 of the 11-aa repeats, such as S9K or Q24K, will likely also behave similarly.

The predictive value of the simplified α S wheel diagram will continue to be tested by new strategic α S mutants that researchers will create and possibly even by newly found fPD-linked aS variants. fPD-linked A53T and A53E (see above), which are not in the 11-aa repeat may very well have unique effects and the effect of H50Q, where the only H in α S is mutated, is hard to assess based on the simplified model (see above). H50Q (Khalaf et al., 2014; Rutherford et al., 2014) and A53T (Conway et al., 1998) were reported to form amyloid more readily in vitro and leaving the membrane-induced helix model aside - increased aggregation-propensity of soluble as in an otherwise "normal" equilibrium of membrane-bound and soluble αS represents a sufficient explanation for long-term toxicity. It should, again, be noted though that the fPD variants A30P, E46K, H50Q, G51D, and A53T were reported to have an aS multimer:monomer ratio that was shifted toward more monomer, suggesting that a reduced multimer:monomer ratio could be the "unifying principle" of aS dyshomeostasis, independent of whether excess monomers accumulate at membranes or in the cytosol (Dettmer et al., 2015a). Lastly, important aspects of aS biology were beyond the scope of this review, which focused mainly on strategic aa mutations in the α S 11-aa repeats studied *in cellulo*. The composition of (vesicular) membranes has been repeatedly shown to influence as binding (e.g., Nuscher et al., 2004), and the effect of certain aS fPD mutations on, e.g., membrane binding may depend on the exact nature of target membranes. Similarly, certain post-translational modifications such as S129 phosphorylation have been proposed to be an important aspect of aS homeostasis and they have been studied, e.g., via aa substitutions that prevent the respective modifications (e.g., Lázaro et al., 2014). Such aa substitutions were not discussed here. α S function was not the main focus of this review because only two of the key studies presented explicitly addressed it; the proposed function were vesicle clustering (Wang et al., 2014) and SNARE assembly at vesicles (Burré et al., 2012). However, future studies related to other proposed cellular αS interactions such as that with mitochondria (e.g., Kamp et al., 2010) may also benefit from analyzing strategic α S variants.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

UD wrote the review.

FUNDING

This work was funded by NIH grant NS099328 to UD.

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, A., Schmitz, Y., Fariñas, I., Choi-Lundberg, D., Ho, W. H., Castillo, P. E., et al. (2000). Mice lacking alpha-synuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80886-7
- Alderson, T. R., and Bax, A. (2016). Parkinson's disease: disorder in the court. *Nature* 530, 38–39. doi: 10.1038/nature16871
- Almandoz-Gil, L., Persson, E., Lindström, V., Ingelsson, M., Erlandsson, A., and Bergström, J. (2018). In situ proximity ligation assay reveals co-localization of alpha-synuclein and snare proteins in murine primary neurons. *Front. Neurol.* 9:180. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00180
- Appel-Cresswell, S., Vilarino-Guell, C., Encarnacion, M., Sherman, H., Yu, I., Shah, B., et al. (2013). Alpha-synuclein p.H50Q, a novel pathogenic mutation for Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc.* 28, 811–813. doi: 10.1002/mds.25421
- Bartels, T., Ahlstrom, L. S., Leftin, A., Kamp, F., Haass, C., Brown, M. F., et al. (2010). The N-terminus of the intrinsically disordered protein α-synuclein triggers membrane binding and helix folding. *Biophys. J.* 99, 2116–2124. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.06.035
- Bartels, T., Choi, J. G., and Selkoe, D. J. (2011). α -Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. *Nature* 477, 107–110. doi: 10.1038/nature10324
- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P., and Edwards, R. H. (2013). The function of α-synuclein. *Neuron* 79, 1044–1066. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Bertoncini, C. W., Jung, Y.-S., Fernandez, C. O., Hoyer, W., Griesinger, C., Jovin, T. M., et al. (2005). Release of long-range tertiary interactions potentiates aggregation of natively unstructured alpha-synuclein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 102, 1430–1435. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407146102
- Binolfi, A., Theillet, F.-X., and Selenko, P. (2012). Bacterial in-cell NMR of human α-synuclein: a disordered monomer by nature? *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 40, 950–954.
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., and Südhof, T. C. (2012). Systematic mutagenesis of α-synuclein reveals distinct sequence requirements for physiological and pathological activities. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32, 15227–15242. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3545-12.2012
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., and Südhof, T. C. (2014). α-Synuclein assembles into higher-order multimers upon membrane binding to promote SNARE complex formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, E4274–E4283. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1416598111
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., and Südhof, T. C. (2015). Definition of a Molecular Pathway Mediating α-Synuclein Neurotoxicity. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 35, 5221–5232. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4650-14.2015
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., and Südhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* 329, 1663–1667. doi: 10.1126/science.119 5227
- Bussell, R., and Eliezer, D. (2004). Effects of Parkinson's disease-linked mutations on the structure of lipid-associated alpha-synuclein. *Biochemistry* 43, 4810– 4818. doi: 10.1021/bi036135+
- Bussell, R., Ramlall, T. F., and Eliezer, D. (2005). Helix periodicity, topology, and dynamics of membrane-associated alpha-synuclein. *Protein Sci. Publ. Protein Soc.* 14, 862–872. doi: 10.1110/ps.041255905
- Chen, R. H. C., Wislet-Gendebien, S., Samuel, F., Visanji, N. P., Zhang, G., Marsilio, D., et al. (2013). α -Synuclein membrane association is regulated by

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Dennis Selkoe, Tim Bartels, Matteo Rovere, Saranna Fanning, Thibaut Imberdis, Nagendran Ramalingam, and Elizabeth Terry-Kantor for their critical feedback on this review. I also thank Ralf Langen (USC) for providing structural data for the generation of **Figure 1F** as well as Tim Bartels and Matteo Rovere for their help with generating the figure.

the Rab3a recycling machinery and presynaptic activity. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 7438–7449. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.439497

- Choi, W., Zibaee, S., Jakes, R., Serpell, L. C., Davletov, B., Crowther, R. A., et al. (2004). Mutation E46K increases phospholipid binding and assembly into filaments of human alpha-synuclein. *FEBS Lett.* 576, 363–368. doi: 10.1016/j. febslet.2004.09.038
- Chung, C. Y., Khurana, V., Auluck, P. K., Tardiff, D. F., Mazzulli, J. R., Soldner, F., et al. (2013). Identification and rescue of α-synuclein toxicity in Parkinson patient-derived neurons. *Science* 342, 983–987. doi: 10.1126/science.1245296
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. T. (1998). Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. *Nat. Med.* 4, 1318–1320. doi: 10.1038/3311
- Conway, K. A., Harper, J. D., and Lansbury, P. T. (2000). Fibrils formed in vitro from alpha-synuclein and two mutant forms linked to Parkinson's disease are typical amyloid. *Biochemistry* 39, 2552–2563. doi: 10.1021/bi991447r
- Cooper, A. A., Gitler, A. D., Cashikar, A., Haynes, C. M., Hill, K. J., Bhullar, B., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein blocks ER-Golgi traffic and Rab1 rescues neuron loss in Parkinson's models. *Science* 313, 324–328. doi: 10.1126/science.1129462
- Davidson, W. S., Jonas, A., Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1998). Stabilization of alpha-synuclein secondary structure upon binding to synthetic membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 9443–9449. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.16.9443
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., Luth, E. S., Bartels, T., and Selkoe, D. (2013). In vivo cross-linking reveals principally oligomeric forms of α -synuclein and β -synuclein in neurons and non-neural cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 6371–6385. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.403311
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., Soldner, F., Luth, E. S., Kim, N. C., von Saucken, V. E., et al. (2015a). Parkinson-causing α -synuclein missense mutations shift native tetramers to monomers as a mechanism for disease initiation. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7314. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8314
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., von Saucken, V. E., Bartels, T., and Selkoe, D. (2015b). KTKEGV repeat motifs are key mediators of normal α -synuclein tetramerization: their mutation causes excess monomers and neurotoxicity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 9596–9601. doi: 10.1073/pnas.150595 3112
- Dettmer, U., Ramalingam, N., von Saucken, V. E., Kim, T.-E., Newman, A. J., Terry-Kantor, E., et al. (2017). Loss of native α-synuclein multimerization by strategically mutating its amphipathic helix causes abnormal vesicle interactions in neuronal cells. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 26, 3466–3481. doi: 10.1093/ hmg/ddx227
- Dettmer, U., Selkoe, D., and Bartels, T. (2016). New insights into cellular α-synuclein homeostasis in health and disease. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 36, 15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2015.07.007
- DeWitt, D. C., and Rhoades, E. (2013). α-Synuclein can inhibit SNARE-mediated vesicle fusion through direct interactions with lipid bilayers. *Biochemistry* 52, 2385–2387. doi: 10.1021/bi4002369
- Eliezer, D., Kutluay, E., Bussell, R., and Browne, G. (2001). Conformational properties of alpha-synuclein in its free and lipid-associated states. J. Mol. Biol. 307, 1061–1073. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.4538
- Fares, M.-B., Ait-Bouziad, N., Dikiy, I., Mbefo, M. K., Jovièiæ, A., Kiely, A., et al. (2014). The novel Parkinson's disease linked mutation G51D attenuates in vitro aggregation and membrane binding of α -synuclein, and enhances its secretion and nuclear localization in cells. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 4491–4509. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu165
- Fauvet, B., Mbefo, M. K., Fares, M.-B., Desobry, C., Michael, S., Ardah, M. T., et al. (2012). α-Synuclein in central nervous system and from erythrocytes,

mammalian cells, and *Escherichia coli* exists predominantly as disordered monomer. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 15345-15364. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.318949

- Fortin, D. L., Nemani, V. M., Nakamura, K., and Edwards, R. H. (2010). The behavior of alpha-synuclein in neurons. *Mov. Disord. Off. J. Mov. Disord. Soc.* 25(Suppl. 1), S21–S26. doi: 10.1002/mds.22722
- Fuchs, J., Tichopad, A., Golub, Y., Munz, M., Schweitzer, K. J., Wolf, B., et al. (2008). Genetic variability in the SNCA gene influences alpha-synuclein levels in the blood and brain. FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 22, 1327–1334.
- Fusco, G., Pape, T., Stephens, A. D., Mahou, P., Costa, A. R., Kaminski, C. F., et al. (2016). Structural basis of synaptic vesicle assembly promoted by α -synuclein. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12563. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12563
- Galvagnion, C., Buell, A. K., Meisl, G., Michaels, T. C. T., Vendruscolo, M., Knowles, T. P. J., et al. (2015). Lipid vesicles trigger α-synuclein aggregation by stimulating primary nucleation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 11, 229–234. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.1750
- George, J. M., Jin, H., Woods, W. S., and Clayton, D. F. (1995). Characterization of a novel protein regulated during the critical period for song learning in the zebra finch. *Neuron* 15, 361–372. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90040-3
- Ghosh, D., Sahay, S., Ranjan, P., Salot, S., Mohite, G. M., Singh, P. K., et al. (2014). The newly discovered Parkinson's disease associated Finnish mutation (A53E) attenuates α -synuclein aggregation and membrane binding. *Biochemistry* 53, 6419–6421. doi: 10.1021/bi5010365
- Gould, N., Mor, D. E., Lightfoot, R., Malkus, K., Giasson, B., and Ischiropoulos, H. (2014). Evidence of native α-synuclein conformers in the human brain. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 7929–7934. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C113.538249
- Gurry, T., Ullman, O., Fisher, C. K., Perovic, I., Pochapsky, T., and Stultz, C. M. (2013). The dynamic structure of α-synuclein multimers. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135, 3865–3872. doi: 10.1021/ja310518p
- Iljina, M., Tosatto, L., Choi, M. L., Sang, J. C., Ye, Y., Hughes, C. D., et al. (2016). Arachidonic acid mediates the formation of abundant alpha-helical multimers of alpha-synuclein. Sci. Rep. 6:33928. doi: 10.1038/srep33928
- Íñigo-Marco, I., Valencia, M., Larrea, L., Bugallo, R., Martínez-Goikoetxea, M., Zuriguel, I., et al. (2017). E46K α-synuclein pathological mutation causes cellautonomous toxicity without altering protein turnover or aggregation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E8274–E8283. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1703420114
- Jao, C. C., Der-Sarkissian, A., Chen, J., and Langen, R. (2004). Structure of membrane-bound alpha-synuclein studied by site-directed spin labeling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 8331–8336. doi: 10.1073/pnas.040055 3101
- Jao, C. C., Hegde, B. G., Chen, J., Haworth, I. S., and Langen, R. (2008). Structure of membrane-bound alpha-synuclein from site-directed spin labeling and computational refinement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 19666–19671. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0807826105
- Jarosz, D. F., and Khurana, V. (2017). Specification of Physiologic and Disease States by Distinct Proteins and Protein Conformations. *Cell* 171, 1001–1014. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.047
- Jensen, M. B., Bhatia, V. K., Jao, C. C., Rasmussen, J. E., Pedersen, S. L., Jensen, K. J., et al. (2011). Membrane curvature sensing by amphipathic helices: a single liposome study using alpha-synuclein and annexin B12. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 42603–42614. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.271130
- Jensen, P. H., Nielsen, M. S., Jakes, R., Dotti, C. G., and Goedert, M. (1998). Binding of alpha-synuclein to brain vesicles is abolished by familial Parkinson's disease mutation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 26292–26294. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.41.26292
- Jo, E., Fuller, N., Rand, R. P., St George-Hyslop, P., and Fraser, P. E. (2002). Defective membrane interactions of familial Parkinson's disease mutant A30P alpha-synuclein. J. Mol. Biol. 315, 799–807. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2001.5269
- Johnson, S. M., Connelly, S., Fearns, C., Powers, E. T., and Kelly, J. W. (2012). The transthyretin amyloidoses: from delineating the molecular mechanism of aggregation linked to pathology to a regulatory-agency-approved drug. J. Mol. Biol. 421, 185–203. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.12.060
- Kahle, P. J., Neumann, M., Ozmen, L., Muller, V., Jacobsen, H., Schindzielorz, A., et al. (2000). Subcellular localization of wild-type and Parkinson's diseaseassociated mutant alpha -synuclein in human and transgenic mouse brain. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 20, 6365–6373. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-17-06365.2000
- Kamp, F., Exner, N., Lutz, A. K., Wender, N., Hegermann, J., Brunner, B., et al. (2010). Inhibition of mitochondrial fusion by α-synuclein is rescued by PINK1, Parkin and DJ-1. *EMBO J.* 29, 3571–3589. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.223

- Kara, E., Lewis, P. A., Ling, H., Proukakis, C., Houlden, H., and Hardy, J. (2013). α-Synuclein mutations cluster around a putative protein loop. *Neurosci. Lett.* 546, 67–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.04.058
- Khalaf, O., Fauvet, B., Oueslati, A., Dikiy, I., Mahul-Mellier, A.-L., Ruggeri, F. S., et al. (2014). The H50Q mutation enhances α-synuclein aggregation, secretion, and toxicity. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 21856–21876. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.553297
- Kiely, A. P., Asi, Y. T., Kara, E., Limousin, P., Ling, H., Lewis, P., et al. (2013). α -Synucleinopathy associated with G51D SNCA mutation: a link between Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy? *Acta Neuropathol.* 125, 753– 769. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1096-7
- Kim, Y. S., Laurine, E., Woods, W., and Lee, S.-J. (2006). A novel mechanism of interaction between alpha-synuclein and biological membranes. J. Mol. Biol. 360, 386–397. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.05.004
- Krüger, R., Kuhn, W., Müller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kösel, S., et al. (1998). Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 18, 106–108. doi: 10.1038/ng0298-106
- Larsen, K. E., Schmitz, Y., Troyer, M. D., Mosharov, E., Dietrich, P., Quazi, A. Z., et al. (2006). Alpha-synuclein overexpression in PC12 and chromaffin cells impairs catecholamine release by interfering with a late step in exocytosis. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 26, 11915–11922. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3821-06.2006
- Lázaro, D. F., Rodrigues, E. F., Langohr, R., Shahpasandzadeh, H., Ribeiro, T., Guerreiro, P., et al. (2014). Systematic comparison of the effects of alphasynuclein mutations on its oligomerization and aggregation. *PLoS Genet*. 10:e1004741. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004741
- Lesage, S., Anheim, M., Letournel, F., Bousset, L., Honoré, A., Rozas, N., et al. (2013). G51D α-synuclein mutation causes a novel parkinsonian-pyramidal syndrome. *Ann. Neurol.* 73, 459–471. doi: 10.1002/ana.23894
- Logan, T., Bendor, J., Toupin, C., Thorn, K., and Edwards, R. H. (2017). α -Synuclein promotes dilation of the exocytotic fusion pore. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 681–689. doi: 10.1038/nn.4529
- Londos, C., Brasaemle, D. L., Schultz, C. J., Segrest, J. P., and Kimmel, A. R. (1999). Perilipins, ADRP, and other proteins that associate with intracellular neutral lipid droplets in animal cells. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 10, 51–58. doi: 10.1006/scdb.1998.0275
- Luth, E. S., Bartels, T., Dettmer, U., Kim, N. C., and Selkoe, D. J. (2015). Purification of α-synuclein from human brain reveals an instability of endogenous multimers as the protein approaches purity. *Biochemistry* 54, 279–292. doi: 10.1021/bi501188a
- Mbefo, M. K., Fares, M.-B., Paleologou, K., Oueslati, A., Yin, G., Tenreiro, S., et al. (2015). Parkinson disease mutant E46K enhances α-synuclein phosphorylation in mammalian cell lines, in yeast, and in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 9412–9427. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.610774
- Meeus, B., Theuns, J., and Van Broeckhoven, C. (2012). The genetics of dementia with Lewy bodies: what are we missing? Arch. Neurol. 69, 1113–1118. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.3678
- Middleton, E. R., and Rhoades, E. (2010). Effects of curvature and composition on alpha-synuclein binding to lipid vesicles. *Biophys. J.* 99, 2279–2288. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2010.07.056
- Nemani, V. M., Lu, W., Berge, V., Nakamura, K., Onoa, B., Lee, M. K., et al. (2010). Increased expression of alpha-synuclein reduces neurotransmitter release by inhibiting synaptic vesicle reclustering after endocytosis. *Neuron* 65, 66–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.12.023
- Nuscher, B., Kamp, F., Mehnert, T., Odoy, S., Haass, C., Kahle, P. J., et al. (2004). Alpha-synuclein has a high affinity for packing defects in a bilayer membrane: a thermodynamics study. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 21966–21975. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M401076200
- Pasanen, P., Myllykangas, L., Siitonen, M., Raunio, A., Kaakkola, S., Lyytinen, J., et al. (2014). Novel α-synuclein mutation A53E associated with atypical multiple system atrophy and Parkinson's disease-type pathology. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 2180.e1–2180.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014. 03.024
- Perlmutter, J. D., Braun, A. R., and Sachs, J. N. (2009). Curvature dynamics of alpha-synuclein familial Parkinson disease mutants: molecular simulations of the micelle- and bilayer-bound forms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 7177–7189. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M808895200
- Perni, M., Galvagnion, C., Maltsev, A., Meisl, G., Müller, M. B. D., Challa, P. K., et al. (2017). A natural product inhibits the initiation of α -synuclein aggregation

and suppresses its toxicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114, E1009-E1017. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610586114

- Perrin, R. J., Woods, W. S., Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (2000). Interaction of human alpha-Synuclein and Parkinson's disease variants with phospholipids. Structural analysis using site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 34393– 34398. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004851200
- Pineda, A., and Burré, J. (2017). Modulating membrane binding of α-synuclein as a therapeutic strategy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114, 1223–1225. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1620159114
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2045
- Pranke, I. M., Morello, V., Bigay, J., Gibson, K., Verbavatz, J.-M., Antonny, B., et al. (2011). α-Synuclein and ALPS motifs are membrane curvature sensors whose contrasting chemistry mediates selective vesicle binding. *J. Cell Biol.* 194, 89–103. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201011118
- Proukakis, C., Dudzik, C. G., Brier, T., MacKay, D. S., Cooper, J. M., Millhauser, G. L., et al. (2013). A novel α-synuclein missense mutation in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 80, 1062–1064. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828727ba
- Rovere, M., Sanderson, J. B., Fonseca-Ornelas, L., Patel, D. S., and Bartels, T. (2018). Refolding of helical soluble α -synuclein through transient interaction with lipid interfaces. *FEBS Lett.* 592, 1464–1472. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468. 13047
- Rutherford, N. J., Moore, B. D., Golde, T. E., and Giasson, B. I. (2014). Divergent effects of the H50Q and G51D SNCA mutations on the aggregation of α -synuclein. J. Neurochem. 131, 859–867. doi: 10.1111/jnc. 12806
- Scott, D., and Roy, S. (2012). α-Synuclein inhibits intersynaptic vesicle mobility and maintains recycling-pool homeostasis. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32, 10129–10135. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0535-12.2012
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., et al. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302:841. doi: 10.1126/science.1090278
- Sipe, J. D., Benson, M. D., Buxbaum, J. N., Ikeda, S., Merlini, G., Saraiva, M. J. M., et al. (2014). Nomenclature 2014: amyloid fibril proteins and clinical classification of the amyloidosis. *Amyloid* 21, 221–224. doi: 10.3109/13506129. 2014.964858
- Soper, J. H., Roy, S., Stieber, A., Lee, E., Wilson, R. B., Trojanowski, J. Q., et al. (2008). Alpha-synuclein-induced aggregation of cytoplasmic vesicles in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 1093–1103. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-08-0827
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Tanner, C. M., and Goldman, S. M. (1996). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Neurol. Clin. 14, 317–335. doi: 10.1016/S0733-8619(05)70259-0
- Theillet, F.-X., Binolfi, A., Bekei, B., Martorana, A., Rose, H. M., Stuiver, M., et al. (2016). Structural disorder of monomeric α -synuclein persists in mammalian cells. *Nature* 530, 45–50. doi: 10.1038/nature16531
- Ulmer, T. S., and Bax, A. (2005). Comparison of structure and dynamics of micellebound human alpha-synuclein and Parkinson disease variants. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 43179–43187. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M507624200
- Vargas, K. J., Makani, S., Davis, T., Westphal, C. H., Castillo, P. E., and Chandra, S. S. (2014). Synucleins regulate the kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 34, 9364–9376. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 4787-13.2014

- Vargas, K. J., Schrod, N., Davis, T., Fernandez-Busnadiego, R., Taguchi, Y. V., Laugks, U., et al. (2017). Synucleins have multiple effects on presynaptic architecture. *Cell Rep.* 18, 161–173. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.023
- Varkey, J., Isas, J. M., Mizuno, N., Jensen, M. B., Bhatia, V. K., Jao, C. C., et al. (2010). Membrane curvature induction and tubulation are common features of synucleins and apolipoproteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 32486–32493. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M110.139576
- Volles, M. J., and Lansbury, P. T. (2007). Relationships between the sequence of alpha-synuclein and its membrane affinity, fibrillization propensity, and yeast toxicity. J. Mol. Biol. 366, 1510–1522. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.12.044
- Walsh, D. M., and Selkoe, D. J. (2016). A critical appraisal of the pathogenic protein spread hypothesis of neurodegeneration. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 251–260. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.13
- Wang, L., Das, U., Scott, D. A., Tang, Y., McLean, P. J., and Roy, S. (2014). α -synuclein multimers cluster synaptic vesicles and attenuate recycling. *Curr. Biol.* 24, 2319–2326. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.08.027
- Wang, W., Perovic, I., Chittuluru, J., Kaganovich, A., Nguyen, L. T. T., Liao, J., et al. (2011). A soluble α-synuclein construct forms a dynamic tetramer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 17797–17802. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113260108
- Weinreb, P. H., Zhen, W., Poon, A. W., Conway, K. A., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (1996). NACP, a protein implicated in Alzheimer's disease and learning, is natively unfolded. *Biochemistry* 35, 13709–13715. doi: 10.1021/bi961799n
- Westphal, C. H., and Chandra, S. S. (2013). Monomeric synucleins generate membrane curvature. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 1829–1840. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 418871
- Wietek, J., Haralampiev, I., Amoussouvi, A., Herrmann, A., and Stöckl, M. (2013). Membrane bound α -synuclein is fully embedded in the lipid bilayer while segments with higher flexibility remain. *FEBS Lett.* 587, 2572–2577. doi: 10. 1016/j.febslet.2013.06.034
- Winner, B., Jappelli, R., Maji, S. K., Desplats, P. A., Boyer, L., Aigner, S., et al. (2011). In vivo demonstration that alpha-synuclein oligomers are toxic. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 4194–4199. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1100976108
- Wislet-Gendebien, S., D'Souza, C., Kawarai, T., St George-Hyslop, P., Westaway, D., Fraser, P., et al. (2006). Cytosolic proteins regulate alphasynuclein dissociation from presynaptic membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 32148–32155. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M605965200
- Zarbiv, Y., Simhi-Haham, D., Israeli, E., Elhadi, S. A., Grigoletto, J., and Sharon, R. (2014). Lysine residues at the first and second KTKEGV repeats mediate α-Synuclein binding to membrane phospholipids. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 70, 90–98. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.05.031
- Zarranz, J. J., Alegre, J., Gómez-Esteban, J. C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., et al. (2004). The new mutation, E46K, of alpha-synuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 164–173. doi: 10.1002/ana.10795
- Zhu, M., and Fink, A. L. (2003). Lipid binding inhibits alpha-synuclein fibril formation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 16873–16877. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M210136200

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Dettmer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Overexpression of Wild-Type Human Alpha-Synuclein Causes Metabolism Abnormalities in Thy1-aSYN Transgenic Mice

Elodie Cuvelier¹, Mathieu Méquinion¹, Coline Leghay¹, William Sibran¹, Aliçia Stievenard¹, Alessia Sarchione¹, Marie-Amandine Bonte¹, Christel Vanbesien-Mailliot¹, Odile Viltart¹, Kevin Saitoski¹, Emilie Caron¹, Alexandra Labarthe², Thomas Comptdaer¹, Pierre Semaille¹, Hélène Carrié¹, Eugénie Mutez¹, Bernard Gressier¹, Alain Destée¹, Marie-Christine Chartier-Harlin^{1*†} and Karim Belarbi^{1†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fredric P. Manfredsson, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Maria Xilouri, Biomedical Research Foundation of the Academy of Athens, Greece Charles Harrington, University of Aberdeen, United Kingdom Hong Qing, Beijing Institute of Technology, China

*Correspondence:

Marie-Christine Chartier-Harlin marie-christine.chartierharlin@inserm.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Received: 01 April 2018 Accepted: 17 August 2018 Published: 02 October 2018

Citation:

Cuvelier E, Méquinion M, Leghay C, Sibran W, Stievenard A, Sarchione A, Bonte M-A, Vanbesien-Mailliot C, Viltart O, Saitoski K, Caron E, Labarthe A, Comptdaer T, Semaille P, Carrié H, Mutez E, Gressier B, Destée A, Chartier-Harlin M-C and Belarbi K (2018) Overexpression of Wild-Type Human Alpha-Synuclein Causes Metabolism Abnormalities in Thy1-aSYN Transgenic Mice. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 11:321. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00321 ¹ UMR-S 1172, Centre de Recherche Jean-Pierre AUBERT Neurosciences et Cancer, Inserm, Centre Hospitalier Régional Universitaire de Lille, Université de Lille, Lille, France, ² UMR 894, Centre de Psychiatrie et Neurosciences, Inserm, Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France

Parkinson's disease is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder characterized by loss of dopaminergic neurons, pathological accumulation of alpha-synuclein and motor symptoms, but also by non-motor symptoms. Metabolic abnormalities including body weight loss have been reported in patients and could precede by several years the emergence of classical motor manifestations. However, our understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying body weight loss in PD is limited. The present study investigated the links between alpha-synuclein accumulation and energy metabolism in transgenic mice overexpressing Human wild-type (WT) alpha-synuclein under the Thy1 promoter (Thy1-aSYN mice). Results showed that Thy1-aSYN mice gained less body weight throughout life than WT mice, with significant difference observed from 3 months of age. Body composition analysis of 6-month-old transgenic animals showed that body mass loss was due to lower adiposity. Thy1-aSYN mice displayed lower food consumption, increased spontaneous activity, as well as a reduced energy expenditure compared to control mice. While no significant change in glucose or insulin responses were observed, Thy1-aSYN mice had significantly lower plasmatic levels of insulin and leptin than control animals. Moreover, the pathological accumulation of alpha-synuclein in the hypothalamus of 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice was associated with a down-regulation of the phosphorylated active form of the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and of Rictor (the mTORC2 signaling pathway), known to couple hormonal signals with the maintenance of metabolic and energy homeostasis. Collectively, our results suggest that (i) metabolic alterations are an important phenotype of alpha-synuclein overexpression in mice and that (ii) impaired STAT3 activation and mTORC2 levels in the hypothalamus may underlie the disruption of feeding regulation and energy metabolism in Thy1-aSYN mice.

Keywords: body weight, energy metabolism, insulin, leptin, mTOR, neurodegeneration, parkinsonism, transcription factor STAT3

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common movement neurodegenerative disorder in elderly adults. It is characterized by a progressive degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra and by the pathological accumulation of intraneuronal aggregated and hyperphosphorylated alphasynuclein in Lewy bodies (Bridi and Hirth, 2018). Missense mutations and multiplication of the gene encoding alphasynuclein SNCA (synuclein, alpha [non-A4 component of amyloid precursor]) were identified as genetic abnormalities associated with rare familial forms of PD (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Singleton et al., 2003; Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004; Ibanez et al., 2004). Polymorphisms regulating SNCA levels were subsequently associated with sporadic PD (Maraganore et al., 2006; Simon-Sanchez et al., 2009), supporting that alphasynuclein level is instrumental in most forms of the disease. Dopamine deficit at the striatum -e.g., the striatal area innervated by the substantia nigra- is the main factor leading to bradykinesia, resting tremor, rigidity and postural instability. It is generally accepted that these motor symptoms appear only after a substantial proportion of dopaminergic neurons are lost (Bezard et al., 2001).

The motor features of PD can be preceded, sometimes for several years, by non-motor symptoms such as olfactory deficits, sleep disorders, depression and autonomic dysfunction (Schapira et al., 2017). Increasing evidence suggests that unintended body weight change is also a significant feature of PD symptomatology. Weight loss, primarily due to fat rather than muscle loss (Markus et al., 1993), has been frequently documented in PD patients (Chen et al., 2003; Cheshire and Wszolek, 2005; Uc et al., 2006; van der Marck et al., 2012). The majority of patients have lower body mass than control individuals at diagnosis (Sharma and Lewis, 2017). PD patients are moreover four times more likely to lose body mass than healthy elderly individuals (Chen et al., 2003; Cheshire and Wszolek, 2005; Uc et al., 2006; van der Marck et al., 2012; Cumming et al., 2017). Body mass loss during the course of the disease has been associated with poorer clinical outcomes and rapid disease progression (Lorefalt et al., 2004; van der Marck et al., 2012; Sharma and Vassallo, 2014; Pak et al., 2018), suggesting that it could be of prognostic significance for PD severity (Cumming et al., 2017; Sharma and Lewis, 2017; Pak et al., 2018). Thus, to address the links between weight loss and PD is quite necessary (Ma et al., 2018).

Body weight is governed by energy intake and energy expenditure (EE), which are tightly controlled as peripheral hormonal signals integrate in the hypothalamus to regulate food intake and energy outgo (Schwartz et al., 2000). Reduced energy intake, secondary to motor or non-motor symptoms (i.e., hyposmia, gastrointestinal disturbance, depression) has been proposed as a factor contributing to weight loss in PD (Ma et al., 2018). However, other studies showed that mild to moderate PD patients have the same nutritional status compared to controls (Fereshtehnejad et al., 2014) or that weight loss can occur in PD despite an increased energy intake (Chen et al., 2003; Lorefalt et al., 2004). Conflicting results also exist regarding EE, with a study suggesting that increased EE could contribute to weight loss in PD (Markus et al., 1992) while others showed that the total daily EE was not higher in patients with weight loss compared with patients without weight loss (Delikanaki-Skaribas et al., 2009) and healthy controls (Jorgensen et al., 2012). Central regulatory hypothalamic mechanisms in weight disturbance in PD has recently attracted much attention in part due reports of body weight gain after deep brain stimulation of subthalamic nuclei (Bannier et al., 2009; Aiello et al., 2017). Moreover, changes in plasmatic concentrations of hormones regulating energy balance such as leptin occur in PD patients with weight loss (Fiszer et al., 2010). However, our basic understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying body weight change in PD remains limited. In particular it is not known whether alpha-synuclein accumulation that is central in PD impacts on energy intake/expenditure, levels of peripheral hormones or changes in global function of the hypothalamus.

In the present study, we determined the metabolic phenotype of the well-established Thy1-aSYN mouse model of PD. Thy1aSYN transgenic mice overexpress full-length Human wildtype (WT) alpha-synuclein under the murine Thy-1 (thymus cell antigen 1, theta) promoter (Thy1-aSYN mice) (Chesselet et al., 2012). We measured the evolution of body mass from weaning to 12 months of age and assessed in 6month-old (an age preceding any severe motor deficits) animals food intake, spontaneous activity, EE, glucose, and insulin tolerance, as well as alpha-synuclein, insulin, and leptin in the plasma and related signaling pathways in the hypothalamus.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Procedures

This research was conducted in accordance with the European Union standards for the care and use of laboratory animals and approved by the Nord/Pas-de-Calais Ethical Committee CEEA N°75 (authorization n° O535.02). Thy1-aSYN mice (on a C57Bl6/DBA2 background) were provided by Pr. Marie-Françoise Chesselet (University of California Los Angeles, CA, United states) with the agreement of Prof. Eliezer Masliah (University of California San Diego, CA, United States) and a colony was established in Lille animal facility by breeding transgenic females with WT males (Charles Rivers). Animals were genotyped by PCR from tail DNA samples. Thy1-aSYN and WT littermates male mice were used in the study. Animals were maintained in standard animal cages under specific pathogenfree conditions (12/12 h light/dark cycle; 22°C; grouped housed), with ad libitum access to water and standard laboratory chow (RM1A; 14.8 MJ/kg; Special Diets Services). Body weights were measured for different animals housed in our colony, including but not limited to those euthanized for further analyses, at weaning (WT: n = 17, Thy1-aSYN: n = 17), 2 months (WT: *n* = 17, Thy1-aSYN: *n* = 17), 3 months (WT: *n* = 27, Thy1-aSYN: *n* = 25), 6 months (WT: *n* = 33, Thy1-aSYN: *n* = 29), 9 months (WT: n = 10, Thy1-aSYN: n = 9) and 12 months (WT: n = 10, Thy1-aSYN: n = 7) of age. Further behavioral and metabolic characterizations were performed on 6-month-old animals (WT: n = 22, Thy1-aSYN: n = 19) or 3-month-old animals (WT: n = 16, Thy1-aSYN: n = 13). Beam test was performed on 6-month-old animals and lasted 3 days, as described below. The following week, metabolic analyses were carried out using metabolic cages (see below) and glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity tests were performed (see below). The body compositions were assessed on 12 WT and 10 Thy1-aSYN 6-month-old mice. For blood and plasma analyses, mice were fasted during 6 h before being euthanized. Trunk blood samples were gathered in heparinized tubes and centrifuged at 425 g for 10 min at 4°C. Plasma supernatant was aliquoted and stored at -70°C until assayed. Brains were rapidly removed, hypothalamus dissected out at 4°C and stored at -70°C until use. Inguinal and gluteal adipose tissue were weighted as subcutaneous adipose tissue. The same experimenter dissected all samples for consistency.

Challenging Beam Traversal Test

Motor performance and coordination were measured using a challenging beam traversal procedure (Fleming et al., 2013). Briefly, animals were trained for 2 days in the afternoon to traverse the length of a beam toward their home cage. On the third day, a mesh grid (1 cm squares) was positioned 1 cm above the beam. Mice were then videotaped for a total of five trials. An experimenter blind to genotype watched and rated the videotapes for errors, number of steps made by each animal, and time to traverse for all five trials. An error was counted when, during a forward movement, a limb slipped through the grid and was visible between the grid and the beam surface (Fleming et al., 2013).

Body Composition

Body composition was determined using an "*in vivo* Micro-CT Scanner for Small Lab Animals" (LaTheta LCT-100, Hitachi Aloka Medical Ltd.). Mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of ketamine (100 mg/kg) and xylazine (20 mg/kg) mix and about 60 CT slices per mouse were made at 500 μ m intervals between shoulders and posterior legs. Slices were analyzed by Aloka software for fat (visceral and subcutaneous) mass, lean mass, and for bone mineral density in the spinal cord. The fat ratio was calculated by the following formula: total fat mass/(total fat mass + lean mass) × 100.

Metabolism, Ambulatory Activity and Energy Expenditure Monitoring

Mice were individually housed in a LabMaster-CaloSys-Calorimetry System (TSE Systems). Animals were placed 3 days in chambers and only the last 24 h were monitored. The locomotor activity was derived from the number of beam breaks (infrared light-beam frame ActiMot2; x- and z- axes sensors). The system measured the volume of O_2 consumed and the volume of CO_2 produced, over a 15 min period, 4 times per hour. These values were averaged to determine the rate of O_2 consumed (VO₂) and CO₂ produced (VCO₂). The EE, the respiratory exchange ratio (RER), and the fatty acid oxidation (FA) were calculated using the following equations RER = VCO₂ / VO₂;

EE (kcal/h) = $(3.815 + 1.232 \times \text{RER}) \times \text{VO}_2) \times 1000$, FA oxidation (kcal/h) = EE × ((1-RER)/0.3) (Mequinion et al., 2015). Values for RER range between 1.0 to 0.7, with pure carbohydrate oxidation having a value of 1.0 and pure fat oxidation having a value of 0.7.

Food Intake Monitoring/Meal Pattern Analysis

Metabolic cages are equipped with food and drink high precision sensors of 0.01 g and 0.01 ml resolution respectively (TSE Systems, GmbH). Mice had free access to food and water during the whole recording period. Here a meal was defined as a consumption of at least 0.03 g of food separated from the next feeding episode by at least 10 min, as previously described (Hassouna et al., 2013). For each mouse, inter-meal interval, meal duration, meal size and meal rate in dark and light phases were assessed.

Intraperitoneal Glucose Tolerance and Insulin Sensitivity

Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity tests were performed at 2 p.m., after 6 h of fasting. D (+) glucose (1 g/kg in saline; Sigma-Aldrich) or insulin (0.75 units/kg in saline; NovoRapid FlexPen[®]) were injected intraperitoneally. Blood glucose concentration was measured using a OneTouch Vita[®] meter (Lifescan) 0, 15, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min following injection.

Blood Glucose and Plasmatic Alpha-Synuclein, Insulin and Leptin Levels

Blood glucose levels were quantified after 6 h of fasting using a OneTouch Vita[®] meter (Lifescan). Plasma Human alpha-synuclein levels were measured using the Human alpha-Synuclein Kit (Meso Scale Discovery) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Intraassay coefficient of variation was < 14%. Plasma insulin was assayed using the Mercodia Ultrasensitive Mouse Insulin ELISA (Mercodia). Intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were <3.4 and <3.0%, respectively. Plasma leptin was measured using the Quantikine[®] ELISA kit (R&D Systems). Intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were <4.5 and <4.7%, respectively. All the samples were analyzed in duplicate.

Western-Blot Analyses

Tissue was homogenized in 300 μ l RIPA buffer (Thermo Scientific) containing 0.5% (w/v) CHAPS (Sigma-Aldrich), protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Complete and PhosSTOP, Roche), using a glass/teflon potter homogenizer (30 strokes), sonicated and let under agitation for 1 h at 4°C. Lysates were centrifuged at 12000 \times g for 20 min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and stored at -20° C. Proteins were quantified using the BCA system (Pierce). Protein samples were prepared in reducing conditions (NuPage sample buffer with sample reducing agent, Invitrogen) and heated at 95°C for 10 min. Then, 10 μ g of proteins were separated

on a NuPAGE Novex gel (Invitrogen) and transferred to a nitrocellulose or PVDF membrane, for chemiluminescent or fluorescent western-blotting respectively. Membranes were saturated in 5% non-fat dry milk in TNT or 5% Bovine Serum Albumine in Tris-NaCl-Tween buffer and incubated with appropriate primary antibodies allowing detection of actin (Sigma-Aldrich A5441, 1/50000), Akt (Cell Signaling 9272, 1/5000), phospho-Akt (Ser473) (Cell Signaling 12694, 1/2500), Human and murine alpha-synuclein (BD Bioscience 610787; immunogen: Rat synuclein-1 aa. 15-123; 1/10000), phospho-alpha-Synuclein (Ser129) (Cell Signaling 23706; immunogen: synthetic phosphopeptide corresponding to residues surrounding Ser129 of Human alpha-synuclein protein; 1/1000), aggregated alpha-synuclein (Merck MABN389; immunogen: Keyhole limpet hemocyanin-conjugated linear peptide corresponding to Human aggregated alpha-synuclein; 1/2000), IRS-1 (Cell Signaling 2382, 1/1000), phospho-IRS1 (Tyr608) (Merck 09-432, 1/5000), LC3B (Abcam ab48394, 1/2500), mTOR (Cell Signaling 2972, 1/1000), phospho-mTOR (Ser2448) (Cell Signaling 2971, 1/2500), p62 (BD Bioscience 610498, 1/5000), Stat3 (Cell Signaling 9139, 1/2500), phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) (Cell Signaling 9131, 1/1000), Raptor (Cell Signaling 2280, 1/5000) and Rictor (Cell Signaling 2114, 1/5000). Signals were revealed with horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies (Life technologies) and chemiluminescence (ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection Reagent, Amersham Biosciences) using Amersham Imager 600 (GE Healthcare), or with fluorescent secondary antibodies (Life technologies) using Typhoon FLA 9500 GoldSeal (GE Healthcare). Two to eight replicates of each western-blot were performed. Quantification of protein bands densitometry was carried out using ImageJ software version 1.51 w (NIH). Results are normalized to actin levels.

Statistics

The difference in body mass between genotypes was compared across time using a Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Mann–Whitney *U*-test on individual time period. A Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used to compare WT and Thy1-aSYN mice for a given phase or light and dark phases for a given phenotype. Unless otherwise noted, values in the figures and text are mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Values of p < 0.05 are considered to be statistically significant. Data were analyzed and graphs were plotted by GraphPad Prism[®] software version 6.05.

RESULTS

Thy1-aSYN Mice Show Impaired Motor Performance and Coordination in Challenging Beam Traversal

Six-month-old WT and Thy1-aSYN mice were tested in the challenging beam traversal test (**Figure 1A**). Time to traverse, number of steps and error per steps were analyzed. Regarding time to traverse, Mann–Whitney *U*-test showed no significant

difference between WT and transgenic mice (p = 0.67) (**Figure 1B**). Similarly, the number of steps did not differ between WT and transgenic mice (p = 0.28; data not shown). Analysis of the number of errors per step indicated that transgenic animals made significantly more errors compared to WT controls (0.77 \pm 0.05 vs. 0.38 \pm 0.03; p < 0.0001) (**Figures 1C,D**). Therefore, our results show that 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN display impairments in the challenging beam traversal test, confirming the deficits of this model in challenging motor tests (Fleming et al., 2004; Chesselet et al., 2012).

Thy1-aSYN Mice Show Reduced Body Weight Gain Over Time

Wild-type and transgenic mice were weighed at 21 days (weaning), 2, 3, 6, 9, and 12 months of age. Kruskal–Wallis analysis showed that both WT and transgenic mice gained weight as they aged (p < 0.0001 for both genotype). Mann–Whitney *U*-test on individual time periods revealed that Thy1-aSYN mice weighed significantly less than WT mice from 3 months of age (27.25 ± 0.92 vs. 31.31 ± 0.94 g; p < 0.001). Difference increased over time, so that at 12 months of age WT mice reached 42.72 ± 2.13 g, while Thy1-aSYN mice weighted 35.30 ± 2.44 g (p < 0.05) (**Figure 2A**). Therefore, our results suggest a slower body weight gain of Thy1-aSYN transgenic mice compared to WT littermates. Next characterizations were conducted on 6-month-old transgenic Thy1-aSYN and WT mice (body mass: Thy1-aSYN: 32.84 ± 1.03 vs. WT: 38.82 ± 1.13 g; p < 0.001).

Thy1-aSYN Mice Have Reduced Body Fat Compared to WT Mice

To explore whether lower body mass of Thy1-aSYN compared to WT mice was attributable to change in body composition, X-ray CT Scan imaging was used to evaluate lean and fat masses in anesthetized 6-month-old mice (Figure 2B). Data analyses revealed no significant difference in lean mass between transgenic and WT mice (Thy1-aSYN: 17.69 \pm 0.63 vs. WT: 19.15 \pm 0.54; p = 0.11). In contrast, transgenic mice showed a decrease in the total fat mass (2.54 \pm 0.26 vs. 8.39 \pm 1.35 g; p < 0.0001), visceral fat mass (1.22 \pm 0.14 vs. 3.90 \pm 0.53 g; p < 0.0001), and subcutaneous fat mass (1.32 \pm 0.125 vs. 4.49 \pm 0.82 g; p < 0.0001) compared to WT littermates (Figure 2C). This was accompanied by a decreased fat ratio (Thy1-aSYN: 12.67 \pm 1.36 vs. WT: 28.88 \pm 3.29%; *p* = 0.0001). Bone mineral density was also calculated and showed no difference between transgenic and WT animals (data not shown). At euthanasia, the weight of subcutaneous adipose tissue (consisting of inguinal and gluteal adipose tissues) was lower in Thy1-aSYN mice compared to that of WT mice (121.1 \pm 10.58 vs. 447.4 \pm 77.32 mg; p < 0.001) (Figure 2D). Therefore, both CT Scan imaging and subcutaneous fat weighting show that Thy1-aSYN mice have a reduced fat accumulation.

Thy1-aSYN Mice Display Reduced Food Intake and Altered Meal Pattern

To better understand the cause of the lower body weight and body fat in transgenic mice, we examined their food







intake, ambulatory activity and EE using the LabMaster-CaloSys-Calorimetry system. Transgenic mice consumed 35% less food than their control littermates during the dark cycle (1.85 \pm 0.31 vs. 2.86 \pm 0.225 g; p < 0.05). This was accompanied by a

lower consumption of water (1.11 \pm 0.26 vs. 2.00 \pm 0.23 ml; p < 0.05) (Figure 3A). Further analyses were performed to compare the inter-meal interval, meal size, meal duration and meal rate. Inter-meal interval analysis revealed no difference



FIGURE 3 [Food intake and meal pattern of 6-month-old mice. (A) Thy1-aSYN mice consumed less tood and water compared to WT mice during the dark phase. (B) Inter-meal interval were more elevated during the light phase than during the dark phase, regardless of the genotype. (C) Meal size was decreased in Thy1-aSYN mice compared to WT mice during the dark phase. (D) Meal duration and (E) Meal rate analyses show no statistically significant difference between genotypes, although Thy1-aSYN mice overall tended to show longer meal duration and decreased meal rate compared to WT mice during the dark phase. Mann–Whitney U-test. # $\rho < 0.05$, ## $\rho < 0.001$, ### $\rho < 0.001$, and #### $\rho < 0.0001$ vs. dark cycle; * $\rho < 0.05$ vs. WT mice. White and gray backgrounds represent light and dark phases, respectively.

between transgenic and WT mice and both genotypes showed a more elevated inter-meal interval during the light phase than during the dark phase (**Figure 3B**). Measurement of the meal size showed that it was decreased in Thy1-aSYN mice compared to WT mice during the dark phase (0.162 \pm 0.025 vs. 0.250 \pm 0.025 g; p < 0.05) (**Figure 3C**). Thy1-aSYN mice also tended to show a longer meal duration and a decreased meal rate compared to WT mice, although these differences did not reach statistical significance (Figures 3D,E). It however has to be noted that the meal duration was statistically shorter during the light cycle compared to the dark cycle for WT animals (4.58 ± 0.59 vs. 6.73 ± 0.85 min;



and gray backgrounds represent light and dark phases, respectively.

p < 0.05), but this was not the case for transgenic animals (Figure 3D).

Thy1-aSYN Mice Show Increased Activity and Altered Energy Metabolism

The monitoring of locomotor activity showed that the horizontal ambulatory activity (x-axis beam breaks counts; e.g., locomotion) of Thy1-aSYN mice was significantly higher than that of WT mice both during the dark cycle (8425 \pm 1552 vs. 4731 \pm 401 breaks; p < 0.05) and during the light cycle (2828 \pm 446 vs. 1558 \pm 132 breaks; p = p < 0.01). Likewise, the vertical

activity (z-axis beam breaks counts; e.g., rearing or jumping) was significantly increased during the light cycle (1128 ± 218 vs. 620 ± 101 breaks; p < 0.05) (Figure 4A). The measurement of the EE using the LabMaster-CaloSys-Calorimetry system showed that EE was decreased in Thy1-aSYN mice compared to WT mice, both during the dark cycle (0.49 ± 0.02 vs. 0.56 ± 0.02 kcal/h; p < 0.05) and during the light cycle (0.40 ± 0.01 vs. 0.47 ± 0.02 kcal/h; p < 0.01) (Figure 4B). Body composition influences energy metabolism, and there is no consensus on the best normalization tool to use when expressing VO₂ or VCO₂ (Butler and Kozak, 2010; Kaiyala et al., 2010). In our study, we observed no statistically significant change



in oxygen consumption or carbon dioxide production between transgenic and WT mice, when normalized to either lean mass or total body weight (Figure 4C and data not shown). However, our results show that oxygen consumption was decreased during the light cycle compared to the dark cycle for WT animals $(3604 \pm 110 \text{ vs. } 3940 \pm 115 \text{ ml/h/kg lean mass}; p < 0.01)$, while this was not the case for the transgenic animals (Figure 4C). Similarly, the RER was significantly decreased during the light cycle compared to the dark cycle in WT animals (0.848 \pm 0.015 vs 0.900 \pm 0.014; p < 0.01) but no such difference was observed in Thy1-aSYN mice (Figure 4D). Altogether these data suggest that temporal rhythms in energy metabolism may be deregulated in Thy1-aSYN mice. Finally, as the Thy1-aSYN transgenic mice have lower body fat mass than WT mice, we calculated the fat oxidation to better evaluate their use of fat as intrinsic energy source. Our results did not reveal significant difference for this parameter between genotypes (dark cycle: Thy1-aSYN: 0.23 ± 0.04 vs. WT: 0.18 ± 0.02 kcal/h; p = 0.485; light cycle: Thy1-aSYN: 0.235 \pm 0.02 vs. WT: 0.23 \pm 0.02; p = 0.74) (Figure 4E).

Thy1-aSYN Mice Have Decreased Insulin and Leptin Plasma Levels

Given the change in body weight, fat mass, food consumption, spontaneous activity and EE, we first examined blood glucose levels after 6 h of fasting and observed no significant difference between Thy1-aSYN and WT mice (TR: 160.0 ± 9.75 vs. WT: 172.5 ± 8.32 mg/dl; p = 0.4732). To assess whole-body glucose homeostasis, we next performed intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test and insulin sensitivity test on these mice. We detected no differences in the response patterns, with comparable area under the curve for Thy1-aSYN and WT mice in both tests (**Figures 5A,B**). We also measured the plasma levels of insulin and leptin and showed decreased levels of these two

hormones in Thy1-aSYN mice compared to WT mice (insulin: 1.56 ± 0.27 vs. $3.64 \pm 0.78 \ \mu g/l; p < 0.05;$ leptin: 2331 ± 1103 vs. $9348 \pm 2163 \ \text{pg/ml}; p < 0.01)$ (Figures 5C,D). Finally, the presence of Human alpha-synuclein was detected in the plasma of transgenic mice but not in the plasma of WT mice (42960 \pm 6305 pg/ml; p < 0.0001 vs. WT mice) (Figure 5E).

Thy1-aSYN Mice Display Decreased STAT3 Phosphorylation and Rictor Level in the Hypothalamus

The control of feeding and EE is centrally regulated by the hypothalamus using the information originating from peripheral organs. To determine whether alterations in this brain region could contribute to the metabolic abnormalities in Thy1-aSYN mice, we first evaluated the accumulation of alpha-synuclein in the hypothalamus in our model. We found that alphasynuclein, detected with an antibody that recognizes both mouse and Human proteins, was expressed in the hypothalamus at a level comparable to that observed in the substantia nigra and the striatum in 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice (Figure 6A). Further analyses showed that levels of total alphasynuclein, alpha-synuclein phosphorylation at serine 129 and aggregated alpha-synuclein were higher in the hypothalamus of Thy1-aSYN mice compared to WT mice (928.5 \pm 169.7 vs. $100 \pm 17.38\%$; p < 0.0001; 1243.1 ± 335.8 vs. $100 \pm 21.36\%$; p < 0.0001 and 4133.72 \pm 638.6 vs. 100 \pm 38.56%; p < 0.0001, respectively) (Figure 6B). We next compared the expression and activation of receptors and protein complexes known to be critically implicated in the regulation of energy balance and metabolism by the hypothalamus. Western blot of total and active phosphorylated forms of IRS-1 and of STAT3 showed that phosphorylation of STAT3 at tyrosine 705 was decreased in the hypothalamus of 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice compared to WT mice $(71.84 \pm 10.51 \text{ vs. } 100 \pm 9.70\%; p < 0.05)$ (Figure 6B).



We also compared the major mTOR protein complexes including total and phosphorylated mTOR (that nucleates the two distinct protein complexes mTORC1 and mTORC2), raptor (specific core regulatory protein of the mTORC1 complex) or rictor (specific core regulatory protein of the mTORC2 complex). Obtained data show a significant decrease in the expression of rictor in the hypothalamus of 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice (67.97 \pm 9.68 vs. 100 \pm 3.66%; p < 0.01), suggesting that the mTORC2 pathway is deregulated in 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice (Figure 6B). Given that rictor plays an important role in autophagy induction and that alpha-synuclein is known to alter autophagy signals, the levels of key autophagy-related proteins

LC3B and p62 were assessed but showed no significant changes between Thy1-aSYN and WT mice (89.68 ± 4.96 vs. $100 \pm 5.76\%$; p = 0.27 and 102.9 ± 11.47 vs. $100 \pm 13.71\%$; p = 0.64, respectively).

Finally, we aimed to see whether the deregulation of markers linked to metabolism was observed at an earlier time-point in the Thy1-aSYN mouse model. We therefore compared the phenotype of 3-month-old transgenic and WT animals for both peripheral and central markers previously identified as deregulated. Our results show no change in blood glucose levels and insulinemia and a non-statically decrease of the plasmatic levels of leptin in 3-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice compared to



controls (2416 \pm 699 vs. 6273 \pm 1670 pg/ml; p = 0.1004) (Figure 7A). They moreover evidence in 3-month-old Thy1aSYN mice increased levels of alpha-synuclein phosphorylated at serine 129 (935.5 \pm 218.2 vs. 100 \pm 26.60%; p < 0.0001) together with a decrease in the phosphorylation of STAT3 at tyrosine 705 (75.24 \pm 9.06 vs. 100 \pm 10.74%; p < 0.05) and an increase in rictor protein levels (160.6 \pm 14.48 vs. 100 \pm 9.08%; p < 0.01) (Figure 7B).

DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to characterize the metabolic phenotype of the Thy1-aSYN mouse model based on the overexpression of full-length, Human, WT alpha-synuclein. The Thy1-aSYN mouse model reproduces several features evoking sporadic PD, such as alpha-synuclein accumulation in brain regions including the substantia nigra. Later in life - at 14 months of age these mice lose 40% of striatal dopamine and show sensorymotor deficits that, as in Humans, are partially reversed by L-dopa (Lam et al., 2011). This pathological phenotype may be slower than that of mice that overexpress alpha-synuclein carrying mutations found in patients with rare familial forms of PD (i.e., A53T, A30P) (Chesselet and Richter, 2011). In the present study, we characterized the transgenic mice at an age preceding any dopamine loss and severe sensory-motor deficits (Chesselet et al., 2012) in an attempt to improve our understanding at an earlier phase of the disorder. Consistent with previous publications (Fleming et al., 2004; Lam et al., 2011) we report motor deficits in the challenging beam traversal test, therefore supporting the reproducibility of the Thy1aSYN phenotype. Our data show for the first time that 6month-old Thy1-aSYN mice display loss of adiposity, altered feeding behavior, decreased EE, as well as deregulation of peripheral hormones and hypothalamic signaling pathways known to be critically implicated in the regulation of energy homeostasis.

Body Weight and Body Composition of Thy1-aSYN Mice

Thy1-aSYN mice showed a decreased body weight observable from 3 months of age compared to age-matched WT mice, and the difference increased with age. Body composition analysis in 6-month-old animals revealed that Thy1-aSYN mice had lower subcutaneous and visceral fat mass, but no change in lean mass. It has to be noted that Human prospective studies report that PD patients can show decreased body weights several years (2–5 years) before the disease is diagnosed (Durrieu et al., 1992; Chen et al., 2003; Cheshire and Wszolek, 2005; Sharma and Lewis, 2017), after which their average body weights decline. Anthropometric studies show that this weight loss is essentially associated with reduced body fat mass, but not with muscle loss (Markus et al., 1993; Beyer et al., 1995; Lorefalt et al., 2004, 2009). Therefore, the phenotype of the Thy1-aSYN mouse model recapitulates several features reported in PD patients. Because PD patients are at higher risk of reduced bone mineral density and fractures (Torsney et al., 2014), we aimed to measure bone mineral density in the Thy1-aSYN and WT mice, showing no difference between genotypes.

Altered Feeding Behavior and Energy Metabolism

When individually housed in metabolic cages, 6-month-old transgenic mice showed a decrease in food consumption compared to control mice. This was associated with an altered meal pattern resulting in a smaller meal size. Decreased food consumption and altered meal pattern could arise from a number of factors observed in this transgenic mouse model. First, Thy1aSYN mice exhibit early and sustained olfactory detection and discrimination deficits without total loss of olfaction, as it is usually reported in patients (Fleming et al., 2008). Olfaction influences food intake (Soria-Gomez et al., 2014) and therefore, such olfactory deficiencies might contribute to a lower food consumption of Thy1-aSYN mice. Second, Thy1-aSYN mice exhibit increased anxiety, that is frequently experienced by PD patients (Mouren et al., 1983). Various studies have associated stress and anxiety to alteration in food intake and body weight (Rivest et al., 1989; Dunn and Berridge, 1990) and this could impact the feeding behavior in our study. Third, Thy1-aSYN mice show reductions in fecal pellet output when exposed to a novelty stress from 2.5-3 months of age, as well as alpha-synuclein accumulation in the colonic myenteric ganglia as reported in 7-8-month-old animals (Wang et al., 2012). Such gastrointestinal alterations could contribute to weight loss in transgenic animals both by altering their food intake behavior and by causing malabsorption. Thy1-aSYN mice displayed a decreased EE compared to controls, thus arguing against the possibility that an EE dysregulation could contribute to weight loss in our model. Our observations are consistent with the report that weight loss in PD occurs regardless to changes in daily EE (Delikanaki-Skaribas et al., 2009). Analyses of oxygen consumption and RER analyses did not evidence significant changes between transgenic and WT mice. However, they revealed that EE, oxygen consumption and RER were significantly decreased during the light cycle compared to the dark cycle in WT animals but no such differences were observed in Thy1-aSYN mice. This suggests that Thy1-aSYN mice could display alterations in temporal rhythms in energy metabolism and this could be linked to deficits in circadian-regulated behavior (Kudo et al., 2011).

Hyperactivity, Dopamine, and Face-Validity of the Thy1-aSYN Model

Behavioral characterization of 6-month-old transgenic mice showed an increased activity for both horizontal and vertical movements, in line with previous reports of increased openfield activity of Thy1-aSYN mice at 7 months (Lam et al., 2011). Increased activity of Thy1-aSYN mice has to be considered along with the increased extracellular striatal dopamine reported in the Thy1-aSyn mice at 6 months of age and should be distinguished of the later decreased locomotion observed in 14-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice, when striatal dopamine is significantly lost (Lam et al., 2011; Chesselet et al., 2012). Interestingly, an increased activity has also been reported for other mouse models of PD. For instance, knock-in mice bearing the G2019S LRRK2 mutation (a frequent cause of familial PD) have a hyperactive phenotype in the open field test (Longo et al., 2014). Similarly, MitoPark mice (in which the mitochondrial transcription factor Tfam is selectively removed in midbrain dopamine neurons) display at 6 weeks higher activity scores at both horizontal and vertical movements than control mice, while this hyperactivity is reversed to bradykinesia at 12 weeks of age, when dopamine levels get significantly lower in their striatum (Galter et al., 2010). Although it is difficult to extrapolate these data to patients in which levodoparesponsive motor symptoms support the diagnosis, one could hypothesize that early deregulation of dopamine could contribute to presymptomatic motor changes, as suggested in healthy carriers of the LRRK2 G2019S mutation (Mirelman et al., 2011). Noteworthy, the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway has also been implicated in feeding (Ungerstedt, 1971; Szczypka et al., 2001) and an excess of dopamine signaling has been reported to inhibit feeding in mice, as demonstrated with non-specific dopamine receptor agonists, DAT inhibitors, or amphetamines (Leibowitz, 1975). As such, changes in dopamine concentration could contribute to hyperactivity, impairments in challenging motor test and feeding abnormalities in 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN mice.

Deregulation in Hormones Controlling Energy Homeostasis

Research on the mechanisms governing body weight, feeding behavior and energy metabolism has provided insight into complex interactions between peripheral signals and the central nervous system (Schwartz et al., 2000). Both plasma insulin and leptin concentrations are decreased in 6-month-old Thy1aSYN mice. The leptin hormone is produced by white adipose tissue (Considine et al., 1996). Its level declines in Humans and mice after weight loss and accordingly a lower plasma leptin concentration was reported in PD patients with weight loss (Lorefalt et al., 2009; Fiszer et al., 2010). Hypoleptinemia has also been reported in transgenic mice overexpressing A53T alpha-synuclein (Rothman et al., 2014), as well as in mice overexpressing amyloid precursor protein (Ishii et al., 2014) and in two Huntington's disease mouse models (Phan et al., 2009) and might therefore appear as a feature frequently associated with pathological protein accumulation in mice. Insulin is secreted from pancreatic beta cells and its circulating concentrations show a positive correlation with body fat mass (Yu and Kim, 2012). This suggests that the declines in leptin and insulin levels are consequences of the changes in body composition in the Thy1-aSYN mice. In turn, the deregulation of these hormones could alter the phenotype of Thy1-aSYN mice in several ways. For instance, insulin increases adiposity, promotes lipid synthesis, and inhibits lipolysis (Baskin et al., 1999). Also, both leptin and insulin were shown to raise EE when administered to rodents (Menendez and Atrens, 1989; Morton et al., 2011), therefore directly linking decline in these hormones and reduction in EE in the Thy1-aSYN mice. Insulin and leptin have also neuroprotective properties and can influence synaptic plasticity. Among other studies, leptin administration rescued dopaminergic neurons, decreased the apomorphine-induced rotational behavior and restored striatal catecholamine levels in the unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine mouse model of dopaminergic cell death (Weng et al., 2007). Also, insulin induces the expression of the activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated gene (Chen et al., 2014), an effector immediate early gene critical to proteinsynthesis synaptic plasticity (Rosi, 2011). Leptin receptors and insulin receptors are expressed by dopaminergic neurons in midbrain (Figlewicz et al., 2003) and both hormones act directly on these neurons (Hommel et al., 2006; Mebel et al., 2012). Leptin has been shown to modulate dopamine D2 receptor expression in striatum (Pfaffly et al., 2010). Insulin has been shown to depress dopamine concentration in the ventral tegmental area via increasing its reuptake through dopamine transporter (Mebel et al., 2012). Although these results indicate a potential role of leptin and insulin in regulating the action of dopamine in the brain, the exact molecular mechanisms of such actions are yet to be elucidated.



Alpha-Synuclein and Deregulation of Signaling Pathways Regulating Energy Metabolism in the Hypothalamus of Thy1-aSYN Mice

It is now well established that the brain, especially the hypothalamus, maintains body weight homeostasis by effectively adjusting food intake and EE in response to changes in levels of various nutritional status indicators. In PD, alphasynuclein pathology may spread along neuronal pathways and neuropathological hypothalamic involvement was previously reported (Langston and Forno, 1978; Ansorge et al., 1997), even at preclinical stages (De Pablo-Fernandez et al., 2017). Here, we report for the first time that alpha-synuclein accumulates in the hypothalamus of Thy1-aSYN mice, to levels comparable to those of the substantia nigra and the striatum. We also show increased levels of alpha-synuclein phosphorylation at serine 129 and alpha-synuclein aggregation in this brain region. Alpha-synuclein has been suggested to fulfill roles in synaptic function and plasticity and thus it is possible that the alphasynuclein pathology in the hypothalamus causes functional alterations leading to metabolism abnormalities. Importantly, alpha-synuclein level was also elevated in the plasma of Thy1aSYN mice compared to WT mice. Although it is not clear how plasma alpha-synuclein levels relate to abnormal aggregated alpha-synuclein in the brain, our results confer to the Thy1-aSYN mouse model a major interest to evaluate the blood as a as a source of neurodegeneration biomarkers. By further analyzing the receptors and protein complexes known to be critically implicated in the regulation of metabolism, we evidenced a decreased phosphorylation at tyrosine 705 of the transcription factor STAT3 in the hypothalamus already present in 3-monthold Thy1-aSYN mice. STAT3 phosphorylation at tyrosine 705 promotes its homodimerization or heterodimerization with other STATs which leads to nucleus translocation and DNA binding. In vivo studies have provided evidence indicating that STAT3 activation in the hypothalamus is critical to the regulation of food intake and energy balance, particularly in the functioning of leptin (Bates et al., 2003; Buettner et al., 2006). Thus the downregulation of STAT3 phosphorylation could sign defects in the hypothalamus function in Thy1-aSYN mice. Over the last decade, mTOR complexes 1 and 2 (mTORC1 and mTORC2) have also emerged as critical cellular energy sensors because of their ability to couple hormones (including leptin and insulin) and nutrient signals with the regulation of energy balance and metabolism and activity among others (Haissaguerre et al., 2014). We compared the expression of major mTOR proteins and showed alterations of the protein levels of rictor, a required subunit for mTORC2, with increased protein levels in 3-monthold Thy1-aSYN mice, and decrease protein levels at 6 months of age. We did not observe changes in rictor levels in the substantia nigra of 6-month-old Thy1-aSYN (data not shown), suggesting that alpha-synuclein overexpression causes brain region-specific deregulations in our model. Although the function of mTORC2 is not as well-known as the function of mTORC1, it regulates actin polarization and endocytosis (Rispal et al., 2015) and sphingolipid biosynthesis (Roelants et al., 2011). It appears

important to further evaluate the role of mTORC2 in these pathways that we and others reported as notably deregulated in PD (Mutez et al., 2014; Dijkstra et al., 2015). Thus, considering the pivotal roles of the hypothalamus in regulating feeding behavior and energy metabolism, it is reasonable to speculate that the STAT3/mTORC2 alterations could contribute to the metabolic phenotype of Thy1-aSYN mice (**Figure 8**).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our data demonstrate a link between alphasynuclein overexpression and metabolic abnormalities including decreased body weight and adiposity, altered feeding behavior and decreased EE together with hypoleptinemia and hypoinsulinemia in the Thy1-aSYN mouse model. They moreover raise the possibility that alterations of the STAT3/mTORC2 signaling pathways in the hypothalamus of Thy1-aSYN transgenic mice could contribute to the disruption of their feeding behavior and energy metabolism. This emphasizes the need to better characterize the hypothalamus molecular dysregulation in PD to understand the etiology of unintended body weight change in this disease. Future studies are particularly needed to evaluate the interest of the proteins linked to STAT3 and mTORC2 signaling as biomarkers for PD and to test whether strategies aimed to normalize energy metabolism would interfere with alpha-synuclein-linked pathology.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ECu, MM, CL, WS and ASt contributed to the research project execution and to the data and statistical analyses. CV-M, OV, and ECu contributed to the project conception and to the manuscript reviewing. ASt, ASa, KS, TC, PS, M-AB, HC

REFERENCES

- Aiello, M., Eleopra, R., Foroni, F., Rinaldo, S., and Rumiati, R. I. (2017). Weight gain after STN-DBS: the role of reward sensitivity and impulsivity. *Cortex* 92, 150–161. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.04.005
- Ansorge, O., Daniel, S. E., and Pearce, R. K. (1997). Neuronal loss and plasticity in the supraoptic nucleus in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 49, 610–613. doi: 10.1212/WNL.49.2.610
- Bannier, S., Montaurier, C., Derost, P. P., Ulla, M., Lemaire, J. J., Boirie, Y., et al. (2009). Overweight after deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in Parkinson disease: long term follow-up. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 80, 484–488. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2008.158576
- Baskin, D. G., Figlewicz, Lattemann D, Seeley, R. J., Woods, S. C., Porte, D Jr, and Schwartz, M. W. (1999). Insulin and leptin: dual adiposity signals to the brain for the regulation of food intake and body weight. *Brain Res.* 848, 114–123. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01974-5
- Bates, S. H., Stearns, W. H., Dundon, T. A., Schubert, M., Tso, A. W., Wang, Y., et al. (2003). STAT3 signalling is required for leptin regulation of energy balance but not reproduction. *Nature* 421, 856–859. doi: 10.1038/nature01388
- Beyer, P. L., Palarino, M. Y., Michalek, D., Busenbark, K., and Koller, W. C. (1995). Weight change and body composition in patients with Parkinson's disease. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 95, 979–983. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00269-3
- Bezard, E., Dovero, S., Prunier, C., Ravenscroft, P., Chalon, S., Guilloteau, D., et al. (2001). Relationship between the appearance of symptoms and the

helped with the project execution. ECa supervised the use of the metabolic cages. AL helped with the meal pattern analysis. EM, AD, and BG revised the manuscript providing expertise in PD and cell signaling. M-CC-H contributed to the project conception and organization and edited the manuscript providing expertise in molecular neurodegeneration in PD. KB contributed to the project conception, organization and execution, to the statistical analyses and predominantly contributed to the writing of the article. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by INSERM, Région Hauts-de France, University of Lille (projet PEPS), CNRS, Dementia in Neurological and Mental Diseases (DN2M) and the CHRU de Lille. KB received a postdoctoral fellowship from Lundbeck laboratories. ECu received a research fellowship from Agence Régionale de Santé Hauts-de-France. ASt received a doctoral scholarship from the Doctoral School "Biology and Health" of Lille (446).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Eliezer Masliah, Dr. Marie-Françoise Chesselet and Dr. Amandeep Mann for giving access to the Thy1-aSYN transgenic mice and their helpful assistance with this model. We thank Romain Dehaynin and Delphine Taillieu for transgenic mouse production and animal care. We also thank Christine Bourgois for great administrative support and Jean-Marc Taymans for helpful discussion.

level of nigrostriatal degeneration in a progressive 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine-lesioned macaque model of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 6853–6861. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-17-06853.2001

- Bridi, J. C., and Hirth, F. (2018). Mechanisms of alpha-synuclein induced synaptopathy in Parkinson's Disease. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:80. doi: 10.3389/fnins. 2018.00080
- Buettner, C., Pocai, A., Muse, E. D., Etgen, A. M., Myers, MG Jr, and Rossetti, L. (2006). Critical role of STAT3 in leptin's metabolic actions. *Cell Metab.* 4, 49–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.04.014
- Butler, A. A., and Kozak, L. P. (2010). A recurring problem with the analysis of energy expenditure in genetic models expressing lean and obese phenotypes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 59, 323–329. doi: 10.2337/d b09-1471
- Chartier-Harlin, M. C., Kachergus, J., Roumier, C., Mouroux, V., Douay, X., Lincoln, S., et al. (2004). Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 364, 1167–1169. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17103-1
- Chen, H., Zhang, S. M., Hernan, M. A., Willett, W. C., and Ascherio, A. (2003). Weight loss in Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 53, 676–679. doi: 10.1002/ana. 10577
- Chen, T. J., Wang, D. C., Hung, H. S., and Ho, H. F. (2014). Insulin can induce the expression of a memory-related synaptic protein through facilitating AMPA receptor endocytosis in rat cortical neurons. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 71, 4069–4080. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1620-5

- Cheshire, W. P. Jr., and Wszolek, Z. K. (2005). Body mass index is reduced early in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 11, 35–38. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2004.07.001
- Chesselet, M. F., and Richter, F. (2011). Modelling of Parkinson's disease in mice. *Lancet Neurol.* 10, 1108–1118. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70227-7
- Chesselet, M. F., Richter, F., Zhu, C., Magen, I., Watson, M. B., and Subramaniam, S. R. (2012). A progressive mouse model of Parkinson's disease: the Thy1-aSyn ("Line 61") mice. *Neurotherapeutics* 9, 297–314. doi: 10.1007/s13311-012-0104-2
- Considine, R. V., Sinha, M. K., Heiman, M. L., Kriauciunas, A., Stephens, T. W., Nyce, M. R., et al. (1996). Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 334, 292–295. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM199602013340503
- Cumming, K., Macleod, A. D., Myint, P. K., and Counsell, C. E. (2017). Early weight loss in parkinsonism predicts poor outcomes: evidence from an incident cohort study. *Neurology* 89, 2254–2261. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004691
- De Pablo-Fernandez, E., Courtney, R., Holton, J. L., and Warner, T. T. (2017). Hypothalamic alpha-synuclein and its relation to weight loss and autonomic symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 32, 296–298. doi: 10.1002/mds. 26868
- Delikanaki-Skaribas, E., Trail, M., Wong, W. W., and Lai, E. C. (2009). Daily energy expenditure, physical activity, and weight loss in Parkinson's disease patients. *Mov. Disord.* 24, 667–671. doi: 10.1002/mds.22372
- Dijkstra, A. A., Ingrassia, A., de Menezes, R. X., van Kesteren, R. E., Rozemuller, A. J., Heutink, P., et al. (2015). Evidence for immune response, axonal dysfunction and reduced endocytosis in the substantia nigra in early stage parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 10:e0128651. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128651
- Dunn, A. J., and Berridge, C. W. (1990). Physiological and behavioral responses to corticotropin-releasing factor administration: is CRF a mediator of anxiety or stress responses? *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 15, 71–100. doi: 10.1016/0165-0173(90)90012-D
- Durrieu, G., Me, L. L., Rascol, O., Senard, J. M., Rascol, A., and Montastruc, J. L. (1992). Parkinson's disease and weight loss: a study with anthropometric and nutritional assessment. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 2, 153–157. doi: 10.1007/BF01 818955
- Fereshtehnejad, S. M., Ghazi, L., Sadeghi, M., Khaefpanah, D., Shahidi, G. A., Delbari, A., et al. (2014). Prevalence of malnutrition in patients with Parkinson's disease: a comparative study with healthy controls using Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) questionnaire. J. Parkinsons Dis. 4, 473–481. doi: 10.3233/ JPD-130323
- Figlewicz, D. P., Evans, S. B., Murphy, J., Hoen, M., and Baskin, D. G. (2003). Expression of receptors for insulin and leptin in the ventral tegmental area/substantia nigra (VTA/SN) of the rat. *Brain Res.* 964, 107–115. doi: 10. 1016/S0006-8993(02)04087-8
- Fiszer, U., Michalowska, M., Baranowska, B., Wolinska-Witort, E., Jeske, W., Jethon, M., et al. (2010). Leptin and ghrelin concentrations and weight loss in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 121, 230–236. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2009.01185.x
- Fleming, S. M., Ekhator, O. R., and Ghisays, V. (2013). Assessment of sensorimotor function in mouse models of Parkinson's disease. J. Vis. Exp. 76:e50303. doi: 10.3791/50303
- Fleming, S. M., Salcedo, J., Fernagut, P. O., Rockenstein, E., Masliah, E., Levine, M. S., et al. (2004). Early and progressive sensorimotor anomalies in mice overexpressing wild-type human alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 9434–9440. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3080-04.2004
- Fleming, S. M., Tetreault, N. A., Mulligan, C. K., Hutson, C. B., Masliah, E., and Chesselet, M. F. (2008). Olfactory deficits in mice overexpressing human wildtype alpha-synuclein. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 28, 247–256. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06346.x
- Galter, D., Pernold, K., Yoshitake, T., Lindqvist, E., Hoffer, B., Kehr, J., et al. (2010). MitoPark mice mirror the slow progression of key symptoms and L-DOPA response in Parkinson's disease. *Genes Brain Behav.* 9, 173–181. doi: 10.1111/ j.1601-183X.2009.00542.x
- Haissaguerre, M., Saucisse, N., and Cota, D. (2014). Influence of mTOR in energy and metabolic homeostasis. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 397, 67–77. doi: 10.1016/j. mce.2014.07.015
- Hassouna, R., Labarthe, A., Zizzari, P., Videau, C., Culler, M., Epelbaum, J., et al. (2013). Actions of agonists and antagonists of the ghrelin/GHS-R pathway on

GH secretion, appetite, and cFos activity. Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne) 4:25. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00025

- Hommel, J. D., Trinko, R., Sears, R. M., Georgescu, D., Liu, Z. W., Gao, X. B., et al. (2006). Leptin receptor signaling in midbrain dopamine neurons regulates feeding. *Neuron* 51, 801–810. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.023
- Ibanez, P., Bonnet, A. M., Debarges, B., Lohmann, E., Tison, F., Pollak, P., et al. (2004). Causal relation between alpha-synuclein gene duplication and familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 364, 1169–1171. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04) 17104-3
- Ishii, M., Wang, G., Racchumi, G., Dyke, J. P., and Iadecola, C. (2014). Transgenic mice overexpressing amyloid precursor protein exhibit early metabolic deficits and a pathologically low leptin state associated with hypothalamic dysfunction in arcuate neuropeptide Y neurons. J. Neurosci. 34, 9096–9106. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0872-14.2014
- Jorgensen, H. U., Werdelin, L., Lokkegaard, A., Westerterp, K. R., and Simonsen, L. (2012). Free-living energy expenditure reduced after deep brain stimulation surgery for Parkinson's disease. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 32, 214–220. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-097X.2011.01079.x
- Kaiyala, K. J., Morton, G. J., Leroux, B. G., Ogimoto, K., Wisse, B., and Schwartz, M. W. (2010). Identification of body fat mass as a major determinant of metabolic rate in mice. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 59, 1657–1666. doi: 10.2337/ db09-1582
- Kudo, T., Loh, D. H., Truong, D., Wu, Y., and Colwell, C. S. (2011). Circadian dysfunction in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 232, 66–75. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.08.003
- Lam, H. A., Wu, N., Cely, I., Kelly, R. L., Hean, S., Richter, F., et al. (2011). Elevated tonic extracellular dopamine concentration and altered dopamine modulation of synaptic activity precede dopamine loss in the striatum of mice overexpressing human alpha-synuclein. J. Neurosci. Res. 89, 1091–1102. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22611
- Langston, J. W., and Forno, L. S. (1978). The hypothalamus in Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 3, 129–133. doi: 10.1002/ana.410030207
- Leibowitz, S. F. (1975). Amphetamine: possible site and mode of action for producing anorexia in the rat. *Brain Res.* 84, 160–167. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(75)90811-2
- Longo, F., Russo, I., Shimshek, D. R., Greggio, E., and Morari, M. (2014). Genetic and pharmacological evidence that G2019S LRRK2 confers a hyperkinetic phenotype, resistant to motor decline associated with aging. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 71, 62–73. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.07.013
- Lorefalt, B., Ganowiak, W., Palhagen, S., Toss, G., Unosson, M., and Granerus, A. K. (2004). Factors of importance for weight loss in elderly patients with Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 110, 180–187. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2004.00307.x
- Lorefalt, B., Toss, G., and Granerus, A. K. (2009). Weight loss, body fat mass, and leptin in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 24, 885–890. doi: 10.1002/mds.22466
- Ma, K., Xiong, N., Shen, Y., Han, C., Liu, L., Zhang, G., et al. (2018). Weight loss and malnutrition in patients with parkinson's disease: current knowledge and future prospects. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:1. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00001
- Maraganore, D. M., de Andrade, M., Elbaz, A., Farrer, M. J., Ioannidis, J. P., Kruger, R., et al. (2006). Collaborative analysis of alpha-synuclein gene promoter variability and Parkinson disease. *JAMA* 296, 661–670. doi: 10.1001/ jama.296.6.661
- Markus, H. S., Cox, M., and Tomkins, A. M. (1992). Raised resting energy expenditure in Parkinson's disease and its relationship to muscle rigidity. *Clin. Sci. (Lond.)* 83, 199–204. doi: 10.1042/cs0830199
- Markus, H. S., Tomkins, A. M., and Stern, G. M. (1993). Increased prevalence of undernutrition in Parkinson's disease and its relationship to clinical disease parameters. J. Neural Transm. Park Dis. Dement Sect. 5, 117–125. doi: 10.1007/ BF02251202
- Mebel, D. M., Wong, J. C., Dong, Y. J., and Borgland, S. L. (2012). Insulin in the ventral tegmental area reduces hedonic feeding and suppresses dopamine concentration via increased reuptake. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 36, 2336–2346. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08168.x
- Menendez, J. A., and Atrens, D. M. (1989). Insulin increases energy expenditure and respiratory quotient in the rat. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 34, 765–768. doi: 10.1016/0091-3057(89)90272-4
- Mequinion, M., Caron, E., Zgheib, S., Stievenard, A., Zizzari, P., Tolle, V., et al. (2015). Physical activity: benefit or weakness in metabolic adaptations in a

mouse model of chronic food restriction? *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 308, E241–E255. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00340.2014

- Mirelman, A., Gurevich, T., Giladi, N., Bar-Shira, A., Orr-Urtreger, A., and Hausdorff, J. M. (2011). Gait alterations in healthy carriers of the LRRK2 G2019S mutation. *Ann. Neurol.* 69, 193–197. doi: 10.1002/ana.22165
- Morton, G. J., Kaiyala, K. J., Fisher, J. D., Ogimoto, K., Schwartz, M. W., and Wisse,
 B. E. (2011). Identification of a physiological role for leptin in the regulation of ambulatory activity and wheel running in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 300, E392–E401. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00546.2010
- Mouren, P., Poinso, Y., Oppenheim, G., Mouren, A., and Nguyen Quang, M. (1983). [Personality of the parkinsonian, clinical and psychometric approach]. *Ann. Med. Psychol. (Paris)* 141, 153–167.
- Mutez, E., Nkiliza, A., Belarbi, K., de Broucker, A., Vanbesien-Mailliot, C., Bleuse, S., et al. (2014). Involvement of the immune system, endocytosis and EIF2 signaling in both genetically determined and sporadic forms of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 63, 165–170. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2013. 11.007
- Pak, K., Shin, H. K., Kim, E. J., Lee, J. H., Lyoo, C. H., Son, J., et al. (2018). Weight loss is associated with rapid striatal dopaminergic degeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 51, 67–72. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018. 02.044
- Pfaffly, J., Michaelides, M., Wang, G. J., Pessin, J. E., Volkow, N. D., and Thanos, P. K. (2010). Leptin increases striatal dopamine D2 receptor binding in leptindeficient obese (ob/ob) mice. *Synapse* 64, 503–510. doi: 10.1002/syn.20755
- Phan, J., Hickey, M. A., Zhang, P., Chesselet, M. F., and Reue, K. (2009). Adipose tissue dysfunction tracks disease progression in two Huntington's disease mouse models. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, 1006–1016. doi: 10.1093/hmg/d dn428
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2045
- Rispal, D., Eltschinger, S., Stahl, M., Vaga, S., Bodenmiller, B., Abraham, Y., et al. (2015). Target of rapamycin complex 2 regulates actin polarization and endocytosis via multiple pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 14963–14978. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M114.627794
- Rivest, S., Deshaies, Y., and Richard, D. (1989). Effects of corticotropin-releasing factor on energy balance in rats are sex dependent. *Am. J. Physiol.* 257(6 Pt 2), R1417–R1422. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1989.257.6.R1417
- Roelants, F. M., Breslow, D. K., Muir, A., Weissman, J. S., and Thorner, J. (2011). Protein kinase Ypk1 phosphorylates regulatory proteins Orm1 and Orm2 to control sphingolipid homeostasis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 19222–19227. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116 948108
- Rosi, S. (2011). Neuroinflammation and the plasticity-related immediate-early gene Arc. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25(Suppl. 1), S39–S49. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011. 02.003
- Rothman, S. M., Griffioen, K. J., Fishbein, K. W., Spencer, R. G., Makrogiannis, S., Cong, W. N., et al. (2014). Metabolic abnormalities and hypoleptinemia in alpha-synuclein A53T mutant mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1153–1161. doi: 10. 1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.10.088
- Schapira, A. H. V., Chaudhuri, K. R., and Jenner, P. (2017). Non-motor features of Parkinson disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 18, 435–450. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2017.62
- Schwartz, M. W., Woods, S. C., Porte, D. Jr., Seeley, R. J., and Baskin, D. G. (2000). Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* 404, 661–671. doi: 10.1038/35007534

- Sharma, J. C., and Lewis, A. (2017). Weight in Parkinson's disease: phenotypical significance. Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 134, 891–919. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2017.04.011
- Sharma, J. C., and Vassallo, M. (2014). Prognostic significance of weight changes in Parkinson's disease: the Park-weight phenotype. *Neurodegener. Dis. Manag.* 4, 309–316. doi: 10.2217/nmt.14.25
- Simon-Sanchez, J., Schulte, C., Bras, J. M., Sharma, M., Gibbs, J. R., Berg, D., et al. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals genetic risk underlying Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 1308–1312. doi: 10.1038/ng.487
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., et al. (2003). Alpha-synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302:841. doi: 10.1126/science.1090278302/5646/841
- Soria-Gomez, E., Bellocchio, L., Reguero, L., Lepousez, G., Martin, C., Bendahmane, M., et al. (2014). The endocannabinoid system controls food intake via olfactory processes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 407–415. doi: 10.1038/nn.3647
- Szczypka, M. S., Kwok, K., Brot, M. D., Marck, B. T., Matsumoto, A. M., Donahue, B. A., et al. (2001). Dopamine production in the caudate putamen restores feeding in dopamine-deficient mice. *Neuron* 30, 819–828. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00319-1
- Torsney, K. M., Noyce, A. J., Doherty, K. M., Bestwick, J. P., Dobson, R., and Lees, A. J. (2014). Bone health in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 1159–1166. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-307307
- Uc, E. Y., Struck, L. K., Rodnitzky, R. L., Zimmerman, B., Dobson, J., and Evans, W. J. (2006). Predictors of weight loss in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 21, 930–936. doi: 10.1002/mds.20837
- Ungerstedt, U. (1971). Adipsia and aphagia after 6-hydroxydopamine induced degeneration of the nigro-striatal dopamine system. *Acta Physiol. Scand. Suppl.* 367, 95–122. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-201X.1971.tb11001.x
- van der Marck, M. A., Dicke, H. C., Uc, E. Y., Kentin, Z. H., Borm, G. F., Bloem, B. R., et al. (2012). Body mass index in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 18, 263–267. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2011.10.016
- Wang, L., Magen, I., Yuan, P. Q., Subramaniam, S. R., Richter, F., Chesselet, M. F., et al. (2012). Mice overexpressing wild-type human alpha-synuclein display alterations in colonic myenteric ganglia and defecation. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 24, e425–e436. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2012.01974.x
- Weng, Z., Signore, A. P., Gao, Y., Wang, S., Zhang, F., Hastings, T., et al. (2007). Leptin protects against 6-hydroxydopamine-induced dopaminergic cell death via mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 34479–34491. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M705426200
- Yu, J. H., and Kim, M. S. (2012). Molecular mechanisms of appetite regulation. Diabetes Metab. J. 36, 391–398. doi: 10.4093/dmj.2012.36.6.391

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Cuvelier, Méquinion, Leghay, Sibran, Stievenard, Sarchione, Bonte, Vanbesien-Mailliot, Viltart, Saitoski, Caron, Labarthe, Comptdaer, Semaille, Carrié, Mutez, Gressier, Destée, Chartier-Harlin and Belarbi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Reduced Cytosolic Calcium as an Early Decisive Cellular State in Parkinson's Disease and Synucleinopathies

Cristine Betzer^{1,2} and Poul Henning Jensen^{1,2*}

¹ DANDRITE – Danish Research Institute of Translational Neuroscience, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ² Department of Biomedicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fredric P. Manfredsson, Michigan State University, United States

Reviewed by:

Heather Jane Mortiboys, The University of Sheffield, United Kingdom Nicola B. Mercuri, Università degli Studi di Roma Tor Vergata, Italy Gerardo Morfini, The University of Illinois at Chicago, United States

*Correspondence:

Poul Henning Jensen phj@biomed.au.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 07 June 2018 Accepted: 19 October 2018 Published: 06 November 2018

Citation:

Betzer C and Jensen PH (2018) Reduced Cytosolic Calcium as an Early Decisive Cellular State in Parkinson's Disease and Synucleinopathies. Front. Neurosci. 12:819. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00819 The more than 30-year-old Calcium hypothesis postulates that dysregulation in calcium dependent processes in the aging brain contributes to its increased vulnerability and this concept has been extended to Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Central to the hypothesis is that increased levels of intracellular calcium develop and contributes to neuronal demise. We have studied the impact on cells encountering a gradual build-up of aggregated α -synuclein, which is a central process to Parkinson's disease and other synucleinopathies. Surprisingly, we observed a yet unrecognized phase characterized by a reduced cytosolic calcium in cellular and neuronal models of Parkinson's disease, caused by α -synuclein aggregates activating the endoplasmic calcium ATPase, SERCA. Counteracting the initial phase with low calcium rescues the subsequent degenerative phase with increased calcium and cell death – and demonstrates this early phase initiates decisive degenerative signals. In this review, we discuss our findings in relation to literature on calcium dysregulation in Parkinson's disease and dementia.

Keywords: aggregation, α-synuclein, calcium, synucleinopathies, dementia

INTRODUCTION

In Parkinson's disease (PD), dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta have been the focus of interest for decades due to their disease-associated loss that gives rise to the striatal dopamine deficiency and motoric symptoms. An intense interest in the cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels of these cells has been based on two independent lines of evidence. First, the autonomous firing of these dopaminergic (DA) neurons along with their large terminal fields causes a continuous and large influx of Ca^{2+} that in order to maintain low normal Ca^{2+} levels has to be balanced by active transport processes at the risk of oxidative stress (Surmeier, 2007; Dryanovski et al., 2013; Surmeier et al., 2017). Second, epidemiological studies have demonstrated that treatment with L-type Ca^{2+} channel antagonists that lowers Ca^{2+} influx reduces the risk of developing PD symptoms (Ritz et al., 2010; Pasternak et al., 2012). We recently reported a novel phenotype with reduced cytosolic Ca^{2+} in neurons that occurs very early in the degenerative processes associated to PD (**Figure 1**). In contrast to previous hypotheses focusing on loss of cells, this observation corroborates the existence of prolonged phase with reduced Ca^{2+} in neurons that encounter progressive build-up of α -synuclein aggregates (Betzer et al., 2018). This phase may contribute to symptomatology by changing the neurons contribution to functional motor and non-motor circuitries.



FIGURE 1 | Progressive neuronal accumulation of α -synuclein aggregates in Parkinson's disease cause gradual activation of SERCA and changes in cytosolic Ca²⁺ and Ca²⁺ dependent processes. (A) Nerve terminals with their high concentration of a-synuclein are the sites for the initial build-up of α -synuclein (α -syn) aggregates (Aggr.). The aggregates are transported to the cell body by active retrograde axonal transport and during this process accumulate as Lewy neurites (LN). In the cell body, aggregates may accumulate locally as Lewy bodies (LB) if not degraded by lysosomes. (B) The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) permeates the entire neuron into its terminals. In Parkinson's disease (PD), α-syn aggregates bind and activate SERCA resulting in reduced cytosolic Ca^{2+} and Ca^{2+} overload in the ER. (C) The cytosolic Ca2+ level in neurons encountering a progressive build-up of intracellular a-synuclein aggregates displays a biphasic response with a reduced level in the early phase Ca2+ ions are translocated into the ER. This phase will be characterized by a range of dysfunctions caused by deranged Ca²⁺ dependent processes. Later the compensatory mechanisms fail and the cell progress into a degenerative state with increased Ca2+ that precede cell death

CYTOSOLIC CALCIUM IONS

Calcium ions are versatile cellular second messengers and proper control of cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels in neurons are crucial for their development and function (Berridge et al., 2000, 2003). The resting cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration in neurons is approximately 150 nM but this term is a crude measure because most Ca^{2+} signaling is mediated within subcellular microdomains (Rizzuto and Pozzan, 2006). This is particularly true for neurons that are highly polarized with separate microdomains like nerve terminals, axon initial segment and synaptic boutons. Still the experimental use of cytosolic Ca^{2+} sensors like Fura-2 and Fluo3 have given important insights into neuronal Ca^{2+} signaling despite their suboptimal spatial resolution.

The average 150 nM cytosolic Ca^{2+} contrasts the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the extracellular compartment where Ca^{2+}

concentrations are in the 1 mM range (Berridge et al., 2003; Surmeier and Schumacker, 2013) and these steep gradients are maintained by active transport through efficient pumps and secondary active cotransporters like sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPases (SERCA), plasma membrane ATPases (PMCA), and Na⁺/ Ca²⁺ exchangers (NCX).

It was early recognized that dysfunctions herein triggered by a broad range of cellular stresses, e.g., decreased ATP and O_2 , per default will increase cytosolic Ca²⁺ and ultimately cause cell death (Berridge et al., 1998). However, more subtle changes in leakiness or efficiency of specific pumps could also have fundamental, but slowly progressing effects on the brains ability to compensate with aging and age-related neurodegenerative diseases as put forth in the Ca²⁺-hypothesis (Khachaturian, 1984, 1994; Berridge, 2010).

PARKINSON'S DISEASE AND α -SYNUCLEIN

Our insight into PD pathophysiology has developed significantly within the last 20 years since (i) mutations within the SNCA gene encoding α -synuclein was identified as causative for autosomal dominant PD in rare families (Zeng et al., 2018), (ii) aggregated α -synuclein was demonstrated as the main component in the neuronal Lewy body inclusions in PD (Spillantini et al., 1997), and (iii) the Braak hypothesis was presented (Braak et al., 2003) on PD being a progressive neurodegenerative disease that continuously involves new but selective areas of the brain thereby bringing increased complexity to the patients symptomatology. Today, it is commonly recognized that many PD patients have suffered from non-motor symptoms, e.g., depression and sleep disturbances, years before they develop motor symptoms leading to PD diagnosis (Figure 2). Hence, mechanisms applicable to larger groups of vulnerable neurons rather than the dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta are attractive targets if the aim is to modify the disease course at different stages from presymptomatic to late-stage disease. The presymptomatic intervention is, as for all late-onset neurodegenerative diseases, especially attractive but requires strong biomarkers to identify at-risk patients. The spreading of pathology is hypothesized to be carried by prion-like aggregates of the normally presynaptic protein α -synuclein that upon uptake in healthy neurons cause progressive conversion of their native α -synuclein into aggregated species. The aggregated species represents a still poorly described group that initially are hypothesized to contain soluble, so-called oligomers or protofibrils, before they convert into amyloid-type filaments. The filaments are deposited in intracellular inclusions localized in axons and cell bodies as Lewy neurites and Lewy bodies that represents pathoanatomical hallmarks of PD (Figure 1). The process of α -synuclein aggregation is dose-dependent as evidenced by the autosomal dominant heritability of PD in rare families with elevated levels of normal *a*-synuclein caused by multiplications of the α -synuclein gene SNCA (Singleton et al., 2003; Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004; Devine et al., 2011). Moreover, GWAS studies demonstrates variations in the SNCA



FIGURE 2 Hypothetical effects on symptomatology in Parkinson's disease by modulating cytosolic calcium in neurons by different mechanisms. (A) The disease course for a Parkinson's disease patient can be divided into different phases. According to the Braak hypothesis, the phases represent the sweeping movement of α -synuclein aggregate-dependent neuropathology through the nervous system and is initially detectable in the lower brain stem and the olfactory bulb. (B) The presymptomatic phase represent early aggregate build-up in the neurons of the olfactory bulb, the gut and the vagal motor nucleus of the lower brain stem and evolves into the symptomatic phase with hyposmia and constipation as frequent symptoms. Further involvement of the brain stem may add symptoms like sleep disturbances, e.g., REM sleep behavior disorders (RBD), depression, and anxiety. Next, the substantia nigra becomes involved and the patients develop motor symptoms and get diagnosed as PD patients. Finally, higher areas are involved adding cognitive problems to the slubstantia nigra pars compacta and other vulnerable neuronal populations. Epidemiological data suggest this treatment lowers the motoric symptoms but not the final progression into dementia as depicted by a red line. A treatment that targets the early Ca²⁺ dysfunctions caused by SERCA activation by α -synuclein aggregates will ideally normalize the early dysfunctions of affected neurons. This could apart from reducing the severity of non-motor symptoms also decrease the rate of disease progression through the brain (blue line).

locus is the largest genetic risk factor for sporadic PD and this effect is hypothesized to be due to increased expression α -synuclein. α -Synuclein is thus considered a key player in the development and progression of PD although it still is unclear which intracellular α -synuclein aggregates harm the neurons and how this is accomplished. Insight into the molecular structure of *in vitro* formed α -synuclein aggregates has only recently reached the level of atomic resolution by CryoEM (Guerrero-Ferreira et al., 2018) and solid state NMR studies (Tuttle et al., 2016). The ability to validate that features of *in vitro* formed aggregates indeed exist in vivo has benefitted from the development of aggregate specific antibodies (Lindersson et al., 2004; Vaikath et al., 2015; Lassen et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2018) that allows the validation of specific epitopes on both types of aggregates. Biochemical and structural analyses of α -synuclein aggregates isolated from brain tissue (Gai et al., 2000; Anderson et al., 2006) or cells are sparse but specific targets for α -synuclein aggregates has been identified (Lindersson et al., 2004, 2005; Betzer et al., 2015, 2018; Mao et al., 2016).

We have previously demonstrated that decisive prodegenerative signals, like changes in gene expression and secreted signaling molecules are generated at early time points in human α -synuclein expressing immortalized rat oligodendroglial cells (OLN-93) encountering a progressive build-up of soluble α -synuclein aggregates (Kragh et al., 2009, 2013, 2014). These can be measured in the OLN-93 model at early time points, where no gross dysfunctions are apparent. Recent investigations of this early phase allowed us to demonstrate by use of the ratiometric calcium sensor, Fura-2 that it is characterized by a reduction in cytosolic Ca²⁺ in both mitotic OLN-93 and a non-mitotic human neuroblastoma cell model (SH-SY5Y) of α -synuclein aggregate stress, and in primary cultures of mouse hippocampal neurons expressing human α -synuclein from the Thy1-a-Syn Line 61 (Betzer et al., 2018). The early phase with reduced cytosolic Ca^{2+} preceded the well-known late phase with increased cytosolic Ca^{2+} and increased cell death (Figure 1). Mechanistically the decreased cytosolic Ca^{2+} was caused by binding of soluble α -synuclein aggregates to SERCA, leading to increased pumping of Ca^{2+} from cytosol into ER. The increased activity of SERCA was measured by in vitro assays using sarcoplasmic microsomes isolated from rabbit muscle as the source of SERCA. Here was measured an increased hydrolysis of ATP, transport of ⁴⁵Ca²⁺, and dephosphorylation rate of the pump. Furthermore, analysis of the rate of Ca^{2+} loading into ER in the OLN-93 cells expressing the calcium sensor aequorin in ER revealed an increased uptake in the presence of α -synuclein aggregates. The Ca²⁺ dysregulation could be treated pharmacologically by the specific SERCA inhibitor cyclopiazonic acid (CPA) leading to reduced cell stress and increased viability in the OLN-93 model, SH-SY5Y model, in the hippocampal neurons, and an in vivo C. elegans model, UA44 [baInl1; Pdat-1::AS, Pdat-1::GFP] expressing AS

and GFP in their dopaminergic neurons. The protective CPA dose did not negatively affect the viability of control cells. The abnormal complexes between α -synuclein aggregates and SERCA could be demonstrated by co-immunoprecipitation of SERCA from brain homogenates using in vitro formed soluble aggregates as bait and in situ in SH-SY5Y cells using anovel α-synuclein/SERCA proximity ligation assay. The proximity ligation assay also revealed positive signals in human brain tissue affected by dementia with Lewy bodies, but not control tissue corroboration this novel mechanism of a-synuclein aggregates engaging with SERCA is relevant to human pathology. Hence, the degenerative phase with reduced cytosolic Ca^{2+} may well be active in human brain. It should be stressed that the mechanisms, whereby a-synuclein aggregates activates SERCA is not restricted to neurons but is generic and will occur in all cells experiencing intracellular α -synuclein aggregates, since SERCA is ubiquitously expressed (Primeau et al., 2018). SERCA is expressed by three genes, ATP2A1, 2 and 3, and their isoform diversity is increased by alternative splicing, giving rise to 13 isoforms (Wuytack et al., 2002; Dally et al., 2010). The expression of SERCA isoforms exhibit both specificity with respect to developmental state and tissue, with SERCA2b and SERCA3 as the predominant isoforms in brain (Uhlen et al., 2015). It will thus apart from PD, Lewy body dementia, and Lewy body variant of Alzheimer's disease (AD), also occur in Multiple systems atrophy, where aggregates accumulate in oligodendrocytes (Gai et al., 1998; Spillantini et al., 1998) as modeled by our OLN-93 models (Betzer et al., 2018). In PD, does astrocytes in proximity of LB containing neurons also contain α -synuclein (Braak et al., 2007) but it does not appear to be aggregated and thus able to affect their SERCA pumps (Takemiya and Yamagata, 2013).

One may ask why this phase with reduced cytosolic Ca²⁺ have not been appreciated before? Firstly, the experimental focus has been on cell models to generate inclusion or pathology that resembles Lewy bodies e.g., phosphorylation of Ser129 on cellular α -synuclein or insoluble α -synuclein species. These phenomena likely require a significant build-up of α -synuclein aggregates and may occur in the late degenerative stage with increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ and enhanced cell death. Secondly, methodologically it is not trivial to demonstrate a 20% decrease in basal cytosolic Ca^{2+} of 150 nM if it is not the aim of the experiment. The genetically encoded Ca²⁺ sensors, like GCAMP6, are designed to demonstrate increases in Ca^{2+} as readouts for neuronal activity. To obtain quantitative measurement of reductions in cytosolic Ca^{2+} , we used the ratiometric Ca^{2+} -sensor Fura-2 that is exited at 340 and 380 nm and has its emission quantified at 510 nm, which upon calibration allows quantitative measurements. In our study, we chose a region of interest to measure the Fura-2 signal in the cell body located outside the nucleus that may reflect neurons average cytosolic Ca²⁺ in the somatodendritic compartment.

Conclusively, when neurons and other cells, like oligodendrocytes in MSA, experience a progressive build-up of α -synuclein aggregation we propose the existence of an early phase characterized by a decreased cytosolic Ca^{2+} and a degree of Ca^{2+} overload in their ER. This phase is not characterized by degenerative death promoting processes, but

slowly developing dysfunctions in critical Ca²⁺ dependent processes that compromise the cells ability to contribute to its normal circuitries and thereby brain functions. We propose a neuron-centric mechanisms where Ca²⁺ dysfunctions initiates in neurons that contain the α -synuclein aggregate but one can speculate if it also affect the tripartite synapse coupling neuron and glia (Eroglu and Barres, 2010). The so-called tripartite synapse consists of pre- and postsynaptic neuronal structures along with the astrocyte processes that connects hereto. The astrocytes contribute to the neuron-neuron signaling by releasing glial transmitters that bind to receptors on both pre- and postsynaptic neuronal structures (Eroglu and Barres, 2010). The SERCA activated dysfunctions in neurons may affect both the release of transmitters targeting astrocytes and the receptors that respond to the glial transmitters. Insight into these processes may allow direct targeting the abnormally activated SERCA pump or its downstream signaling pathways. This reorientation of focus from what kills the cells to what make them dysfunctional, may allow us to relieve symptoms caused by dysfunction of neurons and/or glia. Nerve cells often function as parts of closely regulated circuits that by support from glia cells contribute to brain functions and dysfunctions herein cause symptoms. A focus on alleviating cellular dysfunctions may open for more points of therapeutic intervention.

EVIDENCE OF NEURONAL CALCIUM DISTURBANCES IN PD

The Ca^{2+} hypothesis that originally was associated to aging (Khachaturian, 1984) and later AD (Berridge, 2010) has also rationally been adopted in the PD field. First, it was demonstrated that dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta display autonomous pace-making firing and this combined with their extremely large terminal fields, results in a large influx of Ca²⁺ via L-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (CaV) (Chan et al., 2007). Maintaining low normal Ca²⁺ levels by active transport processes requires large ATP production by oxidative phosphorylation and carries a risk of oxidative stress (Surmeier, 2007; Dryanovski et al., 2013; Surmeier et al., 2017). The CaV1.3 is largely responsible for the Ca²⁺ influx in pace-making neurons in substantia nigra and has been proposed to be involved in Ca²⁺ dysregulation since it does not fully close during autonomous firing (Wilson and Callaway, 2000; Bean, 2007; Puopolo et al., 2007; Surmeier and Schumacker, 2013).

Second, L-type Ca²⁺ channel blockers of the dihydropyridine type (DiCCBs) used to treat hypertension reduce the risk of developing PD and its associated mortality, but did not reduce the risk of dementia in PD patients (Becker et al., 2008; Ritz et al., 2010; Pasternak et al., 2012). The absent effect on cognition combined with a lack of association between length of previous use of Ca²⁺ channel blockers and its preventive effect, which made the authors suggest "any clinical effects of DiCCBs may be associated with symptomatic relief (preventing the development of clinical symptoms of early disease) rather than having a longterm impact on neurodegeneration" (Pasternak et al., 2012). However, changes to CaV channel expression has been reported

in PD brains suggesting where a dysregulation was demonstrated by immunohistochemistry in early and late stage PD brains (Hurley et al., 2013). The study demonstrated abnormalities in CaV subtype expression with a general increase preceding PD pathology along with a change in the ratio of CaV1.2 vs. CaV1.3 to favor a greater utilization of CaV1.3 channels (Hurley et al., 2013). The mechanism governing these changes, which may allow increased Ca²⁺ influx are unknown, but could in principle be a response to decreased cytosolic Ca^{2+} in neurons. Clinical trials testing the Ca²⁺-hypothesis in PD are ongoing where the efficacy of CaV1.3 channel antagonist, Israpidine, is being evaluated ¹. However, even if the trials succeed in demonstrating symptomatic relief, they may not modify the progressive and widespread pathology that develops during the course of a PD patients life and which may be caused by prion-like properties of spreading α -synuclein aggregates (Braak et al., 2003).

IS INCREASED CYTOSOLIC CALCIUM ALWAYS BAD OR CAN IT EVEN BE NEUROPROTECTIVE?

We demonstrated that development of a-synuclein aggregates, by activating a Ca^{2+} pump, causes a decrease in cytosolic Ca^{2+} . This demonstrates that not only increased Ca²⁺, as posited by the Ca²⁺-hypothesis, but also low Ca²⁺ can have adverse effects (Betzer et al., 2018). Considering the Ca^{2+} -hypothesis, one may ask if increased cytosolic Ca^{2+} always is cytotoxic? Early studies focusing on developmental aspects of primary cultures of peripheral neurons demonstrated increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ levels by chronic depolarization was cytoprotective (Scott and Fisher, 1970; Franklin et al., 1995). This could also be demonstrated in vivo where activation of spiral ganglion neurons promoted their survival in the inner ear, which was prevented by blocking Ca²⁺ influx through L-type Ca²⁺ channels by Verapamil (Miller et al., 2003). Treatment with Verapamil was among the CaV channel antagonists that reduced the risk of developing PD symptomatology (Pasternak et al., 2012). A different neuroprotective mechanism has been demonstrated relying on synaptic stimulation of NMDA receptors (NMDAR) (Zhang et al., 2007). The NMDAR stimulation on dendritic spines, but not on extrasynaptic sites, triggers a signaling cascade that causes Ca²⁺ transients in the nucleus. The increase in nuclear Ca²⁺ stimulates transcription of specific genes, among some designated neuronal shield genes that contribute to enhanced neuronal survival and differentiation (Mao et al., 1999; Hardingham et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2005; Papadia et al., 2005; Bok et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007; Hardingham, 2009; Bading, 2013). In primary cultures of hippocampal neurons from α-synuclein transgenic mice, we measured the decreased cytosolic Ca^{2+} in the somatodendritic compartment just outside the nucleus (Betzer et al., 2018). Considering the fenestrated nature of the nuclear membrane this will likely result in a decreased nuclear Ca²⁺ that may blunt the protective Ca²⁺ transient elicited by synaptic NMDAR signaling.

CALCIUM OVERLOAD OF THE ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM

When α -synuclein aggregates activate SERCA, the transport of Ca^{2+} into the lumen of the ER is increased (Betzer et al., 2018). However, it is unclear how much this increases the Ca²⁺ load and the consequences hereof. Still it is becoming increasingly evident that the level of Ca²⁺ load in the ER plays fundamental roles for a range of important cellular processes. These processes comprise the unfolded protein response, the critical Ca²⁺ filling of mitochondria needed for oxidative phosphorylation, store-operate Ca^{2+} entry (SOCE) of Ca^{2+} across the plasma membrane into the ER (Carreras-Sureda et al., 2018) and the recently described regulation of presynaptic neurotransmitter release probability by axonal and presynaptic ER Ca²⁺ filling (de Juan-Sanz et al., 2017), and specialized overload channels like TMCO1 has been identified that counteracts ER overload (Wang et al., 2016). The significance in these pathways in neurons encountering a gradual build-up of α -synuclein aggregates needs further investigations.

CALCIUM DYSREGULATION AND MITOCHONDRIA

ER represents the major Ca^{2+} storage organelle but other organelles also play important roles in cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis including mitochondria, Golgi apparatus, secretory vesicles, lysosomes, and peroxisomes (Rodriguez et al., 1997; Pinton et al., 1998; Mitchell et al., 2001; Saris and Carafoli, 2005; Rizzuto and Pozzan, 2006; Drago et al., 2008; Lasorsa et al., 2008). This suggests that α -synuclein aggregate-dependent stimulation of SERCA may affects the functionality of these organelles by the increased ER Ca²⁺-load and reduced cytosolic Ca²⁺ level.

Mitochondria has for long been considered a key player in PD pathogenesis as evidenced by their decreased complex 1 activity in PD patients (Schapira et al., 1989), the induction of a PD phenotype by the mitochondrial toxin MPTP (Langston et al., 1983), and the identification of mitochondria related PARK2 and PARK4 genes causing autosomal recessive PD (Kitada et al., 1998; Valente et al., 2004). Ca²⁺ influx into mitochondria is carried by diffusion through the voltage-dependent anion channel 1 (VDAC) in the outer mitochondrial membrane and through the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter (MCU) in the inner mitochondrial membrane (Bathori et al., 2006; Tan and Colombini, 2007). The efficiency of this process rely on the positioning of mitochondria in the proximity of the Ca²⁺-rich ER by means of mitochondrion-associated membrane (MAM) domains (Rizzuto et al., 2009). An estimate of up to 20% of the mitochondrial surface is in close proximity with the ER (Rizzuto et al., 1998) with a distance of 9-30 nm (Goetz and Nabi, 2006; Csordás et al., 2006). This correspond to the distance of protein complexes tethering the organellar membranes (Perkins et al., 1997). A tethering complex is formed between ER Ca^{2+} -channel, inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate receptor (IP3R) and VDAC1 in the mitochondria by the action of the chaperone GRP75 and this facilitates the flux of Ca^{2+} from ER into mitochondria.

¹https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/

Mitochondria are rich in the lipid cardiolipin that facilitates their α-synuclein binding (Nakamura et al., 2011), and MAM is rich in negatively charged phospholipids (Hayashi and Fujimoto, 2010) that also facilitates binding of α -synuclein (Davidson et al., 1998). The membrane binding ability of α -synuclein and localization to MAM is abolished in α -synuclein carrying the familial PD mutation A30P (Jensen et al., 1998; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014) and this is associated with decreased MAM activity and mitochondrial-ER interface (Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014). This suggests a physiological function of native *a*-synuclein in facilitating optimal ER-mitochondrial interactions. Aberrant forms of α-synuclein have been demonstrated to affects mitochondrial function by disrupting the Ca²⁺ traffic at ERmitochondrial interphases (Cali et al., 2012; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Raffaello et al., 2016) and to increase ER and mitochondrial stress (Smith et al., 2005; Colla et al., 2012; Melachroinou et al., 2013). This may be caused by direct interactions between aberrant α -synuclein forms and VDAC1 (McFarland et al., 2008; Martin et al., 2014; Betzer et al., 2015). However, the significance of these findings and if they only are active in certain species, cellular states and domains has been stressed by recent studies. Mouse neurons lacking a-synuclein alone and all three synuclein forms did not demonstrate significant changes to mitochondrial bioenergetics (Pathak et al., 2017) whereas human iPSC derived neurons expressing mutant α -synuclein displayed mitochondrial dysfunctions (Ryan et al., 2018). Hence, understanding the significance of α -synuclein species interactions with mitochondria and MAM and their relation to the Ca²⁺ homeostasis of the involved organelles needs further investigations.

α-SYNUCLEIN AND AXONAL DYSFUNCTIONS IN PD.

a-synuclein is predominantly a presynaptic protein and its intraneuronal aggregation is likely initiated at this site (Kramer and Schulz-Schaeffer, 2007), which make the axonal transport regulating its anterograde and retrograde transport of key importance. How α -synuclein aggregate dependent SERCA activation affects these processes are currently unknown, but the fundamental role of the Ca²⁺ content in the axonal ER makes a-synuclein aggregation in this compartment especially critical (de Juan-Sanz et al., 2017). Moreover, α-synuclein holds potential of affecting other axonal functions in PD. Axonal pathology is recognized in PD as swellings crowded with organelles shown by electron microscopic studies suggestive of compromised axonal flux (Vital et al., 2014). These finding are corroborated by kinetic analyses of axonally transported biomarkers in cerebrospinal fluids from PD patients (Fanara et al., 2012). The axonal accumulation of aggregated α -synuclein in small, larger granules, and extended inclusions is the defining characteristic of Lewy neurites (Braak et al., 1999) that also can contain other axonally transported cargo like β-synuclein (Galvin et al., 1999) and such abnormalities have also been modeled in α -synuclein transgenic mice (Games et al., 2013). The functional consequences of axonal α -synuclein aggregates are not clear, but transgenic

overexpression in neurons demonstrate dysfunctions in vesicle transport, e.g., of Rab7 containing endosomes (Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2014; Koch et al., 2015). α-synuclein containing axonal structures associate to both anterograde kinesin-labeled and retrograde dynein-labeled structures in neurons (Utton et al., 2005) and early reductions in kinesin levels preceded reductions reduction of tyrosine hydroxylase in the dopamine neurons (Chu et al., 2012). Hypothesizing α-synuclein aggregation predominantly initiates in the nerve terminals makes retrograde a-synuclein transport processes of pivotal importance for the clearance (Jensen et al., 1999; Bieri et al., 2018). The retrograde transport is generally considered as an active transport of endosomes and autophagosomes pulled along the microtubules by the dynein motor complex and the process has achieved increased interest because of its involvement in transport of signaling complexes from nerve terminals (Zahavi et al., 2017). α-Synuclein aggregates are able to directly target dynein complex components (Betzer et al., 2015) that may compromise retrograde transport and represent a basis for the accumulation of aggregated α -synuclein in Lewy neurites. However, α -synuclein may also affect other axonal mechanisms by e.g., directly affecting microtubule structures (Alim et al., 2004; Toba et al., 2017), and ER, and mitochondria, which both are organelles present in axons and nerve terminals (Gonzalez and Couve, 2014; Smith and Gallo, 2018). In PD, α-synuclein aggregates accumulate directly on ER (Colla et al., 2012) where they can activate SERCA (Betzer et al., 2018), but they can also bind the ER protein, VAPB (Betzer et al., 2015) thereby disrupting the ERmitochondria tethering and affecting ATP production (Paillusson et al., 2017). Mechanistic studies that will allow a prioritization of these many interactions and mechanisms are in high demand to allow identification of potential disease modifying targets.

ALZHEIMER DISEASE AND CALCIUM OVERLOAD OF THE ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM

The Ca²⁺-hypothesis has been widely embraced in the AD field where the moderate age-related Ca²⁺ remodeling is hypothesized to be pushed into severe Ca²⁺ signal remodeling by components of the amyloidogenic pathway central to AD (Berridge, 2010). Presenilins has turned out as central players in this model. Presenilins 1 and 2 are ER transmembrane proteins that regulate production of amyloidogenic Aß peptides and causes familial AD in families when mutated (Tolia and De Strooper, 2009). Presenilins are, like aggregated α -synuclein, activators of SERCA pumps (Green et al., 2008). This activity, which tend to increase ER Ca²⁺ levels, is balanced by the presenilins inherent function as low conductance Ca²⁺-leak channels that allows the Ca²⁺ ions to flow back into the cytosol (Tu et al., 2006). AD causing mutations in presenilin 1 blocks this Ca²⁺-leak activity thereby causing ER Ca²⁺-overload with detrimental effects on ER-dependent signaling affecting store operated Ca²⁺ entry (SOCE), expression of ryanodine receptors (RyR), and inositol trisphosphate receptors (IP3R) (Blalock et al., 2003; Emilsson et al., 2006; Bezprozvanny, 2009; Popugaeva and Bezprozvanny, 2014). This bears resemblance to the situation that we have described for α -synuclein aggregates. Their activation of SERCA will also tend to increase ER Ca²⁺load and may therefore share some of these neurobiological effects. It will be motivated in α -synuclein-aggregate dependent models to directly investigate if RyR. IP3R and SOCE functions are affected. SOCE has recently been demonstrated to play a central role in regulating the release probability in nerve terminals that are rich in α -synuclein (de Juan-Sanz et al., 2017).

HYPOTHESIS FOR NEURONAL DYSFUNCTIONS GENERATED BY α-SYNUCLEIN AGGREGATES STIMULATION OF SERCA

Aggregation of α -synuclein in neurons is a progressive process sculpted by the local concentration of α -synuclein, presence of prion-like α -synuclein seeds, and proteostatic balances. When early soluble aggregated α -synuclein species are formed, they will bind to and activate the SERCA pump in the ER. Blocking the α -synuclein aggregate dependent activation

REFERENCES

- Alim, M. A., Ma, Q. L., Takeda, K., Aizawa, T., Matsubara, M., Nakamura, M., et al. (2004). Demonstration of a role for alpha-synuclein as a functional microtubule-associated protein. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 6, 435–442; discussion 443– 449. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2004-6412
- Khachaturian, Z. S. (1994). Calcium hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease and brain aging. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 747, 1–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1994.tb44398.x
- Anderson, J. P., Walker, D. E., Goldstein, J. M., de Laat, R., Banducci, K., Caccavello, R. J., et al. (2006). Phosphorylation of Ser-129 is the dominant pathological modification of alpha-synuclein in familial and sporadic Lewy body disease. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 29739–29752. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M600933200
- Bading, H. (2013). Nuclear calcium signalling in the regulation of brain function. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 593–608. doi: 10.1038/nrn3531
- Bathori, G., Csordas, G., Garcia-Perez, C., Davies, E., and Hajnoczky, G. (2006). Ca2+-dependent control of the permeability properties of the mitochondrial outer membrane and voltage-dependent anion-selective channel (VDAC). *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 17347–17358. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M600906200
- Bean, B. P. (2007). Neurophysiology: stressful pacemaking. Nature 447, 1059–1060. doi: 10.1038/4471059a
- Becker, C., Jick, S. S., and Meier, C. R. (2008). Use of antihypertensives and the risk of Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 70, 1438–1444. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl. 0000303818.38960.44
- Berridge, M. J. (2010). Calcium hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Pflugers Arch.* 459, 441–449. doi: 10.1007/s00424-009-0736-1
- Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D., and Lipp, P. (1998). Calcium–a life and death signal. *Nature* 395, 645–648. doi: 10.1038/27094
- Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D., and Roderick, H. L. (2003). Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 4, 517–529. doi: 10.1038/nrm1155
- Berridge, M. J., Lipp, P., and Bootman, M. D. (2000). The versatility and universality of calcium signalling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 1, 11–21. doi: 10. 1038/35036035
- Betzer, C., Lassen, L. B., Olsen, A., Kofoed, R. H., Reimer, L., Gregersen, E., et al. (2018). Alpha-synuclein aggregates activate calcium pump SERCA leading to calcium dysregulation. *EMBO Rep.* 19:e44617. doi: 10.15252/embr.201744617
- Betzer, C., Movius, A. J., Shi, M., Gai, W. P., Zhang, J., and Jensen, P. H. (2015). Identification of synaptosomal proteins binding to monomeric and oligomeric alpha-synuclein. *PLoS One* 10:e0116473. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116473

by SERCA antagonists protected the affected neurons, thus demonstrating the existence of pivotal downstream signaling pathways. The ER is a dynamic organelle that permeates neurons from nerve terminals through axons, cell bodies into dendritic spines (Toresson and Grant, 2005) and this opens for several independent dysfunctions separated in space and time that contribute to the neurodegenerative process (Figure 1). Further insight into the contribution of SERCA-activated Ca²⁺ dysfunctions will open for novel mechanisms to counter the dysfunction associated to PD and other synucleinopathies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CB and PJ designed and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

The work was supported by the Lundbeck Foundation (Grant nos. R223-2015-4222 and R248-2016-2518), Danish Research Institute of Translational Neuroscience – Dandrite, and Aarhus University.

- Bezprozvanny, I. (2009). Calcium signaling and neurodegenerative diseases. Trends Mol. Med. 15, 89–100. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2009.01.001
- Bieri, G., Gitler, A. D., and Brahic, M. (2018). Internalization, axonal transport and release of fibrillar forms of alpha-synuclein. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 109, 219–225. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2017.03.007
- Blalock, E. M., Chen, K. C., Sharrow, K., Herman, J. P., Porter, N. M., Foster, T. C., et al. (2003). Gene microarrays in hippocampal aging: statistical profiling identifies novel processes correlated with cognitive impairment. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 3807–3819. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-09-03807.2003
- Bok, J., Wang, Q., Huang, J., and Green, S. H. (2007). CaMKII and CaMKIV mediate distinct prosurvival signaling pathways in response to depolarization in neurons. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 36, 13–26. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2007. 05.008
- Braak, H., Rub, U., Gai, W. P., and Del Tredici, K. (2003). Idiopathic Parkinson's disease: possible routes by which vulnerable neuronal types may be subject to neuroinvasion by an unknown pathogen. J. Neural. Transm. 110, 517–536. doi: 10.1007/s00702-002-0808-2
- Braak, H., Sandmann-Keil, D., Gai, W., and Braak, E. (1999). Extensive axonal Lewy neurites in Parkinson's disease: a novel pathological feature revealed by alpha-synuclein immunocytochemistry. *Neurosci. Lett.* 265, 67–69. doi: 10. 1016/S0304-3940(99)00208-6
- Braak, H., Sastre, M., and Del Tredici, K. (2007). Development of alpha-synuclein immunoreactive astrocytes in the forebrain parallels stages of intraneuronal pathology in sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 114, 231–241. doi: 10.1007/s00401-007-0244-3
- Cali, T., Ottolini, D., Negro, A., and Brini, M. (2012). alpha-Synuclein controls mitochondrial calcium homeostasis by enhancing endoplasmic reticulummitochondria interactions. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 17914–17929. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M111.302794
- Carreras-Sureda, A., Pihan, P., and Hetz, C. (2018). Calcium signaling at the endoplasmic reticulum: fine-tuning stress responses. *Cell Calcium* 70, 24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2017.08.004
- Chan, C. S., Guzman, J. N., Ilijic, E., Mercer, J. N., Rick, C., Tkatch, T., et al. (2007). 'Rejuvenation' protects neurons in mouse models of Parkinson's disease. *Nature* 447, 1081–1086. doi: 10.1038/nature05865
- Chartier-Harlin, M. C., Kachergus, J., Roumier, C., Mouroux, V., Douay, X., Lincoln, S., et al. (2004). Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 364, 1167–1169. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17103-1

- Chu, Y., Morfini, G. A., Langhamer, L. B., He, Y., Brady, S. T., and Kordower, J. H. (2012). Alterations in axonal transport motor proteins in sporadic and experimental Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 135, 2058–2073. doi: 10.1093/brain/ aws133
- Colla, E., Jensen, P. H., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J. C., Glabe, C., and Lee, M. K. (2012). Accumulation of toxic alpha-synuclein oligomer within endoplasmic reticulum occurs in alpha-synucleinopathy in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 3301–3305. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5368-11.2012
- Csordás, G., Renken, C., Várnai, P., Walter, L., Weaver, D., Buttle, K.F., et al. (2006). Structural and functional features and significance of the physical linkage between ER and mitochondria. *J. Cell Biol.* 174, 915–921. doi: 10.1083/jcb. 200604016
- Dally, S., Corvazier, E., Bredoux, R., Bobe, R., and Enouf, J. (2010). Multiple and diverse coexpression, location, and regulation of additional SERCA2 and SERCA3 isoforms in nonfailing and failing human heart. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 48, 633–644. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.11.012
- Davidson, W. S., Jonas, A., Clayton, D. F., and George, J. M. (1998). Stabilization of alpha-synuclein secondary structure upon binding to synthetic membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 9443–9449. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.16.9443
- de Juan-Sanz, J., Holt, G. T., Schreiter, E. R., de Juan, F., Kim, D. S., and Ryan, T. A. (2017). Axonal endoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+) content controls release probability in CNS nerve terminals. *Neuron* 93:e6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017. 01.010
- Devine, M. J., Gwinn, K., Singleton, A., and Hardy, J. (2011). Parkinson's disease and alpha-synuclein expression. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 2160–2168. doi: 10.1002/mds. 23948
- Drago, I., Giacomello, M., Pizzo, P., and Pozzan, T. (2008). Calcium dynamics in the peroxisomal lumen of living cells. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 14384–14390. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800600200
- Dryanovski, D. I., Guzman, J. N., Xie, Z., Galteri, D. J., Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Lee, V. M., et al. (2013). Calcium entry and alpha-synuclein inclusions elevate dendritic mitochondrial oxidant stress in dopaminergic neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 10154–10164. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5311-12.2013
- Emilsson, L., Saetre, P., and Jazin, E. (2006). Alzheimer's disease: mRNA expression profiles of multiple patients show alterations of genes involved with calcium signaling. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 21, 618–625. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2005.09.004
- Eroglu, C., and Barres, B. A. (2010). Regulation of synaptic connectivity by glia. *Nature* 468, 223–231. doi: 10.1038/nature09612
- Fanara, P., Wong, P. Y., Husted, K. H., Liu, S., Liu, V. M., Kohlstaedt, L. A., et al. (2012). Cerebrospinal fluid-based kinetic biomarkers of axonal transport in monitoring neurodegeneration. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 3159–3169. doi: 10.1172/ JCI64575
- Franklin, J. L., Sanz-Rodriguez, C., Juhasz, A., Deckwerth, T. L., and Johnson, E. M Jr. (1995). Chronic depolarization prevents programmed death of sympathetic neurons in vitro but does not support growth: requirement for Ca2+ influx but not Trk activation. J. Neurosci. 15, 643–664. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.15-01-00643.1995
- Gai, W. P., Power, J. H., Blumbergs, P. C., and Blessing, W. W. (1998). Multiplesystem atrophy: a new alpha-synuclein disease? *Lancet* 352, 547–548. doi: 10. 1016/S0140-6736(05)79256-4
- Gai, W. P., Yuan, H. X., Li, X. Q., Power, J. T., Blumbergs, P. C., and Jensen, P. H. (2000). In situ and in vitro study of colocalization and segregation of alphasynuclein, ubiquitin, and lipids in Lewy bodies. *Exp. Neurol.* 166, 324–333. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2000.7527
- Galvin, J. E., Uryu, K., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (1999). Axon pathology in Parkinson's disease and Lewy body dementia hippocampus contains alpha-, beta-, and gamma-synuclein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 13450–13455. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.23.13450
- Games, D., Seubert, P., Rockenstein, E., Patrick, C., Trejo, M., Ubhi, K., et al. (2013). Axonopathy in an alpha-synuclein transgenic model of Lewy body disease is associated with extensive accumulation of C-terminal-truncated alpha-synuclein. Am. J. Pathol. 182, 940–953. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.11.018
- Goetz, J. G., and Nabi, I. R. (2006). Interaction of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 34, 370–373. doi: 10.1042/ BST0340370
- Gonzalez, C., and Couve, A. (2014). The axonal endoplasmic reticulum and protein trafficking: cellular bootlegging south of the soma. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 27, 23–31. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2013.12.004

- Green, K. N., Demuro, A., Akbari, Y., Hitt, B. D., Smith, I. F., Parker, I., et al. (2008). SERCA pump activity is physiologically regulated by presenilin and regulates amyloid beta production. *J. Gen. Physiol.* 132, 1107–1116. doi: 10. 1085/JGP13220IA1
- Guardia-Laguarta, C., Area-Gomez, E., Rub, C., Liu, Y., Magrane, J., Becker, D., et al. (2014). alpha-Synuclein is localized to mitochondria-associated ER membranes. J. Neurosci. 34, 249–259. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2507-13.2014
- Guerrero-Ferreira, R., Taylor, N. M., Mona, D., Ringler, P., Lauer, M. E., Riek, R., et al. (2018). Cryo-EM structure of alpha-synuclein fibrils. *bioRxiv* 7:e36402. doi: 10.7554/eLife.36402
- Hardingham, G. E. (2009). Coupling of the NMDA receptor to neuroprotective and neurodestructive events. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 37, 1147–1160. doi: 10.1042/ BST0371147
- Hardingham, G. E., Fukunaga, Y., and Bading, H. (2002). Extrasynaptic NMDARs oppose synaptic NMDARs by triggering CREB shut-off and cell death pathways. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 405–414. doi: 10.1038/nn835
- Hayashi, T., and Fujimoto, M. (2010). Detergent-resistant microdomains determine the localization of sigma-1 receptors to the endoplasmic reticulummitochondria junction. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 77, 517–528. doi: 10.1124/mol.109. 062539
- Hurley, M. J., Brandon, B., Gentleman, S. M., and Dexter, D. T. (2013). Parkinson's disease is associated with altered expression of CaV1 channels and calciumbinding proteins. *Brain* 136, 2077–2097. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt134
- Jensen, P. H., Li, J. Y., Dahlstrom, A., and Dotti, C. G. (1999). Axonal transport of synucleins is mediated by all rate components. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 3369–3376. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00754.x
- Jensen, P. H., Nielsen, M. S., Jakes, R., Dotti, C. G., and Goedert, M. (1998). Binding of alpha-synuclein to brain vesicles is abolished by familial Parkinson's disease mutation. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 26292–26294. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.41.26292
- Khachaturian, Z. S. (1984). "Towards theories of brain aging," in *Handbook of Studies on Psychiatry and Old Age*, eds D. S. Kay and G. W. Burrows (Amsterdam: Elsevier).
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., et al. (1998). Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* 392, 605–608. doi: 10.1038/33416
- Koch, J. C., Bitow, F., Haack, J., d'Hedouville, Z., Zhang, J. N., Tonges, L., et al. (2015). Alpha-Synuclein affects neurite morphology, autophagy, vesicle transport and axonal degeneration in CNS neurons. *Cell Death Dis.* 6:e1811. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.169
- Kragh, C. L., Fillon, G., Gysbers, A., Hansen, H. D., Neumann, M., Richter-Landsberg, C., et al. (2013). FAS-dependent cell death in alpha-synuclein transgenic oligodendrocyte models of multiple system atrophy. *PLoS One* 8:e55243. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055243
- Kragh, C. L., Gysbers, A. M., Rockenstein, E., Murphy, K., Halliday, G. M., Masliah, E., et al. (2014). Prodegenerative IkappaBalpha expression in oligodendroglial alpha-synuclein models of multiple system atrophy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 63, 171–183. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2013.12.002
- Kragh, C. L., Lund, L. B., Febbraro, F., Hansen, H. D., Gai, W. P., El-Agnaf, O., et al. (2009). Alpha-synuclein aggregation and Ser-129 phosphorylation-dependent cell death in oligodendroglial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 10211–10222. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M809671200
- Kramer, M. L., and Schulz-Schaeffer, W. J. (2007). Presynaptic alpha-synuclein aggregates, not Lewy bodies, cause neurodegeneration in dementia with Lewy bodies. J. Neurosci. 27, 1405–1410. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4564-06.2007
- Langston, J. W., Ballard, P., Tetrud, J. W., and Irwin, I. (1983). Chronic Parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis. *Science* 219, 979–980. doi: 10.1126/science.6823561
- Lasorsa, F. M., Pinton, P., Palmieri, L., Scarcia, P., Rottensteiner, H., Rizzuto, R., et al. (2008). Peroxisomes as novel players in cell calcium homeostasis. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 15300–15308. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800648200
- Lassen, L. B., Gregersen, E., Isager, A. K., Betzer, C., Kofoed, R. H., and Jensen, P. H. (2018). ELISA method to detect alpha-synuclein oligomers in cell and animal models. *PLoS One* 13:e0196056. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0196056
- Lee, B., Butcher, G. Q., Hoyt, K. R., Impey, S., and Obrietan, K. (2005). Activitydependent neuroprotection and cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB): kinase coupling, stimulus intensity, and temporal regulation of CREB phosphorylation at serine 133. J. Neurosci. 25, 1137–1148. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4288-04.2005

- Lindersson, E., Beedholm, R., Hojrup, P., Moos, T., Gai, W., Hendil, K. B., et al. (2004). Proteasomal inhibition by alpha-synuclein filaments and oligomers. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 12924–12934. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M306390200
- Lindersson, E., Lundvig, D., Petersen, C., Madsen, P., Nyengaard, J. R., Hojrup, P., et al. (2005). p25alpha Stimulates alpha-synuclein aggregation and is colocalized with aggregated alpha-synuclein in alpha-synucleinopathies. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 5703–5715. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M410409200
- Mao, X., Ou, M. T., Karuppagounder, S. S., Kam, T. I., Yin, X., Xiong, Y., et al. (2016). Pathological alpha-synuclein transmission initiated by binding lymphocyte-activation gene 3. *Science* 353:aah3374. doi: 10.1126/science. aah3374
- Mao, Z., Bonni, A., Xia, F., Nadal-Vicens, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (1999). Neuronal activity-dependent cell survival mediated by transcription factor MEF2. Science 286, 785–790. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5440.785
- Martin, L. J., Semenkow, S., Hanaford, A., and Wong, M. (2014). Mitochondrial permeability transition pore regulates Parkinson's disease development in mutant alpha-synuclein transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1132–1152. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.11.008
- McFarland, M. A., Ellis, C. E., Markey, S. P., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2008). Proteomics analysis identifies phosphorylation-dependent alpha-synuclein protein interactions. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 7, 2123–2137. doi: 10.1074/mcp. M800116-MCP200
- Melachroinou, K., Xilouri, M., Emmanouilidou, E., Masgrau, R., Papazafiri, P., Stefanis, L., et al. (2013). Deregulation of calcium homeostasis mediates secreted alpha-synuclein-induced neurotoxicity. *Neurobiol. Aging* 34, 2853–2865. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.06.006
- Miller, A. L., Prieskorn, D. M., Altschuler, R. A., and Miller, J. M. (2003). Mechanism of electrical stimulation-induced neuroprotection: effects of verapamil on protection of primary auditory afferents. *Brain Res.* 966, 218–230. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(02)04170-7
- Mitchell, K. J., Pinton, P., Varadi, A., Tacchetti, C., Ainscow, E. K., Pozzan, T., et al. (2001). Dense core secretory vesicles revealed as a dynamic Ca(2+) store in neuroendocrine cells with a vesicle-associated membrane protein aequorin chimaera. J. Cell. Biol. 155, 41–51. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200103145
- Nakamura, K., Nemani, V. M., Azarbal, F., Skibinski, G., Levy, J. M., Egami, K., et al. (2011). Direct membrane association drives mitochondrial fission by the Parkinson disease-associated protein alpha-synuclein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 20710–20726. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.213538
- Paillusson, S., Gomez-Suaga, P., Stoica, R., Little, D., Gissen, P., Devine, M. J., et al. (2017). alpha-Synuclein binds to the ER-mitochondria tethering protein VAPB to disrupt Ca(2+) homeostasis and mitochondrial ATP production. *Acta Neuropathol.* 134, 129–149. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1704-z
- Papadia, S., Stevenson, P., Hardingham, N. R., Bading, H., and Hardingham, G. E. (2005). Nuclear Ca2+ and the cAMP response element-binding protein family mediate a late phase of activity-dependent neuroprotection. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 4279–4287. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5019-04.2005
- Pasternak, B., Svanstrom, H., Nielsen, N. M., Fugger, L., Melbye, M., and Hviid, A. (2012). Use of calcium channel blockers and Parkinson's disease. Am. J. Epidemiol. 175, 627–635. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr362
- Pathak, D., Berthet, A., Bendor, J. T., Yu, K., Sellnow, R. C., Orr, A. L., et al. (2017). Loss of alpha-Synuclein Does Not Affect Mitochondrial Bioenergetics in Rodent Neurons. *eNeuro* 4:LENEURO.0216-16.2017. doi: 10.1523/ENEURO.0216-16. 2017
- Peng, C., Gathagan, R. J., Covell, D. J., Medellin, C., Stieber, A., Robinson, J. L., et al. (2018). Cellular milieu imparts distinct pathological alpha-synuclein strains in alpha-synucleinopathies. *Nature* 557, 558–563. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0104-4
- Perkins, G., Renken, C., Martone, M. E., Young, S. J., Ellisman, M., and Frey, T. (1997). Electron tomography of neuronal mitochondria: three-dimensional structure and organization of cristae and membrane contacts. *J. Struct. Biol.* 119, 260–272. doi: 10.1006/jsbi.1997.3885
- Pinton, P., Pozzan, T., and Rizzuto, R. (1998). The Golgi apparatus is an inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-sensitive Ca2+ store, with functional properties distinct from those of the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO J.* 17, 5298–5308. doi: 10.1093/ emboj/17.18.5298
- Popugaeva, E., and Bezprozvanny, I. (2014). Can the calcium hypothesis explain synaptic loss in Alzheimer's disease? *Neurodegener. Dis.* 13, 139–141. doi: 10. 1159/000354778

- Primeau, J. O., Armanious, G. P., Fisher, M. E., and Young, H. S. (2018). The sarcoendoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase. *Subcell. Biochem.* 87, 229–258. doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-7757-9_8
- Puopolo, M., Raviola, E., and Bean, B. P. (2007). Roles of subthreshold calcium current and sodium current in spontaneous firing of mouse midbrain dopamine neurons. J. Neurosci. 27, 645–656. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4341-06.2007
- Raffaello, A., Mammucari, C., Gherardi, G., and Rizzuto, R. (2016). Calcium at the center of cell signaling: interplay between endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria, and Lysosomes. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 41, 1035–1049. doi: 10. 1016/j.tibs.2016.09.001
- Ritz, B., Rhodes, S. L., Qian, L., Schernhammer, E., Olsen, J. H., and Friis, S. (2010). L-type calcium channel blockers and Parkinson disease in Denmark. *Ann. Neurol.* 67, 600–606. doi: 10.1002/ana.21937
- Rizzuto, R., Marchi, S., Bonora, M., Aguiari, P., Bononi, A., De Stefani, D., et al. (2009). Ca(2+) transfer from the ER to mitochondria: when, how and why. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1787, 1342–1351. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.03.015
- Rizzuto, R., Pinton, P., Carrington, W., Fay, F. S., Fogarty, K. E., Lifshitz, L. M., et al. (1998). Close contacts with the endoplasmic reticulum as determinants of mitochondrial Ca2+ responses. *Science* 280, 1763–1766. doi: 10.1126/science. 280.5370.1763
- Rizzuto, R., and Pozzan, T. (2006). Microdomains of intracellular Ca2+: molecular determinants and functional consequences. *Physiol. Rev.* 86, 369–408. doi: 10. 1152/physrev.00004.2005
- Rodriguez, A., Webster, P., Ortego, J., and Andrews, N. W. (1997). Lysosomes behave as Ca2+-regulated exocytic vesicles in fibroblasts and epithelial cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 137, 93–104. doi: 10.1083/jcb.137.1.93
- Ryan, T., Bamm, V. V., Stykel, M. G., Coackley, C. L., Humphries, K. M., Jamieson-Williams, R., et al. (2018). Cardiolipin exposure on the outer mitochondrial membrane modulates alpha-synuclein. *Nat. Commun.* 9:817. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-018-03241-9
- Saris, N. E., and Carafoli, E. (2005). A historical review of cellular calcium handling, with emphasis on mitochondria. *Biochemistry* 70, 187–194.
- Schapira, A. H., Cooper, J. M., Dexter, D., Jenner, P., Clark, J. B., and Marsden, C. D. (1989). Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 1:1269. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(89)92366-0
- Scott, B. S., and Fisher, K. C. (1970). Potassium concentration and number of neurons in cultures of dissociated ganglia. *Exp. Neurol.* 27, 16–22. doi: 10.1016/ 0014-4886(70)90197-4
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., et al. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302:841. doi: 10.1126/science.1090278
- Smith, G. M., and Gallo, G. (2018). The role of mitochondria in axon development and regeneration. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 78, 221–237. doi: 10.1002/dneu.22546
- Smith, W. W., Jiang, H., Pei, Z., Tanaka, Y., Morita, H., Sawa, A., et al. (2005). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial cell death pathways mediate A53T mutant alpha-synuclein-induced toxicity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 3801– 3811. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi396
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Cairns, N. J., Lantos, P. L., and Goedert, M. (1998). Filamentous alpha-synuclein inclusions link multiple system atrophy with Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *Neurosci. Lett.* 251, 205–208. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(98)00504-7
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., and Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388, 839–840. doi: 10.1038/42166
- Surmeier, D. J. (2007). Calcium, ageing, and neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 6, 933–938. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70246-6
- Surmeier, D. J., Obeso, J. A., and Halliday, G. M. (2017). Selective neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 101–113. doi: 10. 1038/nrn.2016.178
- Surmeier, D. J., and Schumacker, P. T. (2013). Calcium, bioenergetics, and neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 10736–10741. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.R112.410530
- Takemiya, T., and Yamagata, K. (2013). Intercellular signaling pathway among Endothelia, astrocytes and neurons in excitatory neuronal damage. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 8345–8357. doi: 10.3390/ijms14048345
- Tan, W., and Colombini, M. (2007). VDAC closure increases calcium ion flux. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768, 2510–2515. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.06.002

- Toba, S., Jin, M., Yamada, M., Kumamoto, K., Matsumoto, S., Yasunaga, T., et al. (2017). Alpha-synuclein facilitates to form short unconventional microtubules that have a unique function in the axonal transport. *Sci. Rep.* 7:16386. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15575-3
- Tolia, A., and De Strooper, B. (2009). Structure and function of gamma-secretase. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 211–218. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2008.10.007
- Toresson, H., and Grant, S. G. (2005). Dynamic distribution of endoplasmic reticulum in hippocampal neuron dendritic spines. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 22, 1793– 1798. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04342.x
- Tu, H., Nelson, O., Bezprozvanny, A., Wang, Z., Lee, S. F., Hao, Y. H., et al. (2006). Presenilins form ER Ca2+ leak channels, a function disrupted by familial Alzheimer's disease-linked mutations. *Cell* 126, 981–993. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2006.06.059
- Tuttle, M. D., Comellas, G., Nieuwkoop, A. J., Covell, D. J., Berthold, D. A., Kloepper, K. D., et al. (2016). Solid-state NMR structure of a pathogenic fibril of full-length human alpha-synuclein. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 23, 409–415. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.3194
- Uhlen, M., Fagerberg, L., Hallstrom, B. M., Lindskog, C., Oksvold, P., Mardinoglu, A., et al. (2015). Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science* 347:1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419
- Utton, M. A., Noble, W. J., Hill, J. E., Anderton, B. H., and Hanger, D. P. (2005). Molecular motors implicated in the axonal transport of tau and alphasynuclein. J. Cell Sci. 118, 4645–4654. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02558
- Vaikath, N. N., Majbour, N. K., Paleologou, K. E., Ardah, M. T., van Dam, E., van de Berg, W. D., et al. (2015). Generation and characterization of novel conformation-specific monoclonal antibodies for alpha-synuclein pathology. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 79, 81–99. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.04.009
- Valente, E. M., Salvi, S., Ialongo, T., Marongiu, R., Elia, A. E., Caputo, V., et al. (2004). PINK1 mutations are associated with sporadic early-onset parkinsonism. *Ann. Neurol.* 56, 336–341. doi: 10.1002/ana.20256
- Vital, A., Meissner, W. G., Canron, M. H., Martin-Negrier, M. L., Bezard, E., Tison, F., et al. (2014). Intra-axonal protein aggregation in the peripheral nervous system. *J Peripher. Nerv. Syst.* 19, 44–49. doi: 10.1111/jns5.12056

- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Gamble, K. L., Schultheiss, C. E., Riddle, D. M., West, A. B., and Lee, V. M. (2014). Formation of alpha-synuclein Lewy neurite-like aggregates in axons impedes the transport of distinct endosomes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 4010–4023. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-02-0741
- Wang, Q. C., Zheng, Q., Tan, H., Zhang, B., Li, X., Yang, Y., et al. (2016). TMCO1 is an ER Ca(2+) load-activated Ca(2+) channel. *Cell* 165, 1454–1466. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.051
- Wilson, C. J., and Callaway, J. C. (2000). Coupled oscillator model of the dopaminergic neuron of the substantia nigra. J. Neurophysiol. 83, 3084–3100. doi: 10.1152/jn.2000.83.5.3084
- Wuytack, F., Raeymaekers, L., and Missiaen, L. (2002). Molecular physiology of the SERCA and SPCA pumps. *Cell Calcium* 32, 279–305. doi: 10.1016/ S0143416002001847
- Zahavi, E. E., Maimon, R., and Perlson, E. (2017). Spatial-specific functions in retrograde neuronal signalling. *Traffic* 18, 415–424. doi: 10.1111/tra.12487
- Zeng, X. S., Geng, W. S., Jia, J. J., Chen, L., and Zhang, P. P. (2018). Cellular and molecular basis of neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:109. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00109
- Zhang, S. J., Steijaert, M. N., Lau, D., Schutz, G., Delucinge-Vivier, C., Descombes, P., et al. (2007). Decoding NMDA receptor signaling: identification of genomic programs specifying neuronal survival and death. *Neuron* 53, 549–562. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.01.025

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Betzer and Jensen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Could α-Synuclein Modulation of Insulin and Dopamine Identify a Novel Link Between Parkinson's Disease and Diabetes as Well as Potential Therapies?

Guadalupe Vidal-Martinez, Barbara Yang, Javier Vargas-Medrano and Ruth G. Perez*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Center of Emphasis in Neurosciences, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Paul L. Foster School of Medicine, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center El Paso, El Paso, TX, United States

Characterizing the normal function(s) of the protein α -Synuclein (aSyn) has the potential to illuminate links between Parkinson's disease (PD) and diabetes and also point the way toward new therapies for these disorders. Here we provide a perspective for consideration based on our discovery that aSyn normally acts to inhibit insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cells by interacting with the Kir6.2 subunit of the ATPsensitive potassium channel (K-ATP). It is also known that K-ATP channels act to inhibit brain dopamine secretion, and we have also shown that aSyn is a normal inhibitor of dopamine synthesis. The finding, that aSyn modulates Kir6.2 and other proteins involved in dopamine and insulin secretion, suggests that aSyn interacting proteins may be negatively impacted when aSyn aggregates inside cells, whether in brain or pancreas. Furthermore, identifying therapies for PD that can counteract dysfunction found in diabetes, would be highly beneficial. One such compound may be the multiple sclerosis drug, FTY720, which like aSyn can stimulate the activity of the catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2Ac) as well as insulin secretion. In aging aSyn transgenic mice given long term oral FTY720, the mice had reduced aSyn pathology and increased levels of the protective molecule, brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Vidal-Martinez et al., 2016). In collaboration with medicinal chemists, we made two nonimmunosuppressive FTY720s that also enhance PP2Ac activity, and BDNF expression (Vargas-Medrano et al., 2014; Enoru et al., 2016; Segura-Ulate et al., 2017a). FTY720 and our novel FTY720-based-derivatives, may thus have therapeutic potential for both diabetes and PD.

OPEN ACCESS Edited by:

Yunjong Lee, Sungkyunkwan University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Ali Keshavarzian, Rush University, United States Xiaobo Mao, Johns Hopkins University, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Ruth G. Perez ruth.g.perez@ttuhsc.edu; 47rgperez@gmail.com

Received: 19 October 2018 Accepted: 30 November 2018 Published: 21 December 2018

Citation:

Vidal-Martinez G, Yang B, Vargas-Medrano J and Perez RG (2018) Could α-Synuclein Modulation of Insulin and Dopamine Identify a Novel Link Between Parkinson's Disease and Diabetes as Well as Potential Therapies? Front. Mol. Neurosci. 11:465. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00465 Keywords: alpha-synuclein, dopamine, insulin, Kir6.2, LAG3, Parkinson's disease, type 2 diabetes

We and others have shown that aSyn protein has important normal functions that are associated with its ability to interact with other molecules in a chaperone-like manner (Jenco et al., 1998; Jensen et al., 1999; Ostrerova et al., 1999; Jo et al., 2000; Murphy et al., 2000; Souza et al., 2000; Hashimoto et al., 2002; Seo et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2004; Acosta-Martinez and Levine, 2007; Martinez et al., 2007; Klegeris et al., 2008; Gorbatyuk et al., 2010b; Aoki and Li, 2011; Jin et al., 2011; Oaks and Sidhu, 2011; Bartels et al., 2014; Lautenschläger et al., 2018). Over the years, our laboratory has identified several aSyn-interacting proteins and organelles. These include: tyrosine hydroxylase, also called tyrosine 3-monooxygenase (EC 1.14.16.2) (TH), the rate limiting dopamine biosynthetic enzyme that localizes on vesicles and mitochondria with aSyn (Perez et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2007; Alerte et al., 2008); the next enzyme in the dopamine biosynthetic pathway, aromatic amino acid decarboxylase, AADC, also called dopa decarboxylase (Tehranian et al., 2006); the catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2Ac) (Peng et al., 2005; Lou et al., 2010); and the 14-3-3ζ adapter protein, which also localize to mitochondria to help regulate dopamine synthesis at that organelle (Wang et al., 2009).

With normal aSyn function(s) in mind and knowing that aSyn normally interacts with and regulates many other molecules, we long ago hypothesized that a loss of aSyn function could be especially detrimental to dopaminergic neurons in a manner to contribute to nigral PD pathology (Perez and Hastings, 2004; Porras and Perez, 2014). We have tested this hypothesis in multiple models over the years. These include using aSyn lentivirus in mice, brains from familial PD and Dementia with Lewy Bodies (DLB) subjects, cell free assays, and aSyn transgenic mice where we confirmed that TH and PP2A activities become dysregulated when aSyn aggregates (Alerte et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2012; Farrell et al., 2014). This demonstrates an important normal role for soluble aSyn in the regulation of key aSyn-interacting molecules. Others have also shown that sustaining normal aSyn levels contributes significantly to neuronal viability, further solidifying a major role for soluble aSyn in optimal brain health (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010a; Kanaan and Manfredsson, 2012; Benskey et al., 2016; Collier et al., 2016).

A lesser known function of aSyn is our discovery that the protein is highly expressed in pancreatic beta cells where it interacts with Kir6.2 on insulin secretory granules, acting to downregulate insulin secretion (Geng et al., 2011). In data from co-immunoprecipitation experiments we show that aSyn and Kir6.2 interact with each other in the pancreas and in islet cell cultures, as can be appreciated in **Figure 1**. The methods used for these experiments are detailed in our figure legend. In this same paper, striking immunohistochemical images generated by Drs. Geng and Drain confirm near perfect overlapping localization of aSyn not only with Kir6.2, but also with Sur1, Insulin, and C peptide in beta cells (Geng et al., 2011).

The aSyn/Kir6.2 interaction becomes more intriguing because in brain, neuronal Kir6.2 is found in axons and dendrites (Patel et al., 2011; Trimmer, 2015) where it plays an active role in the downregulation of dopamine secretion (Avshalumov and Rice, 2003; Bao et al., 2005; Shi et al., 2008; Patel et al., 2011; Trimmer, 2015). It remains unknown if Kir6.2 and aSyn interact and colocalize on neurotransmitter secretory vesicles in a manner to downregulate dopamine secretion similar to its effects on Kir6.2 in insulin secretory granules. Still, this possibility and other cumulative findings lead us to propose that a loss of aSyn/Kir6.2 interactions that may occur when aSyn aggregates could produce over-secretion of insulin and dopamine, although this remains largely unexplored. This possibility has further implications because there are multiple emerging lines of evidence supporting links between type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and PD comorbidity (Hu et al., 2007; Driver et al., 2008; Cereda et al., 2011, 2013; Palacios et al., 2011; Schernhammer et al., 2011; Kotagal et al., 2012; Aviles-Olmos et al., 2013; Santiago and Potashkin, 2013; Marcelo et al., 2014; Zhang and Tian, 2014; Santiago et al., 2017; Foltynie et al., 2018), as has been recently been confirmed (De Pablo-Fernandez et al., 2018).

In this regard, protein misfolding and insulin resistance are common to both T2DM and PD (Athauda and Foltynie, 2016). In diabetes, this protein misfolding implicates the islet amyloid polypeptide protein (IAPP, also known as amylin), which is a short peptide that is packaged and secreted along with insulin from pancreatic beta cells (Moore and Cooper, 1991). IAPP/amylin plays a role in glycemic regulation and is known to adopt abnormal conformations that can permeabilize synthetic vesicles in a pore-like manner akin to findings for aSyn protein (Anguiano et al., 2002). This has led some to propose that IAPP/amylin oligomers may act in a prion-like manner in the pancreatic islet cells of diabetics to spur disease onset and/or progression, as some data tend to support (Mukherjee et al., 2015, 2017). In addition, cross-seeding of aSyn and IAPP/amylin has been shown to accelerate the aggregation of both of these aggregation prone proteins (Horvath and Wittung-Stafshede, 2016), raising the possibility that aSyn may accumulate among the amyloids in pancreatic beta cells. This was recently confirmed in pancreatic tissues from subjects with synucleinopathies (Martinez-Valbuena et al., 2018). In addition, there is evidence that in nigral dopamine neurons of individuals with idiopathic/sporadic PD, there is a dysregulation of miR-126, a microRNA involved in the regulation of insulin/IGF-1/phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling (Kim et al., 2014; Briggs et al., 2015). Further, it is well-appreciated that insulin signaling contributes significantly to normal brain function and becomes dysregulated in neurodegeneration (Bomfim et al., 2012; Bamji-Mirza et al., 2014; Gao et al., 2015). Together these findings provide strong support for an association between T2DM and PD in which aSyn may play a pivotal role.

It is well-established that aSyn misfolding contributes to PD as well as to other synucleinopathies, such as DLB and multiple system atrophy (MSA) (Galvin et al., 2001; Goedert, 2001; Trojanowski and Lee, 2003). It has further been shown that aSyn oligomerization, to form preformed fibrils (PFF), can induce a prion-like spread of aSyn and cell death in PD models (Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2011, 2014; Dryanovski et al., 2013; Polinski et al., 2018). Also, aSyn PFF uptake *in vitro* and *in vivo* is modulated specifically by the LAG3 receptor, which has been shown to contribute to pathological aSyn transmission (Mao et al., 2016). Moreover, LAG3 has also been implicated in autoimmune diabetes (Bettini et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2017), providing further evidence for potential overlap between diabetes and PD.

It is also becoming accepted that aSyn plays a role in inducing innate and adaptive immunity in PD (Allen Reish and Standaert, 2015), arising, at least in part, by aSyn activating microglial



FIGURE 1 [Co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) of Kir6.2 with aSyn from pancreas (**A**) and from pancreatic islet cell cultures (**B**,**C**). (**A**) Anti-aSyn antibody (BD Biosciences, Cat # BD610787) was used to immunoprecipitate aSyn protein from mouse pancreatic tissue extracts. Immunocomplexes are characterized on immunoblots using anti-Kir6.2 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Cat # sc-11228) and anti-aSyn (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Cat # sc-7011-R) antibodies. Equivalent aliquots of the initial input of each extract (Input) were analyzed. Homogenates in which secondary antibody only was used (SO-IP) served as a negative control. Both aSyn and Kir6.2 were co-immunoprecipitated with the anti-aSyn antibody (Syn Co-IP). (**B**) Binding interactions between Kir6.2 and aSyn are also seen in a representative Co-IP experiment using mouse islet cells grown in culture. Immunoblots were reacted with anti-aSyn antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Cat # sc-7011-R; in **B** and **C**, bottom panel) or anti-Kir6.2 and using an cruz Biotechnology, Cat # sc-20809, H55; in **B** and **C**, top panel). Both Kir6.2 and aSyn are present on immunoblots in initial homogenates (Input), and were enriched after anti-aSyn antibody Co-IP (Syn-1, BD 610787; Syn IP). Specificity was confirmed using pre-adsorbed Syn-1 antibody (Pre), which efficiently reduced levels of protein that were co-immunoprecipitated. (**C**) Binding interactions between Kir6.2 and aSyn are also show the presence of Kir6.2 and aSyn in the initial homogenate (Input) as well as in the Co-IP performed using the anti-Kir6.2 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Cat # sc-20809, H55; Kir6.2 IP), with specificity demonstrated in a Co-IP using pre-immune serve + beads (Pre). Molecular weights, determined from pre-stained standards, are shown on the left. Data from Geng et al. (2011) reprinted with permission obtained from the Copyright Clearance Center.

cells, which stimulates neuroimmunity (Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2013). A role for aSyn in metabolism has also been reported in the Thy1 promoter parkinsonian A53T mice, where aSyn pathology was found to drive metabolic abnormalities in that PD model (Rothman et al., 2014). Inflammation and activated innate immunity have been shown to play a role in the pathogenesis of T2DM (Pickup, 2004) and inflammation is known to be common in diabetes and other metabolic disorders (Hotamisligil et al., 1993; Zhong et al., 2017). Based on these findings, it thus would be prudent to evaluate parkinsonian mouse models for potential overlapping pathology related to PD and T2DM.

First described by James Parkinson in the early 1800s, it is remarkable to find that in his initial description of the disorder that was later named after him, he was among the first to suggest that the "shaking palsy" may be caused by "compression of the brain, or dependent on *partial exhaustion of the energy of that organ*" (Parkinson, 2002). This suggests that Parkinson himself had anticipated a potential role for metabolic dysregulation in brain as contributing to the disease pathology. Yet, even 200 years later the scientific community continues to search to identify the cause for PD and for successful therapies that will counteract PD pathology.

In our search to identify protective therapies for PD, we began studying FTY720 (fingolimod, Gilenya), a Food and Drug Administration approved therapy for the demyelinating brain disorder, multiple sclerosis (Brinkmann et al., 2010).

We first evaluated FTY720 based on its ability to stimulate PP2A activity (Oaks et al., 2013; Vargas-Medrano et al., 2014). This is because our research had revealed that aSyn is a normal stimulator of PP2A catalytic subunit activity (Peng et al., 2005), and that PP2A activity is significantly diminished in vivo if aSyn becomes insoluble and accumulates in Lewy bodies (Wu et al., 2012; Farrell et al., 2014). Later, others showed that FTY720 stimulates the expression of the protective molecule BDNF in vitro and in vivo (Deogracias et al., 2012). Thus, we began testing FTY720 in aging parkinsonian aSyn A53T transgenic mice and found that the mice not only tolerate long term FTY720 treatment, but also have behavioral improvement, increased BDNF expression, and reduced Lewy body-like aSyn pathology when compared to transgenic littermates treated with a vehicle control solution (Vidal-Martinez et al., 2016). In control experiments Vidal-Martinez et al. (2016) also show that blocking BDNF signaling accelerates aSyn aggregation that is reversed by co-delivering FTY720 with the TrkB blocker, ANA-12. Moreover, in addition to being able to improve both glial and neuronal cell functions (Balatoni et al., 2007; Miron et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2012; Vargas-Medrano et al., 2014; Cipriani et al., 2015; Segura-Ulate et al., 2017b), FTY720 has been shown to have potent anti-diabetic activity including an ability to stimulate insulin secretion (Fu et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2003; Kendall and Hupfeld, 2008; Zhao et al., 2012; Moon et al., 2013). Remarkably, insulin itself can stimulate dopamine release (Stouffer et al., 2015; Sulzer et al., 2016), confirming related effects on insulin and dopamine in brain and pancreas that are highly relevant to PD and T2DM. In addition, there is compelling evidence that dopamine itself is produced within beta cells of the human pancreas, where it becomes packaged along with insulin and acts to negatively regulate insulin secretion (Simpson et al., 2012). Future studies will be required to determine if aSyn binding to Kir6.2 occurs in brain to modulate dopamine similarly to its effects on insulin release. Additional studies to assess potential benefits of our novel FTY720-derivative compounds in pancreatic beta cells and neurons are also required. Cumulatively, the findings concerning the comorbidity of diabetes with PD, and the overlapping interactions between aSyn and key regulatory molecules in brain and pancreas open the door to further explore potential novel therapies that may benefit both disorders that affect a large percentage of our rapidly aging population, worldwide.

REFERENCES

- Acosta-Martinez, M., and Levine, J. E. (2007). Regulation of KATP channel subunit gene expression by hyperglycemia in the mediobasal hypothalamus of female rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 292, E1801–E1807. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00700.2006
- Alerte, T. N., Akinfolarin, A. A., Friedrich, E. E., Mader, S. A., Hong, C. S., and Perez, R. G. (2008). Alpha-synuclein aggregation alters tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation and immunoreactivity: lessons from viral transduction of knockout mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 435, 24–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.02.014
- Allen Reish, H. E., and Standaert, D. G. (2015). Role of alpha-synuclein in inducing innate and adaptive immunity in Parkinson disease. J. Parkinsons Dis. 5, 1–19. doi: 10.3233/JPD-140491
- Anguiano, M., Nowak, R. J., and Lansbury, P. T. (2002). Protofibrillar islet amyloid polypeptide permeabilizes synthetic vesicles by a pore-like mechanism that may be relevant to type II diabetes. *Biochemistry* 41, 11338–11343. doi: 10.1021/ bi020314u
- Aoki, R., and Li, Y. R. (2011). Alpha-synuclein promotes neuroprotection through NF-kappaB-mediated transcriptional regulation of protein kinase Cdelta. *Sci. Signal.* 4:jc6. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2002425
- Athauda, D., and Foltynie, T. (2016). Insulin resistance and Parkinson's disease: a new target for disease modification? *Prog. Neurobiol.* 145–146, 98–120. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2016.10.001
- Aviles-Olmos, I., Limousin, P., Lees, A., and Foltynie, T. (2013). Parkinson's disease, insulin resistance and novel agents of neuroprotection. *Brain* 136, 374–384. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws009
- Avshalumov, M. V., and Rice, M. E. (2003). Activation of ATP-sensitive K+ (K(ATP)) channels by H₂O₂ underlies glutamate-dependent inhibition of striatal dopamine release. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 11729–11734. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1834314100
- Balatoni, B., Storch, M. K., Swoboda, E. M., Schonborn, V., Koziel, A., Lambrou, G. N., et al. (2007). FTY720 sustains and restores neuronal function in the DA rat model of MOG-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Res. Bull.* 74, 307–316. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2007.06.023
- Bamji-Mirza, M., Callaghan, D., Najem, D., Shen, S., Hasim, M. S., Yang, Z., et al. (2014). Stimulation of insulin signaling and inhibition of JNK-AP1 activation protect cells from amyloid-beta-induced signaling dysregulation and inflammatory response. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 40, 105–122. doi: 10.3233/JAD-131949
- Bao, L., Avshalumov, M. V., and Rice, M. E. (2005). Partial mitochondrial inhibition causes striatal dopamine release suppression and medium spiny neuron depolarization via H₂O₂ elevation, not ATP depletion. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 10029–10040. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2652-05.2005
- Bartels, T., Kim, N. C., Luth, E. S., and Selkoe, D. J. (2014). N-alpha-acetylation of alpha-synuclein increases its helical folding propensity, GM1 binding specificity and resistance to aggregation. *PLoS One* 9:e103727. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0103727

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to literature searches, reading, writing, and/or editing of this manuscript. The review was conceived of by RP who also obtained permission to reprint data via Copyright Clearance Center for **Figure 1**. BY and JV-M provided intellectual content at all stages. After review, recommendations led us to seek the expertise of GV-M to further improve writing and content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful for support from Lizanell and Colbert Coldwell Foundation, Hoy Family Research, Perez Family Research, and the El Paso Community Foundation.

- Benskey, M. J., Perez, R. G., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016). The contribution of alpha synuclein to neuronal survival and function - Implications for Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 137, 331–359. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13570
- Bettini, M., Szymczak-Workman, A. L., Forbes, K., Castellaw, A. H., Selby, M., Pan, X., et al. (2011). Cutting edge: accelerated autoimmune diabetes in the absence of LAG-3. *J. Immunol.* 187, 3493–3498. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1100714
- Bomfim, T. R., Forny-Germano, L., Sathler, L. B., Brito-Moreira, J., Houzel, J. C., Decker, H., et al. (2012). An anti-diabetes agent protects the mouse brain from defective insulin signaling caused by Alzheimer's disease- associated Abeta oligomers. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 1339–1353. doi: 10.1172/JCI57256
- Briggs, C. E., Wang, Y., Kong, B., Woo, T. -U. W., Iyer, L. K., and Sonntag, K. C. (2015). Midbrain dopamine neurons in Parkinson's disease exhibit a dysregulated miRNA and target-gene network. *Brain Res.* 1618, 111–121. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.05.021
- Brinkmann, V., Billich, A., Baumruker, T., Heining, P., Schmouder, R., Francis, G., et al. (2010). Fingolimod (FTY720): discovery and development of an oral drug to treat multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 9, 883–897. doi: 10.1038/ nrd3248
- Cereda, E., Barichella, M., Pedrolli, C., Klersy, C., Cassani, E., Caccialanza, R., et al. (2011). Diabetes and risk of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 34, 2614–2623. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1584
- Cereda, E., Barichella, M., Pedrolli, C., Klersy, C., Cassani, E., Caccialanza, R., et al. (2013). Diabetes and risk of Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 28, 257–261. doi: 10.1002/mds.25211
- Cipriani, R., Chara, J. C., Rodriguez-Antiguedad, A., and Matute, C. (2015). FTY720 attenuates excitotoxicity and neuroinflammation. J. Neuroinflammation 12:86. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0308-6
- Collier, T. J., Redmond, D. E. Jr., Steece-Collier, K., Lipton, J. W., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2016). Is alpha-synuclein loss-of-function a contributor to Parkinsonian pathology? evidence from non-human primates. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:12. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00012
- De Pablo-Fernandez, E., Goldacre, R., Pakpoor, J., Noyce, A. J., and Warner, T. T. (2018). Association between diabetes and subsequent Parkinson disease: a record-linkage cohort study. *Neurology* 91, e139–e142. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 000000000005771
- Deogracias, R., Yazdani, M., Dekkers, M. P., Guy, J., Ionescu, M. C., Vogt, K. E., et al. (2012). Fingolimod, a sphingosine-1 phosphate receptor modulator, increases BDNF levels and improves symptoms of a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 14230–14235. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1206093109
- Driver, J. A., Smith, A., Buring, J. E., Gaziano, J. M., Kurth, T., and Logroscino, G. (2008). Prospective cohort study of type 2 diabetes and the risk of Parkinson's disease. *Diabetes Care* 31, 2003–2005. doi: 10.2337/dc08-0688
- Dryanovski, D. I., Guzman, J. N., Xie, Z., Galteri, D. J., Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Lee, V. M., et al. (2013). Calcium entry and alpha-synuclein inclusions elevate

dendritic mitochondrial oxidant stress in dopaminergic neurons. J. Neurosci. 33, 10154–10164. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5311-12.2013

- Enoru, J. O., Yang, B., Krishnamachari, S., Villanueva, E., DeMaio, W., Watanyar, A., et al. (2016). Preclinical metabolism, pharmacokinetics and in vivo analysis of new blood-brain-barrier penetrant fingolimod analogues: FTY720-C2 and FTY720-mitoxy. *PLoS One* 11:e0162162. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0162162
- Farrell, K. F., Krishnamachari, S., Villanueva, E., Lou, H., Alerte, T. N., Peet, E., et al. (2014). Non-motor Parkinsonian pathology in aging A53T alpha-synuclein mice is associated with progressive synucleinopathy and altered enzymatic function. J. Neurochem. 128, 536–546. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12481
- Foltynie, T., Politis, M., Tolosa, E., and Stefanis, L. (2018). The Relationship Between Diabetes and Parkinson's Disease, Online Blog MDS The International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society (MDS). Available at: https://www.movementdisorders.org/MDS/Scientific-Issues-Committee-Blog/The-Relationship-Between-Diabetes-and-Parkinsons-Disease.htm
- Fu, F., Hu, S., Li, S., DeLeo, J., Hoover, J., Wang, S., et al. (2001). FTY720, a novel immunosuppressive agent with insulinotropic activity, prolongs graft survival in a mouse islet transplantation model. *Transplant. Proc.* 33, 672–673. doi: 10.1016/S0041-1345(00)02195-3

Galvin, J. E., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2001). Synucleinopathies: clinical and pathological implications. Arch. Neurol. 58, 186–190. doi: 10.1001/ archneur.58.2.186

- Gao, F., Liu, Y., Li, X., Wang, Y., Wei, D., and Jiang, W. (2012). Fingolimod (FTY720) inhibits neuroinflammation and attenuates spontaneous convulsions in lithium-pilocarpine induced status epilepticus in rat model. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 103, 187–196. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2012.08.025
- Gao, S., Duan, C., Gao, G., Wang, X., and Yang, H. (2015). Alpha-synuclein overexpression negatively regulates insulin receptor substrate 1 by activating mTORC1/S6K1 signaling. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 64, 25–33. doi: 10.1016/j. biocel.2015.03.006
- Geng, X., Lou, H., Wang, J., Li, L., Swanson, A. L., Sun, M., et al. (2011). alpha-Synuclein binds the K(ATP) channel at insulin-secretory granules and inhibits insulin secretion. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 300, E276–E286. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00262.2010
- Goedert, M. (2001). Alpha-synuclein and neurodegenerative diseases. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 492–501. doi: 10.1038/35081564
- Gorbatyuk, O. S., Li, S., Nash, K., Gorbatyuk, M., Lewin, A. S., Sullivan, L. F., et al. (2010a). In vivo RNAi-mediated alpha-synuclein silencing induces nigrostriatal degeneration. *Mol. Ther.* 18, 1450–1457. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.115
- Gorbatyuk, O. S., Li, S., Nha Nguyen, F., Manfredsson, F. P., Kondrikova, G., Sullivan, L. F., et al. (2010b). alpha-Synuclein expression in rat *Substantia nigra* suppresses phospholipase D2 toxicity and nigral neurodegeneration. *Mol. Ther.* 18, 1758–1768. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.137
- Hashimoto, M., Hsu, L. J., Rockenstein, E., Takenouchi, T., Mallory, M., and Masliah, E. (2002). alpha-Synuclein protects against oxidative stress via inactivation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase stress-signaling pathway in neuronal cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 11465–11472. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111428200
- Horvath, I., and Wittung-Stafshede, P. (2016). Cross-talk between amyloidogenic proteins in type-2 diabetes and Parkinson's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 12473–12477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610371113
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Shargill, N. S., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1993). Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* 259, 87–91. doi: 10.1126/science.7678183
- Hu, G., Jousilahti, P., Bidel, S., Antikainen, R., and Tuomilehto, J. (2007). Type 2 diabetes and the risk of Parkinson's disease. *Diabetes Care* 30, 842–847. doi: 10.2337/dc06-2011
- Jenco, J. M., Rawlingson, A., Daniels, B., and Morris, A. J. (1998). Regulation of phospholipase D2: selective inhibition of mammalian phospholipase D isoenzymes by alpha- and beta-synucleins. *Biochemistry* 37, 4901–4909. doi: 10.1021/bi972776r
- Jensen, P. H., Hager, H., Nielsen, M. S., Hojrup, P., Gliemann, J., and Jakes, R. (1999). alpha-synuclein binds to Tau and stimulates the protein kinase A-catalyzed tau phosphorylation of serine residues 262 and 356. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 25481–25489. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.36.25481
- Jin, H., Kanthasamy, A., Ghosh, A., Yang, Y., Anantharam, V., and Kanthasamy, A. G. (2011). alpha-Synuclein negatively regulates protein kinase Cdelta expression to suppress apoptosis in dopaminergic neurons by reducing p300

histone acetyltransferase activity. J. Neurosci. 31, 2035–2051. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.5634-10.2011

- Jin, J., Li, G. J., Davis, J., Zhu, D., Wang, Y., Pan, C., et al. (2007). Identification of novel proteins interacting with both alpha-synuclein and DJ-1. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 6, 845–859. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.04.060
- Jo, E., McLaurin, J., Yip, C. M., St George-Hyslop, P., and Fraser, P. E. (2000). alpha-Synuclein membrane interactions and lipid specificity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 34328–34334. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004345200
- Kanaan, N. M., and Manfredsson, F. P. (2012). Loss of functional alpha-synuclein: a toxic event in Parkinson's disease? J. Parkinsons Dis. 2, 249–267. doi: 10.3233/ JPD-012138
- Kendall, M. R., and Hupfeld, C. J. (2008). FTY720, a sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulator, reverses high-fat diet-induced weight gain, insulin resistance and adipose tissue inflammation in C57BL/6 mice. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 10, 802–805. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2008.00910.x
- Kim, H. J., Miron, V. E., Dukala, D., Proia, R. L., Ludwin, S. K., Traka, M., et al. (2011). Neurobiological effects of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor modulation in the cuprizone model. *FASEB J.* 25, 1509–1518. doi: 10.1096/fj. 10-173203
- Kim, T., Choi, E., Rhim, H., Paik, S., and Yang, C. (2004). alpha-Synuclein has structural and functional similarities to small heat shock proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 324, 1352–1359. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004. 09.208
- Kim, W., Lee, Y., McKenna, N. D., Yi, M., Simunovic, F., Wang, Y., et al. (2014). miR-126 contributes to Parkinson's disease by dysregulating the insulinlike growth factor/phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1712–1721. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.01.021
- Klegeris, A., Pelech, S., Giasson, B. I., Maguire, J., Zhang, H., McGeer, E. G., et al. (2008). Alpha-synuclein activates stress signaling protein kinases in THP-1 cells and microglia. *Neurobiol. Aging* 29, 739–752. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2006.11.013
- Kotagal, V., Albin, R. L., Muller, M. L., and Bohnen, N. I. (2012). Clinical features of Parkinson disease when onset of diabetes came first: a case-control study. *Neurology* 79, 1835–1836; author rely 1836.
- Lautenschläger, J., Stephens, A. D., Fusco, G., Ströhl, F., Curry, N., Zacharopoulou, M., et al. (2018). C-terminal calcium binding of α-synuclein modulates synaptic vesicle interaction. *Nat. Commun.* 9:712. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03111-4
- Lou, H., Montoya, S. E., Alerte, T. N., Wang, J., Wu, J., Peng, X., et al. (2010). Serine 129 phosphorylation reduces the ability of alpha-synuclein to regulate tyrosine hydroxylase and protein phosphatase 2A in vitro and in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 17648–17661. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.100867
- Mao, X., Ou, M. T., Karuppagounder, S. S., Kam, T. I., Yin, X., Xiong, Y., et al. (2016). Pathological alpha-synuclein transmission initiated by binding lymphocyte-activation gene 3. *Science* 353:aah3374. doi: 10.1126/science. aah3374
- Marcelo, M. S. L., Adriano, D. S. T., Ana, C. D. N., Lais, S. R., Ana Marcia, D., Fabiola, V. D. S., et al. (2014). Does Parkinson's disease and type-2 diabetes mellitus present common pathophysiological mechanisms and treatments? CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 13, 418–428. doi: 10.2174/ 18715273113126660155
- Martinez, Z., Zhu, M., Han, S., and Fink, A. L. (2007). GM1 specifically interacts with alpha-synuclein and inhibits fibrillation. *Biochemistry* 46, 1868–1877. doi: 10.1021/bi061749a
- Martinez-Valbuena, I., Amat-Villegas, I., Valenti-Azcarate, R., Carmona-Abellan, M. D. M., Marcilla, I., Tunon, M. T., and Luquin, M. R. (2018). Interaction of amyloidogenic proteins in pancreatic beta cells from subjects with synucleinopathies. *Acta Neuropathol.* 135, 877–886. doi: 10.1007/s00401-018-1832-0
- Miron, V. E., Schubart, A., and Antel, J. P. (2008). Central nervous system-directed effects of FTY720 (fingolimod). J. Neurol. Sci. 274, 13–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jns. 2008.06.031
- Moon, H., Chon, J., Joo, J., Kim, D., In, J., Lee, H., et al. (2013). FTY720 preserved islet beta-cell mass by inhibiting apoptosis and increasing survival of betacells in db/db mice. *Diabetes Met. Res. Rev.* 29, 19–24. doi: 10.1002/dmrr. 2341
- Moore, C. X., and Cooper, G. J. (1991). Co-secretion of amylin and insulin from cultured islet beta-cells: modulation by nutrient secretagogues, islet

hormones and hypoglycemic agents. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 179, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(91)91325-7

- Mukherjee, A., Morales-Scheihing, D., Butler, P. C., and Soto, C. (2015). Type 2 diabetes as a protein misfolding disease. *Trends Mol. Med.* 21, 439–449. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2015.04.005
- Mukherjee, A., Morales-Scheihing, D., Salvadores, N., Moreno-Gonzalez, I., Gonzalez, C., Taylor-Presse, K., et al. (2017). Induction of IAPP amyloid deposition and associated diabetic abnormalities by a prion-like mechanism. *J. Exp. Med.* 214, 2591–2610. doi: 10.1084/jem.20161134
- Murphy, D. D., Rueter, S. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2000). Synucleins are developmentally expressed, and alpha-synuclein regulates the size of the presynaptic vesicular pool in primary hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 3214–3220. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-09-03214.2000
- Oaks, A. W., and Sidhu, A. (2011). Synuclein modulation of monoamine transporters. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 1001–1006. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011.03.009
- Oaks, J. J., Santhanam, R., Walker, C. J., Roof, S., Harb, J. G., Ferenchak, G., et al. (2013). Antagonistic activities of the immunomodulator and PP2A-activating drug FTY720 (Fingolimod, Gilenya) in Jak2-driven hematologic malignancies. *Blood* 122, 1923–1934. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-492181
- Ostrerova, N., Petrucelli, L., Farrer, M., Mehta, N., Choi, P., Hardy, J., et al. (1999). alpha-Synuclein shares physical and functional homology with 14-3-3 proteins. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 5782–5791. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-14-05782.1999
- Palacios, N., Gao, X., McCullough, M. L., Jacobs, E. J., Patel, A. V., Mayo, T., et al. (2011). Obesity, diabetes, and risk of Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 2253–2259. doi: 10.1002/mds.23855
- Parkinson, J. (2002). An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 14, 223–236; discussion 222. doi: 10.1176/jnp.14.2.223
- Patel, J. C., Witkovsky, P., Coetzee, W. A., and Rice, M. E. (2011). Subsecond regulation of striatal dopamine release by pre-synaptic KATP channels. *J. Neurochem.* 118, 721–736. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07358.x
- Peng, X., Tehranian, R., Dietrich, P., Stefanis, L., and Perez, R. G. (2005). Alphasynuclein activation of protein phosphatase 2A reduces tyrosine hydroxylase phosphorylation in dopaminergic cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 118, 3523–3530. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.02481
- Perez, R. G., and Hastings, T. G. (2004). Could a loss of alpha-synuclein function put dopaminergic neurons at risk? J. Neurochem. 89, 1318–1324. doi: 10.1111/j. 1471-4159.2004.02423.x
- Perez, R. G., Waymire, J. C., Lin, E., Liu, J. J., Guo, F., and Zigmond, M. J. (2002). A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 3090–3099. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-08-03090.2002
- Pickup, J. C. (2004). Inflammation and activated innate immunity in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 27, 813–823. doi: 10.2337/diacare. 27.3.813
- Polinski, N. K., Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Sortwell, C. E., Luk, K. C., Cremades, N., Gottler, L. M., et al. (2018). Best practices for generating and using alpha-synuclein pre-formed fibrils to model Parkinson's disease in rodents. *J. Parkinsons Dis.* 8, 303–322. doi: 10.3233/JPD-171248
- Porras, J. L., and Perez, R. G. (2014). "Potential contribution of alpha-synuclein dysregulation to Parkinson's disease pathology," in *Nova Publishers - Alpha-Synuclein*, ed. M. P. A. H. C. Kanowitz (Hauppauge, NY: NOVA Science Publishers), 51–70.
- Rothman, S. M., Griffioen, K. J., Fishbein, K. W., Spencer, R. G., Makrogiannis, S., Cong, W. N., et al. (2014). Metabolic abnormalities and hypoleptinemia in alpha-synuclein A53T mutant mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1153–1161. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.10.088
- Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Barnum, C. J., Tansey, M. G., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2013). Neuroimmunological processes in Parkinson's disease and their relation to α-synuclein: microglia as the referee between neuronal processes and peripheral immunity. ASN Neuro 5:e00112. doi: 10.1042/AN20120066
- Santiago, J. A., Bottero, V., and Potashkin, J. A. (2017). Biological and clinical implications of comorbidities in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:394. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00394
- Santiago, J. A., and Potashkin, J. A. (2013). Shared dysregulated pathways lead to Parkinson's disease and diabetes. *Trends Mol. Med.* 19, 176–186. doi: 10.1016/j. molmed.2013.01.002
- Schernhammer, E., Hansen, J., Rugbjerg, K., Wermuth, L., and Ritz, B. (2011). Diabetes and the risk of developing Parkinson's disease in Denmark. *Diabetes Care* 34, 1102–1108. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1333

- Segura-Ulate, I., Belcher, T. K., Vidal-Martinez, G., Vargas-Medrano, J., and Perez, R. G. (2017a). FTY720-derivatives do not induce FTY720-like lymphopenia. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* 133, 187–189. doi: 10.1016/j.jphs.2017.02.006
- Segura-Ulate, I., Yang, B., Vargas-Medrano, J., and Perez, R. G. (2017b). FTY720 (Fingolimod) reverses alpha-synuclein-induced downregulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in OLN-93 oligodendroglial cells. *Neuropharmacology* 117, 149–157. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.01.028
- Seo, J. H., Rah, J. C., Choi, S. H., Shin, J. K., Min, K., Kim, H. S., et al. (2002). Alphasynuclein regulates neuronal survival via Bcl-2 family expression and PI3/Akt kinase pathway. *FASEB J.* 16, 1826–1828. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0041fje
- Shi, X. R., Chang, J., Ding, J. H., Fan, Y., Sun, X. L., and Hu, G. (2008). Kir6.2 knockout alters neurotransmitter release in mouse striatum: an in vivo microdialysis study. *Neurosci. Lett.* 439, 230–234. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008. 05.024
- Simpson, N., Maffei, A., Freeby, M., Burroughs, S., Freyberg, Z., Javitch, J., et al. (2012). Dopamine-mediated autocrine inhibitory circuit regulating human insulin secretion in vitro. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 26, 1757–1772. doi: 10.1210/me. 2012-1101
- Souza, J. M., Giasson, B. I., Lee, V. M., and Ischiropoulos, H. (2000). Chaperonelike activity of synucleins. *FEBS Lett.* 474, 116–119. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(00)01563-5
- Stouffer, M. A., Woods, C. A., Patel, J. C., Lee, C. R., Witkovsky, P., Bao, L., et al. (2015). Insulin enhances striatal dopamine release by activating cholinergic interneurons and thereby signals reward. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8543. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms9543
- Sulzer, D., Cragg, S. J., and Rice, M. E. (2016). Striatal dopamine neurotransmission: regulation of release and uptake. *Basal Ganglia* 6, 123–148. doi: 10.1016/j.baga.2016.02.001
- Tehranian, R., Montoya, S. E., Van Laar, A. D., Hastings, T. G., and Perez, R. G. (2006). Alpha-synuclein inhibits aromatic amino acid decarboxylase activity in dopaminergic cells. *J. Neurochem.* 99, 1188–1196. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2006.04146.x
- Trimmer, J. S. (2015). Subcellular localization of K(+) channels in mammalian brain neurons: remarkable precision in the midst of extraordinary complexity. *Neuron* 85, 238–256. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 12.042
- Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2003). Parkinson's disease and related alphasynucleinopathies are brain amyloidoses. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 991, 107–110. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07468.x
- Vargas-Medrano, J., Krishnamachari, S., Villanueva, E., Godfrey, W. H., Lou, H., Chinnasamy, R., et al. (2014). Novel FTY720-based compounds stimulate neurotrophin expression and phosphatase activity in dopaminergic cells. ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 5, 782–786. doi: 10.1021/ml50 0128g
- Vidal-Martinez, G., Vargas-Medrano, J., Gil-Tommee, C., Medina, D., Garza, N. T., Yang, B., et al. (2016). G., FTY720/Fingolimod reduces synucleinopathy and improves gut motility in A53T Mice: contributions of pro-brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Pro-BDNF) and mature BDNF. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 20811– 20821. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.744029
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Gamble, K. L., Schultheiss, C. E., Riddle, D. M., West, A. B., and Lee, V. M. (2014). Formation of alpha-synuclein Lewy neurite-like aggregates in axons impedes the transport of distinct endosomes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 25, 4010–4023. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E14-02-0741
- Volpicelli-Daley, L. A., Luk, K. C., Patel, T. P., Tanik, S. A., Riddle, D. M., Stieber, A., et al. (2011). Exogenous alpha-synuclein fibrils induce Lewy body pathology leading to synaptic dysfunction and neuron death. *Neuron* 72, 57–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.08.033
- Wang, J., Lou, H., Pedersen, C. J., Smith, A. D., and Perez, R. G. (2009). 14-3-3zeta contributes to tyrosine hydroxylase activity in MN9D cells: localization of dopamine regulatory proteins to mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 14011–14019. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M901310200
- Wu, J., Lou, H., Alerte, T. N., Stachowski, E. K., Chen, J., Singleton, A. B., et al. (2012). Lewy-like aggregation of alpha-synuclein reduces protein phosphatase 2A activity in vitro and in vivo. *Neuroscience* 207, 288–297. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2012.01.028
- Yang, Z., Chen, M., Fialkow, L. B., Ellett, J. D., Wu, R., Brinkmann, V., et al. (2003). The immune modulator FYT720 prevents autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *Clin. Immunol.* 107, 30–35. doi: 10.1016/S1521-6616(02)00054-2

- Zhang, P., and Tian, B. (2014). Metabolic syndrome: an important risk factor for Parkinson's disease. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2014;729194. doi: 10.1155/2014/ 729194
- Zhang, Q., Chikina, M., Szymczak-Workman, A. L., Horne, W., Kolls, J. K., Vignali, K. M., et al. (2017). LAG3 limits regulatory T cell proliferation and function in autoimmune diabetes. *Sci. Immunol.* 2:eaah4569. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol. aah4569
- Zhao, Z., Choi, J., Zhao, C., and Ma, Z. A. (2012). FTY720 normalizes hyperglycemia by stimulating beta-cell in vivo regeneration in db/db mice through regulation of cyclin D3 and p57(KIP2). *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 5562–5573. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 305359
- Zhong, J., Gong, Q., and Mima, A. (2017). Inflammatory regulation in diabetes and metabolic dysfunction. J. Diabetes Res. 2017:5165268. doi: 10.1155/2017/ 5165268

Conflict of Interest Statement: RP has filed a patent for FTY720 derivative compounds. Compositions and Methods for the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease. Publication# 2015/0290145.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Vidal-Martinez, Yang, Vargas-Medrano and Perez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Analysis of α-Synuclein Pathology in PINK1 Knockout Rat Brains

Rose B. Creed¹ and Matthew S. Goldberg^{1,2*}

¹ Center for Neurodegeneration and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Neurology, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States, ² Department of Neurobiology, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Mutations in PTEN induced kinase 1 (PINK1) cause autosomal recessive Parkinson's disease (PD). The main pathological hallmarks of PD are loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta and the formation of protein aggregates containing α -synuclein. Previous studies of PINK1 knockout (PINK1-/-) rats have reported mitochondrial dysfunction, locomotor behavioral deficits, loss of neurons in the substantia nigra and α -synuclein aggregates in various brain regions. We sought to characterize PINK1-/- rats in more detail specifically with respect to α -synuclein pathology because abnormal α -synuclein has been implicated genetically, biophysically and neuropathologically as a mechanism of PD pathogenesis. Moreover, the spontaneous formation of α -synuclein aggregates without α -synuclein overexpression, injection or toxin administration is a rare and important characteristic for an animal model of PD or other synucleinopathies, such as dementia with Lewy bodies and multiple system atrophy. We observed α -synuclein-immunoreactive aggregates in various brain regions of PINK1-/- rats including cortex, thalamus, striatum and ventral midbrain, but nowhere in wild-type (WT) rats. Co-immunofluorescence showed that the α -synuclein-immunoreactive aggregates are both thioflavin S and ubiquitin positive. Many cells in the brains of PINK1-/- rats but not WT rats contained protease-resistant a-synuclein. Total synuclein protein levels were unchanged; however, biochemical fractionation showed a significant shift of α -synuclein from the cytosolic fraction to the synaptic vesicle-enriched fraction of PINK1-/- brain homogenates compared to WT. This data indicates that PINK1 deficiency results in abnormal α -synuclein localization, protease resistance and aggregation in vivo. The PINK1 -/- rat could be a useful animal model to study the role of abnormal α -synuclein in PD-related neurodegeneration.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease, synuclein, PINK1, Lewy bodies, thioflavin, ubiquitin, inclusions, aggregation

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common neurodegenerative movement disorder. Clinically, PD is defined by slowness of movement, rigidity, postural instability, gait abnormalities and tremor. Neuropathologically, PD is predominantly characterized by the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta and by the presence of intracellular inclusions, termed Lewy bodies, which are composed mainly of α -synuclein (Spillantini et al., 1998). Point mutations in α -synuclein were the first identified genetic mutations causally linked to PD

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ruth G. Perez, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center El Paso, United States

Reviewed by:

Howard S. Fox, University of Nebraska Medical Center, United States Luigi Bubacco, Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy

> *Correspondence: Matthew S. Goldberg mattgoldberg@uab.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 19 October 2018 Accepted: 20 December 2018 Published: 09 January 2019

Citation:

Creed RB and Goldberg MS (2019) Analysis of α-Synuclein Pathology in PINK1 Knockout Rat Brains. Front. Neurosci. 12:1034. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.01034

144

(Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Kruger et al., 1998). The subsequent identification of PD-linked a-synuclein gene duplication and triplication mutations indicates that increased expression of WT α -synuclein (which could promote aggregation by increasing α -synuclein protein concentration) is sufficient to cause PD (Singleton et al., 2003). Despite intensive research, the exact role of a-synuclein aggregation in PD remains unclear (von Bohlen Und Halbach, 2004). In an effort to generate a better animal model of PD and a tool for studying potential mechanisms of disease, the Michael J. Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research sponsored the generation and initial characterization of PINK1-/- rats as a model of loss-of-function PINK1 mutations causally linked to recessively inherited PD (Valente et al., 2004; Dave et al., 2014). The initial study reported significant motor deficits and age-dependent loss of dopamine neurons in the substantia nigra of PINK1-/rats (Dave et al., 2014). Subsequent studies of the same line of PINK1-/- rats reported mitochondrial dysfunction, behavioral deficits, loss of neurons in the substantia nigra and locus coeruleus, neurochemical abnormalities and a-synuclein aggregates in various brain regions (Grant et al., 2015; Kelm-Nelson et al., 2015, 2016, 2018; Pultorak et al., 2016; Stauch et al., 2016a,b; Villeneuve et al., 2016a,b). We sought to further characterize PINK1-/- rats specifically with respect to a-synuclein pathology because spontaneous formation of α -synuclein aggregates (without α -synuclein overexpression or injection) is a rare and important feature of PD animal models and because a-synuclein aggregation has been implicated both genetically and biochemically as a mechanism of PD pathogenesis as well as a potential therapeutic target (Goldberg and Lansbury, 2000; Creed and Goldberg, 2018).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

PINK1-/- rats were obtained from Horizon Discovery and bred to obtain homozygous PINK1-/- and WT Long-Evans controls. Animals were maintained on a 12-h light/dark cycle and were allowed food and water *ad libitum*. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the NIH Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. All animal experiments were reviewed and approved in advance by the University of Alabama at Birmingham Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Immunohistochemistry

Animals were euthanized with CO_2 and immediately perfused with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, 0.01 M, pH 7.4). Brains were removed and fixed in 10% formalin overnight at 4°C, then transferred to PBS+30% sucrose and maintained at 4°C 2– 3 days for cryoprotection. Brains were frozen and sectioned in the coronal plane at 30 μ m thickness using a sled microtome. Sections were collected in multi-well plates with each well containing a series of systematically spaced sections (every 10th section). Entire wells of free-floating sections spanning the disease-relevant regions (cortex, striatum, midbrain and thalamus) were blocked in 1% normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS for 1 h, then incubated in primary antibody (BD Biosciences antisynuclein #610787 diluted 1:1,000) overnight at 4°C. Sections were washed in PBS and incubated with biotinylated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody for 2 h at room temperature, followed by avidin-biotin peroxidase complex solution (Vector Laboratories ABC Elite) for 2 h at room temperature. Sections were washed in PBS, then developed using DAB chromogen (Vector Laboratories). The location and abundance α -synuclein immunoreactive aggregates were scored by an investigator blinded to genotype and age.

Proteinase-K Resistant Immunohistochemistry

Immediately prior to DAB immunohistochemistry, free-floating coronal sections were washed with PBS and treated with 2 mg/ml proteinase K (Fisher Scientific 50-751-7334) for 10 min at room temperature. Sections were then washed thoroughly with PBS and analyzed by immunohistochemistry, as described above. Cells containing proteinase K-resistant α -synuclein immunoreactivity were counted by an investigator blinded to genotype using NIS Elements software. Five sections from each animal were analyzed and averaged.

Thioflavin S Staining

Free-floating coronal sections were mounted on glass slides, allowed to dry overnight, then washed with 70% ethanol followed by 80% ethanol for 1 min each. Slides were then incubated in 1% thioflavin in 80% ethanol for 15 min in the dark, followed by sequential 1-min washes in 80% ethanol and 70% ethanol. For α -synuclein co-immunofluorescence, slides were first treated as above, then incubated with α -synuclein primary antibody (BD Biosciences #610787 diluted 1:250) and analyzed as above.

Microscopy and Image Analysis

Fluorescence images were collected on a Leica TCS-SP5 laser scanning confocal microscope. Images of DAB stained brain sections were acquired on a Nikon Ni-E microscope and analyzed using NIS Elements software.

Western Analysis

Brains were harvested and microdissected immediately following euthanasia, then frozen on dry ice and stored at -80° C. Frozen brain tissue samples were thawed on ice and homogenized with a motorized pestle in RIPA buffer (Boston Bio-products, Bp-115) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Sigma P8340). After incubation on ice for 30 min, homogenates were briefly sonicated, then centrifuged at 1,000 × g for 5 min to remove debris. Equal amounts of total protein (measured by Pierce Bradford assay) were mixed with Laemmli buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto 0.2 um PVDF membranes. Membranes were blocked in 1:1 LI-COR Odyssey blocking buffer and TBS with 0.05% Tween 20 (TBS-T) for 1 h at room temperature, then incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C, washed, then incubated with LI-COR Odyssey Scanner.

For biochemical fractionation to obtain cytosolic and synaptic vesicle-enriched fractions according to the methods described by Hallett et al. (2008), cortical tissues from WT and PINK1-/- rats were homogenized in TEVP buffer (10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 5 mM NaF, 1 mM each EDTA, EGTA and Na₃VO₄) containing 320 mM sucrose using a dounce homogenizer and centrifuged for 10 min at 800 \times g at 4C. The supernatant was centrifuged for 15 min at $9,200 \times g$ at 4°C. Following centrifugation, the supernatant was decanted into a clean eppendorf tube and stored on ice (S2). The pellet was then re-suspended in TEVP buffer containing 35.6 mM sucrose and vortexed gently to dislodge and break the pellet, followed by incubation on ice for 30 min. Vortexed samples were centrifuged for 20 min at 25,000 \times g at 4°C, then the supernatants were transferred to clean centrifuge tubes (LS1). The supernatant, along with the S2 supernatants were centrifuged at $165,00 \times g$ for 2 h at 4°C. The resulting supernatant (S3) was used as the cytosolic enriched fraction while the pellet (LP2) was used as the synaptic vesicle enriched fraction.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using Graphpad Prism 7 software. Unpaired Student's-*t* tests, two-way ANOVA and non-parametric tests, as indicated, were used to determine significance at the 0.05 level.

RESULTS

α-Synuclein Immunohistochemistry

Because α -synuclein immunoreactive protein aggregates are pathognomonic for PD, and because genetic, biochemical *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies suggest α -synuclein oligomerization or aggregation is linked to the underlying mechanisms of neurodegeneration in PD, we focused our analysis of PINK1-/- rats on characterizing the pattern and agedependence of α -synuclein immunoreactivity throughout the brain. DAB immunohistochemistry of coronal sections



FIGURE 1 $| \alpha$ -synuclein aggregates in PINK1-/- rat brains. (A) DAB immunohistochemistry of α -synuclein in the cortex and ventral midbrain of 12-month-old rats. Arrows indicate synuclein-immunoreactive aggregates. (B) Mean \pm SEM number of α -synuclein inclusions per section, including all brain regions, in (n = 17) WT and (n = 21) PINK1-/- rats. *P < 0.05 by Mann–Whitney U-test. Five systematically spaced sections (every 10th section) were analyzed and averaged for each animal. (C) Mean \pm SEM number α -synuclein aggregates per section in brains of 4 months (n = 5), 7 months (n = 6), and 12 months (n = 10) PINK1-/- rats. No α -synuclein aggregates were observed in WT rat sections stained and analyzed in parallel (n = 5 at age 4 months, n = 5 at age 7 months, and n = 7 at age 12 months). *P < 0.05 by Tukey's Multiple Comparison test. (D) Co-immunofluorescence of α -synuclein and Thioflavin S or α -synuclein and ubiquitin in the midbrain of PINK1-/- rats at 12 months of age. Scale bar = 10 mm. (E) DAB α -synuclein immunohistochemistry in the ventral midbrain of 12-month-old WT and PINK1-/- rats following proteinase K treatment. Top panels are 10× magnification bottom panels are 40× magnification. Arrows in bottom panels indicate cells with proteinase K-resistant α -synuclein. (F) Mean \pm SEM number of cells per section with proteinase K-resistant α -synuclein immunoreactivity in the midbrain of 3 WT and 3 PINK1-/- rats at age 12 months. Five sections were analyzed and averaged for each animal. *P < 0.05 by Mann–Whitney U-test. using α -synuclein-specific antibodies showed a normal pattern of synaptic α -synuclein throughout the neuropil; however, sparse abnormal α -synuclein immunoreactive aggregates were observed throughout the brains of PINK1–/– but not WT rats (**Figures 1A,B**). Analysis of brain sections from rats at ages 4, 7 and 12 months showed the presence of abnormal α -synuclein immunoreactive aggregates in PINK1–/– rats at all ages, but significantly more aggregates were observed in the older animals (**Figure 1C**) P < 0.05 by Tukey's Multiple Comparison test. No α -synuclein aggregates were observed in WT rat brain sections at the same ages stained and analyzed in parallel with the PINK1–/– rat brains. To assess the composition of the α -synuclein immunoreactive aggregates in PINK1–/– rats, we conducted immunofluorescence using α -synuclein and ubiquitin-specific antibodies as well as thioflavin S as a well-established fluorescent stain for amyloid. α -Synuclein immunoreactive aggregates showed thioflavin S and ubiquitin staining consistent with amyloid protein aggregates indicative of neurodegenerative disease (**Figure 1D**).

Proteinase-K Resistant α -Synuclein in PINK1–/– Rats

 α -Synuclein is one of the most abundantly expressed proteins in brain and because α -synuclein is prone to aggregation, we sought to assess the extent to which cells could contain





aggregated α -synuclein even if they do not have visible inclusions. To test this, we treated brain sections with proteinase K prior to immunohistochemical analysis, which is a commonly used method to eliminate soluble proteins and to retrieve less accessible epitopes from aggregated proteins, such as aggregated α -synuclein (Beach et al., 2008). Brain sections from 12-monthold WT and PINK1-/- rats were subjected to proteinase K digestion followed by DAB immunohistochemistry with α -synuclein primary antibody. This revealed a large number of cells with proteinase K-resistant a-synuclein in the ventral midbrains of PINK1-/- but not WT rats (Figures 1E,F), as previously reported (Grant et al., 2015). Surprisingly, after proteinase K treatment, we did not observe any a-synuclein aggregates similar to those shown in Figure 1, indicating that those aggregates are labile to proteinase K treatment even though they are thioflavin S-positive.

α -Synuclein Protein Levels Are Unchanged in PINK1-/- Rats

Overexpression of WT α -synuclein can cause the formation of α -synuclein aggregates (Masliah et al., 2000) and α -synuclein gene duplication and triplication mutations cause PD in humans presumably by increased expression of WT α -synuclein (Singleton et al., 2003). This prompted us to examine more carefully the pattern and cellular distribution of endogenous α -synuclein expression in WT and PINK1–/– rats to determine whether the α -synuclein aggregates are possibly caused by increased localized expression of α -synuclein. Western analysis showed no significant differences between WT and PINK1–/– rats in the pattern of α -synuclein immunoreactivity, even within the ventral midbrain (**Figures 2A–G**).

PINK1–/– Rats Have Increased Synaptic Vesicle Associated α-Synuclein

α-Synuclein loosely interacts with synaptic vesicle membranes and a shift in α -synuclein membrane interaction, possibly by post-translational modifications, oligomerization, interactions with other proteins, altered lipid composition, or by PD-linked point mutations, can affect the propensity of a-synuclein to aggregate (Dikiy and Eliezer, 2012; Galvagnion et al., 2015, 2016; Ysselstein et al., 2015; Samuel et al., 2016; Nuber et al., 2018). To determine whether PINK1 deficiency alters α -synuclein interaction with synaptic vesicles, we analyzed α -synuclein levels in cytosolic and synaptic vesicle enriched fractions of cortex. We found a relative increase in α-synuclein levels in the synaptic vesicle-enriched fraction of PINK1-/- rat brain compared to WT (Figures 2H,I). This suggests that the observed α -synuclein inclusions may be due to an increase in the interaction of α-synuclein with synaptic vesicles in PINK1-/rats.

DISCUSSION

PINK1-/- rats are unusual because α -synuclein immunoreactive aggregates occur spontaneously without

synuclein overexpression or administered stresses. In addition to these aggregates, we also detected cells with proteinase K-resistant α -synuclein in the midbrains of the PINK1-/- rats but not WT rats. Our data are consistent with previous reporting of proteinase K-resistant α -synuclein immunoreactivity in PINK1-/- rats (Grant et al., 2015) and α -synuclein aggregates in PINK1-/- rats that could affect neurotransmission underlying motor behaviors (Kelm-Nelson et al., 2016). Although the α -synuclein immunoreactive aggregates we observed in PINK1-/- rats did not resemble Lewy bodies in shape or proteinase K-resistance, we further defined the composition of a-synuclein immunoreactive aggregates by co-localization with thioflavin S and ubiquitin, suggesting that they are composed of amyloid aggregates of α -synuclein, which are characteristics of Lewy bodies (Sakamoto et al., 2002). Even in human brains from PD or Lewy body disease cases, the composition of Lewy bodies and other synuclein aggregates is heterogeneous and this non-uniformity has been proposed to reflect different stages of disease or different phases of synuclein inclusion formation (Sakamoto et al., 2002). Even though total α -synuclein protein levels were unchanged, our biochemical fractionation showed a significant shift of α-synuclein from the cytosolic fraction to the synaptic vesicleenriched fraction of PINK1-/- brain homogenates compared to WT, which could affect the propensity of α -synuclein to aggregate (Dikiy and Eliezer, 2012; Galvagnion et al., 2015, 2016; Ysselstein et al., 2015; Samuel et al., 2016; Nuber et al., 2018).

CONCLUSION

This study establishes the age-dependent accumulation of α -synuclein aggregates that spontaneously form in the brains of PINK1-/- rats. This supports the use of PINK1-/- rats as a unique model to study the role of spontaneous age-dependent α -synuclein aggregation in PD-related neurodegeneration and cellular mechanisms of familial PD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RC designed and conducted the study, analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. MG analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. Both authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke under NIH award numbers R01NS082565 to MG and F99NS108458 to RC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Jessica Marshall for technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Beach, T. G., White, C. L., Hamilton, R. L., Duda, J. E., Iwatsubo, T., Dickson, D. W., et al. (2008). Evaluation of alpha-synuclein immunohistochemical methods used by invited experts. *Acta Neuropathol.* 116, 277–288. doi: 10.1007/ s00401-008-0409-8
- Creed, R. B., and Goldberg, M. S. (2018). New developments in genetic rat models of Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 717–729. doi: 10.1002/mds.27296
- Dave, K. D., De Silva, S., Sheth, N. P., Ramboz, S., Beck, M. J., Quang, C., et al. (2014). Phenotypic characterization of recessive gene knockout rat models of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 70, 190–203. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014. 06.009
- Dikiy, I., and Eliezer, D. (2012). Folding and misfolding of alpha-synuclein on membranes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1818, 1013–1018. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem. 2011.09.008
- Galvagnion, C., Brown, J. W., Ouberai, M. M., Flagmeier, P., Vendruscolo, M., Buell, A. K., et al. (2016). Chemical properties of lipids strongly affect the kinetics of the membrane-induced aggregation of alpha-synuclein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 7065–7070. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1601899113
- Galvagnion, C., Buell, A. K., Meisl, G., Michaels, T. C., Vendruscolo, M., Knowles, T. P., et al. (2015). Lipid vesicles trigger alpha-synuclein aggregation by stimulating primary nucleation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 11, 229–234. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.1750
- Goldberg, M. S., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2000). Is there a cause-and-effect relationship between alpha-synuclein fibrillization and Parkinson's disease? *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, E115–E119.
- Grant, L. M., Kelm-Nelson, C. A., Hilby, B. L., Blue, K. V., Paul Rajamanickam, E. S., Pultorak, J. D., et al. (2015). Evidence for early and progressive ultrasonic vocalization and oromotor deficits in a PINK1 gene knockout rat model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 93, 1713–1727. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23625
- Hallett, P. J., Collins, T. L., Standaert, D. G., and Dunah, A. W. (2008). Biochemical fractionation of brain tissue for studies of receptor distribution and trafficking. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* 42, 1.16.1–1.16.16. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns01 16s42
- Kelm-Nelson, C. A., Stevenson, S. A., and Ciucci, M. R. (2016). Atp13a2 expression in the periaqueductal gray is decreased in the Pink1 –/– rat model of Parkinson disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 621, 75–82. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.04.003
- Kelm-Nelson, C. A., Trevino, M. A., and Ciucci, M. R. (2018). Quantitative analysis of catecholamines in the pink1 -/- rat model of early-onset Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience* 379, 126–141. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.02.027
- Kelm-Nelson, C. A., Yang, K. M., and Ciucci, M. R. (2015). Exercise effects on early vocal ultrasonic communication dysfunction in a PINK1 knockout model of Parkinson's disease. J. Parkinsons Dis. 5, 749–763. doi: 10.3233/JPD-150688
- Kruger, R., Kuhn, W., Muller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kosel, S., et al. (1998). Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 18, 106–108. doi: 10.1038/ng0298-106
- Masliah, E., Rockenstein, E., Veinbergs, I., Mallory, M., Hashimoto, M., Takeda, A., et al. (2000). Dopaminergic loss and inclusion body formation in alphasynuclein mice: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Science* 287, 1265–1269. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5456.1265
- Nuber, S., Rajsombath, M., Minakaki, G., Winkler, J., Muller, C. P., Ericsson, M., et al. (2018). Abrogating native alpha-Synuclein tetramers in mice causes a L-DOPA-responsive motor syndrome closely resembling Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 100, 75.e5–90.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.09.014
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., et al. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045–2047. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5321.2045

- Pultorak, J. D., Kelm-Nelson, C. A., Holt, L. R., Blue, K. V., Ciucci, M. R., and Johnson, A. M. (2016). Decreased approach behavior and nucleus accumbens immediate early gene expression in response to Parkinsonian ultrasonic vocalizations in rats. *Soc. Neurosci.* 11, 365–379. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2015. 1086434
- Sakamoto, M., Uchihara, T., Hayashi, M., Nakamura, A., Kikuchi, E., Mizutani, T., et al. (2002). Heterogeneity of nigral and cortical Lewy bodies differentiated by amplified triple-labeling for alpha-synuclein, ubiquitin, and thiazin red. *Exp. Neurol.* 177, 88–94. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2002.7961
- Samuel, F., Flavin, W. P., Iqbal, S., Pacelli, C., Sri Renganathan, S. D., Trudeau, L. E., et al. (2016). Effects of serine 129 phosphorylation on alpha-synuclein aggregation, membrane association, and internalization. *J. Biol. Chem.* 291, 4374–4385. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.705095
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., et al. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302:841. doi: 10.1126/science.1090278
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., and Goedert, M. (1998). alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 6469– 6473. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.11.6469
- Stauch, K. L., Villeneuve, L. M., Purnell, P. R., Ottemann, B. M., Emanuel, K., and Fox, H. S. (2016a). Loss of Pink1 modulates synaptic mitochondrial bioenergetics in the rat striatum prior to motor symptoms: concomitant complex I respiratory defects and increased complex II-mediated respiration. *Proteomics Clin. Appl.* 10, 1205–1217. doi: 10.1002/prca.201600005
- Stauch, K. L., Villeneuve, L. M., Purnell, P. R., Pandey, S., Guda, C., and Fox, H. S. (2016b). SWATH-MS proteome profiling data comparison of DJ-1, Parkin, and PINK1 knockout rat striatal mitochondria. *Data Brief* 9, 589–593.
- Valente, E. M., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Caputo, V., Muqit, M. M., Harvey, K., Gispert, S., et al. (2004). Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. *Science* 304, 1158–1160. doi: 10.1126/science.1096284
- Villeneuve, L. M., Purnell, P. R., Boska, M. D., and Fox, H. S. (2016a). Early expression of Parkinson's disease-related mitochondrial abnormalities in PINK1 knockout rats. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 171–186. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8927-y
- Villeneuve, L. M., Purnell, P. R., Stauch, K. L., and Fox, H. S. (2016b). Neonatal mitochondrial abnormalities due to PINK1 deficiency: proteomics reveals early changes relevant to Parkinsons disease. *Data Brief* 6, 428–432. doi: 10.1016/j. dib.2015.11.070
- von Bohlen Und Halbach, O. (2004). Synucleins and their relationship to Parkinson's disease. *Cell Tissue Res.* 318, 163–174. doi: 10.1007/s00441-004-0921-7
- Ysselstein, D., Joshi, M., Mishra, V., Griggs, A. M., Asiago, J. M., Mccabe, G. P., et al. (2015). Effects of impaired membrane interactions on alpha-synuclein aggregation and neurotoxicity. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 79, 150–163. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd. 2015.04.007

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Creed and Goldberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

